
 

July 14‐15, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 1 
 

BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 
           MEETING AGENDA 

 
July 14-15, 2011 

 
Montana State Capitol 

Room 137 
Helena, MT 

 
July 14, 2011 - Thursday 
8:30 AM     
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 

A. Pledge of Allegiance  
B. Roll Call 
C. Statement of Public Participation 
D. Welcome Visitors 

    
PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Correspondence 
B. May 12-13, 2011, May 18, 2011, and June 8, 2011 Minutes 
C. Financials 

 
ADOPT AGENDA 
 
BPE/CSPAC JOINT MEETING AGENDA 
 
Item 1   CSPAC ANNUAL REPORT 
   Sharon Applegate 
 
Item 2   JULY 13, 2011 CSPAC MEETING SUMMARY/CSPAC GOALS 
   Sharon Applegate 
 
Item 3   NASDTEC ANNUAL CONFERENCE REPORT 
   Sharon Applegate, Peter Donovan, and Sharon Carroll 
 
Item 4   CODE OF ETHICS UPDATE 
   Sharon Applegate 
 
Item 5   AMENDMENTS TO ARM TITLE 10 CHAPTER 57, PART 6 
   Sharon Applegate 
 
 
BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION MEETING RESUMES 
 
INFORMATION  
 



 

July 14‐15, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 2 
 

 REPORTS – Patty Myers (Items 1-6) 
    
Item 1   CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT 
   Patty Myers 
 
   BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION APPEARANCES 
        
Item 2   EXECUTIVE SECRETARY’S REPORT 
   Steve Meloy 
 
Item 3   STATE SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT 
   State Superintendent Denise Juneau 
 
Item 4   COMMISSIONER OF HIGHER EDUCATION’S REPORT 

Deputy Commissioner for Two-Year and Community College Education 
John Cech  

 
Item 5   GOVERNOR’S OFFICE REPORT 
   Dan Villa 
 
Item 6   STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE’S REPORT 
   Holly Capp 
 
DISCUSSION  
 

 EXECUTIVE  COMMITTEE – Patty Myers (Items 7-9) 
 
Item 7   ANNUAL GED REPORT 
   Margaret Bowles 
 
Item 8   MONTANA STATEWIDE DROPOUT AND GRADUATE REPORT 
   Andy Boehm 
 
Item 9  SPECIAL EDUCATION REPORT 
  Tim Harris 
 

 ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE – John Edwards (Items 10-13) 
 
Item 10   REPORT ON THE FINAL DRAFT OF THE MONTANA K-12 CONTENT 

STANDARDS ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS AND LITERACY IN 
HISTORY/SOCIAL STUDIES, SCIENCE, AND TECHNOLOGY AND 
ADOPTION TIMELINE 

   Kris Goyins 
 
Item 11   REPORT ON THE FINAL DRAFT OF THE MONTANA K-12 CONTENT 

STANDARDS IN MATHEMATICS AND ADOPTION TIMELINE 
   Kris Goyins 
 
Item 12   CHAPTER 55 JOINT TASK FORCE UPDATE 
   Patty Myers and Dennis Parman 
 
Item 13   SUPERINTENDENT AND PRINCIPAL INTERNSHIP REPORT 
   Dr. Linda Vrooman Peterson 



 

July 14‐15, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 3 
 

 
 GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE – Patty Myers (Item 14) 

 
Item 14   FEDERAL UPDATE 
   Nancy Coopersmith 
 
 
July 15, 2011 – Friday 
8:30 AM 
 

 ASSESSMENT COMMITTEE – Sharon Carroll (Items 15-17) 
 
Item 15   ASSESSMENT UPDATE  
   Judy Snow 
 
Item 16  REPORT ON THE NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING RELATING TO THE 

PROPOSED ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNERS STANDARDS AND 
ADOPTION TIMELINE 

  Judy Snow 
 
ACTION 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
The public will be afforded the opportunity to comment before the Board on every action item on 
the agenda prior to final Board action. 
 
Item 17   RECOMMEND NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING RELATING TO THE 

PROPOSED ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNERS STANDARDS AND 
ADOPTION TIMELINE 

   Judy Snow  
 

 ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE – John Edwards (Items 18-22) 
 
Item 18   RECOMMEND DISAPPROVAL OF ALTERNATIVE TO STANDARDS 

REQUESTS 
   Kelly Glass 
 
Item 19   RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF ALTERNATIVE TO STANDARDS REQUESTS 
   Kelly Glass 
 
Item 20   INTENSIVE ASSISTANCE REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION FOR ACTION 
   Kelly Glass 
 
Item 21   RECOMMENDATION OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC 

INSTRUCTION TO PREPARE THE NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING RELATING 
TO MONTANA K-12 CONTENT STANDARDS FOR ENGLISH LANGUAGE 
ARTS AND LITERACY FOR HISTORY/SOCIAL STUDIES AND SCIENCE 

   Kris Goyins 
 
Item 22   RECOMMENDATION OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC 

INSTRUCTION TO PREPARE THE NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING RELATING 
TO MONTANA K-12 CONTENT STANDARDS IN MATHEMATICS 

   Kris Goyins 



 

July 14‐15, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 4 
 

 
 EXECUTIVE  COMMITTEE – Patty Myers (Items 23-26) 

 
Item 23  MONTANA DIGITAL ACADEMY BOARD RECOMMENDATION 
  Robert Currie 
 
Item 24   MSDB SUPERINTENDENT PERFORMANCE EVALUATION & CONTRACT 

EXTENSION (CLOSED) 
   Patty Myers 
 
Item 25   BPE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY PERFORMANCE EVALUATION & 

CONTRACT EXTENSION (CLOSED) 
   Patty Myers 
 
Item 26   ESTABLISH EXECUTIVE STAFF SALARIES (CLOSED) 
   Patty Myers 
  
DISCUSSION  
 

 MSDB LIAISON – Patty Myers (Item 27) 
  
Item 27   MSDB COMMITTEE MEETING REPORT 
   Steve Gettel 
    
PRELIMINARY AGENDA ITEMS – September 8-9, 2011 TBD, MT  
Set Annual Agenda Calendar 
Election of Board Officers 
Committee Appointments 
BPE Goal Review 
MACIE Update 
Superintendent Goals 
Assessment Update 
Federal Update 
Youth Risk Behavior Survey Update (Odd Years) 
Accreditation Report 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 
The Montana Board of Public Education is a Renewal Unit Provider.  Attending a Board of Public Education Meeting 
may qualify you to receive renewal units.  One hour of contact time = 1 renewal unit up to 4 renewal units per day.  
Please complete the necessary information on the sign-in sheet if you are applying for renewal units.    



















































 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 1 
 

BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 
           MEETING MINUTES 

 
May 12-13, 2011 

 
Montana School for the Deaf and Blind 

3911 Central Avenue 
Great Falls, MT 

 
May 12, 2011 - Thursday 
8:30 AM     
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chairperson Patty Myers called the meeting to order at 8:32 AM.  The following MSDB staff assisted the 
MSDB students with the Pledge of Allegiance:  Ms. Kim Schwabe, Principal; Ms. Diane Moog, Teacher; 
Ms. Leann Goss, Teacher; Ms. Brenda Lemieux, Teacher; Ms. Amanda Taylor, Teacher; and Ms. Julie 
Dee Alt, Teacher.  Ms. Carol Will took roll call; a quorum was noted.  Mr. Cal Gilbert and Mr. Tim Seery 
were recognized for their years of contribution to the Board of Public Education.  Ms. Patty Myers 
introduced Mr. Mike Seery, Ms. Susie Seery, Ms. Holly Capp, Ms. Jo Anne Capp, and Dr. Fred Anderson. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
Consent agenda was approved as presented. 
 
ADOPT AGENDA 
Ms. Patty Myers noted that Item 10 will occur sometime after 2:00 PM on Thursday, May 12, 2011 and 
Items 17 and 18 will be removed from the agenda and moved to the July Board of Public Education 
Meeting.  Mr. Bernie Olson commented that he would prefer to schedule licensure hearings on Thursdays 
in the future. 
 

Mr. Bernie Olson moved:  to approve the agenda as amended.  Ms. Sharon Carroll 
seconded.  Motion passed unanimously.   

 
Those in attendance included the following Board members:  Chair Ms. Patty Myers, Vice Chair Ms. 
Sharon Carroll, Mr. Bernie Olson, Mr. John Edwards, Ms. Erin Williams, Ms. Lila Taylor, Mr. Doug 
Cordier, and Student Representatives Mr. Tim Seery and Ms. Holly Capp.  Staff present included:  Mr. 
Steve Meloy, Executive Secretary, Board of Public Education; Mr. Peter Donovan, Administrative Officer, 
Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council; and Ms. Carol Will, Administrative Assistant, 
Board of Public Education.  Ex-officio members present included: State Superintendent, Denise Juneau; 
Dr. Sylvia Moore, Deputy Commissioner, Academic, Research & Student Affairs, represented 
Commissioner Sheila Stearns; and Mr. Dan Villa, Governor’s Education Policy Advisor, represented 
Governor Brian Schweitzer.  Visitors in attendance included:  Ms. Nancy Coopersmith, Assistant 
Superintendent, OPI; Dr. Linda Vrooman Peterson, Accreditation Division Administrator, OPI; Mr. Dennis 
Parman, Deputy Superintendent, OPI; Ms. Norma Bixby, MACIE; Dr. Larry Baker, Montana State 
University-Bozeman; Ms. Ann Gilkey, Chief Legal Counsel, OPI; Ms. Judy Snow, Assessment Specialist, 
OPI; Ms. Kelly Glass, Accreditation Accountability Specialist, OPI; Ms. Elizabeth Keller, Educator 
Licensure Unit Manager; OPI; Ms. Karin Billings, Health Enhancement, OPI; Ms. Christine Emerson, 
Health Enhancement, OPI; Ms. Jean Howard, Math Specialist, OPI; Mr. Jim Kelly, MSDB; Mr. Robert 
Walsmith; Mr. Tim McKittrick, Attorney; Mr. Norman C. Peterson, Attorney, Agency Legal Service Bureau; 
and Mr. Steve Gettel, Superintendent, MSDB.   
 
INFORMATION  
    



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 2 
 

Item 1  CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT - Patty Myers 
• March 8, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
• March 30, 2011 MSDB Superintendent Evaluation Conference Call 
• April 22, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
• May 1, 2011  Meeting with MSDB Superintendent – Great Falls 
• May 3, 2011  MSDB Committee Conference Call 
• May 10, 2011 Chapter 55 Conference Call 
 

  BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION APPEARANCES 
 
  Sharon Carroll 

• March 8, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
• April 22, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 

 
 Bernie Olson 

• March 8, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
• March 30, 2011 MSDB Superintendent Evaluation Conference Call 
• April 22, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
• May 3, 2011  MSDB Committee Conference Call 

  
 John Edwards 

• April 22, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
 

 Erin Williams 
• March 8, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
• April 22, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 

 
 Lila Taylor 

• March 8, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
 
Doug Cordier 
• March 8, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 
• April 22, 2011 BPE Conference Call Meeting 

  
Item 2  EXECUTIVE SECRETARY’S REPORT - Steve Meloy 
This legislative session constituted a direct frontal attack on the Board of Public Education.  HB 639 by 
Representative Stahl was a general bill to revise K-12 education.  In the bill, he attempted to strip the 
Board of its constitutional role and have the legislature define the accreditation standards and specify the 
basic instructional program for pupils in public schools.  The bill was tabled in committee.  However 
Representative Stahl attempted to have this language amended into SB 329 on the floor of the House, 
which ultimately became the majority party’s primary school funding bill.  The debate was somewhat 
intense and centered on interpretation of the constitution as it pertains to K-12 governance.  Wisdom from 
both sides of the aisle prevailed and this amendment went down on a 60-40 vote.  The Shared Policy 
Goals provided some structure to filter the jurisdiction of each involved.   
 
The Board of Public Education’s 5% restoration of the opening 5% global cuts remained intact.  The BPE 
was finally exempt, thanks to supportive legislators from both parties in the Senate Claims and Finance 
Committee.  Other bills addressed in the report included:  HB 603, charter school bill; HB 347, mandating 
civics for K through 12; SB 141 bullying bill; HB 397, public funds for school choice and home schooling; 
HB 450 and HB 451, electing the Board of Education; HB 456, dictating to school on an “opt in” policy on 
Healthy Enhancement Curriculums; HJ 7, cut the size of OPI by 50% and reduce the number of school 
districts; HJ 9, creating an interim study of the BPE and Local School District supervision of school’s 
authority; SB 282, to provide tax credits for private donations to scholarships; HB 154, to eliminate the 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 3 
 

educational requirements for the Superintendent of Public Instruction; HB 142, to provide interim review 
of advisory councils for sunset; SB 25, to monitor body mass index of K-12 students; HB 13, the state pay 
plan; SJ 28, to create an interim study of performance based funding; SB 44, to raise the compulsory age 
for school enrollment; SB 88, to increase stipends for teachers; and SB 208, to allow school to be held on 
Saturdays outside of emergency situations.  The discussion of raises in teacher fees created the feeling 
that there was an elephant in the room.  Since it did not occur however, CSPAC will be in a world of hurt 
in the next biennium.  MEA-MFT did support a minimal increase only if it supports only CSPAC and not 
the operations of the Board.  Mr. Steve Meloy stressed that there is a need to speak with the county 
superintendents in regard to their role in the chain of command along with local control.  Bussing issues 
continue to be raised and Mr. Mark Paulson, a current bus driver, will be contacting members of the 
Board about his concerns.  Mr. Bernie Olson took an active role in the legislative session through letters 
to the Senators and Representatives.  He believes that the Board of Public Education should gird itself for 
the next session. 
 
Item 3  CSPAC REPORT - Peter Donovan 
Mr. Peter Donovan reviewed the highlights of the March 3, 2011 CSPAC Meeting.  One specific point 
addressed was the sign language and hearing impaired group met on May 11, 2011 to address ways to 
offer continuing education for sign language interpreters and instructors of Braille to meet the 
accreditation standards.  The group proposed conducting a summit for the deaf and hard of hearing.  Mr. 
Donovan reported that Ms. Sharon Applegate, Ms. Sharon Carroll, and he will be attending the 
NASDTEC Conference in Sacramento, CA.  State Superintendent Denise Juneau questioned CSPAC’s 
work on the Code of Ethics.  Mr. Donovan reported that a draft of the possible codes was distributed to 
CSPAC and is currently waiting for feedback via email.  The draft was created after reviewing the codes 
from other states, input from Ms. Ann Gilkey, and Ms. Jeannine Luckowski.  Discussion ensued about 
whether or not the Board of Public Education should adopt the document, whether or not educators 
should be required to sign off that they read it since there is an increase of licensure issues.  Mr. Peter 
Donovan suggested that the NASDTEC conference and the proposed revisions of the Code of Ethics be 
topics at the joint BPE/CSPAC meeting in July.   
 
  CSPAC APPOINTMENTS (ACTION) 
Mr. Peter Donovan recommended the following for appointments to CSPAC: Incumbent Ms. Patty Muir, 
K-12 specialist; incumbent Ms. Sharon Applegate, teacher K-8; Ms. Dianne Burke, school trustee; and Dr. 
Cindy O’Dell, post secondary education.  Mr. Dan Villa noted that Ms. Dianne Burke was the Director of 
the Montana School Boards Association since 2009 and currently holds the position of Vice President.  
Mr. Villa questioned her position on the proposed legislation SB 315 in regard to teacher tenure and 
recommended that the Board of Public Education ascertain her position.  State Superintendent Denise 
Juneau also recommended that the Board of Public Education follow-up with Ms. Dianne Burke’s work 
with the Frenchtown School Board.  Mr. Bob Vogel stressed that Ms. Dianne Burke was pleased to have 
the opportunity to serve on CSPAC, spoke highly of her qualifications, expressed her willingness to serve, 
and stated her perspective would be valuable to CSPAC and ultimately the Board of Public Education.  
Mr. Bob Vogel continued by stating that SB 315 was not drafted by the Montana School Boards 
Association.  Mr. Vogel reported that Ms. Dianne Burke was supportive of the bill as a member of the 
organization, but did not personally speak out one way or another.  He hoped that CSPAC would 
entertain different perspectives and pointed that one member of the Council does not constitute a 
quorum.  Mr. Bernie Olson stated that sometimes we are part of a group that we may not support 
everything that the particular group represents.  Mr. Bob Vogel concluded his recommendation stating 
that Ms. Dianne Burke is honorable, kind, considerate, cares about kids, and is an outstanding individual. 
 Ms. Sharon Carroll reported that she was prepared to act on the other three positions and would take the 
school trustee position under advisement until Friday, May 13, 2011.  
 

Ms. Sharon Carroll moved:  to appoint Sharon Applegate to the teacher K-8 position on the 
Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council.  Ms. Erin Williams seconded.  
Motion passed unanimously.   



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 4 
 

 
Ms. Sharon Carroll moved:  to appoint Patty Muir to the K-12 specialist position on the 
Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council.  Ms. Lila Taylor seconded.  Motion 
passed unanimously.   

 
Ms. Sharon Carroll moved:  to appoint Dr. Cindy O’Dell to the post secondary education 
position on the Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council. Mr. Bernie Olson 
seconded.  Motion passed unanimously.  
  

10:40 AM Mr. John Edwards departed 
 
Item 6  GOVERNOR’S OFFICE REPORT - Dan Villa 
Mr. Dan Villa provided a global wrap-up for education from the post legislative session.  SB 329 became 
the school funding vehicle along with its tentacles.  The conference committee attached a provision that 
said if HB 316 is not passed and approved then K-12 school funding will be cut $4.6 million.  Mr. Villa 
continued to speak to the change in percentages and the compound interest.  As a result Governor 
Schweitzer vetoed HB 316 and as a result the state may be subject to single subject litigation because 
HB 316 ultimately did not have anything to do with K-12 funding and it was linked directly to SB 329.  SB 
329 gave the Board of Public Education some additional responsibilities as part of the ongoing dialogue 
pertaining to the oil and gas revenues versus the other natural resource revenues.  For example, the 
revenue from the Hard Rock Mining has 75% of the taxes paid going to the state and 25% stays at the 
local level.  Contrary to that, the oil and gas revenues have approximately 53% going to the state and 
47% stays at the local level.  Governor Schweitzer original school funding bill HB 136 was promptly killed 
in the first half of the session.  Then the oil and gas debates took on a life of its own with various 
previsions.  Mr. Villa believes that the bill that ended up being in SB 329 is less equitable than what was 
being funded before and he provided examples explaining his point-of-view.  The mechanism that is 
contained in SB 329 requires that 80 budget amendments above a certain threshold of oil and gas 
revenue have the unbudgeted revenue coming to the Board of Public Education.  It will be reported to the 
Board of Public Education and the Education and Local Government Committee.  The Board of Public 
Education does not have the ability to approve or deny them, but you have the ability to see them.  In 
essence, nothing has changed other than the smallest of oil and gas districts will lose significant amounts 
of gas money and the largest of the oil and gas districts will retain the vast majority.  There is still an 
equity issue and the state is subject to litigation.  Discussion ensued about teacher tenure, 
micromanaging boards, electing the BPE and the BOR, at-risk funding, Indian Education, term limits, 
vetoes, supplementals, and the fears of next legislative session. 
 
11:05 AM Mr. John Edward returned and Mr. Dan Villa departed 
 
Item 4  STATE SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT - State Superintendent Denise Juneau 
State Superintendent Denise Juneau distributed a document about the main provisions of SB 329.  Some 
provisions are: 

• Increases the basic and per-ANB entitlements by 1% and by 2.43% 1.6% in FY 2013.  The total 
increase for schools would be $24.5 million compared to $29.5 million in the Governor’s budget. 
These funding levels are contingent on the passage of HB 316. 

• Allows the trustees of a school district to levy, without a vote, for the over-BASE budget an 
amount equal to the revenue previously authorized by the electors of the district or imposed by 
the district in any of the previous five years. 

• Requires a school district to report to the Education and Local Government Interim Committee of 
the legislature and the Board of Public Education if the district adopts a budget amendment that 
in combination with any other budget amendments exceeds 10% of the district’s adopted general 
fund budget.  The report must include an explanation as why the budget amendment is 
necessary.   

• Expands school district reporting requirements to OPI and requirements for posting data on 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 5 
 

school district websites. 
State Superintendent Denise Juneau commended the advocacy groups for their role in killing a lot of bad 
bills before they got to Governor Schweitzer’s desk. 
 
Other topics discussed:  school staffing module and the collection of data; Youth Risk Behavior Survey 
(YRBS) being presented with the school climate report; strengthening the bullying policy;  Student 
Advisory Board meeting for the 2nd time in April 2011; dropout rates; childhood hunger; and the mental 
health grant. 
 
Another letter was distributed that was written to Secretary Arne Duncan on April 25, 2011 from State 
Superintendent Denise Juneau which states, “In the absence of a new bill [congressional inaction on 
reauthorizing ESEA], the Department continues to hold states and schools accountable under the current 
law although the ESEA accountability system does not conform to the Department’s new priorities, 
particularly around growth models for student learning.  This split in priorities, established under your 
leadership and those established in the current ESEA, has Montana reeling from additional data 
collection and uncertain about the path to continuous improvement. At the state education agency level, it 
is difficult to travel down two divergent paths given our limited capacity and resources.  At the district 
level, particularly in a frontier state like Montana, it is difficult to meet increasing data collection such as 
that required under the State Fiscal Stabilization Funds that implement new federal priorities in addition to 
continuing to meet ESEA requirements.”  State Superintendent Denise Juneau continues to write, “In 
order to hold the line during the transition from one accountability system to another, it is important not to 
penalize our schools while we wait for overdue congressional action, and instead, provide a stable 
accountability measure for our schools.  Therefore, I write to inform you that I am delaying the scheduled 
increase of the Annual Measurable Objectives (AMOs).”  The Montana public schools will continue to 
assess and evaluate students according to the law, but they will not be required to make the next jump for 
measuring Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP).  The Bozeman Daily Chronicle dated May 11, 2011 was 
also distributed.   
 
Montana needs a comprehensive statewide K-12 writing system with support for writing instruction.  The 
potential adoption of the National Common Core Standards definitely puts our state’s educators in a 
prime position to begin developing this system.  The focus needs to be on professional development that 
targets best classroom instruction practices and formative assessment.  There are models currently in 
practice such as district writing assessments, the Montana University System Writing Assessment 
(MUSWA), a University of Montana Western grant, OPI’s MontCAS Presents an annual assessment 
conference, and an OPI online writing pilot.  The OPI is committed to examining these tools for their 
potential to create a K-12 model of professional development support toward student achievement in 
writing.  OPI submitted a budget request to the 2011 Legislature to fund every high school junior to take 
the ACT Plus Writing.  The request was not funded, but OPI will continue to seek funding. 
 
Discussion ensued about the following:  standards applying to private schools; receiving federal funds; 
charter schools; accountability issues; tuition credits; reporting data; and homeschooling. 
 
Item 5  COMMISSIONER OF HIGHER EDUCATION’S REPORT - Deputy Commissioner,     

Academic, Research & Student Affairs-Sylvia Moore  
Dr. Sylvia Moore focused her report on interfaces with K-12.  During the 2011 Legislative Session, dual 
enrollment funding did not happen.  During the last biennium, the Office of the Commissioner of Higher 
Education (OCHE) subsidized the Montana Digital Academy and OCHE is trying to ensure quality, 
standardize the cost of those courses across the campuses and budget adjustments need to occur for 
this to be successful. Post tenure review slid through the legislature through a senate joint resolution and 
it will continue to move forward.  OCHE is downsizing due to budget reductions.  The Director of 
Academic Initiatives, who is also the Director of the Montana University System Writing Assessment 
(MUSWA), is being reduced due to a lack of funding.  The MUSWA has had a very successful 11 year 
run and has provided excellent professional development, but there is a shift in the literacy standards with 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 6 
 

the National Common Core Standards and the MUSWA may not fit the new standards as well as other 
assessment tools.  Literacy needs to go beyond reading novels and writing narratives to informational, 
complex reading with technical, interpretive writing.  It appears that the Title II Teacher Quality 
Partnership Grant funds will not come directly to OCHE which will eliminate the principle funding source 
for the MUSWA.  OCHE is in the process of promoting the University of Montana Helena College of 
Technology (UM-COT) to apply for the Teacher Quality Partnership Grant to run the MUSWA.  It is 
possible that Dr. Jan Clinard will have an opportunity to continue the work with the MUSWA if UM-COT 
obtains that grant.  Dr. Jan Clinard will be acknowledged for her work with the MUSWA at the Board of 
Regents (BOR) meeting in Kalispell May 19-20, 2011. 
 
OCHE will partner with the OPI and the BPE as the Common Core Standards are being implemented.  
The BOR will be discussing the Common Core Standards and the implications for higher education and 
Access to Success at its upcoming meeting.  Other topics discussed were the level of change in the 
federal Pell grants and how this will impact low income students; TRIO funding reductions; and renewal of 
the Talent Search and Gear Up grants.  The question for Graduation Matters in Montana is “Are colleges 
student ready?”  This question is different compared to “Are students college ready?”  Dr. Sylvia Moore 
reported that she is pleased that Governor Schweitzer supported OCHE in regard to the Experimental 
Program Stimulate Competitive Research (EPSCOR) Grant.  If the EPSCOR grant is obtained, it will have 
a huge emphasis on outreach in our Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) fields. 
Only the Board of Regents can decide whether or not tuition will rise.  
 
Item 7  STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE’S REPORT - Tim Seery 
Mr. Tim Seery reflected on his two years as the Student Representative on the Montana Board of Public 
Education and expressed that it was both interesting and rewarding.  Mr. Seery thanked the Board of 
Public Education for the work that they do on behalf of Montana students.  Mr. Seery continued his report 
by introducing Ms. Holly Capp who is the next BPE Student Representative.  Ms. Capp is currently a 
junior at Great Falls High School and holds the position of junior class president.  Some of her 
involvements include:  Montana YMCA Youth Legislature program; Girls’ State Delegate; Senate Page in 
the 2011 Legislative Session; vice president of the local chapter for Business Professionals of America; 
received the Statesman Torch Award; Distributive Education Clubs of America (DECA) member; 
representative for the School Improvement Committee at Great Falls High; and received the 2010 Hugh 
O’Brien Youth Leadership recipient for Great Falls High.  In conclusion, Mr. Tim Seery expressed Ms. 
Holly Capp’s major concerns with education in Montana and what goals she has in mind in regard to this 
position as demonstrated in her application for student representative to the State Board of Public 
Education. 
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Item 8  MACIE REPORT - Norma Bixby 
A summary of the April 7, 2011, MACIE meeting was provided.  Agenda topics included:  Indian 
Education Division Report, MACIE Communication Process, Common Core Work Group Report, MIEA 
Report, and Dropout Report.  Mr. Doug Cordier reported on his attendance to the Indian Education for All 
Conference and the MACIE board meeting.  Ms. Norma Bixby continued with an overview of the 
Blackfeet and Crow star stories as an ethno astronomy project and can be found on iTunes.  It is the 
hope that other tribes will follow suit. The Advocacy Institute will be held the end of June for Native 
American Days on the Crow Reservation. MACIE recommends that high school graduation requirements 
should remain at 20 credits and there should be one counselor for every 200 students.  In regard to the 
National Common Core Standards, MACIE recommends that the Board of Public Education accepts the 
Indian Education for All additions.   
 
Item 9  SCHOOL NUTRITION PROGRAMS ANNUAL REPORT - Chris Emerson 
The presentation included information about the National School Lunch Program, School Breakfast 
Program, Afterschool Snack Program, Special Milk Program, USDA Donated Foods Program, 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 7 
 

Cooperative Purchase Program, Team Nutrition Program, and Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program for the 
2009-10 school year.  The presentation was designed to show the changes in program participation and 
funding over five school years.  It also covered nutrition education activities for schools, parents and the 
community to improve nutritional value and acceptability of school meals, and promote the health and 
education of children.  Ms. Chris Emerson reviewed some of the specifics of the 2010 Annual Report 
such as 40% of Montana schools have recess before lunch, it is required that schools have two safety 
inspections each year, there was a decrease of 27,486 half-pints of milk served over the past year, and 
there was an increase of lunches and breakfasts served.  Discussion ensued about the following:  High 
school students not participating in the available programs due to open campuses and the negative 
stereotype; implementation of the Summer Food Service Program; reduction in half-pints of milked 
because more kids are eating breakfast; backpack program; free and reduced lunch and breakfast 
programs are a strong link to poverty; and the involvement of the Healthy School Network 
 
Item 11 NASBE AFFILIATION (ACTION) - Patty Myers 
Ms. Patty Myers reviewed the letter that was sent to the Executive Director of NASBE on December 8, 
2010 in regard to the services rendered for the price of membership.  Mr. Steve Meloy stated that the 
Board of Public Education can reinstate the number of meetings before the reductions that occurred in 
FY2010-2011. Mr. Meloy’s primary concern is the cost of litigation and the impact it may have on the 
2013 biennium’s budget. Mr. Bernie Olson figured NASBE’s members receive $14,000 in benefits and the 
remaining is left for administrative costs.  Discussion ensued about the following:  NASBE’s advocacy for 
the state boards; NASBE Executive Director’s salary; Mr. Meloy’s role as president of NCSBEE; value to 
the BPE if actively engaged; negative experience participating on a task force; educational partners 
continue to belong to respective member organizations; OPI considering to forgo its membership to 
CCSSO; value in being at the table at the national level; MT is one of 33 states with an active 
membership; most larger states are not members; paid for ½ of dues for 2011; money is better spent in 
the state of Montana; suggestion to omit it for one year; New Member Institute is valuable; additional 
money can be spent to purchase laptops for Board members, increasing litigation, and increasing travel 
costs; and the ability to explain to the budget director that the Board of Public Education is a governing 
body and needs to budget for its litigation responsibilities.   
 

Mr. Bernie Olson moved:  to suspend its affiliation with NASBE and not pay the second 
half of its dues for 2011. Ms. Lila Taylor seconded.  Motion passed with a 6 to 1 vote.  

 
Item 10  UKRAINE EXCHANGE PROGRAM - Beth Thomas 
Ms. Beth Thomas informed the Board of Public Education of her experiences obtained through the 
Teaching Excellence and Achievement Program while teaching in Kirovohrad in the Ukraine.  Ms. 
Thomas share some of the following experiences:  Teachers rotate to the different classrooms versus the 
students; student have 10-15 minute breaks between each class; school had 11 computer for 300 
students; computers were rarely used; collaboratively developed workshops and shared best teaching 
practices; and student used Turkish spot toilets.  Questions ensued about blogs being monitored, the 
level of teacher preparation, institutionalizing people with needs, and the lack of professional 
development.   
 
Item 12  COMMON CORE STATE STANDARDS REPORT - Nancy Coopersmith and Jean 

Howard 
The Office of Public Instruction presented to the Montana Board of Public Education an update on the 
progress toward adoption of the Common Core State Standards for English Language Arts and 
Mathematics.  This presentation included the following documents:  1. Letters of support from 
professional education associations; 2. Summary of online survey results; 3. Findings from the analysis 
report; 4. Summary of outreach activities; and 5. Indian Education for All content embedded in the 
Common Core State Standards.  Ms. Nancy Coopersmith reviewed the past two years of work 
concerning the Common Core, signing of the Memorandum of Understanding, and all the drafts that were 
reviewed and studied meticulously.  Ms. Jean Howard reviewed the letters of support from professional 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 8 
 

education associations. Ms. Nancy Coopersmith reviewed the survey results that represented all regions 
of Montana and all school sizes were represented.  Mathematics was reviewed by 60% of the 
respondents and English language arts by 40%.  Of all respondents, 89% felt the Common Core State 
Standards (CCSS) reflected what students need to know and be able to do, are user friendly and 
understandable.  86% felt the standards reflect realist and rigorous expectations.  Responses indicate 
50% felt that the CCSS standards are more rigorous than the Montana Content and Performance 
Standards, 38% felt they are very similar in content.  72% of the respondents ranked professional 
development learning opportunities the most essential support component for successful implementation 
of the standards. 
 
Ms. Jean Howard presented the Summary of Findings from the Common Core State Standards and 
Montana Standards Analysis Report in both mathematics and English language arts.  The timeline for 
outreach was presented to the Board and the initial work began on October 22, 2009.  In conclusion, the 
May 2011 draft of the Common Core State Standards for Mathematics and English Language Arts 
Including Integration of Montana Indian Education for All was reviewed and a survey of high schools’ 
responses to the number of units in mathematics that are currently required for graduation.  The Board of 
Public Education may need to consider 3 units of mathematics for graduation requirements in order for 
students to meet these standards.  Ms. Patty Myers requested the names of the schools that currently 
require 3 and 4 units of mathematics for graduation.  Ms. Nancy Coopersmith stated that she would 
provide that information to the Board.   
 
Item 13  RECOMMENDATION FOR ADOPTION OF THE COMMON CORE STATE 

STANDARDS - State Superintendent Denise Juneau 
State Superintendent Denise Juneau presented a recommendation for the Board of Public Education’s 
approval of the Common Core State Standards in English Language Arts and Mathematics as the 
Montana standards for these subject areas.  Implications of adoption include the following:  1. Need 
extensive professional development for educators and parents; 2. Additional (third year) of mathematics 
for graduation from Montana high schools; and 3. Develop and implement a new state-wide assessment. 
 With the adoption of the Common Core State Standards in English Language Arts and Mathematics, 
these standards would become the Montana standards.  (The term “Common Core State Standards” 
would no longer be used in reference to these standards because the standards will become the 
Montana English Language Arts and Mathematics Standards.)  In addition, there would be no change in 
local control of decisions concerning curriculum and learning activities.  The Montana school districts 
would be required to align their locally developed curriculum and learning activities with the newly 
adopted Montana Content Standards in English Language Arts and Mathematics.  The Office of Public 
Instruction would need to develop model curriculum and model instructional guides to accompany the 
new standards. State Superintendent Denise Juneau requests the approval from the Board of Public 
Education to adopt the Common Core State Standards as the Montana Content Standards in English 
Language Arts and Mathematics based upon her recommendation.  Discussion ensued about the 
following:  Montana would be the 44th state if adopted; professional development would be needed; 
alignment of curriculum, text books, instructional guides, and assessments; redesign of teacher education 
preparation programs; amendment to accreditation standards; develop model curriculum; need for fiscal 
resources; the increased rigor from Montana’s current standards, BPE sets the standards; curriculum is 
set by the districts; local control will continue; literacy instruction; caution in replacing existing graduation 
credit to accommodate additional math credit; OCHE would partner with the BPE if it chooses to adopt; 
remediation issues; Dr. Larry Baker, Dean from MSU-Bozeman supported the BPE; advance beyond 
other countries; challenging students will be beneficial for all; and BPE Student Representatives support 
3 credits of mathematics for a graduation requirement. 
 
Mr. Doug Cordier and Mr. Steve Meloy requested an implementation timeline for the Common Core 
Standards.  Ms. Nancy Coopersmith stated that the exhaustive process of the timeline will be presented 
to the Board of Public Education at its July meeting if adopted in May.  Mr. Steve Meloy reported that in 
accordance with MCA 20-7-101 the interim committee shall request a fiscal analysis to be prepared by 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 9 
 

the Legislative Fiscal Division.  The Legislative Fiscal Division shall provide its analysis to the interim 
committee and to the Office of the Budget and Program Planning to be used in the preparation of the 
executive budget.  If the fiscal analysis of the proposal is found by the Legislative Fiscal Division to have 
substantial fiscal impact, the Board may not implement the standard until July 1 following the next regular 
legislative session and shall request that the same legislature fund implementation of the proposed 
standard.  This means that it may not be effective until July 1, 2013. 
 
4:32 PM Sylvia Moore departed 
 
Item 14 FEDERAL UPDATE - Nancy Coopersmith 
This informational presentation included the latest information available about the U.S. Congressional 
actions on the federal budget for Federal Fiscal Year 2011 and Federal Fiscal Year 2012.  In addition, 
future federal program reviews, activities and grant opportunities were discussed.  Ms. Nancy 
Coopersmith reported that congress took action on April 14, 2011 on the budget which was required to be 
passed by law on September 30, 2010 and the Office of Public Instruction has been watching the ED.Gov 
website diligently for the chart to show the final allocations and is not available at the time of the BPE 
meeting.  Some of the following funds were reduced:  Teacher Quality State Grants (ESEA, NCLB, Title II 
A and B) were cut $475 million; Career Technical Education funds were cut by $138 million; 21st Century 
Community Learning Centers were cut $10 million; and School Improvement Grants under Title I were cut 
$10 million.  Two major programs, Title I and the State Grants for Special Education, were flat funded 
where they received no increase or decrease.  Increases were given to the following:  Race to the Top at 
$700 million; Head Start at $340 million; Investing in Innovation (I-3 competitive grants) at $150 million; 
and Promise Neighborhoods at $10 million.  The Office of Public Instruction is preparing to open the E-
grant system for districts.  The OPI recently received the final allocation for Title I which is particularly 
early.  The chart in the BPE’s packet reflects the figures from the allocations that occurred April 1, 2011, 
and the most recent data is pending. 
 
Item 15  CHAPTER 55 JOINT TASK FORCE UPDATE - Patty Myers and Dennis Parman 
The Chapter 55 Joint Task Force of the Board of Public Education and the Office of Public Instruction met 
May 16-17, 2011, at the Red Lion Hotel in Helena, MT.  The OPI provides to the BPE the following items 
for the May meeting of the Task Force: Expected outcomes, proposed agenda, and the Chapter 55 draft 
recommendations for consideration by constituents and the public.  The Chapter 55 Web link is entitled, 
Reports and Recommendations:  http://www.opi.mt.gov/Programs/SchoolPrograms/index.html#gpm1_3. 
The next meeting date for the Chapter 55 Joint Task Force is June 23-24, 2011, at the Red Lion in 
Helena, MT. 
 
Mr. Dennis Parman stated that if a school district is meeting the standards set by the Board of Public 
Education it is doing “good enough”.  In phase one the task force reviewed the accreditation standards 
where they are and is determining what should be done to them to make them different and better.  The 
task force is approximately 85% done with that portion.  Mr. Parman continued expressing his concern 
that the Board of Public Education and the Office of Public Instruction was under attack by some political 
entities during this legislative session and ultimately the Board’s authority was ignored.  He is convinced 
that the partners of public education need to take bold steps to protect its standing or something will be 
done unto them during the next legislative session. 
 
Mr. Dennis Parman proposed the following performance-based model to the Board of Public Education 
that he intends to present at the Chapter 55 Joint Task Force meeting on May 16-17, 2011.  Around the 
country schools are being evaluated by a single letter grade because parents want to know if their 
children are attending an A, B, C, D, or F school.  Mr. Parman displayed charts that reflected several 
different schools’ performance based on a colored scale that would be published for the public if his 
proposal is approved.  The colored charts are comparable to the A, B, C, D, or F model, but it gives so 
much more information as to the actual performance and rating of the school. Different things will be 
measured from graduation rates to average daily attendance.  What is being measured will not be directly 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 10 
 

linked to Annual Yearly Progress (AYP) because it is not known at this point what will happen to the 
reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA). State Superintendent Denise 
Juneau reported to the BPE that she is taking a politically bold step to freeze the Annual Measurable 
Objectives (AMO’s) in the state of Montana as stated in her letter to the U.S. Education Secretary Arne 
Duncan.  Mr. Dennis Parman is proposing levels of accreditation by taking the scale scores and drawing 
lines.  The goal is to identify schools that are “good enough”, schools that are doing “quite well”, and 
schools that are doing “fairly well”.  There needs to be the determination of strata to identify the schools 
that are “close to being good enough” etc… Using some of the language from other states, the 
performance levels may be called high level 1, high level 2, adequate, near adequate, or floor.  If we can 
identify the schools that are struggling in whatever area is being measured and support them to move up 
the scale, then we are being accountable and demonstrating measurable progress.  This would provide 
school districts with an excellent resource to help them determine where to extend their effort to make the 
necessary improvements.  Some states go as far as providing progress points or bonus points to school 
districts that exceed in areas by demonstrating the largest growth.  A letter grade alone is not adequate.  
There needs to be a determination of what is non-negotiable such as teacher licensure, bullying policies, 
strategic plans, etc… There would be a creation of a band that may allow for larger class size, but there 
still needs to be the accountability of performance.  The data is already available and the Office of Public 
Instruction will know the effects to the school districts before this process is completed.  Mr. Parman 
believes that it will be a small fraction of Montana schools that will be in the dangerous colors of red, 
orange, and yellow.  Accreditation is not designed to play “gotch ya” but it is designed to determine which 
schools have weaknesses and develop a plan to help them improve.  The only schools that will not be 
accredited in this system are the ones that “don’t want to play.”   
 
Item 16  REPORT ON THE PROPOSED ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY STANDARDS  
  ADOPTION TIMELINE - Judy Snow 
Information on the tentative action plan for adoption of the English Language Proficiency (ELP) standards 
was presented at the December 2010 Board of Public Education meeting.  The report at the May 2011 
BPE meeting provided current information on proposed ELP standards and included a timeline and 
review of the standards, with the goals being an action item in July with notice of a proposed rule change 
and public hearing, and ultimately a vote on adopting at the September 2011 meeting.  The Montana 
English Language Proficiency Standards are currently connected to the Montana Communication Arts 
Standards. The English Language Proficiency Standards that are being recommended for adoption are 
specific to English Language Proficiency with links to academic content standards and address the need 
for students to become fully proficient in both social and academic English.  They meet the federal 
requirement under ESEA Title III section 3113 (b)(2) for specific English Language Proficiency Standards. 
 In addition, the links to academic language have been aligned to the Common Core State Standards.  It 
was noted that these standards meet the federal requirements as proposed. The following timeline was 
proposed: 

• July 14-15, 2011 BPE Meeting  Action item:  Notice of proposed rule change and vote 
on proceedings 

• September 8-9, 2011 BPE Meeting Action item:  Vote on adopting 
 
ACTION 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
The public will be afforded the opportunity to comment before the Board on every action item on 
the agenda prior to final Board action. 
 
Item 17  MSDB SUPERINTENDENT PERFORMANCE EVALUATION & CONTRACT 
  EXTENSION (CLOSED) - Patty Myers 
 
Item 18  BPE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY PERFORMANCE EVALUATION & CONTRACT 
  EXTENSION (CLOSED) - Patty Myers 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 11 
 

  
DISCUSSION  
  
Item 19  MSDB COMMITTEE MEETING REPORT - Steve Gettel 
Ms. Julie Dee Alt, Supervising Teacher and School Improvement Coordinator, presented the report on 
the results of Measures of Academic Performance for the 2010-12 School Year in accordance to the 
Pacific Northwest Consortium for vision Education.  In addition, Ms. Dee Alt reviewed the results of the 
Northwest Evaluation Association Measures of Academic Progress (NWEA MAP) test.  Mr. Steve Gettel 
reported the following: Increased enrollment; resignations, transfers, retirements, and new hires; labor 
relations and contract negations; MSDB strike plan; Conference of Educational Administrators of Schools 
and Programs for the Deaf; concerns about the proposed Deaf Summit being sponsored by the OPI; 
proposed calendar; Golden Triangle Cooperative (GTCC) agreement; graduation; budget; and the 
accreditation status.  Mr. Steve Gettel reported that he will not tell the misassigned teacher that she can 
no longer work at the Montana School for the Deaf and Blind because Mr. Gettel believes that he will not 
be able to find anyone with the skill set that she has with the proper special education endorsement 
needed for this position.  Mr. Steve Gettel continued to say that he understands that this may certainly 
affect the accreditation status of the school.  The Board of Public Education will have an opportunity to 
see this teacher teach on May 13, 2011 when they take a tour of the school.  Discussion ensued about 
the following:  Uncomfortable position the Board of Public Education is in concerning this situation; the 
OPI is following the BPE’s rules; intensive assistance requires the chair of the trustees to appear before 
the BPE and in this case it is Ms. Patty Myers; and possible options. 
    
  APPROVAL OF GTCC COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT (ACTION) 
 

Mr. Bernie Olson moved:  to approve the Golden Triangle Cooperative Agreement for the 
2011-2012 school year.  Ms. Sharon Carroll seconded.  Motion passed unanimously.  

 
  APPROVAL OF 2011-2012 CALENDAR (ACTION) 
 

Mr. Bernie Olson moved:  to approve the Montana School for the Deaf and Blind 2011-2012 
calendar.  Mr. Doug Cordier seconded.  Motion passed unanimously.    

 
May 13, 2011 – Friday 
 
8:00 AM  MSDB CAMPUS TOUR (Meeting will reconvene after the tour.) 
  
ACTION 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
The public will be afforded the opportunity to comment before the Board on every action item on 
the agenda prior to final Board action. 
 
9:02 AM Closed Session 
 
Item 20  REVOCATION HEARING BPE CASE #2010-05 (CLOSED) - Clyde Peterson  
 
12:20 PM Opened Session 
 
Item 20  REVOCATION HEARING BPE CASE #2010-05 (CLOSED) - Clyde Peterson  
 

Ms. Sharon Carroll moved:  to uphold the recommendation of the State Superintendent of 
Public Instruction to revoke the educator license of case # 2010-05 pursuant to 
Administrative Rules of Montana 10.57.601 and Montana Code Annotated 20-4-110.  Mr. 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 12 
 

Bernie Olson seconded.  Motion passed unanimously.  Ms. Erin Williams recused herself 
from voting during closed session.  

 
12:26 PM Closed Session 
 
 
Item 22  REPORT OF TEACHER LICENSE SURRENDER (CLOSED) - Ann Gilkey 
Ms. Ann Gilkey reported to the Board of Public Education a license surrender and the BPE reference 
case number is #2011-03. 
 
12:30 PM Opened Session 
 
Item 23  ADOPTION OF THE COMMON CORE STATE STANDARDS IN ENGLISH LANGUAGE  
  ARTS AND MATHEMATICS AS RECOMMENDED BY STATE SUPERINTENDENT 
  DENISE JUNEAU - State Superintendent Denise Juneau 
The Board of Public Education was asked to approve the State Superintendent of Public Instruction 
Denise Juneau’s recommendation to adopt the Common Core Stat Standards in English Language Arts 
and Mathematics.  The Executive Summary stated that the BPE was asked to approve the proposed 
timeline for adoption, however there was no timeline presented at the meeting.  State Superintendent 
Denise Juneau admitted that she did not always think that this was the best idea for the state of Montana, 
but after all of the research that has been completed and analyzed, she certainly feels that it is best to 
move forward with the adoption process.  Ms. Patty Myers appreciated the time, effort and diligence to 
ensure that this is an appropriate step for Montana.  Discussion ensued about the possibility of adopting 
additional standards if the Board deems them necessary.  The content standards are always being 
reviewed and revised on a five year cycle that comes before the Board of Public Education for final 
implementation.   
 

Mr. Bernie Olson moved:  for the adoption of the Common Core State Standards of 
English Language Arts and Mathematics as recommended by State Superintendent Denise 
Juneau. Ms. Sharon Carroll seconded.   
 

Mr. Bernie Olson expressed that he did not support the Common Core State Standards in the past, but 
knowing that the State Superintendent is comfortable with her recommendation, he changed his mind to 
the affirmative.  He expressed further reservation about the potential increase of math requirements for 
Native American students. 

 
Motion passed unanimously.  

 
DISCUSSION  
 
1:15 PM Ms. Erin Williams Departed 
 
Item 21  DRAFT OF SUGGESTED AMENDMENTS TO ARM TITLE 10 CHAPTER 57, PART 6 
  Ann Gilkey 
The Board of Public Education requested a draft proposal for ARM amendments related to educator 
discipline.  Ms. Ann Gilkey presented the proposed amendment to the ARM Educator Licensure 
Disciplinary Procedures.  Some specific areas addressed were:  adding the significant misuse of 
technology/social networking to the definition of “immoral conduct”; clean up language; stipulated 
agreements are an acceptable form of resolution in post hearing procedures of contested cases; making 
final decisions available for public inspection; clarifies that surrenders are permanent, unless otherwise 
specified; posting educator license status on the OPI’s website; BPE will not hear appeals on licenses 
which are currently suspended, revoked, or surrendered; and clarifies the burden of proof is on the 
person taking the matter before the Board.  Mr. Steve Meloy addressed that the statutes may need to be 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 13 
 

revised to make sure they are consistent with the Administrative Rules of Montana especially in the term 
“licensed educator” versus teacher, specialist, or administrator.  Ms. Ann Gilkey reported that the Office of 
Public Instruction is going to post the status of educator licenses on its website.  Ms. Sharon Carroll 
expressed her concern that that decision was made by the OPI without any dialogue with the BPE.  
Discussion ensued about the letter from the Montana Attorney General in regard to the public’s right to 
know against the individual right of privacy, protecting the BPE’s policy or the individual’s right of privacy, 
what other states are doing, the need to involve CSPAC, review the Code of Ethics, and ensuring that the 
BPE and the OPI are being consistent.  Ms. Sharon Carroll requested that the Certification Standards and 
Practices Advisory Council review these proposed changes at its July meeting and that this discussion 
continue at the Joint BPE/CSPAC meeting in July.   
 
ACTION 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
The public will be afforded the opportunity to comment before the Board on every action item on 
the agenda prior to final Board action. 
 
Item 24  BASE AID PAYMENT SCHEDULE - Nancy Coopersmith 
As required by 20-9-344, MCA, the Board of Public Education must approve the distribution of K-12 
BASE aid for public education.  The schedule is the same as past years, approximately the 25th of each 
month, with adjustment for weekends and holidays.  It has been reviewed by the Board of Investments. 
 

Mr. John Edwards moved:  to accept the 2011-2012 BASE Aid Payment schedule as 
recommended by State Superintendent Denise Juneau.  Ms. Lila Taylor seconded.  Motion 
passed unanimously. Ms. Erin Williams was absent for the vote.  

 
Item 25  ADDENDUM TO 2010-2011 FINAL ACCREDITATION RECOMMENDATIONS-Kelly  
  Glass 
This presentation provided to the Board of Public Education for consideration an addendum to the 2010-
2011 accreditation determinations for all schools as recommended by State Superintendent Denise 
Juneau.  These changes are due to errors identified by the Office of Public Instruction after the 
accreditation determinations were acted on during the February BPE meeting.  The districts were notified 
of those determinations.  The report was included the following schools: 

• Red Lodge High School – data input error 
• Conrad High School – proper endorsement by teacher 
• Paradise School – approved library alternative standard 
• Molt School – data input error 
• Winifred 7-8 and Winifred High School – failure to report from post secondary internship 

 
Mr. John Edwards moved:  to accept the recommendation of State Superintendent Denise 
Juneau for the 2010-2011 accreditation status amendments.  Mr. Bernie Olson seconded.  
Motion passed unanimously. Ms. Erin Williams was absent for the vote.  

 
Item 26  RECOMMEND DISAPPROVAL OF ALTERNATIVE TO STANDARDS REQUESTS  
  Kelly Glass 
This presentation provided to the Board of Public Education the report of disapproval of Alternative to 
Standards requests.  The State Superintendent recommended approval of the report as presented.  The 
report was included.  Ms. Kelly Glass reported that a school district may apply to the BPE through the 
Superintendent of Public Instruction to implement an alternative to a standard or a section of standards, 
excluding standards stating statutory criteria, standards pertaining to teacher licensure or endorsement, 
and content and performance standards only if the district provides evidence establishing that its 
alternative is workable and submits the mission and objectives as well as identify the summative and 
formative assessments.  The agreement with the Montana Small Schools Alliance addresses both the 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 14 
 

Library (10.55.709) and Counseling standards (10.55.710) for member districts if teachers attend 
workshops each year to address the applicable content and performance standards, have licensed and 
endorsed staff available for consultation, and assessment instruments are provided.  The following 
schools are recommended for disapproval: 

• St. Ignatius K-12 Schools 
• Birney School 

 
Mr. John Edwards moved:  to approve the recommendations of State Superintendent 
Denise Juneau for the disapprovals of the alternative to standards requests.  Ms. Sharon 
Carroll seconded.  Motion passed unanimously. Ms. Erin Williams was absent for the vote.  

 
Item 27  RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF ALTERNATIVE TO STANDARDS REQUESTS – Kelly 
  Glass 
This presentation provided to the Board of Public Education the report of approval of Alternative to 
Standards requests.  The State Superintendent recommended approval of the report as presented.  The 
report was included.  The following schools were recommended for approval:  Grant School; Reichle 
School; Deep Creek School; Fortine School; Yaak School; Biddle School; Avon School; Paradise School; 
Divide School; Nye School; Morin School; Polaris School; Hawks Home School; Creston School; 
McCormick School; Alder School; South Stacey School; Hamilton High School; Plains School; Fishtail 
School; and Galata School. 
 

Mr. John Edwards moved:  to approve the recommendations of State Superintendent 
Denise Juneau for the approvals of the alternative to standards requests.  Ms. Lila Taylor 
seconded.  Motion passed unanimously. Ms. Erin Williams was absent for the vote.  

 
Item 28  CORRECTIVE PLANS UPDATE - Kelly Glass 
It is the intent to provide to the Board of Public Education an updated report on the improvement plans 
required of schools that received either Advice or Deficiency accreditation status for the 2009-10 school 
year.  This update report verified the current status of those plans following a review of the 2010 Annual 
Data Collection electronic preliminary accreditation reports for each of those schools.  The report also 
included comments and recommendations for certain school corrective plans that the state 
superintendent has determined to be incomplete, or not adequate to address the deviations that led to the 
Advice or Deficiency status determinations.  Ms. Kelly Glass reported that State Superintendent 
recommends the following schools for approval:  Grass Range High School; Belgrade School District for 
library and class size; Havre High School; Hobson High School for an improperly assigned teacher; 
Harrison High School; Dodson High School; EF Duval for improperly assigned teachers; Plains High 
School for the Spanish teacher; Absarokee Schools for improperly assigned teachers; and Glasgow 
Public Schools.   
 

Mr. John Edwards moved:  to approve the recommendation of State Superintendent 
Denise Juneau for the approval of corrective plans for schools receiving advice or 
deficiency status for 2009-2010.  Mr. Doug Cordier seconded.  Motion passed 
unanimously. Ms. Erin Williams was absent for the vote.  

 
Ms. Kelly Glass continued the report stating that the Montana School for the Deaf and Blind and the 
Columbia Falls High School are recommended for disapproval and to be placed in intensive assistance.  
There is no indication from either school that they intend to correct the deficiency.  The Montana School 
for the Deaf and Blind violates ARM 10.55.708 in which a teacher is misassigned, but the school does not 
provide information on how the misassigned teacher deviation will be corrected and contends the teacher 
will retire in five years.  Columbia Falls High School violates ARM 10.55.709 in which1.5 FTE library 
services are required for an enrollment of 782.  The Columbia Falls School District cut the library position 
due to a budget shortfall and does not plan to replace the library FTE. 
 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 15 
 

Mr. Steve Gettel recommended that MSDB go through the intensive assistance cycle as proposed.  It is a 
problem to obtain the teachers that they need and this will continue to be an issue.  It is the conflict of 
being a special purpose school and a state school.  Discussion ensued about applying the same 
standards of accreditation to a special purpose school and whether or not that was appropriate for MSDB. 
 State Superintendent Denise Juneau stressed that these difficult decisions always connect to people, 
jobs, and programs.  She reminded the Board as to why the intensive assistance cycle was established 
and the effects of the Brockton School District when the school board chair and the superintendent came 
before the Board of Public Education when they refused to do what was necessary to meet the standards 
established by the Board of Public Education.  This puts the Board of Public Education in a very difficult 
situation when it is the school board for the MSDB.  State Superintendent Denise Juneau recommended 
that the MSDB move into the intensive assistance cycle to remain consistent with the licensing rules 
established by this Board.  Mr. John Edwards continued to express the need to maintain the BPE’s 
integrity, enforce its own rules, and determine if the MSDB can be accredited differently since it is a 
unique, special purpose school.   
 

Mr. John Edwards moved:  to approve the recommendation of State Superintendent 
Denise Juneau for the disapproval of corrective plans for schools receiving advice or 
deficiency status for 2009-2010.  Mr. Doug Cordier seconded.  Motion passed 
unanimously. Ms. Erin Williams was absent for the vote. 

 
Ms. Kelly Glass reviewed the 6-step process for intensive assistance. 
 

Mr. John Edwards moved:  to approve the recommendation of State Superintendent 
Denise Juneau to place Columbia Falls High School and the Montana School for the Deaf 
and Blind in the intensive assistance process.  Ms. Sharon Carroll seconded.  Motion 
passed 5 to 1. Ms. Erin Williams was absent for the vote. 

 
Ms. Kelly Glass concluded by stating that the Office of Public Instruction is waiting for further information 
from the following school districts:  Bigfork School District; Helena School District; and Pass Creek 
Schools.  All three school districts received a visit in regard to their alternative standards regarding their 
library services. 
 
It was expressed by the Board of Public Education that putting MSDB in the intensive assistance process 
is not going to resolve the problem because it is a special school, but if it continues to seek state 
accreditation then the rules need to be consistently followed. 
 
ITEM 3  CSPAC APPOINTMENTS (ACTION) Continued 
Ms. Sharon Carroll requested that the Board of Public Education delay action on the appointment of 
Dianne Burke as the school trustee for the Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council.  A 
conference call meeting will be set up to make the final appointment before CSPAC’s July 2011 meeting 
to ensure that it is a full council.  Mr. Steve Meloy distributed an email from Mr. Lance Melton, Executive 
Director, MTSBA supporting Ms. Dianne Burke’s appointment to CSPAC.  Mr. Steve Meloy stressed that 
the CSPAC serves at the pleasure of the BPE, without the approval of the governor and to delay this 
action sends a wrong message to the Board of Public Education’s partners.  
 
PRELIMINARY AGENDA ITEMS – July 13-15, 2011, Helena, MT  
Strategic Meeting – Review Bylaws and Operational Rules 
CSPAC/BPE Joint Meeting 
Annual CSPAC Report 
MACIE Update 
Annual GED Report 
Special Education Report 
Assessment Update 



 

May 12‐13, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 16 
 

Federal Update 
Continuous School Improvement Plan Report 
Accreditation Report 
Establish Executive Salaries 
Evaluations and Contracts 
English Proficiency 
Internship Program 
 

Mr. John Edwards moved:  to adjourn the Board of Public Education Meeting.  Motion was 
approved by acclamation. 

 
3:02 PM Meeting Adjourned 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 
The Montana Board of Public Education is a Renewal Unit Provider.  Attending a Board of Public Education Meeting 
may qualify you to receive renewal units.  One hour of contact time = 1 renewal unit up to 4 renewal units per day.  
Please complete the necessary information on the sign-in sheet if you are applying for renewal units.    



 

May 18, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 1 
 

 
BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 

CONFERENCE CALL MEETING MINUTES 
 

May 18, 2011 
 

May 18, 2011 
2:00 PM     
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chairperson Patty Myers called the meeting to order at 2:02 PM.  Ms. Carol Will read 
the statement of public participation and took roll call:  a quorum was noted.  The 
agenda was approved as presented by acclamation. 
 
Those in attendance at the meeting included the following Board members:  Chair Ms. 
Patty Myers, Vice Chair Ms. Sharon Carroll, Mr. Doug Cordier, Mr. John Edwards, and 
Student Representative Ms. Holly Capp.  Ms. Lila Taylor, Ms. Erin Williams, and Mr. 
Bernie Olson were unable to attend the conference call meeting due to conflicting 
schedules.  Staff present at the meeting included:  Mr. Steve Meloy, Executive 
Secretary, Board of Public Education; Mr. Peter Donovan, Administrative Officer, 
Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council; and Ms. Carol Will 
Administrative Assistant, Board of Public Education.    
 
The public will be afforded the opportunity to comment before the Board on the action 
items on the agenda prior to final Board action. 
 
ACTION ITEM 
 
Item 1   CSPAC APPOINTMENT – Peter Donovan 
Mr. Peter Donovan recommended Dianne M. Burke for the School Trustee position on 
the Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council.  Ms. Patty Myers reported 
that she had additional conversations with partners of the Board of Public Education 
and would like to proceed with the appointment. 
 
 Ms. Sharon Carroll moved:  to accept Mr. Peter Donovan’s recommendation 

to appoint Dianne M. Burke to the School Trustee position on the 
Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council. Mr. John Edwards 
seconded.  Motion passed unanimously.  Ms. Lila Taylor, Mr. Bernie Olson, 
and Ms. Erin Williams were not present for the vote. 

 
Mr. Doug Cordier moved:  to adjourn the meeting.  Ms. Sharon Carroll 
seconded.  Motion passed unanimously.  Ms. Lila Taylor, Mr. Bernie Olson, 
and Ms. Erin Williams were not present for the vote. 

 
2:12 PM Meeting Adjourned 
    



 

June 8, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 1 
 

 
BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 

CONFERENCE CALL MEETING MINUTES 
 

June 8, 2011 
 

June 8, 2011 
3:30 PM     
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chairperson Patty Myers called the meeting to order at 3:32 PM.  Ms. Carol Will read 
the statement of public participation and took roll call:  a quorum was noted.  The 
agenda was approved as presented by acclamation. 
 
Those in attendance at the meeting included the following Board members:  Chair Ms. 
Patty Myers, Mr. Doug Cordier, Mr. John Edwards, Ms. Lila Taylor, and Mr. Bernie 
Olson. Ms. Sharon Carroll was unable to attend the conference call meeting due to 
conflicting schedules.  Ms. Erin Williams recused herself from participating in decisions 
related to the case being heard at this particular meeting.  Staff present at the meeting 
included:  Mr. Steve Meloy, Executive Secretary, Board of Public Education and Ms. 
Carol Will Administrative Assistant, Board of Public Education.  Visitors in attendance 
included:  Mr. Timothy McKittrick, Attorney; Ms. Ann Gilkey, Chief Legal Counsel, OPI; 
and Mr. Clyde Peterson, Attorney, ALS.   
 
3:36 PM Closed Session  
 
The public will be afforded the opportunity to comment before the Board on the action 
items on the agenda prior to final Board action. 
 
ACTION ITEM 
 
Item 1   FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND 

PROPOSED ORDER REGARDING BPE CASE #2010-05 
(CLOSED) – Steve Meloy 

 
3:53 PM Opened Session 
 
 Mr. John Edwards moved:  to adopt the Finding of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law and Proposed Order dated June 7, 2011 as emailed to the Board of 
Public Education along with the addendum of the citation ARM 10.57.601B 
at the end of the first full paragraph on page 2.  Mr. Bernie Olson seconded. 
Motion passed unanimously.  Ms. Sharon Carroll and Ms. Erin Williams 
were not present for the vote. 

 
 
 



 

June 8, 2011 Board of Public Education  Page 2 
 

Mr. Doug Cordier moved:  to adjourn the meeting.  Ms. Lila Taylor 
seconded.  Motion passed unanimously.  Ms. Sharon Carroll and Ms. Erin 
Williams were not present for the vote. 

 
3:56 PM Meeting Adjourned 
    

























 

 
1

 
 
 

2010 ANNUAL REPORT 
 

OF THE 
 

MONTANA CERTIFICATION STANDARDS 
AND PRACTICES ADVISORY COUNCIL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TO THE 
 

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC 
EDUCATION 

 
 

July 14, 2011



 

 2

 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Mission Statement ............................................................................................ 3 

 

Professional Educators of Montana Code of Ethics ....................................... 4 

 

Certification Advisory Council 2010 Membership .......................................... 5 

 

CSPAC Goals and Strategies for 2010 ............................................................ 6 

 

Highlights of 2010-2011 CSPAC Meetings ..................................................... 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 3

Mission Statement 
 
The mission of the Certification Standards and Practices Advisory 
Council is to study and to make recommendations to the Board of 
Public Education on certification issues concerning teachers, 
administrators and specialists; professional standards and ethical 
conduct; the status and efficacy of approved teacher education 
programs in Montana; and policies related to the denial, 
suspension and revocation of educator certification and the 
appeals process. 
 
The Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council will 
submit a report to the Board of Public Education with 
recommendations for the above areas at least once annually. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 4

Professional Educators of Montana Code of Ethics 

 
Preamble 

Education in Montana is a public endeavor.  Every Montanan has a responsibility for the 
schooling of our young people, and the state has charged professional educators with the primary 
responsibility of providing a breadth and depth of educational opportunities. 
 

The professional conduct of every educator affects attitudes toward the profession and 
toward education.  Aware of the importance of maintaining the confidence of students, parents, 
colleagues and the public, Montana educators strive to sustain the highest degree of ethical conduct.  
While the freedom to learn and the freedom to teach are essential to education in a democracy, 
educators in Montana balance these freedoms with their own adherence to this ethical code. 
 

The Professional Educator in Montana: 
 

Makes the well-being of students the foundation of all decisions and actions. 
o Protects students when their learning or well-being is threatened by the unsafe, incompetent, 

unethical, or illegal practice of any person. 
 
o Provides educational services with respect for human dignity and the uniqueness of the 

student. 
 

o Safeguards the student's right to privacy by judiciously protecting information of a 
confidential nature. 

 
Fulfills professional responsibilities with diligence and integrity. 

o Enhances individual competence by increasing knowledge and skills. 
 
o Exemplifies and fosters a philosophy of education which encourages a lifelong                      

pursuit of learning. 
 

o Contributes to the development and articulation of the profession's body of knowledge. 
 

o Promotes professionalism by respecting the privacy and dignity of colleagues. 
 

o Demands that conditions of employment are conducive to high-quality education. 
 
Models the principles of citizenship in a democratic society. 

o Respects the individual roles, rights, and responsibilities of the community; including parents, 
trustees, and colleagues. 

 
o Assumes responsibility for individual actions. 

 
o Protects the civil and human rights of students and colleagues.  

 



 

 5

MONTANA CERTIFICATION STANDARDS AND 
PRACTICES ADVISORY COUNCIL 

 
PO Box 200601 

46 North Last Chance Gulch 
Helena, Montana 59620-0601 

Telephone:(406) 444-6576 
Fax:(406) 444-0847 

 

2010 MEMBERSHIP 
 

Sharon Applegate, Chair Kalispell 
 Teacher K-8 
 
Jon Runnalls, Vice-Chair     East Helena 
     Teacher K-8 
 
Patty Muir Laurel 
 Reading Specialist  
 
Mary Susan Fishbaugh  Billings 
 Post Secondary 

Education 
 
Tammy Lacey              Great Falls  

      School Administrator  
   
Janis Bishop         Missoula  
          Teacher 9-12 
 
John Harris         Eureka 
          Trustee 
 
CSPAC Staff: 
 
Peter Donovan  Administrative Officer 
E-mail:  pdonovan@mt.gov 
 
Anneliese Warhank  CSPAC Administrative  
E-mail:  awarhank@mt.gov  Assistant 

 
 
 



 

 6

 
 

CSPAC Goals for 2010-2011 
 

1) Study and make recommendations to the Board of Public Education on the status 

and efficacy of approved teacher educator programs in Montana. 

2) Study and make recommendations to the Board of Public Education in the areas of 

pre-certification training and educational requirements and in certification renewal 

requirements and procedures.  

3) Study and make recommendations to the Board of Public Education on policies 

related to the denial, suspension, and revocation of teachers' certificates and the 

appeals process. 

4) Study and make recommendations to the Board of Public Education on the 

feasibility of establishing standards of professional practices and ethical conduct. 

5) Study and make recommendations to the Board of Public Education on the status 

and efficacy of alternative and/or nontraditional teacher preparation opportunities. 



 

 7

 

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2010-2011    
CERTIFICATION STANDARDS AND 
PRACTICES ADVISORY COUNCIL 

MEETINGS 
 

 
 

Highlights of the July 14, 2010 CSPAC Meeting 
 

The Montana Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council (CSPAC) met on July 14, 2010 at 
the Montana State Capitol in Helena, MT.  The Certification Advisory Council, created by the 1987 
Montana Legislature, is composed of seven members and meets quarterly.  The CSPAC makes 
recommendations to the Board of Public Education concerning licensure issues, professional practices, 
and ethical conduct for educators in Montana. 
 
Currently serving on the Council are: Chair Ms. Judie Woodhouse, Teacher, Polson; Ms. Patty Muir, K-
12 Specialist, Laurel; Ms. Sharon Applegate, Teacher, Kalispell; Mr. Jon Runnalls, Teacher, East 
Helena; Dr. Mary Susan Fishbaugh, Dean of the College of Education, Montana State University-
Billings, Billings (who was not able to attend the meetings); and Ms. Tammy Lacey, School 
Administrator, Great Falls.  
 
Meeting attendees included: Dr. Linda Peterson, OPI; Mr. Dennis Parman, OPI; Ms. Elizabeth Keller, 
OPI; Ms. Ann Gilkey, OPI; Mr. Marco Ferro, MEA-MFT; Dr. Jan Clinard, OCHE; Ms. Patty Myers, 
Chair, BPE; Ms. Sharron Carroll, Vice Chair, BPE; Mr. Steve Meloy, Executive Secretary, BPE; Mr. 
Pete Donovan, Administrative Officer, CSPAC; and Ms. Anneliese Warhank, Administrative Assistant, 
CSPAC. 
 



 

 8

Correspondence 
Mr. Donovan spoke about the memo issued by BPE to all its education partners inviting everyone to its 
strategic planning session that afternoon.  He also spoke about a letter from the Montana Registry of 
Interpreters for the Deaf (MRID) to OPI, MSDB, and the Educational Interpreter Workgroup Committee 
(the latter of which former CSPAC member Dr. Doug Reisig chaired) advocating for OPI “to consider 
creating a new position of an Educational Interpreter Outreach Advisor” to aid in the licensing of 
Educational Interpreters in the state. 
  
Executive Committee 
With Chair Judie Woodhouse retiring this past spring, she will no longer be eligible to hold the position 
as 9-12 teacher on the Council this fall, requiring the Council to appoint a new chair and vice chair.  The 
Council elected Ms. Sharon Applegate as Chair and Mr. Jon Runnalls as Vice Chair.  Mr. Donovan then 
read a poem to Ms. Woodhouse, and Ms. Applegate presented her a present on behalf of the Council.  
The Council then spoke about committee appointments.  After a bit of discussion, the Council decided 
to revisit committee appointments at its fall meeting when the two new members are present.  The 
Council set the Calendar for the following year setting dates for its January and March 2011 meetings 
(January 13 and March 3 respectfully).  The joint CSPAC/BPE meeting has been moved permanently to 
July and will take place on July 13-14, 2011.  The joint CSPAC/Council of Deans meeting will coincide 
with the CoD’s October meeting.  At the time, CSPAC was waiting to find out the October CoD 
meeting date and will be notified when the office attains the exact date.  The meeting will be held in 
Missoula, MT.  The 2010-2011 goals were then set and approved.   
 
Board of Public Education Report  
Mr. Meloy spoke about the current issues the Board will discuss at its strategic planning session 
including, but not limited to:  National Common Core Standards and 21st Century Learning.  Mr. Meloy 
then spoke about working with the Chapter 55 group to update the rules, the Legislative Interim 
Committee to continue work on the Shared Policy Goals, and the K-College workgroup.  Mr. Meloy 
finished by updating the Council of the Board’s budget and the Legislative Auditors recommendation to 
use the research fund before using the general fund. 
 
Administrative Officer’s Report 
Mr. Donovan provided a list of all the meetings he had attended since the March CSPAC meeting 
including the NASDTEC Annual Conference and the Praxis Client Conference.  Mr. Donovan also 
participated in the follow-up accreditation review at Salish Kootenai College. 
 
Licensure and Endorsement Committee Report 
Ms. Ann Gilkey, attorney for OPI, came to speak about the licensure hearing process surrounding all 
licensure denials, letters of reprimand, suspension, and revocations.  She spoke about how many of the 
immoral conduct cases fall into “gray areas” meaning they may not be illegal practices, but still push the 
boundaries of appropriate behaviors between teachers and students.  She is currently reviewing other 
state’s code of ethics and is happy to hear CSPAC will be considering revisions to our own.  The 
Licensure and Endorsement Committee has been assigned the review process and will report back to the 
Council at the October meeting. 
 
Professional Preparation and Continuing Education Committee Report 
Dr. Mary Susan Fishbaugh was unable to attend the meeting due to unforeseeable circumstances.    
 
 
 



 

 9

Montana Commission on Teaching Committee Report 
Ms. Patty Muir informed the Council about this year’s Teacher Mentor Institute, which will be August 
9-11 in Great Falls.  Barbra Lawson will present and there will be a panel discussion on the final day.  
Along with her co-director, Ms. Muir conducted a one day workshop in Sydney.  Ms. Allison Mike has 
invited Ms. Muir to participate in the eMSS (e Mentoring for Student Success) program.  Ms. Muir just 
completed a 3 week online training.  Math, science, and special educators can all participate from across 
the nation in this eMass program. 

 
OPI Update 
Dr. Peterson spoke to the Council about the proposed NCATE/TEAC merger.  Both entities have 
developed a unifying committee better known as CAEP, the Council for the Accreditation of Educator 
Preparation.  They have already agreed upon 4 standards to follow, very similar to the standards both 
entities held prior to the merger.  They believe it should take 2 years to complete the unification once the 
initial planning is all agreed upon by both NCATE and TEAC.  Dr. Peterson then spoke about the 
various options schools will have when choosing which accrediting body will review them prior to the 
final merge.  
 
Plan for Future Conferences 
Ms. Woodhouse reminded everyone this year’s MEA-MFT Educator Forum will take place on October 
8 in Helena. 
 
Future Agenda Items 
The Council briefly reviewed the by-laws and will approve them at the October meeting. 
 
The Writing Assessment’s Professional Development 
Dr. Jan Clinard came from OCHE to speak about the Montana University System Writing Assessment 
(MUSWA) and how it pertains to professional development.  The MUSWA helps align what is expected 
of college freshmen composition courses with high school composition courses.  In order to score the 
individuals must be trained through the Writing Assessment Workshop.  The last one, held in March, 
was attended by teachers, college instructors, ABE instructors, and pre-service teachers.  These 
participants filled out evaluations to offer insight into what tools and skills they found most useful when 
scoring.  Since its inception in 1998, the MUSWA scores have steadily increased, while at the same time 
remediation rates have declined.  The MUSWA has fulfilled several purposes including defining college 
readiness in writing amongst high school seniors, and providing ongoing professional development in 
writing for teachers who score. 
 
Public Comment 
Dovetailing off of Ms. Gilkey’s report, Mr. Marco Ferro distributed a pamphlet published by the 
American Federation of Teachers detailing proper use of technology for both teachers and students.  He 
also handed out pamphlets of the October 8, 2010 Montana Educator Forum. 
 
Licensure and Endorsement Committee Report 
Ms. Woodhouse asked the Council revisit Item 4 in order for Ms. Applegate to report on the progress 
the Chapter 55 Review team has made.  Ms. Applegate informed the Council the work is very close to 
CSPAC’s work and they should follow closely.   
 
Joint CSPAC/BPE Meeting July 15, 2010 
The Board of Public Education met with the Council on the morning of July 15th for their annual joint 
meeting.  Ms. Woodhouse presented the 2009 CSPAC Annual Report highlighting the work CSPAC has 



 

 10

done over the past year.  The newly revised and adopted goals were also presented and CSPAC pointed 
out the various areas they would like to concentrate their time on more in the coming year, including 
possibly making revisions to the Montana Code of Ethics.  The Group then spoke about the Board’s 
Strategic Planning Session, which took place the previous afternoon with many of the Board’s education 
partners participating.  The group spoke about the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats of 
the 5 main issues the Board is currently facing.  Finally, the Board made appointments for the vacant 
Trustee and Teacher 9-12 positions on CSPAC.  John Harris was appointed as the Trustee and Janice 
Bishop was appointed at the Teacher 9-12. 
 

 
 

Highlights of the October 14 & 15, 2010  
CSPAC and Joint Council of Deans Meeting 

 
The Montana Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council (CSPAC) met on October 14-15, 
2010 at the Phyllis J. Washing School of Education on the U of M-Missoula campus.  The Certification 
Advisory Council, created by the 1987 Montana Legislature, is composed of seven members and meets 
quarterly.  The CSPAC makes recommendations to the Board of Public Education concerning licensure 
issues, professional practices, and ethical conduct for educators in Montana. 
 
Currently serving on the Council are: Chair Ms. Sharon Applegate, Teacher, Kalispell; Vice-Chair Mr. 
Jon Runnalls, Teacher, East Helena; Ms. Patty Muir, K-12 Specialist, Laurel; Dr. Mary Susan 
Fishbaugh, Dean of the College of Education, Montana State University-Billings, Billings; Ms. Tammy 
Lacey, School Administrator, Great Falls; Mr. John Harris, Trustee, Eureka; and Ms. Janice Bishop, 
Teacher, Missoula.  
 
October 15th meeting attendees included: Ms. Karen Kaufman, U of M-Missoula College of Visual and 
Performing Arts; Dr. Linda Peterson, OPI; and Mr. Jason Niefer, Montana Digital Academy. 
 

Joint CSPAC/Council of Deans Meeting 
October 14, 2010 

 
CSPAC met with the Council of Deans of Education, the Council of Deans of Arts and Sciences, and the 
Office of Public Instruction on the afternoon of the 14th for the annual CSPAC joint CoDE meeting.  
State Superintendent Denise Juneau, along with Ms. Nancy Coopersmith; Ms. Joyce Silverthorne; and 
Dr. Linda Peterson, presented on the Common Core State Standards.  They stressed educators should try 
and play as large of a role possible in the creation of the standards.  Mr. Steve York of OPI presented on 
evaluation systems for teachers and administrators.  He spoke about the Council of Chief State School 
Officer’s State Consortium for Educators Effectiveness, or SCEE, and School Improvement Grant 
Schools, amongst other topics.  Dr. Susan Harper-Whalen (UM); Dr. Patricia Ingraham (MSU); and Dr. 
Jonathan Matthews (Carroll) presented on selected models of evaluation for student teachers.  The group 
spoke about ways to engage students in teacher prep program in the teaching environment both prior to, 
and during student teaching. 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 11

CSPAC Meeting 
October 15, 2010 

 
Correspondence 
The correspondence consisted of a letter of thanks from former CSPAC chair Dr. Doug Reisig to Board 
Chair Ms. Patty Myers, Executive Secretary Mr. Steve Meloy, and Mr. Pete Donovan for writing a letter 
of recommendation for him, the actual letter of recommendation to the National Assessment Governing 
Board, and a letter from the Board to Deputy Superintendent Dennis Parman requesting a confirmation 
on the total number of licensed educators in the state by year.   
 
Executive Committee 
The Council discussed the previous day’s joint meeting, particularly the OPI presentations.  CSPAC felt 
a lot of change was on the horizon.  The Council then reviewed and approved the CPSAC By-Laws with 
the amended changes.   
 
Review Purpose of Committees  
Dr. Fishbaugh stated she was interested in possibly joining the State Consortium on Educator 
Effectiveness.  The Council members broke into committee groups to discuss directions.  The Council 
voted to place Mr. Harris on the Pre-Professional Preparation and Continuing Development Committee, 
Ms. Bishop on the Montana Commission on Teaching Committee, and Ms. Lacey on the Licensure and 
Endorsement Committee.  They also changed the name of the Pre-Professional Preparation and 
Continuing Development Committee to the Pre-Professional Preparation and Continuing Professional 
Development Committee. 
 
Administrative Officer’s Report 
Mr. Donovan discussed the meetings he had attended since the July 14, 2010 CSPAC meeting.  He also 
explained Chapter 55 for Mr. Harris and passed out a list with a brief description of CSPAC members 
who will present at the upcoming MEA-MFT and MCEL conferences. 
 
Board of Public Education Report  
Mr. Donovan explained Executive Secretary Steve Meloy was at a NASBE Annual 
Conference/NCSBEE Meeting in Salt Lake City, UT.  The email updates Mr. Donovan sends on a 
regular basis and the letter to Deputy Superintendent Dennis Parman were also discussed.   
 
Professional Preparation and Continuing Education Committee Report 
Dr. Fishbaugh spoke about MSU-Billings being ranked a Tier 1 Ranked Regional Comprehensive 
Master’s Institution for Western Institutions by the U.S. News & World Report.  Their most recent 
NCATE accreditation visit was a success with BPE approving the program with no major flaws and 
only 2 target areas to work towards in the future. 
 
Montana Commission on Teaching Committee Report 
Ms. Muir presented a PowerPoint on the Laurel Public Schools Mentoring Program.  Ms. Muir worked 
with the superintendent and trustees of her school district to develop and implement the program during 
the 2005-6 school year.  The program is offered to any new teacher to the district.  The new teacher is 
assigned a mentor for one year, but can request a second year if needed.  The mentors need to be willing 
to commit the time necessary to aid their mentee.  The two track their progress in a log and respond to a 
survey. Ms. Muir hopes in the future the program can:  expand to special curriculum training – small 
cohort; increase the stipend for mentors; and build a large mentor pool.   
 



 

 12

 
 
Licensure and Endorsement Committee Report 
Ms. Applegate reported on the progress the Chapter 55 workgroup has made.  The group has and will 
continue to discuss goals, timelines, and milestones.  The recommendations for change should be 
brought before the Board by next fall, followed by the public hearing period.  The Code of Ethics review 
was next.  Ms. Applegate, Mr. Runnalls, and Ms. Lacey are working with Mr. Donovan and Ms. Ann 
Gilkey of OPI to look at a possible revision to the 1997 Code of Ethics for Educators.  Ms. Lacey spoke 
about what the group would like the code to address.  Finally, Ms. Karen Kaufmann of the U of M 
School of Theatre and Dance spoke about the possible Area of Permissive Specialized Competency in 
dance.  Ms. Kaufmann described current successful school programs that have integrated dance into the 
learning environment to help children in various areas of the school of curriculum.  Ms. Kaufmann will 
work on polishing draft language for the Council and should present at a future meeting. 

 
Montana Digital Academy Update 
Mr. Jason Niefer, Curriculum Specialist for the Montana Digital Academy, spoke to the Council of the 
progress MTDA has made since it launched the online program in September.  Mr. Niefer spoke about 
the development of the program, the types of courses offered, and the type of students the Academy has 
attracted.  All teachers hold Montana educator licenses.  The program uses Power Speak, Smart Science, 
Moodles, and Google Apps to help the courses run.   

 
OPI Update 
Dr. Linda Peterson spoke about the joint meeting.  She felt it was very engaging.  Any comments 
regarding the topics covered by OPI should be directed to her, which she will relay back to OPI.   
 
Plan for Future Conferences 
Mr. Donovan spoke to the Council about the moratorium on travel discussed at the September Board 
meeting.  However the BPE office has been in contact with its budget analysts from the governor’s 
office in search for more money for the Board. 
 
Future Agenda Items 
The Council will look at the Code of Ethics and the progress the small group has made at its meeting in 
January. 
 
Public Comment 
There was no public comment. 
 

 
 

Highlights of the January 13, 2011 CSPAC Meeting 
 

The Montana Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council (CSPAC) met on January 13, 
2011 at the Front Street Learning Center in Helena, MT.  The Certification Advisory Council, created 
by the 1987 Montana Legislature, is composed of seven members and meets quarterly.  The CSPAC 
makes recommendations to the Board of Public Education concerning licensure issues, professional 
practices, and ethical conduct for educators in Montana. 
 



 

 13

Currently serving on the Council are: Chair, Ms. Sharon Applegate, Teacher, Kalispell; Vice-Chair, Mr. 
Jon Runnalls, Teacher, East Helena; Ms. Patty Muir, K-12 Specialist, Laurel; Mr. John Harris, Trustee, 
Eureka; Dr. Mary Susan Fishbaugh, Dean of the College of Education, Montana State University-
Billings, Billings; Ms. Tammy Lacey, Administrator, Great Falls; and Ms. Janice Bishop, Teacher, 
Missoula.  
 
Meeting attendees included: Dr. Linda Peterson, OPI; Ms. Elizabeth Keller, OPI; Mr. Le Gaub, Lewis 
and Clark Troops to Teachers; Mr. Byron McKinney, Lewis and Clark Troops to Teachers; Ms. 
Jeredene Mayfield, Valier; Mr. Pete Donovan, Administrative Officer, CSPAC; and Ms. Anneliese 
Warhank, Administrative Assistant, CSPAC. 
 
Correspondence 
Mr. Donovan spoke about a letter he received from the National Assessment Governing Board.  The 
letter notified him of their receipt of his nomination of former CSPAC Chair Dr. Doug Reisig for 
membership on the National Assessment Governing Board.  This was followed by a letter from Marco 
Ferro thanking Mr. Donovan for his work on the 2010 Montana Educator Forum planning committee.  A 
few suggestions were made by Council members on ways they could improve the 2011 Forum.   
 
Executive Committee 
The duties of the committees were outlined for clarification.  The Council plans on doing more breakout 
sessions with committees at future meetings.  Chairperson Applegate then gave an overview of the 
Chapter 55 workgroup, including who is involved, its purpose and principles, what they have 
accomplished, and what they will work on in the future.  Mr. Donovan explained to the Council how the 
hearing process will go before new rules are approved by the Board. 
 
Board of Public Education Report 
Mr. Donovan spoke about the 2011 Montana Legislative session.  Like all state agencies, the Board’s 
budget will experience a 5% cut.  However, funds will be added back in once the revenue is more 
concrete.  A number of bills that would affect the Board if passed were discussed.  Mr. Donovan then 
passes out an article from the Wall Street Journal on budget deficits other states are facing and how they 
are managing the situation. The influx of new legislatures this session was also discussed.   
 
Administrative Officer’s Report 
Although the standards for instructors of Braille and sign language interpreters have been approved, the 
challenge of finding ways to get these people qualified still exists.  A new group consisting of members 
from both workgroups is planning on meeting to tackle this issue beginning in February.  Funding for 
Council members to attend national meetings and another WSJ article about school reform in response 
to the budget crisis were also discussed.   
 
Licensure and Endorsement Committee Report 
Ms. Lacey highlighted her Conducting Investigations & Managing Progressive Discipline Surrounding 
Alleged Employs Misconduct PowerPoint originally presented at the 2010 Montana Conference of 
Education Leadership.  The presentation addressed how to manage investigations of employees in 
schools and how administrators must do a thorough investigation while respecting the rights of those 
involved in the case.  She outlined the basics and the process to keep in mind and follow while 
conducting the investigation.  Many felt this presentation could benefit schools districts throughout the 
state. 
 



 

 14

Troops to Teachers Update 
Mr. Le Guab and Mr. Byron McKinney from the Lewis & Clark Troops to Teachers spoke to the 
Council to update them on the work TTT has done in the past few years.  The L & C TTT covers the 
Dakotas over to Oregon.  TTT works with retired soldiers to get them certified to teach in the classroom.  
TTT aims to parlay the skills the soldier utilized while in the service or prior into the area of teaching 
they enter.   
 
Update on Possible Area of Permissive Specialized Competency in Dance 
Ms. Karen Kaufman from the U of M College of Visual and Performing Arts came to present possible 
draft language that would make dance an area of permissive specialized competency for educator 
licensing.  Ms. Kaufman gave a quick refresher of what she hopes to accomplish with an APSC in dance 
and answered a few questions about the proposed language.  A motion was called and seconded to 
recommend the proposed language to the Board for approval.  Prior to final vote discussion ensued 
about the vagueness some of the Council members, as well as Dr. Linda Peterson from the Accreditation 
Division at OPI, felt the language displayed.  Dr. Peterson agreed to work with Ms. Kaufman to rework 
the language to align more with the National Standards and Indian Education for All requirements.  The 
Council moved to vote on the current language resulting in a failed vote.  A second motion was called 
and seconded to call for further refinement of the language through collaboration with the Accreditation 
Division at OPI.  The vote was unanimously approved. 
 
Professional Preparation and Continuing Education Committee Report 
Mr. Harris reported to the Council on his recent trip to Portland, OR to attend the Western States 
Certification Conference. Mr. Harris outlined the conference content and highlights which strongly 
centered around the National Common Core State Standards.  The conference also highlighted teacher 
performance evaluations, clinically based teacher accreditation, and Race to the Top.  Mr. Harris 
expressed general impressions and concerns he took from the conference, but felt it was a great learning 
experience for him.   
 
Montana Commission on Teaching Committee Report 
Chairperson Applegate explained to the Council unforeseen circumstances required Ms. Muir to leave 
the meeting early, so she was unable to talk about her ongoing work with mentoring language.  Ms. 
Muir would like to see mentoring language added to state accreditation standards. 
   
Update on OPI School Staffing Project 
Ms. Elizabeth Keller from OPI explained the goal of the project is to aid in reporting on teachers 
licensed in the state and to aid with school Annual Data Collection, which every school district must 
report back to OPI. At the moment the project RFP has been released and OPI is waiting on a bid. 
 
OPI Update 
Dr. Peterson addressed some of the questions Mr. Harris raised on curriculum and the Smarter Balance 
Assessment Consortium in his presentation under the Professional Preparation and Continuing 
Education Committee Report.  She suggested, and the Council agreed, Ms. Nancy Coopersmith of OPI 
come and speak on the CCSS at the next meeting.  She then gave an update on the merger up NCATE 
and TEAC into CAEP.  Montana now needs to decide its next steps as it currently uses NCATE as its 
accrediting body for schools of education. 
 
 
 



 

 15

Future Agenda Items 
The Council will review its Annual Report and by-laws, as well as evaluate the progress of goals at its 
March 3, 2011 meeting in Helena. 
 
Public Comment 
There was no public comment. 
 

 
 

Highlights of the March 3, 2011 CSPAC Meeting 
 

The Montana Certification Standards and Practices Advisory Council (CSPAC) met on March 3, 2011 
at the Front Street Learning Center in Helena, MT.  The Certification Advisory Council, created by the 
1987 Montana Legislature, is composed of seven members and meets quarterly.  The CSPAC makes 
recommendations to the Board of Public Education concerning licensure issues, professional practices, 
and ethical conduct for educators in Montana. 
 
Currently serving on the Council are: Chair, Ms. Sharon Applegate, Teacher, Kalispell; Vice-Chair, Mr. 
Jon Runnalls, Teacher, East Helena; Ms. Patty Muir, K-12 Specialist, Laurel; Dr. Mary Susan 
Fishbaugh, Dean of the College of Education, Montana State University-Billings, Billings; Ms. Tammy 
Lacey, Administrator, Great Falls; and Ms. Janice Bishop, Teacher, Missoula. The Trustee position sits 
vacant at the moment. 
 
Meeting attendees included: Dr. Linda Peterson, OPI; Ms. Elizabeth Keller, OPI; Ms. Lorri Weiss, OPI; 
Ms. Nikki Sandve, OPI; Ms. Ann Gilkey, OPI; Mr. Pete Donovan, Administrative Officer, CSPAC; and 
Ms. Anneliese Warhank, Administrative Assistant, CSPAC. 
 
Correspondence 
A letter from Chairperson Patty Myers of the Board to former CSPAC Chairperson Doug Reisig, 
congratulating him on being awarded the G.V. Erickson Award by the School Administrators of 
Montana, was included in the correspondence.   
 
Executive Committee 
Ms. Applegate asked the Council if it would be okay to move the breakout sessions of the committee 
groups to the July meeting due to the fact one committee did not have any members present at the 
meeting. The Council then reviewed the short term goals as well as the long term goals.  The Council 
discussed the possible replacement of the NASDTEC reviews with CAEP reviews and their role in the 
process and its effects on the PEPPS review process. Various other short term and long term goals were 
discussed along with the CSPAC By-laws.  The Annual Report was approved by all and Ms. Applegate 
informed the Council the Chapter 55 Workgroup will meet again in May. 
 
Administrative Officer’s Report 
Mr. Donovan informed the Council of a recent meeting between OPI, MSDB, and representatives from 
the sign language interpreters and instructors of Braille standards workgroups to look at ways to offer 
certification to these instructors so they may meet the standards to work in Montana schools.  He also 
spoke about former CSPAC member Mr. John Harris’ decision to not run for another trustee term, thus 
making him ineligible for the Council.  Applications for a new trustee will be accepted for a new 
appointment in May.  He also reminded Ms. Muir and Ms. Applegate they will need to resubmit an 



 

 16

application to continue with their second three-year term on the Council.  Dr. Fishbaugh has also 
completed her 2nd term so the Council will welcome a new post-secondary education member at its next 
meeting. 
 
Licensure and Endorsement Committee Report 
The subgroup met with Mr. Donovan and Ms. Applegate to continue work on drafting new language for 
the Montana Educator Code of Ethics. A draft of the possible codes was passed out and the Council was 
asked to provide feedback via email.  Ms. Lacey suggested the draft codes be presented to Council 
member’s colleagues to understand how educators feel about the proposed codes.   
 
Montana Commission on Teaching Committee Report 
Ms. Applegate handed the meeting over to Ms. Muir who in turn introduced Ms. Nikki Sandve of OPI 
and director of mentoring institute training programs. She spoke of the continued push to implement 
teacher mentoring programs across state schools, online tools to help with these efforts, and the 
upcoming summer institute in Bozeman.  She also discussed other various online tools to help in 
mentoring efforts. 
 
Update on Possible Area of Permissive Specialized Competency in Dance 
Technical difficulties made it impossible to connect with Ms. Karen Kaufman via conference call.  The 
Council plans on readdressing the item at its July meeting as a result.  
 
Professional Preparation and Continuing Education Committee Report 
Dr. Fishbaugh was unable to attend the meeting due to a prior engagement.  As a result, the PPCE report 
was not presented.   
 
Common Core State Standards Update/OPI Update 
Ms. Nancy Coopersmith was unable to present due to the OPI budget hearing with the legislature which 
took place the same day.  As a result, Dr. Linda Peterson presented the Common Core update along with 
her OPI update.  During the February 17, 2011 Board of Public Education meeting, Ms. Kris Goyins 
presented a comparative study to the Board between the national and state standards to see where the 
state aligned and deviated from the national standards.  Dr. Peterson stated OPI and the Board will 
continue their awareness level and let the public know new information as soon as they can.  Questions 
ensued surrounding what responsibilities districts would hold with these standards.    
 
Board of Public Education Report 
Mr. Meloy spent the morning at the Leadership Institute for the Council of Chief State School Officers 
listening to former OPI employee Chris Lohse. Mr. Lohse currently works at CCSSO as the Design & 
Dissemination Director.  He then discussed the current legislative session and the possibility of have the 
5% cut made to the budget of all state agencies restored.  A possible alternative to recoup the funds lost 
from the potential 5% cut would be to raise the teacher licensure fees.  Although MEA-MFT would not 
support this raise in fees, they would not oppose either.  Mr. Meloy then mentioned a few bills the 
Council should follow including bills that would affect compulsory school enrollment, address bullying 
issues, and one dealing with charter schools.  There is also a bill that would bring statutorily created 
councils, such as CSPAC, to an interim legislative committee to justify their existence.  
 
Plan for Future Conferences 
Mr. Meloy worked with Chairperson Ms. Patty Myers of the Board of Public Education to set aside 
enough funding to send Mr. Donovan and two Board or Council members to the NASDTEC Annual 



 

 17

Conference June 5-8, 2011 in Sacramento, CA.  Ms. Applegate will attend along with Ms. Sharon 
Carroll of the Board.  
 
 
Future Agenda Items 
The Council will meet next on July 13-14, 2011 in Helena, MT. The Council will meet with the Board at 
its annual joint meeting on July 14, 2011.  Mr. Donovan reminded everyone the annual calendar will be 
set at the July meeting.   
 
Public Comment 
There was no public comment. 
 
 



 
ITEM 2 

 
 

JULY 13, 2011 CSPAC MEETING 
SUMMARY/CSPAC GOALS 

 
 

Sharon Applegate 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 























TO:    Board of Public Education 

RE: Draft Proposed Amendments to ARM Educator Licensure Disciplinary Procedures  

DATE: May 13, 2011 

 

10.57.217:  Amendment clarifies that appeal of denial of renewal units is covered by part 6.  Currently, 
there is a right to appeal, but no procedure for BPE to follow when they get such an appeal. 

10.57.601:  Changes “teacher, specialist, or administrator” to “licensed educator”   This is done 
throughout these amendments, as appropriate, to get to more consistent use of the term “educator” 
and “license.”   

This change should not cause any unintended problems. The term “teacher or specialist” is defined in 
20-4-101, MCA, as a person “certified” under 20-4-106.  Section 20-4-106 lists all the different classes of 
certification (including Class 3 administrator/supervisor).  The administrative rules (10.57.102) define 
“license or licensure” to mean “a certificate applied for under 20-4-101, et.seq., MCA.”   And 
“certification” is defined as “licensure of an educator/specialist, …”  So, we go full circle. 

10.57.601A:  New (f) adds significant misuse of technology/social networking to definition of “immoral 
conduct.”  Misuse of technology is the most common issue in educator misconduct cases.  There is 
currently nothing specific about it in the definition of “immoral conduct.”  This will put educators on 
notice that there is a line which, if crossed, could impact their license.  New (2) adds reference to the 
Code of Ethics, providing that substantial and material violation of the code may be considered when 
looking at possible licensing action.   

[See attached examples of social networking polices] 

10.57.601B:  Clean up 

10.57.602:  New (2)  Clarifies board action when appeal is resolved before hearing.   And clean-up. 

10.57.603:  New (3)  Addresses appeal of renewal units denial. 

10.57.604:  The Montana Administrative Procedure Act (MAPA) controls contested hearings.  Section 2-
4-623, MCA requires final decisions with findings of fact and conclusions of law.  Existing rules for BPE 
hearings are consistent with this requirement, but are confusing. 

The amendment attempts to clarify post hearing procedure by adding a 60 day time-line, and by 
delineating possible board action.   (1)(a)(iii) Adds the option to enter a stipulated agreement with the 
educator.   This is not necessary a new option, but one that is rarely used by the BPE.  This amendment 
makes it clear that stipulations are an acceptable form of resolution.   

 



(1)(b) specifies that board decisions are “issued” instead  of “adopted”  and (2) gives procedure for 
“issuing” board decision.  This means board doesn’t have to hold a post-hearing meeting of a quorum of 
the board to “adopt” the final written decision (letter, stipulation, findings of fact, conclusions of law 
and order.)    

New (4) provides that the board will post its decisions. This puts into Rule the requirement of MAPA 
section 2-4-623(6), MCA, that decisions regarding contested cases must be “available for public 
inspection…”  Amendment is also consistent with Attorney General’s letter stating that educators, as 
public persons, do not have a right to privacy in matters of discipline.  (Attached)   

[See attached examples of on-line posting of teacher (and SW) discipline cases] 

10.57.605:  (4) Clarifies that surrenders are permanent, unless otherwise specified.  

10.57.606:  Provides that the OPI will post educator license status on its website. 

10.57.607:  Clean up only 

10.57.608:  Provides that BPE won’t hear appeals on licenses which are currently suspended, revoked, or 
surrendered.  This addresses the problem of licensees treating revocation or surrender as a temporary 
hiatus from teaching and then taking the same matter to the Board within a matter of months.  

10.57.609:  (2) clarifies that the burden of proof is on the person taking the matter before the board, 
whether that is the appellant/educator appealing a denial, or the OPI/trustees asking for action against 
the educator’s license. 

(3)  is stricken to remove procedure for payment of evaluations.  Who pays for an evaluation is best 
addressed on a case-by-case basis.  Who pays for an evaluation may depend on why the educator is 
getting an eval, and whether there is insurance coverage, etc.    

OPI asked the national NASDTEC listserv how other states handle this issue.  Most states deal with it 
case-by-case.  States which address it in rule or policy typically require the educator to pay for any 
evaluation deemed necessary.  Again, OPI suggests the issue is best addressed on a case-by-case basis 
and need not be dictated by Rule. 

 

 



 

10.57.217    APPEAL PROCESS FOR RENEWAL ACTIVITY 
(1) Decisions of the superintendent on matters of renewal unit activity or provider 

status may be appealed to the board of public education pursuant to 10.57.603.  
History: Sec. 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, Sec. 20-4-108, MCA; NEW, 1992 MAR p. 230, 

Eff. 3/1/92; AMD, 1995 MAR p. 628, Eff. 4/28/95; AMD, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 
11/28/02. 
 
 10.57.601  REQUEST FOR DISCIPLINE AGAINST THE LICENSE OF A 
TEACHER, SPECIALIST, OR ADMINISTRATOR: PRELIMINARY ACTION 
 (1)  Pursuant to 20-4-110(2), MCA, requests to issue a letter of reprimand or to 
suspend or revoke a teacher, specialist or administrator an educator license shall be 
brought before the Board of Public Education by only: 
 (a)  an official action of the board of trustees of a local district for any teacher, 
specialist or administrator licensed educator currently employed by that district or under 
contract or otherwise employed by that district at any time during the 12 months prior to 
the receipt by the Board of Public Education of the request to issue a letter of reprimand 
or to suspend or revoke; or 
 (b)  the Superintendent of Public Instruction. 
 (2)  Requests shall specify whether a letter of reprimand, revocation or 
suspension is sought and shall include: 
 (a)  the specific charge(s) against the teacher, specialist or administrator; 
 (b)  the subsection of 20-4-110, MCA, under which the charge(s) is brought; 
 (c)  an outline of the facts and evidence related to the charge(s); and 
 (d)  a copy of the minutes documenting the trustees' decision to request a letter 
of reprimand or revocation or suspension of a license, if the request is made by the 
board of trustees.  (History: 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-110, MCA; Eff. 12/10/75; ARM 
Pub. 11/25/77; AMD, 1979 MAR p. 362, Eff. 3/30/79; AMD, 1980 MAR p. 2646, Eff. 
9/26/80; AMD, 1987 MAR p. 1211, Eff. 7/31/87; AMD, 1991 MAR p. 1488, Eff. 8/16/91; 
AMD, 1995 MAR p. 628, Eff. 4/28/95; AMD, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02.) 
 
 10.57.601A  DEFINITION OF "IMMORAL CONDUCT"  (1)  "Immoral conduct" 
related to the teaching profession, under 20-4-110(1)(f), MCA, includes, but is not 
limited to: 
 (a)  sexual contact, as defined in 45-2-101, MCA, or sexual intercourse as 
defined in 45-2-101, MCA, between a teacher, specialist, or administrator an educator 
and a person the teacher, specialist, or administrator educator knows or reasonably 
should know is a student at a public or private elementary or secondary school; 
 (b)  conduct, whether resulting in the filing of criminal charges or not, which 
would constitute an offense under any of the following statutes of this state; 
 (i)  45-5-502, MCA, (sexual assault); 
 (ii)  45-5-503, MCA, (sexual intercourse without consent);  
 (iii)  45-5-504, MCA, (indecent exposure); 
 (iv)  45-5-505, MCA, (deviate sexual conduct), if the conduct either was non-
consensual or involved a person the teacher, specialist or administrator educator 
knows or reasonably should know is a student at a public or private elementary or 
secondary school; 

http://www.mtrules.org/gateway/ruleno.asp?RN=10%2E57%2E217�
http://data.opi.mt.gov/bills/mca/20/4/20-4-102.htm�
http://data.opi.mt.gov/bills/mca/20/4/20-4-108.htm�


 

 (v)  45-5-507, MCA, (incest); 
 (vi)  45-5-601, 45-5-602, or 45-5-603, MCA, (offenses involving prostitution); 
 (vii)  45-5-622(2), MCA, (endangering the welfare of children); 
 (viii)  45-5-623, MCA, (unlawful transactions with children); 
 (ix)  45-5-625, MCA, (sexual abuse of children); 
 (x)  45-8-201, MCA, (obscenity); 
 (xi)  45-5-627, MCA, (ritual abuse of minor); 
 (xii)  any statute in Title 45, chapter 9, part 1, MCA, (dangerous drugs), provided 
that a first offense under 45-9-102(2), MCA, shall not fall within this definition; 
 (xiii)  45-5-220, MCA, (stalking); 
 (xiv)  45-5-223, MCA, (surreptitious visual observation or recordation); 
 (xv)  45-10-103, MCA, (criminal possession of drug paraphernalia); 
 (xvi)  45-10-105, MCA, (delivery of drug paraphernalia to a minor); 
 (xvii)  45-8-334, MCA, (possession of a destructive device); 
 (xviii)  45-8-361, MCA, (possession or allowing possession of weapon in school 
building); 
 (xix)  45-8-403, MCA, (use of threat to coerce gang membership); 
 (xx)  45-8-406, MCA, (supplying of firearms to criminal street gang); 
 (xxi)  45-5-622(3), MCA (endangering welfare of children); 
 (c)  repeated convictions for violations of any one or more of the criminal laws of 
this state, which violations are not otherwise grounds for suspension or revocation, if the 
repeated convictions, taken together, demonstrate that the teacher, specialist or 
administrator is unwilling to conform their conduct to the requirements of law; 
 (d)  occurrences related to ARM 24.9.1003(3), (sexual harassment), defined as 
"unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal and physical 
conduct of a sexual nature" when: 
 (i)  submission to the conduct is explicitly or implicitly made a term or condition of 
education; 
 (ii)  submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as the basis for an 
educational decision affecting the individual; and/or 
 (iii)  the conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with school 
performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive learning environment.  
 (e)  submitting false credentials, omitting relevant information, or making any 
statement of material fact the applicant knows to be false to apply for a license, 
endorsement, employment, or promotion.  False credentials include but are not limited 
to: 
 (i)  college degrees or credit from non-accredited or -approved colleges or 
universities; 
 (ii)  false professional development credit; 
 (iii)  false academic awards; and 
 (iv)  inaccurate employment history. 
 (f)  significant misuse of technology or electronic communication, including but 
not limited to use of computers, cellular telephones or social networking sites, such as 
viewing pornography in the school or engaging in inappropriate electronic messaging 
with any student.   
(2)  Substantial and material violation of the Montana Educator Code of Ethics may be 



 

considered by the Office of Public Instruction and the Board of  Public Education when 
determining licensing action. 
(History: 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-110, MCA; NEW, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02; 
AMD, 2009 MAR p. 345, Eff. 3/27/09.) 
 
 10.57.601B  INVESTIGATION  (1)  Upon receipt of a request made pursuant to 
20-4-110(2), MCA and ARM 10.57.601, the Board of Public Education shall implement 
an investigation to determine whether or not a substantial reason exists to hold a 
hearing for the issuance of a letter of reprimand or the suspension or revocation of the 
teacher, specialist or administrator educator license.  This investigation shall include 
notifying the affected teacher, specialist or administrator licensed educator of the 
charges against him/her the educator by certified mail and allowing him/her the 
educator ten days to respond to those charges.  After receiving a response, the board 
may request further information to ensure the preliminary investigation properly reflects 
the facts and position of each party.  (History: 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-110, MCA; 
NEW, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02.) 
 
 10.57.602  NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY FOR HEARING UPON 
DETERMINATION THAT SUBSTANTIAL REASON EXISTS TO HOLD A HEARING 
 (1)  On the basis of the preliminary investigation conducted pursuant to ARM 
10.57.601B, the Board of Public Education shall determine whether or not a substantial 
reason exists to hold a hearing to issue a letter of reprimand or to suspend or revoke 
the teacher, specialist or administrator educator license. 
 (a)  If the Board determines that no substantial reason exists to hold such a 
hearing, the matter is ended. 
 (b)  If the Board determines that there is substantial reason to hold such a 
hearing, the board shall provide notice of the pending action to the teacher, specialist or 
administrator licensed educator, by certified mail not less than 30 days prior to the date 
of the hearing.  Such notice shall include: 
 (i)  a statement of the time, place and nature of the hearing; 
 (ii)  a statement of the legal authority and jurisdiction under which the hearing is 
to be held; 
 (iii)  a reference to the particular sections of the statutes and rules involved; 
 (iv)  a statement of the matters asserted; 
 (v)  a designation of who will hear the allegation; and 
 (vi)  a provision advising parties of their right to be represented by counsel at the 
hearing. 
 (c)  The notice shall advise the teacher, specialist or administrator licensed 
educator that he/she the educator has the right to contest the proposed action of the 
board, and that he/she the educator may do so by appearing at the hearing either 
personally or through counsel, or by requesting the board to consider the matter on the 
basis of the available evidence without an appearance by the teacher, specialist or 
administrator educator. 
 (d)  The Board shall enclose with the notice an election form on which the 
teacher, specialist or administrator educator shall be asked to indicate whether he/she 
intends to appear at the hearing and contest the Board's proposed action, contest the 



 

Board's proposed action without appearing at the hearing, or accept the proposed letter 
of reprimand, suspension or revocation without contesting it.  The notice shall require 
the teacher, specialist or administrator licensed educator to return the election form 
within 20 days of the date on which the notice was mailed, and shall inform the teacher, 
specialist or administrator that failure to return the form in a timely manner shall result in 
a letter of reprimand or the suspension or revocation of the license by default. 
 (e)  If the teacher, specialist or administrator educator does not return the 
completed election form within 20 days or elects to accept the proposed letter of 
reprimand, suspension or revocation without contesting it, the Board, at its next 
meeting, shall suspend or revoke the teacher, specialist or administrator educator 
license or shall direct the chair to issue a letter of reprimand. 
 (f)  If the teacher, specialist or administrator licensed educator  elects to contest 
the proposed letter, suspension or revocation and complies with (1)(d), the Board shall 
conduct a hearing.   
 (2)  If resolution is reached prior to the hearing, the parties may report such 
resolution to the board and ask for dismissal of the matter.  Dismissal of the matter by 
the board based on mutual agreement of the parties must be granted in writing, but 
need not contain findings of fact or conclusions of law.  
 
(History: 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-110, MCA; Eff. 12/10/75; ARM Pub. 11/25/77; 
AMD, 1979 MAR p. 362, Eff. 3/30/79; AMD, 1980 MAR p. 2646, Eff. 9/26/80; AMD, 
1987 MAR p. 1211, Eff. 7/31/87; AMD, 1991 MAR p. 1488, Eff. 8/16/91; AMD, 1995 
MAR p. 628, Eff. 4/28/95; AMD, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02.) 
 
 10.57.603  HEARING IN CONTESTED CASES  (1)  The Board shall select one 
of the following methods for providing a hearing: 
 (a)  a hearing before the Board of Public Education at a special or regular 
meeting of the Board; 
 (b)  a hearing before a committee of the Board that shall report to the Board 
proposed findings of fact, proposed conclusions of law and a proposed order; or 
 (c)  a hearing before a hearing examiner appointed by the Board of Public 
Education who shall report to the Board proposed findings of fact, proposed conclusions 
of law and a proposed order. 
 (2)  At the time and place set in the notice to the teacher, specialist or 
administrator educator, the chairperson of the Board of Public education, the designated 
committee, or an appointed hearing examiner shall conduct the hearing in accordance 
with Rules 9 through 21 of the Attorney General's model rules for hearing contested 
cases, as found in the Administrative Rules of Montana.   
 (3) In the case of an appeal made pursuant to 10.57.217 regarding a denial of 
renewal units, written notice of the appeal must be made to the board within 30 days of 
the denial by the Office of Public Instruction. For this type of appeal, the board may 
follow informal proceedings pursuant to 2-4-604, MCA, and the final board decision may 
be issued by letter from the chair of the board to the appellant.  
(History: 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-110, MCA; Eff. 12/10/74; ARM Pub. 11/25/77; 
AMD, 1979 MAR p. 362, Eff. 3/30/79; AMD, 1980 MAR p. 2646, Eff. 9/26/80; AMD, 
1987 MAR p. 1211, Eff. 7/31/87; AMD, 1995 MAR p. 628, Eff. 4/28/95; AMD, 2002 MAR 



 

p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02.) 
 
 10.57.604  POST HEARING PROCEDURE  (1)  After Either immediately 
following the hearing, or within 60 days of the conclusion of the hearing regarding an 
educator license the Board shall, as provided herein: 
 (a) make a final decision to: 
 i.  dismiss the matter; 

ii.  issue a letter of reprimand; 
iii. enter a stipulated agreement; or 
iv. suspend or revoke the license for a specific period of time, up to permanent 
revocation of the educator license, and  

 (a)  (b)  adopt consistent with its decision, issue findings of fact, conclusions of 
law and an order issuing a letter of reprimand or suspending or revoking for suspension 
or revocation of  the teacher, specialist or administrator educator license; or 
 (b)  (c) dismiss the request for letter of reprimand, revocation or suspension.  
 (2)  Consistent with the board’s decision, the board chair or designee shall sign 
the stipulated agreement, the letter of reprimand, or in the case of a suspension or 
revocation, the final findings of fact, conclusions of law and order.  
 (2) (3) The Board shall enter record its decision on in its minutes and shall serve 
the letter of reprimand, or a copy of the findings of fact, conclusions of law and order by 
certified mail on the teacher, specialist or administrator educator and on any other 
involved party within 30  days of its decision.   

(4)  Decisions of the Board of Public Education shall be posted on the board’s 
website.  Confidential information such as the educator’s address, telephone number, 
medical records or grades may be redacted from the posted final decision.  (History: 20-
2-121, 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-102, 20-4-110, MCA; Eff. 12/10/74; ARM Pub. 
11/25/77; AMD, 1979 MAR p. 362, Eff. 3/30/79; AMD, 1980 MAR p. 2646, Eff. 9/26/80; 
AMD, 1987 MAR p. 1211, Eff. 7/31/87; AMD, 1995 MAR p. 628, Eff. 4/28/95; AMD, 
2000 MAR p. 1510, Eff. 6/16/00; AMD, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02; AMD, 2003 
MAR p. 554, Eff. 3/28/03.) 
 
 10.57.605  SURRENDER OF A TEACHER, SPECIALIST OR ADMINIS-
TRATOR AN EDUCATOR  LICENSE  (1)  A teacher, specialist or administrator may 
surrender his/her that educator’s license to the Superintendent of Public Instruction.  
The Superintendent of Public Instruction, upon review, may accept or reject the license 
surrender. 
 (2)  Surrender of a license to the Superintendent of Public Instruction does not 
relieve the reporting requirements set forth in 20-4-110, MCA. 
 (3)  The Superintendent of Public Instruction may investigate further following the 
surrender of a teacher, specialist or administrator's an educator’s license and shall 
maintain a record of the circumstances surrounding the surrender of any license.  The 
contents of that record shall be available for review by the licensing authority from any 
other jurisdiction in which the teacher, specialist or administrator educator seeks 
licensure. 
 (4)  Surrender of a license is permanent and irrevocable, unless specified 
otherwise in the document of surrender.  Surrender of a license may prejudice the ability 



 

of teacher, specialist or administrator an educator to successfully seek relicensure in 
Montana in the same or any other class of license or educational endorsement. 
 (5)  The Superintendent of Public Instruction shall provide notice to the Board of 
Public Education of each surrender of a license and of the circumstances surrounding 
the surrender. (History: 20-4-114, MCA; IMP, 20-2-121, MCA; NEW, 1994 MAR p. 
2525, Eff. 9/9/94; AMD, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02.) 
 
 10.57.606  REPORTING OF THE SURRENDER, DENIAL, REVOCATION OR 
SUSPENSION OF A LICENSE  (1)  The Superintendent of Public Instruction shall 
maintain membership in the National Association of State Directors of Teacher 
Education and Certification (NASDTEC) and shall report information to the NASDTEC 
clearinghouse concerning licensure as provided herein and as required by NASDTEC 
membership. 
 (2)  Upon receipt of a license surrendered pursuant to ARM 10.57.605, the 
Superintendent of Public Instruction shall report to the NASDTEC clearinghouse that the 
Superintendent accepted the surrender of a license held by the teacher, specialist or 
administrator educator.   
 (3)  As provided herein, the Superintendent of Public Instruction shall report to 
the NASDTEC clearinghouse the denial of licensure for cause.  A denial "for cause" is 
defined as circumstances which: 
 (a)  resulted in a determination by the Superintendent that the applicant lacked 
the requisite moral and professional character; or 
 (b)  would, in the case of a licensed Montana educator, be grounds for 
suspension or revocation. 
 (4)  The Superintendent shall not report to NASDTEC under (3) until either: 
 (a)  the period for appeal of denial as provided in ARM 10.57.607 has expired; or 
 (b)  the Board of Public Education affirms the denial. 
 (5)  The Superintendent of Public Instruction shall report to the NASDTEC 
clearinghouse the suspension or revocation of a license held by a teacher, specialist or 
administrator an educator licensed in Montana. 
 (6)  The Superintendent of Public Instruction shall post the status of a Montana 
educator’s license on the Office of Public Instruction’s website. 
 (6)  (7)  The Superintendent of Public Instruction shall maintain, pursuant to the 
Ssuperintendent's record retention policies, a record of the circumstances surrounding 
the surrender, denial, revocation, suspension, or reprimand involving a teacher, 
specialist or administrator's an educator’s license.  The contents of that record shall be 
available for review by the certifying authority from any other jurisdiction in which the 
teacher, specialist or administrator educator seeks licensure.  (History: 20-4-102, MCA; 
IMP, 20-4-110, MCA; NEW, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02; AMD, 2004 MAR p. 
2910, Eff. 12/3/04.) 
 
 10.57.607  APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF A TEACHER, SPECIALIST OR 
ADMINISTRATOR LICENSE  (1)  Appeal from the decision of the Superintendent of 
Public Instruction to deny issuance or renewal of a teacher, specialist or administrator 
an educator license shall be brought before the Board of Public Education by written 
request from the applicant to the board received within 30 days of the notice to deny. 



 

 (2)  The written request must be in a form which: 
 (a)  summarizes the appellant's responses to the Ssuperintendent's denial of 
licensure; 
 (b)  states that the appellant meets the minimum qualifications for issuance of a 
license established by law; and 
 (c)  if applicable, shows that the appeal satisfies the requirements of ARM 
10.57.608.  (History: 20-2-121, 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-102, 20-4-110, MCA; NEW, 
1987 MAR p. 1211, Eff. 7/31/87; AMD, 1995 MAR p. 628, Eff. 4/28/95; AMD, 2000 MAR 
p. 1510, Eff. 6/16/00; AMD & TRANS, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02.) 
 
 10.57.608  CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF APPEAL IN 
CASES ARISING UNDER 20-4-104, MCA  (1)  The Board of Public Education shall not 
consider an appeal from a denial by the Superintendent of Public Instruction based on 
20-4-104, MCA, if the appellant has made an appeal to the Bboard from the denial of a 
teacher, specialist or administrator an educator license within three years prior to the 
application which is at issue, and that appeal was denied by the Bboard following a 
hearing, unless at the time of notice of appeal pursuant to 10.57.607 the appellant can 
show demonstrates substantial changes in circumstances relating to the appellant's 
eligibility for a license.  
(2)  The board shall not consider an appeal by an educator regarding a suspended, 
revoked or surrendered license during the period of suspension, revocation or 
surrender. (History: 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-110, MCA; NEW, 1987 MAR p. 1211, 
Eff. 7/31/87; AMD, 1995 MAR p. 628, Eff. 4/28/95; AMD & TRANS, 2002 MAR p. 3309, 
Eff. 11/28/02.) 
 
 10.57.609  HEARING ON APPEAL  (1)  The Board of Public Education shall 
conduct the hearing as provided in ARM 10.57.603 and in compliance with Title 2, 
chapter 4, part 6, MCA. 
 (2)  On appeal the burden is on the appellant to establish by a preponderance of 
the evidence that the appellant satisfies the statutory criteria for issuance of a teacher, 
specialist or administrator license.  In the case of a request for letter of reprimand, 
suspension or revocation of an educator license, the burden is on the requestor to 
establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the request for board action should 
be granted. 
 (3)  In cases in which the Superintendent of Public Instruction has denied 
issuance or renewal of a teacher, specialist or administrator license under 20-4-104, 
MCA,  the Board of Public Education may require the appellant to undergo a mental or 
physical examination by a physician or health professional designated by the board. In 
cases in which the Superintendent of Public Instruction has denied issuance of a new 
license, the examination shall be at the appellant's expense.  In cases in which the 
Superintendent of Public Instruction has denied issuance of a renewal license, the 
examination shall be at the Superintendent of Public Instruction's expense.  The report 
of examination shall be admissible evidence in the appeal proceedings before the 
Board, subject to the appellant's  right to cross-examine the maker of the report.  
(History: 20-4-102, MCA; IMP, 20-4-110, MCA; NEW, 1987 MAR p. 1211, Eff. 7/31/87; 
AMD, 1995 MAR p. 628, Eff. 4/28/95; AMD & TRANS, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 



 

11/28/02.) 
 
 Rule 10.57.610 reserved 
 
 
 10.57.611  SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL NONPERFORMANCE 
 (1)  A licensed staff member commits a violation of 20-4-110, MCA, if, after 
signing a binding contract of employment with a Montana school district, the licensed 
staff member substantially and materially breaches such contract without good cause. 
 (2)  "Good cause" shall be determined by the Board on a case-by-case basis. 
The following are examples of good cause: 
 (a)  substantial hardship to the licensed staff member's family due to a change in 
employment of the spouse of the licensed staff member that necessitates a move; 
 (b)  illness of a family member of the licensed staff member that necessitates a 
move for purposes of providing for, caring for, or tending to the ill family member; or 
 (c)  intolerable working conditions, judged on the same basis as constructive 
discharge under Montana law. 
 (3)  Licensed staff members violating 20-4-110(1)(g), MCA shall be penalized 
according to the following guidelines: 
 (a)  a first violation committed not more than 30 calendar days prior to the 
beginning of the school year may result in a sanction not to exceed placement of a letter 
of reprimand in the licensed staff member's public record certification file; 
 (b)  a first violation committed on or after school starts shall result in a sanction 
ranging from placement of a letter of reprimand in the licensed staff member's public 
record licensure file to temporary suspension of the licensed staff member's license for 
not more than 30 days; and 
 (c)  a second or subsequent violation shall result in a sanction ranging from a 
temporary suspension of the licensed staff member's license to revocation of the 
license. 
 (4)  In considering the sanction, if any, to impose for a violation, the Board will 
consider the following: 
 (a)  the length of prior notice, if any, provided to the employing board by the 
licensed staff member; 
 (b)  the arrangements made and resources provided by the licensed staff 
member to ensure continuing instruction to pupils; 
 (c)  the difficulties faced by the employing district in recruiting a suitable 
replacement; 
 (d)  the impact of the licensed staff member's breach of contract on the district's 
compliance with accreditation standards; and 
 (e)  other hardships suffered by the employing district as a result of the licensed 
staff member's breach of contract. 
 (5)  This rule provides guidelines only and shall not be construed to either require 
or to prohibit the Board from exercising its discretion in overseeing discipline of license 
holders.  (History: 20-2-114, 20-2-121, MCA; IMP, 20-2-121, 20-4-110, MCA; NEW, 
2002 MAR p. 1549, Eff. 5/31/02; TRANS, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02; AMD, 2003 
MAR p. 554, Eff. 3/28/03.) 



































 
Executive Secretary’s Report 
Thursday, July 14, 2011 
  
By: Steve Meloy/Executive Secretary 
 
The progress of our Chapter 55 group remains the highlight of our summer work.  The 
May 16-17 meeting was very productive with the group working on draft 
recommendations.  Dennis Parman gave an overview on proposed tenets of a 
performance-based accreditation model with an emphasis on developing consensus on 
various pieces.  Another area the group addressed was the developing of a framework for 
the evaluation of school leaders and teachers. Patty co-chaired and Pete and I attended an 
excellent chapter 55, two day meeting.  The purpose of the meeting was to refine draft 
rule language for consideration by the Superintendent of Public Instruction and referral to 
the Board for our consideration by the end of January, 2012.  Some of the topics included 
a presentation by Dennis Parman (co-chair) of a possible performance based accreditation 
model to be blended with our current system.  The model suggests different categories of 
accreditation status including (1) accredited, (2) accredited with improvement plan, (3) 
accredited with priority improvement plan (4) accredited with need of intensive 
assistance and (5) not accredited.  Much like we currently have, but with a few more and 
more clearly defined categories with emphasis on state focus on and involvement 
with improvement plans.  Some of the data points to be utilized to determine status 
include: average daily attendance, HS completion rate, MS and HS dropout rate and 
scores on the MontCAS.  The group also considered recommendations of the Montana 
Indian Education Association including (1) flexibility in the standards to assist districts in 
meeting the obligations of Indian Education for All, (2) keep intact all references to 
Indian Education for All, (3) adopt an equity policy to address both gender and ethnicity, 
(4) lower the student/counselor ratio in schools with a high ratio of at risk students.  Also, 
the group spent some time on model core teaching standards and used as a framework for 
discussion CCSSO’s Interstate Teacher Assessment and Support Consortium (InTASC) 
standards.  Some of the areas of emphasis in teacher evaluation include (1) learner 
development, (2) learning differences, (3) learning environments, (4) content knowledge, 
(5) appreciation of content, (6) assessment, (7) planning for instruction, (8) instructional 
strategies, (9) professional learning and ethical practice and (10) leadership and 
collaboration.  Knowing that a strong teacher evaluation is a national priority, the group 
seemed to embrace the concepts imbedded in this model as a point of departure.  CSPAC 
will review the work and Denise’s recommendations before they come to the Board table. 
 
The group met again on June 23 and 24th.  This meeting was dedicated to the review and 
refinement of draft recommendations, and also to discuss further a possible Montana 
performance based accreditation model.  The session following is tentatively scheduled 
for July 26 and 27. 
 
 
 
.   



 
   
 
We continue to work on monitoring the implementation of the Class 8 license.   CSPAC 
continues to review applications and approved three during its January 2011 meeting.  
The next application reviews are scheduled for July. 
 
Work continues in the coordination with the OPI on an assessment working group to 
continue identifying appropriate and meaningful assessments for all of our students.  A 
new wrinkle with which to contend are proposed “high quality” assessments, which will 
be coordinated with the Common Core Standards if they become a reality for the state.  
The OPI curriculum specialists will be involved with assessment, which should be 
helpful even though recruiting for these positions continues to be difficult.  A review of 
Chapter 56 will be scheduled for sometime after the completion of Chapter 55. 
 
The case, which has been appealed to the First Judicial District for judicial review, has 
yet to be litigated and is still pending. We continue to advise the OBPP and the 
legislature and their interim committees of our potential budgetary challenges for the 
coming two years.   
 
Board work continues to include, but is not limited to: review all passed legislation; 
examine resolution affecting the continuation of CSPAC; review with possible 
substantive amendments to Chapter 55; continue work with the Interim Legislative 
Committee and the LFD; continue to work with and monitor the Shared Policy Goal work 
with leadership in the legislature; National Common Core Standards; federal grant money 
to develop a longitudinal data system; Learning First Alliance; Montana Association of 
School Nurses; implementation of the class 8 rule for post-secondary faculty; strategic 
planning meeting; school safety issues; work with the Interim Committee on Legislative 
Finance; design performance measures to the satisfaction of the LFD; implementation of 
the BPE’s five-year planning process; future of assessments in the absence of the NRT, 
as well as future assessments to inform instruction including common core;  future 
assessments associated with the Common Core requirements; monitoring of the 
implementation of Chapter 57 work in the 2010 license cycle; dual enrollment/credit 
work; counsellorship initiative; assessment alignment work; MSDB coordination and 
oversight; MSDB strategic planning; previous interim committee work follow-up and 
monitoring the MQEC and their efforts; CSPAC Assessment Study Group; Pilot (Praxis 
II) testing efforts; NCLB and RTTT implications on future reauthorization of ESEA; 
work of the Montana Digital Academy and its future and preparation for next session; 
meetings of the Ed Forums; Special Purpose Schools Task Force; Chapter 55 review 
process with a focused look at alternative standards;  PEPPS Review Advisory Panel; 
follow-up of  NASBE’s annual meeting held in SLC in 2010;  monitoring of the writing 
assessment consortia project; writing implementation committee work; monitor the 
Indian Education for All efforts;  High School Improvement Initiative; results of the 
legislative interest of the high school drop-out rate in Montana and data alignment 
between the OCHE and the OPI;  performance-based budgeting proposals expectations 
for the 2011 Legislative Session; Board responsibilities with the implementation of  the 



teacher loan repayment plan found in SB 2; issues revolving around “alternative to our 
standards” requests; ongoing questions related to the bullying and related accreditation 
issues; financial education curricular concerns; school nutrition and physical education 
and obesity; civic education; NASBE grant follow-up on student leadership; license 
discipline processes-particularly related to suspensions and revocations; and the fielding 
of an increasing number of  calls from the public regarding various and current issues 
before the Board. 
 
Most of the other issues with which I have dealt have been brought to your attention by 
way of phone and e-mail correspondence, however I have highlighted the following: 
 
• Continued work with legislature on fiscal responsibility processes for SB 152. 
• Presented to the new Interim Committee on Education and Local Government.  
• Met with Executive Committee to plan for July strategic planning meeting. 
• Attended the May 16-17 meeting of the Chapter 55 work group. 
• Met with Agency Legal Services to discuss possible appeal of BPE decision. 
• Participated on BPE legal conference call. 
• Met with new CSPAC member. 
• Attended June 14th meeting of the Learning First Alliance. 
• Met with worker compensation personnel regarding BPE premiums. 
• Attended June 23-24 Chapter 55 workgroup meeting. 
• Attended July MSDB committee conference call. 

 
 
The work before the Board continues with a high level of importance, including: work of 
Chapter 55 Task Force; working with two interim committees of the legislature; the 
Common Core concept and pending rule promulgation; longitudinal data systems; 
implementing dual enrollment/credit with emphasis on the Class 8 licensing phase; 
monitoring work of the Digital Academy; Counselor Leadership Initiative; the shared 
policy goals with the legislature; Healthy Schools Network (Team Asthma); and the 
Learning First Alliance.  The 2011 legislature continued its support of our state’s distance 
learning offerings and the work of the Montana Digital Academy. Other areas include 
assessment, strategic planning, and continued relation building with the OPI, the Board of 
Regents, the Governor’s office, the legislature, and the OCHE and all of our educational 
partners. 

 
 
 
 



 
 

 
ITEM 3 

 
 

STATE SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT 
 
 

State Superintendent Denise Juneau 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

ITEM 4 
 
 

COMMISSIONER OF HIGHER 
EDUCATION’S REPORT 

 
 

Deputy Commissioner for Two-Year and 
Community College Education 

John Cech 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
ITEM 5 

 
 

GOVERNOR’S OFFICE REPORT 
 
 

Dan Villa 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 
 

ITEM 6 
 
 

STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE’S REPORT 
 
 

Holly Capp 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: General Education Development (GED) Annual Report

PRESENTER: Margaret Bowles, GED Administrator
Career, Technical and Adult Education Division
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: The 2010 Montana GED Statistical and Demographic Reports and the proposed 
GED Initiative will be presented.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): None

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): The 2010 Montana GED Statistical and Demographic Reports will be used to give 
an overview of the GED testing program in Montana and will identify current 
trends occuring in the state. The yearly status report of GED will also include an 
update on the proposed Youth Council GED Initiative. 

RECOMMENDATION(S): None



Statistical Worksheet

Page 1 of 90

3732
1
12

40
23

74

77
20
17
26
20

25
30
51
47
58

Total
Unknown

60+
55 - 59
50 - 54
45 - 49

40 - 44
39
38
37
36

34
33

35

32
31

59

69
76

76
84

30
29
28
27
26

146

25
24

99
152
144

206
[4] Ages Of Examinees

23
22

20 306
44219
51418
64817
19016 21

78 %[C] Passing Percentage

Total 3732
426
210
1104
987

Unknown
12
11
10

658

47
277

9
8
7

6 or below
[3] Highest Grade Completed

2371
3031

[B] Achieved scores high enough for a credential in your jurisdiction
[A] Completed the entire GED test battery ([1][A] + [1][B])
[2] Number Completed And Number Passed

23

0

Unknown
0

0

0

33700

Spanish Large PrintEnglish
0

0

0

050

3

24

7 431

3732

260014
Criteria

701

BrailleAudiotape

1

1

3

0

0

0

0

0
French

3

697

423

[C] Number of persons tested who have not yet 
taken all tests in the battery
[D] Subtotals

2580

[B] Number of persons who completed the battery in 
prior periods and were retested

[1] Number Tested

[A] Number of persons who completed the battery 
for the first time

Subtotals

MT
12/31/2010

Addendum:
Center Number:
Jurisdiction:

Start Date:
End Date:

1/1/2010

Report Date: 1/24/2011



Statistical Worksheet

Page 2 of 90

[5] Reasons For Testing
[A] Qualify For Further Education
[B] Qualify For Employment
[C] Qualify For Military Enlistment

[A] Hispanic
[B] Alaskan Native / American Indian / First Nation / Autochtone
[C] Asian / Asiatique
[D] African American / African Canadian / Canadien African
[E] Native Hawaiian / Pacific Islander
[F] White
[G] Maxacno
[H] Puertorrqueño
[I] Cubano
[J] Centroamericano
[K] Sudamericano
[L] Dominicano

Number Of Active-Duty Personnel

[M] British / Britannique

[P] Other / Otro / Autre
[Q] Missing / Unknown
Total

[A] Requested For SLD And / OR ADHD Only
[B] Approved For SLD And / Or ADHD Only
[C] Requested For Physical Or Mental Impairment Only
[D] Approved For Physical Or Mental Impairment Only
[E] Requested For SLD And / Or ADHD And Physical Or Mental 
Impairment
[F] Approved For SLD And / Or ADHD And Physical Or Mental 
Impairment
*Provided With

0

[6] Military Personnel

1670
1743
195

284
638
24
109
48
2131
2

[8] Racial / Ethnic Background Of Examinees

0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0
30
466
3732

3
3
8
8
0

0

[G] Large Print With Extended Time

[7] Number Of Special Accommodations

[I] Extended Time
[H] Closed Circuit TV

[K] Signed Essay Or Video
[J] Audio Cassette

[M] Scribe
[L] Video Instructions

[P] Supervised Breaks
[O] Private Room
[N] Calculator

[R] Braille
[Q] Instruction Intrepreted

[S] Other

0
0
0
5
16
0

0
0

0

4
9
7

[A] Female
[B] Male 2057

3732
[C] Missing / Unknown 51

[9] Gender Of Examinees
1624

Total

Accommodations provided are not included in these totals unless they are associated with a specific test date.  That is, an accommodation is not 
included in these totals unless a valid test date is recorded on the Tracking Sheet, even though the accommodation was provided.  However, there 
are two exceptions.  An audio cassette or braille accommodation will also be reported as provided if the test format code so indicates.

*

[O] Other European / Autre Eurpoéen

[N] French / Français



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY  2011

PRESENTATION: Dropout and Graduation Report

PRESENTER: Andy Boehm
Research Specialist 

 Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW:
    The Montana School Accreditation Standards (Administrative Rules of Montana 

10.55.603) require schools to do follow-up studies of graduates and students no 
longer in attendance. The overview of this report provides information on students 
who graduated or dropped out of Montana public, state-funded and nonpublic, 
accredited schools, during the 2009-10 school year. This year's report shows a  
decrease in the dropout rate. There is also improvement in the completion, but a 
decline in the graduation rates. 

REQUESTED DECISION(S): None, Informational

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): NA

RECOMMENDATION(S): NA



������������	
��	
������������������	��	�����
����������������	��

��������





1

����	���� ���	��!

�������	�
������
 �
������������
 �
���
�����
��
��������
���
��
������
 �
���
��������
�������

 �
 �����
��
�������
��!�������
��
��
"����������
 �

  �����
��!�������
��
��
"���������
 #


 �������
��!�������
��
��
"���������
 #

 ��
$���������
 #
%������
��
&����'�
�������
(���
 )

 "��������

�������
(��
 )

 ������
*��
�++,-.+
&����
����/���
�������
(��
������
 )
�������
(���
���
���������
�������
 �����
 0

 �������
(���
1�
 �����
 0

 �������
(���
1�
(��2���������
"��������
 3

 %
"�����
$��4
�
%������
�����
�������
(���
 3

 �������
(��
1�
��5�
��
��������
 ,
���
"���������
��
 �������
(��
 ..

 ���
"���������
(��
 ..

 ���
%��6���
*����
7�������
 �������
(��
 .�
���
8����
7��	���
��������
����
��������
���9
 .)
(���������
 .)
%��������
�������
(��������
��
���
��1
 .:
%�������
 .0


����
������
/�
�������
1�
���
��!��
��
7�1���
�����������;
&���������
<

%������1�����
��	�����=
"�����
����������
��
1�
�1�����
1�
������
$����

&�����;
>#+:?
###-:00#;
��
�-���;
����������@��=��	=

11

6 � �
���
8����
7��	���
��������
����
��������
���9 .)
(��������� .)
%��������
�������
(��������
��
���
��1 .:
%������� .0


����
������
/�
�������
1�
���
��!��
��
7�1���
������������;
&�������������� 
<

%������1�����
��	�����=
"�����
����������
��
1�
�1�����
1�
�����������
�
$�$�$����

&�����;
>#+:?
###-:00#;
��
�-���;
����������@��=��	=

�������	���� ���	��!

���������� ������������������������� �	�	�	�	���	�
���� �������� ��
����������������������������������������� ������������������ ����
����������� ��
�
����� ���������� ������������ 
����
�
�����������������
�
������� �
��
��
������������� ����
���������������
�
� ������������ �������������
��
������������������� �������� 
 �����
 � � ��������� ������� 

�������
�
�
���������������� ������
�
���!�!�!�!����������������� �����������
�
�
�
�
������
�� ������
"
"���������������� ������������� �������

 � �   �  � ������������ ��������
�
�
��
���!�!��!�� ������������������� ����������
�� ������
�
�
�� ���������
"
"
"
""������������������������������������� ���� #
####
������������ �������������������������
���
�������������������!�!�!�!��������������������������



���������
�
�
������� 
 "�"�"�"�"�" ���������������������� ��������� ������������ #########
���������
$
$
$$$$$����������������������� ����������� ���������� #########

%�%�%�%�%�%�%������������������ ���������� �
�
�
�
���
��
�
� &�&&�&�&&��������� �����''''��
�
��������� ���������������
�
��
((((( �������������� ))))))))))
"""""""" ���������������������� ������������������
��
��
�
�� 


 ����������� ������������������������
�
�
�� (((((( �������� ))))))))))))))))
�������������������������
*
***���� ��
�
��
�� �+�+�+�+�+�+�+++,+,+,+,,,-.-.-.-..-.-.-.-..++
+
+++
++++ &�&�&�&�&��������������� 

�������������������/�/�///�����������������
�
��
�
�
�� ������������������������������������������������
�
�
�
�� (((((((( ������������� 
�
������������������������������� ��������������� ))))))))))))))

����������������������������������������� �
�
�� ((((((����������������
�� ����������
�
�� �������������������������������������������� ��
�
�
���
�� ���������������������������������������������
�����
�����  � � � � � � �� � ����������������������������������������� 00000000000
����� �����������
(((((((( �����������
��
��� 1�1�1�1�11�1�1 
   
   ��������������������������� ���� 0000000000
�������������� ������������������� �
�
�� (((( �������
��
11�1�1�1�� ((
((
(
((((��������2�2�2�2�2�2�2�2�2������������������ ��������������� ������������ ������������
��
�
�� """""""""""" ������������������������������������������������ 333333333
%
%
%
%
%%%%"�"�""�"�"�"""������������������������� 
$$$$$$$$$$$�������������� 4
4
444 ���� %%%
%
%������� ���������
�
� ����������������������������������� ��
��
�
�
����
 ������������������������������������� ((((((( ������������������ 3333333333
����������������� ���������������� �
�
�
��� ((((((((((( ���������������� 11
1
1
11�
�
�
�
�� ������������5�5�5�5�5�5�55�
���
��
��
��
��
���
�
� ���������������� ����������������������������������� ,,,,,,,,,,,,,

���������������������
�
��
�� "�"�"�"�"��" ��������������������������������� �����������������



 ����������������
 
 
       ��������������� �������������
���
��� ((((((((��������� ........................
����������������� �
��
�� "�"�"�"�""��" ������������������������������������������ ��������
(
(
((((���������� ����� ........................
�������������
��
�
�
%�%�%�%�%�%�%�%�% �6�6�6�6�6�6�6�6����������������������������
*
*
*****
 ��������������
�
�
����� 7�7�7�7�7�77�7������������������������������������ 
  
 
   �������� ����������� �������������
�
�
� (((((((((((( �������� .�.�.�.��.�.�.�.���..



2

���
���
���	����
���=

���
����
������
�������

���
��������
1�
+=:
���������
������
��
#=�

�������
��
�++,-.+
�������
��
)=.
�������
��

�++3-+,=

&���
����
���
������
�������

���
��
���
.���
����
���������
��
���/
���

�������
�������
����=

���
�������
���
���
%������
�����
��������

��
�����
0-.�
��������
��
0=�
�������
���-
����
��
3=3
�������
���
���
���	����
���=

��

��������;
���
�������
���
���
%������
����-
�
����
������
������
��������
������
����

���
���;

�������
��
�=.
���������
������=


%������
�����
��������
���/
���
�������

�������
����
��
���
..��
����
��
����
���

����
�����
��
���
����'�
������
�������
���
�

������
�������
��
��
���

�����	����=



���
�������
���1���
��
���
���
�����
���-
�����
��������
����
���
���A
��/�	��;
�����

��������
��/
�4�
��

�����
����
��
���
0��

��
3��
����
��������
���
�	��
1�����=

B��
������
���
�++,-.+;
���
���������
��
���

����������
��
��������
���
��������
�����

����
��
�������-��	��
��
����
%�&=

"��-
�������
����
���
��
�������
������
��������

�������
��
�++3-+,
��=

���
����������

���
���
���
"���
��
�++,
/�
3.=,
�������

�������
��

���
��
3�=.
�������
���
���
"���

��
�+.+=

���
��������
���
/�
3+=0
�������

���
���
"���
��
�++,
�������
��

���
��
3+=�

�������
���
���
"���
��
�+.+

.?
 ��������	


��
���
�����
��
����	�����

/��C

���������
���
����
������
��������

��6���������
��

������
��������;
���������

����
�������;
������
���
���	����
������

���;
��
���������
���
����
������
��������

��6���������
��

������
��������
�
���
���
��

������
�����
��
���
�������
������
���=

�?
 �	�����
��
�
����	����
/��C

���-
������

��������'�
��������
��6���������
��

����
����
��
����
����
���
����
�
����	����


"#" $�%&"��$��'��

%��������
��
���
%������
���
���������
����-
����
>%��?;
��������
���-�����
��
��������;
.=�

�������
���
���;
���
��
������=

���
%��

��������
���
�����
��/
����
�	�
���
���
����

1���
D�1������
E
1�
����6���
������1��-
���
�������
�
����
��
������
��	���=F

���
&����
��!��
��
7�1���
�����������

>�7�?
��
1���
������������
�����	������

��
���
���������
���
���4���
�������
����	�-
����;
���������
��������
��
�������
����;

�����
�++0-+3=

�����
�����	������
�������

���
�������������
��

�������
����������

������;
%�&-%����	�����
��
&����;
/����

��������
����������;
����������
��
������

�����������
����������
�
���
����	����

�������
��	��=


���
�	���
��

����/���
�������
����������

������
�����
��
	���!��
��
�������
�
���

����
��
����
��	��
��
�����	��
���
������

��
����1�����
��
&����'�
�������
��=

����
������
��G����
���
�����
���
��
����������

��
	��������
��
�����
&����'�
����/���

�������
����������
������=

�������
��
����
���
!���
���
��
���������-
����
��
%�&
>�++0-+3?
���/��

����
�������

��
�������
����=

��
���
���
���
����������

����
��������
��������
�	����
1��
��������
���

%������
�����
��������=

��
���
������
���

��
�������������
��
%�&
>�++3-+,?;
���
��

��1���5��
/���

������
�������
��
���
���1��

��
��������
���
��
��������;
1��
�
�������
��

���
%������
�����
�������
���=

 �������

��
����������
����
1���
��������
/���
�/�

����
��
	���!��
�������
����������
������

��=

���
/����
���
�����
���
����9

��
����
������
���
�++,-.+;
���
���1��
��
����-
����
��������
���������
���
��
��������

��
���
����/���
�������
���
��������
��
�=+

�������
���
�����
0-.�
�������
��
�=:
�������




33

�������
��
�����
���
�����
�	��
���
��������

��
���
����
��
��������=

���
�������
��

&����
/����
���

���1������
��
�����-
������
�	����
��
��������
��	����
��

1���
H.,=:
�������
���
���
��
���
���
����

������
��������
���
/����
�������
1�
I���

)
�������=



(�������	��!�������

�����
��
��
������
��
��������
/��
��
�
���4
��

��������
���=

��
�������	�
������������������
�������������������	���������F
�����
������

/��
����
����
������
/������
��������

��������
���
���
!	�
������
���
��������
���

/���C

������
/���
���
�����������;
���
�������

������
���
���
���
��
�����
���
����
��;

1�
��G������
>������
���
/���
���
/����

���/�?;
���
����
�������
>1���
����
������

��
�������?;
��
������
�����=



��
���
���	��
��
����
������
��������
���-
�����
/�����
�������	�
�����������������������
�������������	����������
33
�������
��
���-
���
�����
/���
:�
�������
�	���
D"'�
��

1�	�FA
)3
�������
�������
���
/���
�/�
����

��
����
��
��������
����
������
>)3
�������

��
&����'�
��������
/���
��
..��
��
.���

����?A
3.
�������
�������5��
���
��������

����
����
������
/�
	���
��
�����
�������A
��

0#
�������
/����
�	�
�����
��
������
��
����

��
��
��
��
�	��
���=
��
���
���
���	��;
3+

�������
��
���
��������
/��
�������
���
���

����
���
�
����
��
����/��4
���
��
��

����
������=

�������	������������	)������!�
�������� ���	�����!

���
���;
&����'�
J-.�
�������
������
���-
���
��
���
��
����
�������
��
�������
��

���
�����
0
�������
.�
���
���
���	����
������

���=

���
K�
"����
$���
L�����
%��
��
�++.

>K"$L?
������
��������
������1�����
���


��������
��
���
,��
����;
��
��
�
����	���-
��5��
��������
7�����
>��7?
���/���
���

����
���
����
����
��
������=


%�����������

����
������
���	����
����������
��
��������

/��
�������
��
�������
���
��
&����

��1���;
����-������;
��
�����1���;

���������
�������;
������
���
�++,-.+
������

���=

���������
�������
����
��
���������

����������
��
��������
����
�	�
�������

����
�������
����
����
��1I���
��
&����
��

�����/���=

���
�������
���������
1���/
��

�����������	�
��
���
�������
1��
��
��
����

���
����
�����5�����
�����
�������
��
����

!���=



��	�%*��������������+�
,������������

"����6������
��
��������
���
�������
��-
������
������
��
1����
��
��	����;
1����

����������;
1����
��
��1���
��������;
1����

��
������;
1����
��	�����;
��
1����

������

�����
��������
��

�++:
�����
������
1�

���
L���
��
&�����
 ���
B��������
�����;

�������	�
������������������������������������	�
���������
��
	����;
����
������
��������

���
H,;�++
����
���
���
���
����
������

�������;
��
1���
���
�������
������

����
�	��

��������
���
�������
�������=


��������
/���
�����
�����
����
��4���
���

�������
�������
��
1�
����������
��
�++#A

#+
�������
��
��������
�����	�
����
����
��

��	�������
��������;
��
��������
��
�����

�����
����
��4���
��
1�
��
I��
��
������
���


����
������
������=

��

�������
�������
��


����
��
�����
��
�����;
���
��������
����
��
���

�����
��
1��/���
H.=0
��
H�=�
�������=

%��������
��
���
%������
���
���������
����-
����
���
����
��������
�������
��
&����
����

��������
���
���
����
�����
�����
H3�+

�������=

&����
/����
�	�
����
���
H�,=3




4

�������
������
����	�����
���
��
��1���

�������=

���
������������
��
%��6���
*����

7�������
>%*7?
�����
K"$L
��6�����
���

��1���
����
��
0-3
�������
������
�������
��

������
��
���
����
1�
������
��
���2
���������;
1��
���
1�
���
�����/���
�������

����������C
�����������
����	�����;

��������
/���
���1�������;
�������
�������

���!�����;
��
������=

��
�������;
��1���

����
�������
����
���
������
������
��
1�

/������
��������
�������
D��
���
������

���1��
��
����F
>�=�=;
D��-����F?=


�	���������������
�������������������
&����
���������
����
�������
������
����-
��
���1���
��
���
�7�
���
���
���
���
���	�-
���
������
���
�����
���
��!������
��
���
1��

��
���
�����=





�	���������������
�������������������
�������
����
��
1�
��������
��
��������

��
�����
���������
/��C

.?
%�
�	���
���
���	����

�������
��
�����



 /��
����
���
��

������
���A

�?
%
�����
���
��
���
����������
��
���

 ���������
/��
�	�
���
���������



 ������
��
��
���
��������A
��
�?
%
������
���
���	����

����

 �����������	�
�������
/����
�����/�




 �����
�����
��
��������
�	��
����
��



 �������5��
�����
���
��

�����
�����=

����
������
����
�
�	���
���
�����
����

���
K�����
"�����
���
��������
���������

>K"��?
�
���
M=�=
���������
��
��������=


���
���
��
����������
/���
���
��6���������

��
���
K"��
"�����
"���
��
��
>""�?

���������=



���������������

L�����
���
���1��
��
��������
��
����

��������
������
��
��������
��
����
�������

��
�����	���
��/;
����������;
��������;
��

�������
����
��
G������
������
����
���

��
���=
B��
������;
��

����
/���
.+
���-
�����;
���
�������
/����
�������
��

.+
���-

�	�����
���
���
�����
��
����	�����
/��C

 .?

 ���������
���
����
������
��������


 
 
 ��6���������
��

������
��������;
���������
����



 
 
 �������;
������
���
���	����
������
���;

��

 �?

 ���������
���
����
������
��������


 
 
 ��6���������
��

������
��������
�
���
���
��

 


 
 
 ������
�����
��
���
�������
������
���=

 �����
��������
��	��������
����
> ��?
����������
��
���


�������
�
�������=

�����	������	�������	
����������� ����!"��	�����
��

�
����	����
/��C

 .?

 ���������

��������'�
��������
��6���������
��



 
 
 ����
����
��
����
����
���
����
�
����	����


 
 
 ��������
��
���
,��
����;

��

 �?

 ��
�
����	�����5��
��������
7�����
>��7?

 
 
 ���/���
���
����
���
����
����
��
������=

�	�����
���
���
�����
��
����	�����
/��C

 .?

 /���
��������
��
������
��
���
���
��
���


 
 
 ���	����
���
N�
����1��
����������
�����
��

 


 
 
 �
����
����
������
���
���	����
������
���


 
 
 ��
/���
���
��������
��
���
���
��
���
�������




 
 
 ������
���
����1��
�����A
��

 �?

 /���
���
��������
�
���
1��������
��
���


 
 
 ���	����
������
���
1��
/���
��������
��


 
 
 ������
��
���
���
��-������
������
���
���


 
 
 >D��
���/F?
��
/���
���
��������
��
���
���
��



 
 
 ���
�������
������
���
����1��
�����A
��

 �?

 �	�
���
�������
����
����
������
��


 
 
 ���������

����
��
��������-����	��
����

 


 
 
 ������
���������
������A
��

 #?

 �	�
���
����������
��
������
������;
1���

 
 
 ����������
1����
���
��

������-�������5��

 


 
 
 �������
��
����������;
��
����=



55

��������1��
���
���
���
��
��
�����
/��
��
0

����
��
��
��
�����
�����
��
���
!���
��
��

������
��
��
������
!���
���
����
����
���

�����
��
1�
����������
��
���
������
���-
����1��
1�
���
1���
��
��1���
��������
���-
����
��
�+-0-...
�����
���
����
��
���
�����/���

����C
>?
���
�����'�
.:��
1������A
>1?
���
���

��
����������
��
���
/��4
��
���
3��
����=F

����������#����	������$���
�������
����
��
��������
1�
��	�����
���

���1��
��
��������
1�
���
����������
�����

��
���
!���
&����
��
����1��=

�������
����

	��
���
���������
�������
������
>�=�=;
���2
���������;
������?=

"��������
��
���5���

�������
����
��
4��
��
�����������
��
������

������
��
��������
��
����
��4���
��
�������

��
��
1�
����
��
��	�������
��
��������

�������
���	������
�������=



���
��!��
��
7�1���
�����������
��
�����-
������

�������
(������
"��!���������

7�����;
/����
�����1���
���
������
��
��
���

�������
������
�����
���;
���������
����2���-
���;
�������;
���������
��
������
�������

������=

"�����
�����
���
��
��������
1�
���


O.+
���1��
��
��
��
���
�����1��
�1���
��

����
��������=




%&&' (&�)������������*����	������
$���������	+

P
 &����
��1���
��
���	��
���������



 �������
��������
���
�;+.+
��������



 �������
���
��
�����
0-.�
������
���



 �++,-.+
������
���=
���
�������������



 ����1��
����������
/�
:0;+#�
��������



 
�������
���
��
�=+
�������
���
���
�++,-


 .+
������
���=

P
 ���
0��
��
3��
����
�������
���
/�



 ����
+=�
�������;
1��
�����������
#�


 ��������
��	���
������
�

�����
��=

P
 ���
����
������
�������
���
/�
#=�



 �������=



����
�������
���=

%
����
��������
��������

���
����
�������
��
����
��������
������

��
�
	����
��
��	���
����=

&����'�
���-
����
����������
������
��
��/
1��
��
���4

��������
�����
�������
��
������
����=
L��������
��
������
���
�++:-+0;
���
�������

���
��������
��������
1����
����
�������

1�
�������
����
������
&����'�
����/���

�������
����������
������;
%�&=

���
���
��

���
%�&
������
�������
�����������
��
����-
���
��������������
��
���
�������
��!������=


%�&
���������
�������
��������
����
��

���
��
���
7J-.�
��������
������=

��
1���

�������
���������
��
����
1�
%�&
��
�����-
����
��

�������
��

�������=

��
%�&;
����-
���
������
��
1���
��������
��
%�&
������-
����
�������
��
%�&
���
�����;
/����
��


����
���
��������
��

�������
��
�������;

����������
��
������
������
��
�������
���=


���
�++0-+3
������
���
�������
��
����-
����
���1���
/���
���
!���
��
��
�������


��������
6�����
�������
�������;
/����

��������
�������
���
��������
�������
��

����������
���1���
��
���
������
���
��������

���!�����
�������
��
����������
���1���=



'����!�!�����������-!�����������	

������
�	+�,�	����������*

&����
�/
��6�����
��������
��
���
��
����

������
�����
����
��
.:
����
��
��=
�����!-
����;
�������
�+-)-.+�
>.?
&����
"���
%���-
����
�����C
D������
�
���	����
��
�+-)-.+�>�?;

��
�����;
������;
��
�����
������
/��
��


�	������$����-�	����

 �������
(��
Q
K��1��
��
��������2����1��

 ����������
R
.++
������C

 ���
�++,-.+
�������
(��
���
&����
%���������



 �������
Q
�;+.+
��������
���
�����
0
�������
.�;



 ��	����
1�
:0;+#�
��������
��������
��
����1��



 �++,;
����������
1�
.++
Q
�=+S=



6

P
 &����'�
�������
����
��������
����



 �++#-+)
�������
�++0-+3
����
��������



 ��������
��
�++3-+,
��
��������
������



 ��
�++,-.+=

>���
B�����
.
��
�����/���



 ���?=


 

 

 

 


P
 �	����
��������
��������
����
���



 ���	����
���=

����
/�
���
�����
���
��



 ��������
������1�����
��
���
�������



 ����������
������
>%�&?
��
6�����



 �������
����������=



P
 7�4
�������
����
�	�
�����������



 1���
�1���	��
��
����
.+;
/���
���



 ��������
����
.:
��
��
������
����
���



 ������
������=

B��
���
�++,-.+
������



 ���;
��/�	��;
��4
�������
����
/���



 �1���	��
��
����
.�=



P
 B��
���
�++,-.+
������
���;
%������

 �����
��������
�����������
.+=,
�������



 ��
���
����
������
����������
���
�����



 0
�������
.�;
1��
������
���
�:=+
�������



 ��
���
����
��������=



P
 ���
�++,-.+
%������
�����
�������



 ���
���
&����
�����
0
��
3
/�
+=:



 �������
>�1��
�
��
���
3?=

P
 ���
�++,-.+
%������
�����
�������



 ���
���
&����
����
�������
/�
.+=:



 �������
>�1��
�
��
���
3?=

P
 ���
�	����
�������
���
���
%������



 �����
��������
��������
1�
.=0


 ���������
������
����
���
�++3-+,
������



 ���;
/����
���
�������
���
���
�����



 ��������
��������
1�
+=)
���������



 ������
��
���
���
������=





����	��

��������������������������	���**���

�������
���	!

�������
 ����

"�����*	��

,.	�����������
/����	!�0���1

�=+S �;+.+ :0;+#�

2������� #=�S .;,:0 #);�):

 �
.� )=:S :.+ .+;,++

 �
.. #=,S )#: ..;+,#

 �
.+ #=+S #:� ..;#�)

 �
, �=,S �#, ..;,�0

0�3�4������ +=�S #� �.;:30

 �
3 +=�S �3 .+;,�#

 �
0 +=.S .) .+;0)�

�	��	�

&�� �=�S .;.). �#;).#

B���� �=:S 3), ��;)�,

���	5"��������

%������
����� 0=�S )�# 0;�.)

%��� .=�S O.+ :,)

8������ #=.S 0. .;0�:

L��4 #=�S �: :��

7��!�
������� �=�S O.+ .3)

����� �=#S .;�0) ):;#3,



77

�	������$���
��+�����	
��
&����
�������;
����
����
���
������

��
��������
�
�	���
����
��	��=

B��
���
�++,-
.+
������
���;
1���
).
�������
��
���
����

������
����������
���
�����
0-.�
/�
���

��
#,
�������
/�
�����=

&���
�	�
����-
�������
��
������
�������
����
���
������

���
����
����
��	���=

"���������
/���
���	�-
���
����;
���
�++,-.+
�������
���
���
����
��

�����
,-.�
>#=3
�������?;
/�
������
���
���

������
>�=3
�������?=
�������
����
���
����

��������
���
��
�����
������
���
����
,;

/����
���
���
�����
���
���=













����������	!��������	�	���
����	��������!
�����
�������
����
��
	��
������
����

������
�������
����������;
���������
��

���5���
�����������
�������
����
��
4��

��
��	�������
��
��������
�������
���	��-
����
���������=

���
��
���������
1�
���
�7�

���/�
���
������
��
�������
����
1�
����;

������;
���2���������;
��
������
��5�=

����	��

��������������������������	!��������	������	��	�

����������	! 
 ������� ���� "�����*	��

 ��� &�� B���� ����/��� &�� B���� ����-
/���

&�� B���� ����-
/���


 


8�
���� #=3S �=3S #=�S .;.�. 3�: .;,:0 ��;��+ ��;+�: #);�):

 ���
.� :=�S #=,S )=:S �#: �:# :.+ );)�, );�0. .+;,++

 ���
.. )=�S #=)S #=,S �+� �#� )#: );:,3 );�,: ..;+,#

 ���
.+ #=:S �=#S #=+S �0� .3, #:� );3,: );)�, ..;#�)

 ���
, �=#S �=#S �=,S �+, .#+ �#, :;.,0 );0#+ ..;,�0


 


0
<
3

����

+=�S +=�S +=�S �+ �� #� ..;.,# .+;#,� �.;:30

 ���
3 +=�S +=�S +=�S .� .) �3 );:#) );�3, .+;,�#

 ���
0 +=.S +=�S +=.S O.+ O.+ .) );)#, );�+# .+;0)�


 


�	����

����

�=�S �=:S �=+S .;.). 3), �;+.+ �#;).# ��;)�, :0;+#�

������� ������� ������� ������	 ���	�
� ������������
����


���

����

����

����

����

����

���������

��������  !

"���!!

6�+��	��7��������������������	!������8��9�����������



8

���
�++,-.+
�������
���
���
%������
�����

��������
��
�����
0-.�
/�
������
���
���

����/���
	����
��
������
���
���
���
���

�����
��������=

B��
���
�++,-.+
������
���;

���
���1����
����2������
���������
��
%���;

8������;
L��4;
��
7��!�
�������
�������


�������
���
��
�=#
�������
��
�����
0-.�=
L�-
����
����������
��
&����'�
��1���
�������

���
�����
��������
������
��
��/;
����
����-
���
����
��
	��
/�����
����
���
��
���=


%	�����
�	��

������
��
����
��
���	���

����
��������
���������
��
���
�������
����

���
�����
����
������=
>���
�1��
�
1���/=?

'� ��!	��:��;����'*	������%������
����������	!

��
	����;
%������
�����
��������
����

���
��
�����
0-3
�

���
���
�����
���
��

�����
��������
��
���
��
����
������
�
�����

�����
���
���
��
�����
��������=

�	��
���
���

!	�
����;
%������
�����
��������
�����-
������
..=�
�������
��
���
����
������
������-
����
���
�����
0-3;
1��
��������
���
#3=:

�������
��
���
��������=
���
!	�-���
!����

/�
:�=)
�������
��
�++0-+3
��
0.=,
�������
��

���
�++)-+:=

B��
�����
,-.�;
%������
�����

��������
�����������
.+=)
�������
��
���
����


B��
������;
���
�������
����
��������
���
��

�����=

���
1������
�����
/�
�1���	��
���

���
..��
����
����
��
.+��
����
������

/����
���
��������
1�
.=.
���������
������=


�1��
�
��
���
���	����
���
���	����
������

��
���
�++,-�+.+
�������
����
1�
����
��	��

��
������=

%�
������
��
�������
����
1�
������
���

���
���
!	�
����
��������
���
������
����

���
�

��/��
���
�
�	���
����
��	��
���

����
������
���
3��
����
/����
���
����

��
���
���=
7�4
�������
����
���
������

��
�1���	��
��
����
..=

�������
����
���

����
�������
�������
�������
����
.�=

���

!	�-���
�����
��������
���
���
��
1��/���

����
��
������
��
/�������=

>���
B�����
�

��
���
�������=?
=


�	������$���
��+�$���.,�/�����+�����#�	��

�������
����
	��
1�
���2���������
�����-
����=
B��
���
�++,-.+
������
���;
&����

������
����������
1�
����2������
�������

���
�����
0-.�
/�
���������
��

3#=�
�������

�����
��������;
.+=,
�������
%������
������;

.=+
�������
%����;
�=:
�������
8�������;
+=,

�������
L��4�;
��
+=�
�������
8/���27-
��!�
��������=



����	�<

��������������������������	!�������	5"��������� ��	+���	!

����������	! ������� ���� "�����*	��

 ����  ����  ����  ����  ����  ����

0-3 ,-.� ���� 0-3 ,-.� ���� 0-3 ,-.� ����

%������
����� +=:S .+=:S 0=�S 












.#
 






).+
 )�# 








�;#,#
 



#;3�.
 0;�.)

%��� +=)S .=)S .=�S O.+ O.+ O.+ 











�.0
 






#03
 :,)

8������ +=�S :=�S #=.S O.+ 








:,
 0. 











:�#
 



.;.+�
 .;0�:

L��4 +=#S :=#S #=�S O.+ 








�)
 �: 











��+
 






�,�
 :��

7��!�
������� +=+S #=,S �=�S O.+ 





O.+ O.+ 













:�
 






.��
 .3)

����� +=.S �=)S �=#S 












�)
 



.;�)+
 .;�0) 






.3;+#,
 

�3;##+
 ):;#3,





�	���� +=�S #=�S �=+S #� .;,:0 �;+.+ �.;:30 #);�): :0;+#�



99

�	����
��
&����;
����
����
���
��
������

�
������
����
���
������=

8�/�	��;
����

������
����������
��
���
������������
�1���	��

���
���
%������
�����
��������=

%�
�����-
�����
��
B������
0
��
3
��
���
%�������;

%������
�����
������
�	�
�������
���
�


������
���
��
�/�
���
��
���
���
!	�
����
�

1���
���
�����
0-3
��
�����
,-.�
��	���=

%�

���
����
������
��	��;
��
�++,-.+;
���
%������

�����
�����
�������
���
��������
.=3
���-
������
������
/����
���
%������
�����
���

�������
���
��������
+=0
���������
������

����
�++3-+,=

���
�������
����
���
%������
�����
����

������
������
���/��

����
�������
��

������
���
�++,-.+
����
���/���

������
��-
�����
��
�++3-+,=

%������
�����
����
������

����
���/��

�������;
�1���
���
�
������


�������
�
���
%������
�����
������=

B��

�����
��������;
���
���1��
��
���������
��

���
��������
��������
��
�����
0-3
��
���

���������
��������
�
���
����
������
��	��=


���
�������
�����
��
���
���
�����
�����

��������
�������
��������
�
���
�����
0-3

��	��
��
��������
�
���
����
������
��	��=

�	������$�����+���0�������
�	���
B��
���
��������
��
��������
��������
��5��

������
���������;
&����
���������
�	�
1���

������!��
1�
��5�
���������
1���
��
������-
����
���1���=

������
����������
��
��=3
�������
��
���
����-
����
�	��
���
���
)
����=

B��
���
�++,-.+
������
���;
�������
����

���
%������
�����
��������
��
�����
0-3

��������
1�
+=)
���������
������
>�����

���-���?
����
���
���
��
��������
1�
�=.

���������
������
�
���
����
������
��	��=


�������
����
���
�����
��������
��
�����

0-3
��������
1�
+=.
���������
������
��

��������
1�
+=:
���������
������
�
���
����

������
��	��=
8�/�	��;
���
!	�-���
�������

	����
��������
���
�����
��������
��
�����

,-.�
����
�=)
�������
��
�=0
�������=

>���

B�����
�
1���/
��
B������
#
��
)
��
���
%�-
������?=

�����
��������
�������
���
�

����
��/��

���
�
�	���
����
��	��
���
%������
�����

��������=

7�4
�������
����
���
�����
���-
�����
��
�1���	��
�����
����
.�;
/�����;

�������
����
���
%������
�����
��������

��4

���
������
��
����
..=

���
�������

���1��
��
%������
������
�������
���
��

����
,
��
������
��
����
.�=

��
���
..��

��
.���
����;
���
�������
���
���
%������

�����
��������
��
����
���
���1��
���
���
��

�����
��������=

���
�������
���
���
%����-
��
�����
��������
��
����
,
��
#=,
�����

������
���
���
�����
��������=



6�+��	��7��������������������	!������8��9�
����������

������� ������� ������� ������	 ���	�
� ������������
����


���

����

����

����

����

����

����

����

	���

�#����$�%%%$�% �$�$�$

&��'�

"���!!



10

P
 ���
�������
���������
��
%������



 �����
��������
��������
��
��
#8
���������



 �
�+=�
�������=
���
��/���
���������
��



 %������
�����
��������
��������
��
��
.J




 ���������
�
#=)
�������=

P
 %������
�����
��������
��

����


 ��������
�������
�����=
���



 �������������
��
%�&;
���
�������



 ����������
������;
��
������
�����	��



 ���4���
��
��������
��������
���������



 %������
�����
��������=


P
 ���
����
������
�������
���
���
�����



 ��������
��������
��
������
���
�++,-


 .+
���
�	���
��5�
�������
������
.J
>#++



 ��
����
��������?
��
�J
>�,,
��
��/��



 ��������?=

��5�
�������
�8
�����
���



 ���
�
�=:
�������=

��
�++,-.+;
���
����-
���
�������
����

���
�����
0-3
/���

�1���	��
���
:�;
���-
������
/���
�����������

�����
#+=
%�
�����-
�����
��
�1��
#
��

���
�����/���
���;
��

	����;
������
����

������
���������
����

��
�	�
��/��
�������

����
���
�����
���-
������=

���
�������
�������
����
��
������
���

�++,-.+
/���
�1���	��
���
.8
���������
>����

���
.;�)+
��������?
��
�8
���������
>#+.
��

.;�)+
��������?
�
#=0
�������=

P
 �������
����
���
%������
�����
����



 ������
��������
>���
�1��
.
��
���


 %�������?
��
�������
��
.8
���������



 >����
���
.;�)+
��������?
�
.�=)
�������



 ��
��/���
���
.J
>#++
��
����
��������?



 ���������
�
�=�
�������=


P
 �	��
���
���
!	�
����;
��������


 �������
����
���
%������
�����


 ��������
/���
�1���	��
���
.8;
#8
>0:



 ��
�++
��������?;
��
)8
>:)
��
��/��



 ��������?=

%��
�����
��5�
���������

 


 ���/��

�������
������
���
�8
>�+.
��
#++


 ��������?=

���
�1��
#
��
���
����
���=



P
 "�������
	�����
1���
��
!	�-���



 	����
��;
.8
���������
��
���
�������



 �������
���
���
%������
�����
��������



 �
.�=)
�������=

%������
�����
��������



 �4�
��
:=3
�������
��
���
.8
����������=




 %������
�����
��������
�	�

�������



 ���
���
.8
���������
���
��
����
���



 �����
�����
������
���
���
���
���
�����



 ��������
��
.8
���������
��
��
)


 ���������
������
������
���
���


 �������
���
���
%������
�����
��������



 ��
�8
���������=>���
�1��
.
��
���


 %�������=?

"������-
 "������-
 "������-

���������
����������

 8���
������
����������

 J-.�
���������

.�Q
����
���
�;)++
��������
 .8Q
����
���
.;�)+
�������
 .JQ
#++
��
����
��������
��Q
3).
��
�;)++
��������
 �8Q
#+.
��
.;�)+
��������
 �JQ
�,,
��
��/��
��������
��Q
#+.
��
3)+
��������
 �8Q
�+.
��
#++
��������
#�Q
.).
��
#++
��������
 #8Q
0:
��
�++
��������
)�Q
#.
��
.)+
��������
 )8Q
0)
��
��/��
��������
:�Q
#+
��
��/��
��������



111

��	� �*��	�����������������������	
���
�������
����
������!��
����
��
��
����

������
��
����
��������
��
����-1�-����

��������=

���
�������
��
����
��
�������

�����
����
����
��
1�
����
��
���I���-
����
/���
������
��
��
1����

����
������

����������
���
��
D��-����F
��������
���

���

�����!�
����
��
��������=

1/�������������$���
���
K�����
"�����
���
��������
���������

>K"��?
��	������

����������
���
�����
�

��������
������
������;
/����
�����5��
1���

�������
��
������
��
��
��
1�
����-
����
���
��
���������
�������;
1��
��6�����

��
����
����
���������	�
����=



���
�	����
����������
���
���
���
"���
��

�+.+
/�
3�=.
�������=
B�����
��

������


����	�=

������������������	������������!��������>	

�

$�	�� .�;.8 ��;�8 ��;�8 #�;#8 )�;)8 :� .J �J %��
�������

054��������! 
 


�++,-.+
��� +=�S +=�S +=�S +=�S +=�S +=#S +=.S +=+S +=�S

�++3-+,
��� +=�S +=.S +=#S +=#S +=#S +=0S +=+S +=.S +=�S

�++0-+3
��� +=.S +=)S +=:S +=)S +=�S +=+S +=.S +=�S +=�S

�++:-+0
��� +=.S +=�S +=3S +=�S +=�S +=3S +=�S +=�S +=�S

�++)-+:
��� +=.S +=)S +=�S +=.S +=.S +=+S +=+S +=.S +=�S


 


)-��
	����
��� +=�S +=�S +=)S +=�S +=�S +=#S +=.S +=.S +=�S




2���������! 
 


�++,-.+
��� #=0S #=0S �=)S �=)S �=0S 
 �=)S �=#S #=�S

�++3-+,
��� )=)S )=0S #=)S #=.S �=�S 
 �=,S �=#S )=.S

�++0-+3
��� )=0S )=)S �=0S )=.S �=+S 
 �=,S �=:S )=�S

�++:-+0
��� #=)S #=#S �=:S �=�S .=,S 
 �=�S �=+S �=0S

�++)-+:
��� #=#S #=�S �=,S �=#S +=0S 
 �=#S .=,S �=:S




)-��
	����
��� )=+S #=,S �=0S �=#S �=�S 
 �=3S �=)S �=)S

������������$$����� ����-�	�	���� �
""���������
(��
Q
������2>2>2>
��
T
�.��
TTT
���......>�>�>�-.-.-.?
?
?
T
�.++>+>�-�-�?�?�?
T

��,>�-�??

������C
��Q
���1��
��
�������
�����������		�		�������
�
� 
������������
�

 ������������
����� ������������


���
#
����
T
�������������
������������


��Q
 ���
��
��������
��Q ��������
..�;
..;
.+;
,
Q
����
��	��

�������C
����
�++,-.+
"���������
(��
���
&����
8����
�
�
��������������� ��
QQ
.+;�#,
�������
���
"���
��
�+.+
��	����
1�
>���;�)�
���������
�������
���
�	��
����
�����
����
.+;�#,
 ���-
���
���
���
"���
��
�+.+?
������������
1�
.++
Q
3�=.S



12

����
/���
�1���	��
���
%��;
B����
��
�����

��������
���
���
�++,-.+
������
���
�������

��
�++3-+,=

��������
����������
����
/���

�1���	��
���
����
��
%������
�����
���-
�����
���
���
�++,-.+
������
���=


1/��2�3��������	�+�4	�#	�

��2�4"
�	��������$���
 �������
���;
��!���
�
D���
���������
��

��������
/��
������
����
��������
������

/���

������
������
��
���
������
���-
1��
��
����F
>�=�=;
D��-����F?;
��
���
��6�����

��������
��������
���
��1���
����
�������
��

%*7
�������������=

&����'�
����
������

��������
���
��
�
��������
������
�����

���
1���
��
���
������
�����������
1�


����������
���
>3�=3
�������?
���
����

>3+=)
�������?=

���
����2������
���������
��

%���;
8������;
L��4;
��
7��!�
�������

��������
���
����
#=+
�������
��
���
�++,-.+

�������
��
)=#
�������
��
���
��������
�	��

����
����=

%�
/���
�������
����;
���
������-
����
����
���
�����
����2������
���������

����
��
	��
/�����
����
���
��
���=

���

"���
��
�+.+
����������
���
���
%������

�����
��������
/�
��������1��
��/��
���

���
�	����
����������
���
��
���
��
�����

��������;
�
����������
��
�1��
)
��
B�����

�=

%������
�����
��������
��

�����-���

	����
����������
���
��
:#=)
�������;
��/��

���
���
�����-���
	����
���
�����
��������

��
3)=#
�������=
��������
��������
����������


����	�8

���������������� �*��	��������	���**���

 ���
,


�++:-+0

 ���

.+



�++0-+3

 ���

..



�++3-+,

 ���

.�



�++,-.+

#-��

����-
���

����

�������	!�
�������

 �*��	�����
���	

,.	�����
�����

�#0 :�# :0. :.+ �;�)� .+;�#, 3�=.S

�	��	� 



&�� .,) ��, �0: �#: .;�): );.,) 3+=)S

B���� .)� �3) �,) �:# ,,: );.)# 3�=3S





���	5�
"��������





%������

�����

.�+ .#, .)� ... )#� ,++ :�=#S

%��� 





O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ .� .+� 3,=)S

8������ .� ., �. �. 3� �.+ 0.=0S

L��4 O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ �. :, 0:=0S

7��!�

�������

O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ �3 3�=#S

����� �++ ##� #0: #:, .;)33 ,;+#+ 3)=.S



133




���
K"��=

7�1���
����
�������
����
�	�


��������
���
���
���
D%��
��������
"��-
1����F
��1�����
��
�
����
3+
�������
��
�4�

�����	�����
��/��
����
���
��
����
����

��������=
&����'�
��������
���
��
����-
����
�����
���
������
��
���
1��
��
���
�����=

���
��!��
��
7�1���
�����������
����
%�&;
���

����/���
�������
����������
������;
��
�-
����
���
�������
��

������
/���
���
�������

������
,��
����=

���������
��
���
���/��
��

��	�
��������
����
�������=



���
"���
��
�+.+
%*7
 �������
(��
���

D%��
��������
"��1����F
/�
3+=�
�������=

>���
�1��
:
��
B�����
#
��
���
����
���=?

�����������
��������
����
��
���
����

���
�������������
��
����
��������A
��/�	��;

���
���
"���
��
�+.+;
���
%������
�����

��������
���
/�
��������1��
��/��
���

���
��
��
��
���
�������
������=

%�������

������
��
�������
��
���
���
�++,-.+

������
���
��
1���
���������
1�
���
�7�;
����-
	����
������
��
��������
%*7
�������������;

/����
���
�����
��
���
���
�+.+-..
������

���;
/���
���
1�
������
��
���
	��1��

�����
U���
�+..=

������� ������	 ���	�
� ������������
����


����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

	����

���  !����

�#��#����$�%$��$

&��'�

"���!!!!!!!!

6�+��	�<7�� �*��	��������	!

2�4��	��������$����-�	����
 �������
(��
Q
��
2>
��
T
��
T
�.��
T
�..>�-.?
T

�.+>�-�?
T
�,>�-�?
?
 

�����C

�Q
���1��
��
�������
�����	���

������
����
������


������
��
����
����
��
����
>����
���
����
��������
��

���
,��
����?
��
��
�
��7
���/���
���
����
���
����

����
��
������=
�Q

����������
��
����
������
1�
�����
����
�Q

���
��
��������
�Q

 ��������
.�;
..;
.+;
,
Q
����
��	��

������C
���
�++,-.+
 �������
(��
���
&����
7�1���
8���

�������
Q
,;3.0
D��-����F
 ������
���
"���
��
�+.+

��	����
1�
>�;�+�?
��������
�������
���
�	��
����
����

����
���
K��
D��-����F
 ������
���
���
"���
��
�+.+

����
,;3.0
D��-����F
 ������
���
���
"���
��
�+.+

����������
1�
.++
Q
3+=�
S



14

6�+��	�=7����������?������2�+���������'�?�
��������������	!�����'�������	��!� �*���	��
�������	5"���������/��������	����������"

����	�9

��������?������2�+���������'�?���������������	�������	� ��!!��������

��������  ������
�++,-.+

��1������  ���
,


�++:-+0

 ���
.+


�++0-+3

 ���
..


�++3-+,

 ���
.�


�++,-.+

#-��

�������


����

K��
��-
����


��-���� %*7
 �������

(��

%��
��������

"��1����

�#) :.# :#3 ),: �;�+� ��� ,;3.0 3+=�S




%������

�����

.�3 .#. .#. .+� ).� #. 3+0 ),=�S

%��� O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ .. O.+ ,) 3,=:S

8������ .� ., �. �. 3� O.+ .,) :0=,S

L��4 O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ �. O.+ :) 0�=�S

7��!�
��-
�����

O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ O.+ �) 3+=:S

����� �++ ##. #:) #:# .;)0+ .:3 3;:�+ 3�=�S

��


��

���

���

���

���

���

���

���

	��


���

(���)'�$���'*

�!!��'+��$'��, #-�$��

�#����$�%$��$

���$

���.$��

/!�0

1��2���%�!$���

&��'�



155

(����2	��!�?�	.	�������	��!����*�������+�,��@

%�
���
����������
��

�������	�
������������������������������������	����������
���
������
��	����

.+-

�����
���
��
������
���
���1��
��
��������
��
%�����=
�����
.+
������
��
������
��
���
!������
��

�����
������
/��4���
��
������
�������
����
��
�������
����
������
����������
����C

.?
�������
�������
���
�������
��
����������
������
�������
��
��������
��A

�?
8	�
����
/�����
����������
��
����
��
4���
���4
��
��
���	���
����
�������
��
��������



 /��
��
����
��4���
��
�������A

�?
7��	���
����
�	�����
��
�������
�������
���
��������
����
�
����A

#?

�������
������
���������
��
���	���
����	����
��������
����A

)?

��������
��������
����������
���
��������
���
��
��������;
���
I���
�����
1����
���
�������=

���



 ����������
������
1�
�����
������
���
�������
��
I�1
��
�������
����
/���
����
������A

:?

�������
�������
���
����������
��������
����
�
�����
����
�������;
�������	�
�������;
��


 ����	����
�����������
����A

0?

"�������
������
���
����������
��
��6��������
����
.:
��
.0
��
.3=

������
���
�++,
&����



 $�������	�
�������

1���
/�
����������
��
����
���
����������
��
��
.0;
1��
���
1���
/�


 �������=

%
1���
����������
������
���
�+..
&����
$�������	�
�������
��
����
���
����������



 ��
��
.3
/�
���
�������A


3?

�����
�������
��	��
�������
�������������
�
���
����
������
��	��
����
�
���
����������
��



 %�	����
7�������
>%7?
������A

,?

(������
��
�����/
1���
��������A
��;

.+?
&4�
�������
���	������

������
��������=

�	�	�	��	!�

%������
���
���������
��������;
&����
����
"��
>&���
�++,?=

����C22///=��#��=���21���V���V
������2�������2����V����������2�����
=

L��������;
U���=

D���
������
��������;
7��������	��
��
8���
������
��������;F
���������;
�"C
"�	��

















�����������;
$$";
�++:=

%���
	��1��
��
����
�
����C22///=��������������=���=

8�����;
"���=
D�������
(��4
B�����
��
��������
7������;
%
��������
(�����=F
"������;
�"C


K�����
�������
7��	������
"�����2K��/��4;
�++0=



16

&����
��!��
��
7�1���
�����������=
D&����
 �����
��
�������
��
"���������
8��1��4;F

>�=�?;
������1��
�++:;
����C22///=���=��=��	27�B2%�"2B*+02&�8�"���������&���=���=

D���
������
��������;
.+-7����
7��;F
����C22///=��������������=���2���������2�����=���;
�++,
+�
�#=

M=�=
���������
��
��������;
K�����
"�����
���
��������
���������
>.,,3?=
D���
"��������
��
����-
����
.,,3;F
>K"��
7�1�������
K�=
,3W+.�?;
1�
U���
����;
���
������;
U�������
�1��;
����
"���;
*����

L�;
U���
��������;
%������
 �����;
��
&�����
7����=
���������;
�"C
M=�=
 �	�������
7�������

��!��=


M=�=
���������
��
��������;
K�����
"�����
���
��������
���������=
>�++)?=
D������
��
��������

���������;
�++#;F
>K"��
7�1�������
K�=
�++)-+�#?;
1�
�����
�=
������
��
"������
&=
8�����=

���������;
�"C
M=�=
 �	�������
7�������
��!��=

���������
���������
��
7�1���
�����������;
DM�����������
�������
��;F
����C22���=/�=��	2���2
����V6<=����;
�++,
+�
�)=

'������������������	!����	!������	�(	�

K�����
"�����
���
��������
���������-
����C22///=����=��=��	2

K�����
�������
7��	������
"�����2K��/��4-
����C22///=����������	������=���2

M=
�=
"�����
L����-
����C22///=������=��	2�����=����

���
������
��������-
����C22///=��������������=���2

%������
���
���������
��������-
����C22///=��#��=���2



177

'��	���A

6�+��	��7������������	!�����	��	����������	!�0�4

�

������� ������� ������� ������	 ���	�
�
����

��
�

����

����

����

����

����

���  !����

��3���4 '!

5!�

6�#!�

6�+��	��7������������	!�����	��	������	!�����

�

������� ������� ������� ������	 ���	�
�
����


���

����

����

����

����

����

���  !����

���4 '!

5!�

6�#!�



18

6�+��	�<7��6�.	��	�������������	!�����	��	����������	

�

6�+��	�=7������������	!������	�	������	5"��������� ��	+���	!���������	!�0�4

�

6�+��	�87������������	!������	�	������	5"��������� ��	+���	!���������	!�����

� �

������ ������ �����	 �����
� �����

 �����
�
����


���

����

����

����

����

����

����

����

5!�

6�#!�

������� ������� ������� ������	 ���	�
�
����

����

����

����

����


���


���


���

���  !����

�#����$�%$��$

&��'�

�''�7���

������� ������� ������� ������	 ���	�
�
����

����

����

����

����


����


����


����

���  ! ���

�#����$�%$��$

&��'�

�''�7���



199

6�+��	�97��6�.	��	�������������	!��������	������	�	������	�"��������� ��	+���	!
�

������ ������ �����	 �����
� �����

 �����
�
����

����

����

����

����


����


����

����

�#����$�%$��$

&��'�

"���!!

6�+��	�07������������	!������	�	������	5"��������� ��	+���	!�����	��	������	!�0�4

�

������� ������� ������� ������	 ���	�
�
����

����

����

����

����


���


���


���


���

���

�#����$�%$��$�5!�

�#����$�%$��$�6�#!�

&��'��5!�

&��'��6�#!�



20

6�+��	�47������������	!������	�	������	�"��������� ��	+���	!������	��	������	!�����

�

����	��
6�.	��	�������������	������������!��������>	��������	��������

�

6�+��	��7��6�.	��	���'.	��+	�����������	!�����!��������>	� ��	+���������	�	������	5"���������
 ��	+���	!���������	!�0�4�

�

������� ������� ������� ������	 ���	�
�
����

����

����

����

����


����


����


����

���

�#����$�%$��$�5!�

�#����$�%$��$�6�#!�

&��'��5!�

&��'��6�#!�

�����

��	�
��

�����

�����

���������

������ ���	� �������

���������

�������

������	

����	

���	��

������	

����	

��	���

������	

����	

���������

�������

���������	

���	��

���������	

��	���

���������	

 �����	�

���������

�������

���������	

!� �"#$ %&'( %&!( %&)( !# *+ #* ),$%) -.,$)+ *!,)$% '&$(

)� �"#$ %&$( %&)( %&-( -% )' .+ -,#*) !.,#%+ )%,)$' !$&*(

-� �"#$ )&)( %&!( %&.( *+ !. '' ),))- !%,#') !-,.!+ !'&*(

*� �"#$ !&'( %&!( %&-( -! !* *' !,+'- !-,-%' !.,$)! !)&*(

.� �"#$ %&#( %&)( %&)( /!% /!% !. $%' .,%#! ',%'% !-&-(

'� �"#$ !&*( %&-( %&*( /!% /!% /!% #- !,!*+ !,)*# .&+(

!0 �"#$ %&)( %&!( %&!( /!% /!% /!% *$% #,-$) $,)). .&$(

)0 �"#$ %&.( %&!( %&!( /!% /!% /!% **% *,-!* *,+-# $&+(

!1 1� !-&.( *&*( .&%( #$. *,)*$ .,-#+ .,#+$ +#,-!% !%$,**# .&-(

)1 1� $&.( *&)( *&$( .). !,*%* ),%)* ',)!! --,'*! *),*+- !*&'(

-1 1� $&+( )&'( -&.( -*. *#! #$$ -,$+. !#,+#! )),'$+ !#&)(

*1 1� +&'( !&+( -&-( ..% *%- +*! .,#%% )!,*+$ )$,)#' )%&)(

.1 1� #&.( !&-( )&*( $+ #) !'' !,!$. .,-.* ',$-' !#&-(

!0 1� -&)( )&$( )&#( )' **% *$* $%* !.,+.. !#,#-. *&.(

)0 1� #&*( )&!( )&'( #' !+# )$) !,%)' +,*)) !%,$#- +&*(


) �) �) �) �) �) 
8 �8
����

����


���


���

����

����

����

����

��9��,'�� �*

�#����$�%$��$

&��'�

"���!!



211

6�+��	���7��6�.	��	���'.	��+	�����������	!�����!��������>	� ��	+���������	�	������	5"���������
 ��	+���	!���������	!�����




	!
�+
�
7�"
��
	�
�:
	�
�
�



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Special Education Report 2011

PRESENTER: Tim Harris
Director, Special Education Division
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: The report covers a discussion of the number of students with disabilities served 
through public education in Montana, the types of disabilities served, and the 
number of students per category.  The report also compares the funding sources, 
trends of participation of the funding sources over a number of years, and 
concludes with a description of the 20 performance indicators the Office of 
Special Education Programs in the U.S. Department of Education requires the 
states to address each year.  The data in the indicators cover graduation rates, 
dropout rates, disproportionate representation, preschool achievement levels, 
parent participation, transition services for high school students, dispute resolution 
information and timely submission of data to the federal government. These data 
are compiled by our five Comprehensive System of Personnel Development 
regions.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): None

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S): None



SPECIAL EDUCATION REPORT TO THE 
BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

July 2011

Denise Juneau
Superintendent

Office of Public Instruction
OPISupt@mt.gov

PO Box 202501, Helena, MT  59620-2501



ii

Table of Contents

Part 1- Students Served................................................................................................ 4 

Special Education Child Count and Student Enrollment................................................................... 4 

Student Enrollment Longitudinal Data Grades Pre-Kindergarten through 12 .................................... 5 

Proportion of All Students Enrolled in Public Schools Who are Special Education ........................... 5 

Student Identification by Disability...................................................................................................... 6 

Disabilities by Percentage of Total Number of Students with Disabilities .......................................... 6 

Part 2 - Funding............................................................................................................. 7 

Preliminary State Special Education Appropriation for 2011-2012 School Year ............................ 7 

Preliminary State Entitlement for 2011-2012 School Year ................................................................. 7 

Growth in Reimbursement of Disproportionate Costs ...................................................................... 8 

Number of School Districts Receiving Reimbursement for Disproportionate Costs........................... 8 

Instructional Block Grants and Related Services Block Grants ....................................................... 9 

Preliminary Instructional Block Grant per Student Allocation ............................................................. 9 

Preliminary Related Services Block Grant per Student Allocation ..................................................... 9 

Expenditures of State, Federal, and Local Funds Comparison by Year ........................................10 

Comparison by School Years 1990 - 2009....................................................................................... 10 

Percentages of State, Federal and Local Funds Covering Total Costs of Special Education .........12 

The General Fund ................................................................................................................................ 13 

Medicaid................................................................................................................................................ 13 

FY'09 Medicaid Payments to Schools .............................................................................................. 14 

Part 3 - Accountability ................................................................................................ 16 

Montana’s State Performance Plan.................................................................................................... 16 

Indicator 1 – Graduation Rates......................................................................................................... 17 

Indicator 2 – Dropout Rates.............................................................................................................. 17 

Indicator 4 – Suspension and Expulsion Rates ................................................................................ 21 

Indicator 5 – Education Environment................................................................................................ 23 

Indicator 6 – Preschool Settings....................................................................................................... 24 

Indicator 7 – Preschool Outcomes ................................................................................................... 24 

Indicator 8 – Parent Involvement...................................................................................................... 28 

Indicator 9 – Disproportionate Representation ................................................................................. 28 

Indicator 10 – Disproportionate Representation - Disability Categories...........................................30 

Indicator 11 – Child Find................................................................................................................... 31 

Indicator 12 – Part C to Part B Transition......................................................................................... 32 

Indicator 13 – Secondary Transition with IEP Goals ........................................................................ 33 

Indicator 14 – Post-School Outcomes.............................................................................................. 33 



iii

Indicator 15 – General supervision system (including monitoring, complaints, hearings, etc.) 
identifies and corrects noncompliance as soon as possible, but in no case later than one year from 
identification. ..................................................................................................................................... 33 

Indicator 16 – Percent of signed written complaints with reports issued that were resolved within 
60-day timeline or a timeline extended for exceptional circumstances with respect to a particular 
complaint. ......................................................................................................................................... 34 

Indicator 17 – Percent of fully adjudicated due process hearing requests that were fully adjudicated 
within the 45-day timeline or a timeline that is properly extended by the hearing officer at the 
request of either party....................................................................................................................... 34 

Indicator 18 – Percent of hearing requests that went to resolution sessions that were resolved 
through resolution session settlement agreements.......................................................................... 35 

Indicator 19 – Percent of mediations held that resulted in mediation agreements. .........................35 

Indicator 20 – State-reported data (618 and State Performance Plan and Annual Performance 
Report) are timely and accurate. ...................................................................................................... 35 

Appendices:................................................................................................................. 36 

Appendix A: ...................................................................................................................................... 37 

Appendix B: ...................................................................................................................................... 39 

Appendix C: ...................................................................................................................................... 41 

Appendix D: ...................................................................................................................................... 43 



4

Part 1- Students Served

Special Education Child Count and Student Enrollment

Public schools must make available special education and related services to all IDEA-eligible
(Individuals with Disabilities Education Act) students with disabilities beginning at age three and 
through age 18.  Services to students, ages 19, 20, and 21, are permissive. That means the 
decision to serve 19, 20 and 21-year-old students is determined by the policies of the school 
district board of trustees [20-5-101(3), Montana Code Annotated (MCA), and Administrative 
Rules of Montana (ARM) 10.16.3122].

Students with disabilities receive a wide range of services, including specially designed
instruction, transition services, assistive technology, and related services such as speech-
language therapy, occupational therapy, and physical therapy. Both the type and the extent of 
services a student receives are individually determined based on the educational needs of the 
student.

Analysis of the October 4, 2010, Child Count data (term used for the collection of student special 
education data) shows there was a decrease of 452 students from the previous year with the most 
significant decreases occurring in the speech-language impairment and learning disabilities 
categories. Analysis of the data also showed a significant decrease in the count of students 
reported in the disability category of emotional disturbance.  Factors affecting the decrease include
implementation of positive behavioral supports in general education and the positive effects of the 
implementation of over 100 Comprehensive School and Community Treatment Services (CSCT) 
programs in schools across the state.  Students are not required to be eligible for special education 
services to receive CSCT services.

15,000 
15,500 
16,000 
16,500 
17,000 
17,500 
18,000 
18,500 
19,000 
19,500 
20,000 

2000-
01

2001-
02

2002-
03

2003-
04

2004-
05

2005-
06

2006-
07

2007-
2008

2008-
2009

2009-
2010

2010-
2011

Child Count 19,313 19,262 19,269 19,466 19,515 19,259 18,557 18,158 17,645 17,213 16,761

This is a count of students with disabilities who have a valid Individualized Education Program (IEP) in accordance with IDEA and are 
receiving services indicated on the IEP on the first Monday in October.  The count includes students who are enrolled in public 
schools, publicly funded schools, residential treatment facilities that contract with the OPI to provide services to their students who 
are Montana residents, and students who are in private or home schools and are receiving services from a public school in 
accordance with a Services Plan.  
Source: Child Count Data Files (Opihlnntprd3/Share/SEDATA/BPE Report/July 2011 and Share/SEDATA/Data Manager/Data 
ManagerInformation/Child Count)



5

The disability category showing the most significant increase (7.27%) is Autism.  This is 
reflective of what is occurring nationwide.  Factors affecting this are the increase in numbers of 
students previously identified as having Autism and moving into Montana, as well as an 
increase in knowledge of how to more effectively identify children who meet the criteria for 
Autism as well as a consistent definition of autism over the past several years.

Montana’s Child Count (term used for the collection of student special education data) grew steadily
from 1996 through 2001.  From 2001 to 2005, the count has leveled off. Since then the count has 
decreased steadily.

In contrast, Montana’s public school enrollment has shown a steady decline since 1996.  Because 
of declining enrollment at the same time special education Child Count has either grown, remained 
steady, or since 2006 has decreased, the proportion of students served by special education has 
decreased. Since the 2006-2007 school year, the enrollment in Montana’s public schools has 
decreased by 2 percent and the Child Count has decreased by nearly 10 percent.  There are 
probably several factors involved here, but certainly the implementation of Response to Intervention
(RTI) in the schools is a contributing factor in the decrease.
Student Enrollment Longitudinal Data Grades Pre-Kindergarten through 12

Proportion of All Students Enrolled in Public Schools Who are Special Education

134,000 

136,000 

138,000 

140,000 

142,000 

144,000 

146,000 

148,000 

150,000 

152,000 

154,000 

156,000 

2000-
01

2001-
02

2002-
03

2003-
04

2004-
05

2005-
06

2006-
2007

2007-
2008

2008-
2009

2009-
2010

2010-
2011

Student Enrollment 154,875 151,947 149,995 148,356 146,705 145,416 144,418 143,405 141,969 141,807 141,693

10.0%
10.5%
11.0%
11.5%
12.0%
12.5%
13.0%
13.5%

200
0-01

200
1-02

200
2-03

200
3-04

200
4-05

200
5-06

200
6-07

200
7-

200
8

200
8-

200
9

200
9-

201
0

201
0-

201
1

% of Sp Ed Students12.5%12.7%12.8%13.1%13.3%13.2%12.8%12.7%12.4%12.1%11.8%

Source:  Montana Public School Enrollment Data (Published yearly by the OPI)

NOTE:  Percentage is calculated by dividing the special education student count for the year by the total student enrollment 
for the same year.



6

DISABILITY ABBREVIATIONS and Student Count 
for the 2010-11 School Year

LD Learning Disability – 6,756
SL Speech-Language Impairment - 4,141
OH Other Health Impairment - 1,754
CD Cognitive Delay - 983
ED Emotional Disturbance - 942
DD Developmental Delay - 655
Other  Total – 1,530

MD Multiple Disabilities - 567
AU Autism - 617
HI Hearing Impairment - 127
OI Orthopedic Impairment - 61
VI Visual Impairment - 63
TB Traumatic Brain Injury - 58
DE Deafness - 23
DB Deaf-Blindness - 14

Source:  Special Education Child Count conducted on October 4, 2010
Opihlnntprd3\Access\Division\SpecialEducation\SQLCC\tblcc Child Count 2011.

Student Identification by Disability
Disabilities by Percentage of Total Number of Students with Disabilities 
The categories of Learning Disability and Speech-Language Impairment represent two-thirds of all 
students receiving special education services (LD=40%; SL=25%). The number of students identified 
under the category of Learning Disability decreased by 338.  This decrease is the result of several 
large districts in Montana implementing general education interventions, including scientifically based 
instructional programs that reduced the number of students referred for special education. 

A U.S. Department of Education, 
Office of Special Education Programs, 
policy letter issued in the early 1990s,
and subsequent federal regulations 
finalized in March of 1999, listing
attention deficit disorder/attention 
deficit hyperactivity disorder in the 
definition for Other Health Impairment 
(OH) have resulted in a dramatic 
increase in this disability category
shortly after the change, but has 
leveled off in recent years. The 
number of students in Montana 
identified as OH grew from 177 
students reported in FY ‘90 to 1,754
students reported in FY ‘11.

The number of students identified as 
having Autism (AU) has also
increased substantially over the last 
10 years.  While Autism is considered 
a low-incidence disability category, the 
cost to address the needs of a child 
with Autism is high.  In the first year 
that students were reported under 
Autism in Montana (FY ‘92) only two 
students were reported. Subsequent 
years have seen steady increase with 
the most recent count (FY '11) at 617
students reported.

LD
40%

SL
25%

OH
10%

CD
6%

ED
6%

DD
4%

Other
9%

Disabilities by Percentage of Total Number of 
Students with Disabilities – 2009-2010 School Year



7

Part 2 - Funding

Preliminary State Special Education Appropriation for 2011-2012
School Year

Montana's special education funding structure distributes state appropriations in accordance 
with 20-9-321, MCA, based on a combination of school enrollment (not special education child 
count) and expenditures.  Seventy percent of the appropriation is distributed through block 
grants (instructional block grants and related services block grants), which are based on 
enrollment. Twenty-five percent is distributed through reimbursement for disproportionate costs, 
which is based on expenditures.  The remaining 5 percent is distributed to special education 
cooperatives to cover costs related to travel and administration.  The following represents the 
breakouts for FY ‘12. When final figures are available, the information will be forwarded to the 
Board and its members.

Preliminary State Entitlement for 2011-2012 School Year

Instructional Block 
Grant
53%

Related Services 
Block Grant 
Entitlement

17%

Disproportionate 
Reimbursement

25%

Cooperative 
Administration

3%

Cooperative 
Travel

2%

NOTE: The total payment to schools is less than the total appropriation.  A small amount of the appropriation is withheld to compensate for 
adjustments to ANB. Source: MAEFAIRS Qry Table SpecialEducation Dispro Cost and COOP SPED tables, created 06/2011

Instructional Block Grant $21,867,538
Related Services Block Grant $7,286,939
Disproportionate Reimbursement $10,402,411
Cooperative Administration $1,248,289
Cooperative Travel $832,193

TOTAL $41,637,370



8

Growth in Reimbursement of Disproportionate Costs
The proportion of the total state appropriation distributed in the form of reimbursement for 
disproportionate costs grew both in total dollars and in the number of districts receiving 
reimbursement for disproportionate costs through FY ‘01.  The funding for disproportionate 
reimbursement was revised in FY ‘02 to fix the proportion of funds distributed under 
reimbursement for disproportionate costs and shift funding back to instructional and related 
services block grants.   Today, any increase in funds distributed for purposes of reimbursement 
of disproportionate costs is due to an increase in overall appropriations for special education.

Number of School Districts Receiving Reimbursement for Disproportionate Costs

-

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

147 

249 
268 279 

321 

354 

308 297 293 283 289 283 281 271 264 265 257 

Source: MAEFAIRS Qry Table SpecialEducation Dispro Cost, created 06/2011



9

Instructional Block Grants and Related Services Block Grants

With the 25 percent limit on the proportion of funds distributed in the form of reimbursement for 
disproportionate costs, the block grant rates (per student expenditure) are no longer declining 
and are instead increasing along with increases in state appropriations.  This will benefit both 
schools and special education cooperatives.  State special education cooperatives are 
significantly affected since they are not eligible for reimbursement for disproportionate costs and 
the related services block grant is the primary source of funding.  This shift is supporting the 
structure of the funding model’s emphasis on block grant distribution of funds.

Preliminary Instructional Block Grant per Student Allocation

Preliminary Related Services Block Grant per Student Allocation

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Source: Source: GF Budget Spreadsheet, 06/2011



10

Expenditures of State, Federal, and Local Funds Comparison by Year

Comparison by School Years 1990 - 2009

NOTE: This table may differ from previously released versions.  Amounts are changed to reflect adjustments to trustees’ financial summaries submi

Source:  State - Special education payment amount provided by OPI accounting, which does not include reversion; Federal - Expenditures provided
report); Local - Expenditures from board of trustees’ financial summaries for special education allowable costs are reduced by the state payment am

Percentage Increase Over 
Base Year (1990) of Local 
Expenditures

Base 

916%
973%

1,020%
956%

1,055% 1,137%
1,230% 1,360%



11

Federal
The growth in expenditures for special education has become an issue of national significance. 
On a national level, attention has been focused on the proportion of federal support for special 
education. The most recent information (November 2005) we have on the federal share of 
special education costs (national average) is 18.6 percent of the national average per pupil 
expenditure (Senate Democratic Appropriations Committee). Although this is a greater 
proportion of the national average per pupil expenditure than in the past, the proportion remains
less than one-half the 40 percent level promised by Congress when the special education laws 
were first passed in the mid 1970s. If Congress were to fund special education at 40 percent of 
the national average per pupil expenditure, the level of funding would cover between 50 and 60 
percent of Montana’s special education allowable costs. This is due to relatively lower costs for 
special education in Montana, and the way the national average per pupil expenditure is 
calculated. 

In Montana, approximately $135 million were spent on special education in FY ’10, based on 
preliminary data.  This is a significant increase from FY ‘90 when approximately $41 million of 
state, federal and local funds were spent on special education.  Much of this increase can be 
attributed to inflation and an increase in the number of students served by special education. In 
FY ‘10, approximately $49.3 million of the $135 million Montana spent on special education 
came from federal revenue sources (approximately 36.5 percent). The increase in federal dollar
expenditures in FY ‘10 was due to funds from the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act,
which accounted for $18 million.

State
State appropriations for special education have fallen far short of the growth in costs.    During a 
period of increased costs, coupled with flat state funding throughout the 1990s, the state share 
of the total costs of special education has slipped from approximately 81.5 percent in FY ‘90 to 
approximately 31 percent in FY ‘10.

Local
The greatest share of funding for increased costs of special education has come from the local 
general fund budgets. Local school districts have absorbed the increase in costs of special 
education by increasing their contribution from approximately $3 million in FY ‘90 to 
approximately $44.025 million for FY ‘10. This represents an increase of over 1,100 percent in 
local district contribution for special education. In FY ‘03, for the first time since FY ‘90, the local 
expenditures for special education funding decreased.  This likely occurred because state 
funding increased slightly (3 percent) and federal funding increased by 29 percent. However, in 
FY ‘04, state funding leveled off and local expenditures again saw an increase. In FY '05 and 
FY '06, state funding increased; however, local expenditures also increased with FY '10 by just 
$75 thousand, comprising approximately 32.6 percent of the special education costs in 
Montana.

The above fiscal data for FY ‘10 is still in preliminary stages.  As final data are available, 
updated graphs and figures will be sent to the Board and its members.

For purposes of this discussion, “local funds” means special education expenditures from the
district general fund that are above the amount specifically earmarked for special education. 
The revenue source for these “local funds” includes both state base aid, guaranteed tax base
and local revenues. These “local funds” are generally perceived as local because they are 
drawn out of the general fund budget and would have otherwise been available for general 
education. This shift in the allocation of local funds has been a serious concern for schools and 
parents and has, for a number of years, created an atmosphere of competition for dollars.  



12

Percentages of State, Federal and Local Funds Covering Total Costs of Special 
Education
Over the years, the relative proportion of state, federal, and "local" funds covering the costs of 
special education has changed dramatically. State funding has remained relatively constant.  
Since FY '90, local districts have provided sizable increases in their contributions from "local 
funds."  Beginning in FY 2000, federal funds have also increased substantially.  As a result, by 
FY '06 the proportion of special education expenditures from state, federal and "local" funds is 
nearly equal.  

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

1989-90 1999-00 2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09
State Share 81.49% 45.07% 43.47% 41.42% 39.99% 37.17% 36.61% 36.54% 36.02% 35.65% 35.70%
Federal Share 11.38% 17.01% 18.53% 20.34% 24.69% 28.03% 29.54% 29.22% 28.49% 26.80% 26.62%
Local Share 7.12% 37.92% 38.00% 38.24% 35.31% 34.80% 33.85% 34.24% 35.49% 37.55% 37.68%

Percentages of State, Federal and Local Funds Covering Total 
Costs of Special Education

Source:  State - Special education payment amount provided by OPI accounting



13

The General Fund

Another way to consider the impact of state funding of special education is to compare the 
percentage of state support for the school district general fund budget with the percentage of 
special education expenditures from earmarked state special education funds. 

The percentage of special education expenditures in the general fund, coming from earmarked 
funds for special education, has slipped from approximately 89 percent in FY ’91 to 
approximately 49 percent in FY ’09. In the meantime, the state support of the general fund 
budget for all students has slipped from approximately 71 percent in FY ’91 to approximately 
63.8 percent in FY ’09. At one time, the state share of special education general fund 
expenditures was 18 percent higher than the state share of the general fund budget for general 
education. By FY ’10, the state share of special education expenditures was 15.1 percent lower 
than the state share of the general fund budget for general education.

This chart is provided for the purpose of illustration. The comparison is between special 
education expenditures for special education students and general fund budgets for all students.

The portion of the budget for all students that is not state share is comprised of local revenues 
(property taxes, non-levy revenues, and reappropriated monies). The portion of the 
expenditures for special education students refers only to earmarked state appropriations.

Medicaid

The Office of Public Instruction (OPI) and the Health Resources Division of the Department of 
Public Health and Human Services (DPHHS) have collaborated on a number of projects that 
have increased reimbursement to districts for certain special education costs.  Additionally, the 
collaboration has led to an expansion in school-based Mental Health Services.  The 
collaborative efforts were intended to expand Medicaid support of certain medical services 
provided by schools (e.g., school psychology, transportation, personal care attendants),
establish a program for administrative claiming, and reinstate a school-based mental health 
program known as Comprehensive School and Community Treatment (CSCT).

2000-
01

2001-
02

2002-
03

2003-
04

2004-
05

2005-
06

2006-
07

2007-
08

2008-
09

2009-
10

Series1 63.5% 61.6% 60.9% 60.5% 60.0% 60.6% 62.1% 63.5% 63.8% 63.7%
Series2 53.1% 52.3% 53.1% 51.6% 51.95% 51.63% 50.37% 48.70% 48.65% 48.62%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

State Share of Budget for All Students

State Share of Sp Ed 
Expenditures for Sp Ed Students

Comparison Between State Share of Expenditures for Special 
Education Students and State Share of Budget for All Students

Source: State - Special education payment amount provided by OPI accounting



14

Revenue to school districts has increased markedly as a result of the multiagency collaborative.  
Districts only receive the federal share of the Medicaid payment. A certification of match 
process is used to pay the state share of the Medicaid payment.  Therefore, all increases in 
revenue to districts have come without any increase in cost to the state's general fund.

Source: DPHHS, Health Resources Division
FY'06 Medicaid Payments to Schools

There are three programs that provide Medicaid reimbursement to districts: 1)  Fee for service 
provides reimbursement for special education-related services such as speech therapy, 
occupational therapy, and physical therapy (FY '09 payments to districts totaled $2,523,820.15);
2) Administrative claiming compensates school districts for some of the costs associated with 
administration of school-based health services such as helping to identify and assist families in 
accessing Medicaid services and seeking appropriate providers and care (FY '09 payments to 
districts totaled $1,129,299.85); and 3) CSCT services (FY '09 payments to districts totaled 
$18,475,051.56). (Source for data on payments: DPHHS, Health Resources Division)

While fee for service and administrative claiming generally provided reimbursement for services 
already being provided by districts, the CSCT program was an expansion of services.  The 
expansion re-established a school mental health program to help schools meet the growing 
need of serving children with serious emotional disturbance. The CSCT is a comprehensive 
planned course of treatment provided by Community Mental Health Centers in school and 
community settings. The CSCT services include: behavioral intervention, crisis intervention, 
treatment plan coordination, aftercare coordination and individual, group, and family therapy.  
Individualized treatment plans tailored to the needs of each student are developed by licensed 
mental health professionals in coordination with school staff. 

Serious behavioral problems can significantly interfere with a student's education and the 
education of others.  Community Mental Health Centers working in close cooperation with public
school districts increase the likelihood that education and mental health programs are better 
coordinated.  Because mental health professionals are present throughout the school day, they 
are available to intervene and redirect inappropriate behaviors and to teach appropriate 
behaviors and social skills at each opportunity.  This "real-time" intervention in the "natural 
setting" promises to have a major impact on improving the effectiveness of children's mental 
health services and the quality of the educational environment for all children.

84%

11%
5%

FY '09 Medicaid Payments to Schools
CSCT Fee for Service Administrative Claiming



15

In FY '09, 3,272 children received CSCT services from 232 teams of therapists located in 83
cities.  (Source for data: DPHHS, Health Resources Division)

Nearly all Medicaid reimbursements to districts for CSCT services are directly paid under 
contract to Community Mental Health Centers. Districts spend their Medicaid reimbursement 
from administrative claiming and fee-for-service on a wide variety of educational services.  



16

Part 3 - Accountability

Montana’s State Performance Plan 

The Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 requires states to submit a 
State Performance Plan (Part B – SPP) outlining efforts to implement the requirements and 
purposes of Part B of the Act, and describes how the state will improve such implementation [20 
U.S.C. 1416(b)(1)].  

The primary focus of the Performance Plan is based on three key monitoring priorities for the 
Office of Special Education Programs of the U.S. Department of Education:

1. Provision of a free appropriate public education (FAPE) in the least restrictive 
environment (LRE);

2. the state exercise of general supervisory authority; and 
3. disproportionate representation of racial/ethnic groups in special education and 

related services. 

Within each of the three monitoring priorities, performance indicators established by the United 
States Secretary of Education quantify and prioritize outcome indicators for special education.  
The state uses these 20 performance indicators to establish measurable and rigorous targets 
with which to assess performance of both local educational agencies and the state over the next 
six years. 

Statistical Methods Used

To ensure statistically sound data when evaluating the school district’s or state’s progress in 
meeting its established performance target, a minimum (N) and/or confidence intervals are 
applied to reduce the effect of small sample sizes on the determination of performance.  Results 
based on small sample sizes have a wider margin of error than those based on large sample 
sizes.  In other words, the larger the sample size, the greater the likelihood that the data are 
representative of the population and not due to random factors unrelated to student 
characteristics or educational programs, known as measurement or sampling error.  The use of 
the minimum N and confidence intervals is intended to improve the validity and reliability of 
target determinations by reducing the risk of falsely identifying the state as having failed to meet 
the target, based on measurement/sampling error.  

CSPD Regional Performance

Performance data for each CSPD region are provided below.  This includes performance 
indicators the state is required to publicly report.  District performance reports can be accessed 
using the following link https://data.opi.mt.gov/opireportingcenter/. Assignment of a specific school 
district to a CSPD region is based on the counties within the border of the CSPD region. 



17

Indicator 1 – Graduation Rates

The graduation rate for students with disabilities is a status graduation rate in that it utilizes a 
cohort method to measure the proportion of students who, at some point in time, completed high 
school.  For further information as to the formula used in defining the cohort used in the 
calculation, please refer to Montana’s State Performance Plan at 
http://www.opi.mt.gov/Programs/SpecialEd/Index.html.

The two tables below provide an evaluation of regional performance status (Table 1.3), and 
state performance status (Table 1.1 and Table 1.2) related to the State’s Performance Target 
for graduation rates.  These evaluations are based on the 2008-2009 school year.

Target data for FFY 2009 for special education graduation rates are provided in Table 1.1 
below.  The data used is for the 2008-2009 school year.
Table 1.1 Montana Graduation Rates for Students with Disabilities

School Year

Graduate Count for 
Special Education

Total Special Education 
School Leaver Cohort

Graduation Rates for 
Special Education

(a) (b) % = a/b * 100
2008-2009 813 1,086 74.9%

The data in Table 1.2 below demonstrates Montana’s progress in meeting its performance 
target for FFY 2009.
Table 1.2 Montana Performance Target Status for FFY 2009

School 
Year

Graduation 
Rate for 
Special 

Education

Confidence 
Interval –

High
Confidence 

Interval – Low

SPP
Performance 

Target for FFY 
2008

State Performance 
Status

2008-2009 74.9% 77.3% 77.2% 80.0% Did Not Meet Target

Table 1.3 Graduation Rates for Students with Disabilities for the 2008-2009 School Year

Indicator 2 – Dropout Rates

The calculation method used in this report is an event rate (snapshot of those who drop out in a 
single year) adapted from the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) at the U.S. 
Department of Education and is consistent with the requirements of the NCES Common Core of 
Data (CCD) reporting.

Dropout Rate calculation:



18

Dropout Rates are calculated by dividing the number of special education dropouts, grades 7-
12, by the number of students with disabilities, grades 7-12, enrolled in school as of the first 
Monday in October.

                      Number of special education dropouts, grades 7-12

          Number of students with disabilities enrolled in school as of October 1, grades 7-12

The data source and measurement for this indicator have been revised to align with the ESEA 
reporting timelines and dropout rate calculation.  There is a one-year data lag for this indicator.  
Therefore, data is from the 2008-2009 school year. Target data for FFY 2009 for special 
education dropout rates are provided in Table 2.1 below.
Table 2.1 Montana Dropout Rates for School Year 2008-2009

School Year

Special Education 
Dropout Count, Grades 

7-12
(a)

Special Education 
Student Count, Grades  

7-12
(b)

Special Education 
Dropout Rate
% = a/b*100

2008-2009 252 7,287 3.4%

The data presented in Table 2.2 below is used to assess Montana’s progress in meeting its FFY 
2009 performance target for the dropout rates of students with disabilities. The state set a 
target, based on a sample size of a minimum N of 10, of decreasing the dropout rates of 
students with disabilities to 5.1 percent for FFY 2009, within a 95 percent confidence interval.  
When assessing Montana’s progress in meeting its established performance target, a minimum 
N of 10 and a confidence interval are applied to reduce the effect of variability due to small 
sample sizes.

Table 2.2 Montana Performance Target Status for FFY 2009

School 
Year

Special 
Education 

Dropout Rate
Confidence 

Interval – High
Confidence 

Interval – Low

SPP
Performance 

Target for    
FFY 2008

State 
Performance 

Status
2008-2009 3.4% 3.9% 3.1% 5.0% Met Target

Table 2.3 Montana Dropout Rates for Students with Disabilities by CSPD Region, 2008-2009
School Year



19

Indicator 3 – Statewide Assessments

Indicator 3A – Meeting Montana’s AYP Objectives for the Disability Subgroup

Adequate yearly progress (AYP) is measured using Montana's required 3rd-8th, and 10th-grade 
criterion which referenced reading and math test scores, participation, attendance, and 
graduation rates. Each school's test scores are divided into 10 student groups based on 
race/ethnicity, economically disadvantaged, students with disabilities, and limited English 
proficiency. If any of the 10 student groups does not meet any of six AYP measurements, then 
the entire school or district is labeled as not meeting the federal AYP requirements.  Further 
information regarding adequate yearly progress can be found on the NCLB Report Card found 
at www.opi.mt.gov/Reports&Data/Index.html#gpm1_9.

For purposes of the IDEA – Part B State Performance Plan, states are required to report on the 
number of districts with a minimum N of 30 for the disability subgroup meeting Montana’s AYP 
objectives.  

The two tables below provide an evaluation of regional performance (Table 3.3), and state 
performance (Table 3.1 and Table 3.2) related to the State’s Performance Target for school 
districts meeting the AYP objectives for the disability subgroup.  These evaluations are based 
on the 2009-2010 school year.  
Table 3.1 LEAs Meeting Montana's AYP Objectives for Disability Subgroup Overall

School 
Year

OVERALL

Number of LEAs with 
a disability subgroup 
meeting Montana’s 

Minimum N size

Number of LEAs 
meeting Montana’s 
AYP objectives for 

progress for students 
with IEPs

Percent of LEAs 
meeting Montana’s 
AYP objectives for 

progress for students 
with IEPs

Indicator 3A 
Performance Target

2009-2010 56 10 17.8% 41.0%
2008-2009 68 6 8.8% 41.0%
2007-2008 70 31 44.3% 40.4%
2006-2007 56 28 50.0% 39.0%

Table 3.2 Montana Performance Target Status for FFY 2009 – Indicator 3A AYP Objectives

Table 3.3 Districts Meeting Montana's AYP Objectives for the Disability Subgroup



20

Indicator 3B – Participation Rates

Participation rates are calculated by dividing the number of special education students who 
participated in the Math assessment plus the number of special education students who 
participated in the Reading by the number of students in special education in all grades 
assessed times two.  This count includes all students with disabilities participating in the regular 
assessment (CRT), with and without accommodations, and in the alternate assessment (CRT-
Alt).  Note: The state performance target for participation of students with disabilities in 
assessments for the State Performance Plan under IDEA is not the same as used for the AYP 
determination.

The two tables below provide an evaluation of regional performance (Table 3.5) and state 
performance (Table 3.4) related to the State’s Performance Target for participation rates of 
students with disabilities in state assessments.  These evaluations are based on the 2009-2010
school year.
Table 3. 4 Participation Rates of Students with Disabilities in State Assessments

SPP 
Indicator

Number of 
students 

with 
disabilities
-all grades 
assessed

Number of 
students with 
disabilities-
participation 

count

Participation 
rate for 

students with 
disabilities

Confidence 
interval –

High

Confidence 
interval –

Low

SPP 
Performance 

Target

State 
Performance 

Status
3B.1-

Reading 8882 8440 95.0% 95.4% 94.6% 95.0% Met Target
3B.2-
Math 8882 8521 95.9% 96.3% 95.5% 95.0% Met Target

Table 3.5 Participation Rates of Students with Disabilities in State Assessments by CSPD Region

Indicator 3C – Proficiency Rates

Proficiency rates are calculated by dividing the number of special education students scoring 
Proficient or Advanced in the Math assessment plus the number of special education students 
scoring Proficient or Advanced in the Reading assessment by the number of students in all 
grades assessed times two.  This count includes all students with disabilities who scored 
proficient or above in the regular assessment (CRT), with or without accommodations, and in 
the alternate assessment (CRT-Alt).



21

Table 3.6 below presents the LEA review of proficiency rate data for Indicators 3C.1-Reading 
and 3C.2-Math for FFY 2009.

Table 3.6 Montana LEAs Not Meeting the FFY 2009 Performance Target for Proficiency

SPP 
Indicator

Number of 
students 

with 
disabilities
-all grades 
assessed

Number of 
students with 
disabilities-
proficient or 

above

Proficiency 
rate for 

students with 
disabilities

Confidence 
interval –

High

Confidence 
interval –

Low

SPP 
Performance 

Target

State 
Performance 

Status
3C.1-

Reading 8,453 4,118 48.7% 49.8% 47.7% 33.0% Met Target
3C.2-
Math 8,453 2,543 30.1% 31.1% 29.1% 33.0%

Target Not 
Met

Table 3.7 below provides an evaluation of regional and state performance related to the 
established performance target for proficiency rates of students with disabilities on reading 
assessments.  These evaluations are based on the 2009-2010 school year.
Table 3.7 Proficiency Rates of Students with Disabilities on Reading Assessments

Table 3.8 below provides an evaluation of regional and state performance related to the 
established performance target for proficiency rates of students with disabilities on math 
assessments.  These evaluations are based on the 2009-2010 school year.  
Table 3.8 Proficiency Rates of Students with Disabilities on Math Assessments

Indicator 4 – Suspension and Expulsion Rates

The OPI compares the long-term suspension and expulsion rates for students with disabilities to 
the long-term suspension and expulsion rates for nondisabled students in order to determine if 
there is a significant discrepancy occurring with respect to long-term suspension and expulsion 
rates for students with disabilities.

Long-term Suspension or Expulsion Definition



22

A suspension or expulsion that results in removal of a student, out-of-school, for 
greater than 10 school days or a student with multiple short-term (10 school days 
or less) out-of-school suspensions or expulsions that sum to greater than 10 
school days during the school year.  

Significant Discrepancy Definition
An LEA is determined to have a significant discrepancy if, given a minimum N of 
10, an LEA demonstrates a statistical difference in long-term suspension and 
expulsion rates for students with disabilities when compared to the long-term 
suspension and expulsion rates for students without disabilities, within a 99 
percent confidence interval.

The two tables below provide a comparison between the long-term suspension and expulsion 
rates of students with disabilities and the rates of students without disabilities used in the 
evaluation of significant discrepancy.

Table 4. 1 Montana Long-Term Suspension and Expulsion Rates for FFY 2009

School 
Year

Number of 
Special 

Education 
Students 

with Long-
Term 

Suspension 
or Expulsion

Special 
Education 

Child Count

Special 
Education 
Long-Term 
Suspension 
or Expulsion 

Rates

Number of 
Regular 

Education 
Students 

with Long-
Term 

Suspension 
or Expulsion

General 
Education 
Enrollment

Regular 
Education 
Long-Term 
Suspension 

and 
Expulsion 

Rates
2008-
2009 79 15,691 0.5% 357 125,800 0.3%

Table 4.2 Montana Long-Term Suspension and Expulsion Rates By CSPD Region for the 2008-
2009 School Year

The IDEA Part B State Performance Indicator and Performance Target address the percent of 
districts identified as having a significant discrepancy in the rate of long-term suspensions and 
expulsions for students with disabilities compared to the rate of long-term suspensions and 
expulsions of students without disabilities.  This is a compliance indicator meaning that the state 
performance target for every year will be 0 percent of districts will be identified as having 
significant discrepancy.

The table below provides an evaluation of state performance (Table 4.3) related to the state’s 
Performance Target for the percent of districts identified as having a significant discrepancy in 
the long-term suspension and expulsion rates of students with disabilities.  This evaluation is
based on the 2008-2009 school year. 



23

Table 4.3 State Performance on Long-Term Suspension and Expulsion Rates

Indicator 5 – Education Environment

The educational placement count of students with disabilities, ages 6-21, is part of the larger 
child count data collection that is conducted on the first Monday of October each year.  The 
IDEA Part B State Performance Plan requires that we report annually on the percent of students 
with disabilities, ages 6-21, for the following educational placement categories:

Regular Class:  Removed from regular class less than 21 percent of the day.
Full-time Special Education: Removed from regular class greater than 60 percent of the day.
Combined Separate Facilities: A roll-up of public/private separate schools, residential 
placements, and home or hospital settings.

The educational environment rate is calculated by dividing the number of students, ages 6-21, in 
a particular educational environment by the number of students with disabilities, ages 6-21, in 
the district.

The two tables below provide an evaluation of regional performance (Tables 5.2, 5.3, and 5.4), 
and state performance (Table 5.1) related to the state’s Performance Targets for the 
educational placement of students with disabilities.  These evaluations are based on the 2009-
2010 school year.
Table 5.1 Montana Educational Placement for FFY 2009

SPP 
Indicator 
Number Education Environment

Setting 
Count

Educational 
Placement 
Percentage

Confidence 
Interval-

Upper Limit

Confidence 
Interval-

Lower Limit
SPP 

Target

State 
Performance 

Status

5A Served inside the Regular 
Class >= 80% of the day 7,961 51.4% 52.2% 50.6% 50.5% Met Target

5B Served inside the Regular 
Class < 40% of the day 1,715 11.1% 11.6% 10.6% 11.5% Met Target

5C Served in Separate 
Facilities 286 1.8% 2.1% 1.6% 1.5% Target Not 

Met

Table 5.2 State and CSPD Region Performance Status for Indicator 5A

Table 5.3 State and CSPD Region Performance Status for Indicator 5B



24

Table 5.4 State and CSPD Region Performance Status for Indicator 5C

Indicator 6 – Preschool Settings

Data for this indicator was not reported in the February 1, 2011, Annual Performance Report 
due to revisions in Preschool Setting categories and definitions.  

Indicator 7 – Preschool Outcomes

This Indicator is designed to follow a preschool student longitudinally while the student is 
participating in a preschool program.  For purposes of this data collection all children who have 
an Individualized Education Program (IEP) AND are 3, 4, or 5 years of age participate in a 
preschool program.  For reporting in the State Performance Plan and subsequent Annual 
Performance Reports, there are two sets of data that the OPI will collect each year: 

1. Entry-level data for preschool students with disabilities reported for the first time on 
Child Count (initial IEP).

2. Exit-level and progress data for preschool students with disabilities who have reported 
entry-level data six months prior to exiting.

Indicator 7A – Positive Social-Emotional Skills (including social relationships)

The positive social-emotional skills outcome involves relating to adults, relating to other children, 
and for older children, following rules related to groups or interacting with others. The outcome 
includes concepts and behaviors such as attachment/separation/autonomy, expressing 
emotions and feelings, learning rules and expectations in social situations, and social 
interactions and social play.

Table 7.1 below presents the data for preschool children exiting the program during the 2009-
2010 school year.  The outcome data is presented as two Summary Statements for Indicator 
7A.  Table 7.2 below presents the data by CSPD Region.

Table 7.1 Positive Social-Emotional Skills (Including social relationships)



25

Table 7.2  Positive Social-Emotional Skills for Children Exiting in the 2009-2010 School Year

Analysis of target data indicates the following:
The five CSPD/RSA regions and the state have met the performance targets for both 
Indicators 7A.1 and 7A.2.
CSPD Region I-PESA and CSPD Region IV-RESA4U have a higher percent of children 
who substantially increased their rate of growth by the time they turned 6 years of age or 
exited the preschool program than the state’s 71.1 percent.
CSPD Region I-PESA has a higher percent of children who were functioning within the age 
expectations by the time they turned 6 years of age or exited the program than the state’s 
63.4 percent.

Indicator 7B – Acquisition and Use of Knowledge and Skills

The knowledge and skills acquired in the early childhood years, such as those related to 
communication, pre-literacy and pre-numeracy, provide the foundation for success in 
kindergarten and the early school years. This outcome involves activities such as thinking, 
reasoning, remembering, problem solving, number concepts, counting, and understanding the 

Total 
Number of 
Children

Number of 
Children

Percent of 
Children

Confidence 
Interval - 

Upper Limit

Confidence 
Interval - 

Lower Limit

SPP 
Performance 

Target

SPP 
Performance 

Status

State of Montana 387 275 71.1% 75.4% 66.4% 61.5% Met Target

CSPD Region I-PESA 24 20 83.3% 93.9% 62.1% Met Target

CSPD Region II-MNCESR 60 41 68.3% 80.5% 53.1% Met Target

CSPD Region III-SMART 92 62 67.4% 77.7% 55.0% Met Target

CSPD Region IV-RESA4U 109 84 77.1% 84.8% 67.0% Met Target

CSPD Region V-WM-CSPD 100 66 66.0% 76.3% 54.0% Met Target 

State of Montana 666 422 63.4% 66.9% 59.6% 60.0% Met Target

CSPD Region I-PESA 52 41 78.8% 88.6% 64.2% Met Target

CSPD Region II-MNCESR 112 77 68.8% 78.0% 57.7% Met Target

CSPD Region III-SMART 157 94 59.9% 69.2% 49.8% Met Target

CSPD Region IV-RESA4U 169 101 59.8% 68.8% 50.0% Met Target

CSPD Region V-WM-CSPD 172 107 62.2% 70.8% 52.7% Met Target

Outcome 7A: Positive Social-Emotional Skills (including social relationships)
Indicator 7A.1  Of those children who entered the program below age expectations in Outcome A, the percent who 
substantially increased their rate of growth by the time they turned 6 years of age or exited the program.

Indicator 7A.2. The percent of children who were functioning within the age expectations by the time they turned 6 years 
of age or exited the program.



26

physical and social worlds. It also includes a variety of skills related to language and literacy 
including vocabulary, phonemic awareness, and letter recognition.

Table 7.3 below presents the data for preschool children exiting the program during the 2009-
2010 school year.  The outcome data is presented as two Summary Statements for Indicator 
7B. Table 7.4 below presents the data by CSPD Region.
Table 7.3 Acquisition and Use of Knowledge and Skills (Including Early Language/Communication 
and Early Literacy)

Table 7.4 Acquisition and Use of Knowledge and Skills 

Analysis of the target data indicates the following:
The five CSPD/RSA regions and the state have met the performance targets for both 
Indicators 7B.1 and 7B.2.
CSPD Region 1-PESA, CSPD Region II – MNCESR, and CSPD Region IV-RESA4U have 
higher percents of children who entered the preschool program below age expectations in 
the area of acquisition and use of knowledge and skills than the state’s 78.7 percent.

Total 
Number of 
Children

Number of 
Children

Percent of 
Children

Confidence 
Interval - 

Upper Limit

Confidence 
Interval - 

Lower Limit

SPP 
Performance 

Target

SPP 
Performance 

Status
State of Montana 639 503 78.7% 81.7% 75.4% 70.0% Met Target

CSPD Region I-PESA 54 47 87.0% 93.9% 74.6% Met Target

CSPD Region II-MNCSER 116 101 87.1% 92.3% 79.1% Met Target

CSPD Region III-SMART 141 101 71.6% 79.5% 62.2% Met Target

CSPD Region IV-RESA4U 162 130 80.2% 86.2% 72.6% Met Target

CSPD Region V-WM-CSPD 162 120 74.1% 81.1% 65.6% Met Target

State of Montana 686 300 43.7% 47.5% 40.1% 32.0% Met Target

CSPD Region I-PESA 58 39 67.2% 79.8% 51.6% Met Target

CSPD Region II-MNCSER 120 51 42.5% 56.1% 29.9% Met Target

CSPD Region III-SMART 153 53 34.6% 48.1% 23.3% Met Target

CSPD Region IV-RESA4U 173 77 44.5% 55.6% 33.9% Met Target

CSPD Region V-WM-CSPD 178 77 43.3% 54.4% 32.8% Met Target

Indicator 7 B.2  The percent of children who were functioning within the age expectations by the time they turned 6 years 
of age or exited the program.

Outcome 7B: Acquisition and Use of Knowledge and Skills
 (including early language/communication and early literacy)

Indicator 7B.1  Of those children who entered the program below age expectations in Outcome B, the percent who 
substantially increased their rate of growth by the time they turned 6 years of age or exited the program.



27

CSPD Region I-PESA and CSPD Region IV-RESA4U have higher percents of children who 
were functioning within the age expectation by the time they turned 6 years of age or exited 
the preschool program than the state’s 43.7 percent.

Indicator 7C- Use of Appropriate Behaviors to Meet Their Needs

The use of appropriate behaviors to meet their needs outcome involves behaviors like taking 
care of basic needs, getting from place to place, using tools (such as forks, toothbrushes, and 
crayons), and, in older children, contributing to their own health, safety, and well-being. It also 
includes integrating motor skills to complete tasks; taking care of one’s self in areas like 
dressing, feeding, grooming, and toileting; and acting in the world in socially appropriate ways to
get what one wants.

Table 7.5 below presents the data for preschool children exiting the program during the 2009-
2010 school year.  The outcome data is presented as two Summary Statements for Indicator 
7C. Table 7.6 below presents the data by CSPD Region.

Table 7.5 Use of Appropriate Behaviors to Meet Their Needs

Table 7.6 Use of Appropriate Behaviors to Meet Their Needs

Total 
Number of 
Children

Number of 
Children

Percent of 
Children

Confidence 
Interval - 

Upper Limit

Confidence 
Interval - 

Lower Limit

SPP 
Performance 

Target

SPP 
Performance 

Status

State of Montana 337 247 73.3% 77.7% 68.3% 59.0% Met Target

CSPD Region I-PESA 25 19 76.0% 89.7% 53.6% Met Target

CSPD Region II-MNCSER 45 38 84.4% 92.7% 69.9% Met Target

CSPD Region III-SMART 77 54 70.1% 80.7% 56.9% Met Target

CSPD Region IV-RESA4U 104 77 74.0% 82.5% 63.3% Met Target

CSPD Region V-WM-CSPD 84 58 69.0% 79.4% 56.3% Met Target

State of Montana 666 456 68.5% 71.9% 64.8% 64.0% Met Target

CSPD Region I-PESA 55 44 80.0% 89.2% 66.0% Met Target

CSPD Region II-MNCSER 115 90 78.3% 85.5% 68.7% Met Target

CSPD Region III-SMART 154 104 67.5% 75.8% 58.0% Met Target

CSPD Region IV-RESA4U 167 98 58.7% 67.9% 48.8% Met Target

CSPD Region V-WM-CSPD 171 118 69.0% 76.6% 60.2% Met Target

Outcome 7C: Use of Appropriate Behaviors to Meet Their Needs
Indicator 7C.1  Of those children who entered the program below age expectations in Outcome C, the percent who 
substantially increased their rate of growth by the time they turned 6 years of age or exited the program.

Indicator 7C.2  The percent of children who were functioning within the age expectations by the time they turned 6 years of 
age or exited the program.



28

Analysis of the target indicates the following:
The five CSPD/RSA regions and the state have met the performance targets for both 
Indicators 7C.1 and 7C.2.
CSPD Region I-PESA, CSPD Region II-MNCSER, and CSPD Region IV-RESA4U have 

higher percents of children who have substantially increased their rate of growth by the time 
they turned 6 years of age or exited the program than the state’s 73.3 percent.
CSPD Region I-PESA, CSPD Region II-MNCSER, CSPD Region V-WM-CSPD have 

higher percents of children who were functioning within the age expectations by the time 
they turned 6 years of age or exited the preschool program than the state’s 68.5 percent.

Indicator 8 – Parent Involvement

The OPI employs a sampling methodology to gather data for this indicator that is aligned with 
the five-year compliance monitoring cycle.  Therefore, district performance for this indicator is 
only reported for districts monitored in the year in which data is being reported.

To report on this indicator, each of the survey respondents received a percent of maximum 
score based on their responses to the 26 items on the survey.  A parent who has a percent of 
maximum score of 60 percent or above is identified as one who, on average, agrees with each 
item; as such, the family member is agreeing that the school facilitated their involvement.

The parent involvement rate is calculated by dividing the number of respondent parents who 
report the school facilitated parent involvement as a means of improving services and results for 
children with disabilities by the total number of respondent parents of children with disabilities.  

The two tables below provide an evaluation of regional performance (Table 8.2), and state 
performance (Table 8.1) related to the State’s Performance Targets for the educational 
placement of students with disabilities.  These evaluations are based on the 2009-2010 school 
year.
Table 8. 1 Montana Parental Involvement Data

School 
Year

Percentage who 
reported school 
facilitated their 
involvement

Confidence 
Interval -
High

Confidence 
Interval -
Low

SPP
Performance 
Target

State Performance  
Status

2009-2010 72.7% 76.1% 69.0% 67.0% Met Target

Table 8.2 Results of Parent Involvement Survey for the 2009-2010 School Year

Indicator 9 – Disproportionate Representation



29

This indicator evaluates disproportionate representation of racial and ethnic groups in special 
education and related services that is the result of inappropriate identification.  

Measurement for this indicator, as reported in the Annual Performance Report, is the percent of 
districts identified as having a disproportionate representation due to inappropriate identification 
practices.  This is a compliance indicator meaning that the target for each year of the State 
Performance Plan will be 0 percent of districts have been identified as having disproportionate 
representation due to inappropriate identification procedures.

Definition of Disproportionate Representation
An LEA is determined to have disproportionate representation (under or over) if, 
given a minimum N of 10 and within a 99 percent confidence interval, an LEA 
demonstrates a statistically significant difference in the proportion of students with 
disabilities of a specific racial/ethnic group receiving special education and related 
services compared to the proportion of students with disabilities in all other racial/ethnic 
groups receiving special education and related services in that LEA.

Once an LEA is flagged for disproportionate representation, the policies and procedures of that 
LEA are reviewed to determine if the disproportionate representation is due to inappropriate 
identification.
Table 9.1 Montana Disproportionate Representation for FFY 2009

School Year

Number of 
LEAs 
Reviewed 
(a)

Number of LEAs 
Identified with 
Disproportionate 
Representation 
Due to 
Inappropriate 
Identification 
Procedures
(b)

Percent of LEAs 
Identified with 
Disproportionate 
Representation 
Due to 
Inappropriate 
Identification 
Procedures
%=(b/a)*100

SPP
Performance 
Target

State 
Performance 
Status

2009-2010 384 0 0.0% 0.0% Met Target

Table 9.2 District Review of Disproportionate Representation by CSPD Region

A review of the data above indicates the following:
Two school districts were identified as having disproportionate representation of 
racial/ethnic groups in special education.  Following a review of policies, practices, and 
procedures, there are no school districts identified as having disproportionate 
representation of racial and ethnic groups due to inappropriate identification 
practices.



30

Therefore, all CSPD regions and the state have met this state performance target.

The table on the following page provides information on the racial/ethnic group and type of 
disproportionate representation for the two school districts.

Table 9.3 Districts Identified with Disproportionate Representation

Indicator 10 – Disproportionate Representation - Disability Categories

Evaluation of district performance for this indicator involves the same multiple measures 
employed for Indicator 9.  Again, this indicator is a compliance indicator meaning that the target 
for each year of the State Performance Plan will be 0 percent of districts have been identified as 
having disproportionate representation in specific disability categories due to inappropriate 
identification procedures.

Table 10.1 Montana Disproportionate Representation in Specific Disability Categories for FFY 
2009

School Year

Number of 
LEAs 
Reviewed
(a)

Number of LEAs 
Identified with 
Disproportionate 
Representation 
Due to 
Inappropriate 
Identification 
Procedures 
(b)

Percent of LEAs 
Identified with 
Disproportionate 
Representation 
Due to 
Inappropriate 
Identification 
Procedures
%=(b/a)*100

SPP
Performance 
Target

State 
Performance 
Status

2009-2010 384 0 0.0% 0.0% Met Target

Table 10.2 District Identified with Disproportionate Representation-Specific Disabilities

A review of the data above indicates the following:
One school district is identified as having disproportionate representation of racial/ethnic 
groups in special education.  Following a review of policies, practices, and procedures, 



31

there are no school districts identified as having disproportionate representation of 
racial and ethnic groups due to inappropriate identification practices.
All CSPD/RSA regions and the state have met this state performance target.

The table on the following page provides information on the racial/ethnic group, disability, and
type of disproportionate representation for the identified school district.

Table 10.4 District Identified with Disproportionate Representation

Indicator 11 – Child Find

The OPI employs a sampling methodology to gather data for this indicator that is aligned with 
the five-year compliance monitoring cycle.  Therefore, school district performance for this 
indicator is only reported for districts monitored in the year in which data is being reported.  
During the compliance monitoring process, the OPI reviews a sample of student records for 
students who have been initially evaluated for special education services.  This review includes 
a comparison of the date of the school district’s receipt of written parent permission for 
evaluation to the date that the evaluation was completed to ensure that the evaluation was 
conducted in accord with the 60-day timeline.

The evaluation rate is calculated by dividing the number of reviewed IEPs for students whose 
eligibility was determined within the 60-day timeline by the total number of reviewed IEPs for 
students for whom parental consent to evaluate was received.  

The table below presents the state’s performance data for this indicator that was reported in the 
Annual Performance Report submitted on February 1, 2011.  This is a compliance indicator 
meaning that the performance target is 100 percent of children, with parental consent to 
evaluate, will be evaluated within 60 days unless there was an exception to the timeframe in 
accord with the provisions stated in Sec. 614(a)(1)(C)(ii).
Table 11. 1 Montana Performance Target Status

School 
Year

Number of 
Children for 
whom parental 
consent to 
evaluate was 
received

Number of 
children whose 
evaluations 
were completed 
within 60 days

Percent of 
children with 
parental 
consent 
evaluated 
within 60 days

SPP
Performance 
Target

State 
Performance 
Status

2009-2010 285 277 97.2% 100% Target Not Met

The following table presents each region’s performance status for the 2009-2010 school 
year.

Table 11. 2 CSPD Region Performance Target Status



32

Indicator 12 – Part C to Part B Transition

In collaboration with the lead agency for the IDEA Part C Early Intervention Program, the OPI 
collects data from specific school districts in order to evaluate performance for this indicator.  
Therefore, performance data reported are for those districts who received a referral for IDEA 
Part B eligibility determination from the IDEA Part C Early Intervention Program.  

The OPI receives child-specific referral data from each Part C provider that includes the name 
of the LEA receiving the referral and the date of the referral.  The OPI contacts each LEA to 
collect additional data, including the following: date of eligibility meeting, eligibility determination 
outcome, date of the initial IEP, and any reasons for delay if the initial IEP was not implemented 
by the child’s third birthday.

The indicator rate, the percent of children found eligible for Part B and who have an IEP 
developed and implemented by their third birthday, is calculated by dividing the number of 
children found eligible and have an IEP developed and implemented by their third birthday by 
the number of children referred by Part C to Part B for eligibility determination.

This is a compliance indicator meaning that the state’s performance target will be 100 percent 
for each year of the State Performance Plan.

The table below presents state performance data for this indicator as reported in the Annual 
Performance Report submitted February 1, 2011.

Table 12. 1 Montana Performance Target Status for FFY 2009

School 
Year

Number of 
children 
referred by 
Part C to Part 
B for 
Eligibility 
Determination

Children 
found eligible 
for Part B and 
who have an 
IEP 
developed 
and 
implemented 
by their third 
birthday

Percent of children 
referred by Part C 
prior to age 3, who 
are found eligible for 
Part B, and who have 
an IEP developed 
and implemented by 
their third birthdays

SPP
Performance 
Target

State 
Performance 
Status

2009-2010 155 92 82.9% 100.0%
Did Not Meet 
Target

The following table presents performance data by CSPD Region for this indicator.  

Table 12. 2 CSPD Region Performance Target Status



33

Indicator 13 – Secondary Transition with IEP Goals

In accord with OSEP instructions for the Part B State Performance Plan and Annual 
Performance Report, baseline data on this indicator was reported in the State Performance Plan 
for FFY 2009.

Indicator 14 – Post-School Outcomes

In accord with OSEP instructions for the Part B State Performance Plan and Annual 
Performance Report, baseline data on this indicator was reported in the State Performance Plan 
for FFY 2009.

Indicator 15 – General supervision system (including monitoring, complaints, hearings, 
etc.) identifies and corrects noncompliance as soon as possible, but in no case later than 
one year from identification.

The OPI has a comprehensive system of general supervision that includes a review of IDEA 
Part B applicants’ policies and procedures to ensure consistency with IDEA Part B 
requirements.  It also includes procedures for formal complaints and due process hearings and 
mediation, an Early Assistance Program (EAP) to resolve issues prior to their becoming formal 
complaints or going to due process.  It provides a compliance monitoring process based on a 
five-year cycle, and a focused intervention system based on selected performance indicators.

Each component of the general supervision system includes procedures for tracking data to 
ensure requirements and timelines are addressed in a timely manner.  Analysis of data from the 
2007-2008 school year shows that all timelines for due process hearings, mediations and formal 
complaints have been met 100 percent of the time.

Monitoring data for 2008-2009 was analyzed and reported in the Annual Performance Report.
Table 15.1 Montana Performance Target Status for FFY 2009

School 
Year

Number of 
Findings of 
noncompliance 
identified in 
FFY 2008 
(7/1/08 to 
6/30/09)

Number of Findings 
of noncompliance for 
which correction was 
verified no later than 
one year from 
identification

Percent of 
Findings of 
noncompliance 
corrected 
within one year 
timeline

SPP
Performance 
Target

State 
Performance 
Status

2008-2009 177 177 100.0% 100.0% Met Target



34

Indicator 16 – Percent of signed written complaints with reports issued that were 
resolved within 60-day timeline or a timeline extended for exceptional circumstances 
with respect to a particular complaint.

The Montana Office of Public Instruction received six written, signed complaints for FFY 2009
with two of those complaints withdrawn or dismissed.  Target data indicate the four remaining 
complaints had reports issued within extended timelines.

Table 16.1 Signed, Written Complaints for FFY 2009
Table 7,  Section A Written, Signed Complaints Number

(1.1) Complaints with reports issued 4
(b) Reports within timeline 4
(c) Reports within extended timelines 0

%=[(b+c)/(1.1)]*100 Percent of Complaint Reports Issued Within Timeline 100.0%

For FFY 2009 (2009-2010 School Year), 100 percent of complaint reports were issued within 
the specific timeline.  Therefore, Montana has met its performance target of 100 percent of 
written, signed complaints will have a final report issued within 60 days or within the timeline 
extension given for exceptional circumstances with respect to a particular complaint or because 
the parent (or individual or organization) and the public agency agree to extend the time to 
engage in mediation or other alternative means of dispute resolution, if available in the state.
Table 16.2 Montana Performance Target Status for FFY 2009

School Year
Percent of Complaint Reports Issued 

Within Timeline

SPP
Performance 

Target

State 
Performance 

status
2009-2010 100.0% 100.0% Met Target

Indicator 17 – Percent of fully adjudicated due process hearing requests that were fully 
adjudicated within the 45-day timeline or a timeline that is properly extended by the 
hearing officer at the request of either party.

The Montana OPI received eight due process complaints.  Of these, two were resolved without 
a hearing.  Six due process complaints were pending at the end of FFY 2009.  The OPI 
provides strong oversight of Montana’s due process system and monitors each phase of the 
system to ensure compliance with all requirements, including all of the timeline requirements 
related to due process complaints.
Table 17.1 Percent of Hearings Fully Adjudicated Within Timeline for FFY 2009

Table 7, Section C Due Process Complaints Number
(3.2) Hearings (fully adjudicated) 0

(a) Decisions within timeline 0
(b) Decisions within extended timeline 0

%=[(a+b)/(3.2)]*100 Percent of hearings fully adjudicated within timeline 0.0%



35

Indicator 18 – Percent of hearing requests that went to resolution sessions that were 
resolved through resolution session settlement agreements.

The Montana Office of Public Instruction had three hearing requests that went to a resolution 
session for FFY 2009.  Guidance from the OSEP indicates states are not required to establish 
baseline or targets until the reporting period in which the number of resolution sessions reaches 
10 or greater.  Therefore, Montana does not need to establish a baseline or targets for this 
indicator at this time.
Table 18.1 Percent of Hearing Requests with Settlement Agreements for FFY 2009

Table 7, Section C Resolution Sessions Number
(3.1) Resolution sessions 3

(a) Written settlement agreements 0
%=[(a)/(3.1)]*100 Percent of hearing requests with settlement agreements 0.0%

Indicator 19 – Percent of mediations held that resulted in mediation agreements.

For FFY 2009, the OPI had a total of four mediation requests.  Two were related to due process 
and resulted in a written agreement and one mediation request was withdrawn or dismissed.  
One mediation request was pending at the end of FFY 2009. Guidance from the OSEP 
indicates that states are not required to establish baseline or targets until the reporting period in 
which the number of mediations reach 10 or greater.  Therefore, Montana does not need to 
establish a baseline or targets for this indicator at this time.

Table 19.1 Percent of Mediations Resulting in Agreements for FFY 2009
Table 7, Section B Mediation Requests Number

(2.1) Mediations 2
(a)(i) Mediation, related to Due Process, with agreements 2
(b)(i) Mediation, not related to Due Process, with agreements 0

%=[(a)(i)+(b)(i)]/(2.1) Percent of mediations held resulting in agreements 100.0%

Indicator 20 – State-reported data (618 and State Performance Plan and Annual Performance 
Report) are timely and accurate. 

The OPI has consistently met designated timelines 100 percent of the time over the past five
years.  Data are reviewed and validation checks performed to ensure accuracy of the submitted 
data. 

Table 20.1 Montana Performance Target Status for FFY 2009

Total Score Indicator Percent SPP Performance Target State Performance 
Status

90 100.0% 100.0% Met Target



36

Appendices:

A.  Professional Development Unit Flow Chart and Acronym Dictionary

B.  School Improvement/Monitoring Unit Flow Chart and Acronym Dictionary

C.  Part B/Data and Accountability Unit Flow Chart and Acronym Dictionary

D.  Part B/Data and Accountability Monthly Task List



37

Appendix A:

Professional Development Unit
Acronym Dictionary



38

SPDG State Personnel Development Grant

RTI Response to Intervention

DI Differentiated Instruction

HEC Higher Education Consortium

UDL Universal Design for Learning

CSPD Comprehensive System of Personnel Development

MBI Montana Behavioral Initiative

ECPPD Early Childhood Partnership of Professional Development

CELL Center for Early Learning Literacy

AIM Achievement in Montana

SPP/APR State Performance Plan/Annual Performance Report

IEP Individualized Education Plan



39

Appendix B:

School Improvement/Monitoring U
Acronym Dictionary



40

IDEA Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 2004

AIM Achievement in Montana



41

Appendix C:



42

ADC Annual Data Collection
AIM Achievement In Montana—The statewide student data system which

includes the Special Education module
APR Annual Performance Report—The state's annual report to OSEP reg

the state's progress toward the targets in the State Performance Pla
EDEN Education Data Exchange Network—The portal through which states

submit data to the U.S. Department of Education
E-Grants The OPI's electronic consolidated grant application for all federal gra

that are subgranted to schools
IDEA Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
LEA Local Education Agency
MOE Maintenance of Effort—The federal grant requirement that grant reci

maintain expenditures of state and local funds at the level of the prev
year's expenditures

OSEP Office of Special Education Programs—An office within the U.S. 
Department of Education that oversees the implementation of the ID

SPP State Performance Plan
TA Technical Assistance—Assistance provided to Montana schools to e

the collection of valid and reliable data
UAT User Acceptability Testing—Testing completed on the AIM system to

ensure that programming changes meet the OPI requirements

Part B/Data and Accountability U
Acronym Dictionary



43

Appendix D:
SPECIAL EDUCATION

IDEA Part B/Data and Accountability Unit
CALENDAR OF DATES

Updated June 2011

July
Federal  Part B grant letter is received
o Final Allocation reports are prepared and posted on the Web site
o Memo is sent to coops/districts announcing final awards are available
o Any changes needed to E-grants sent to Linda Gardner
o Review and approve Part-B project applications

Validate Suspension/Expulsion Data
Validate Exiting Data
MOE program changes for coming year identified
Preparation for Child Count collection
Prepare form to collect Part C to Part B transition (Indicator 12)
AIM UAT on June mid-year release
Validate Preschool Outcome data (Indicator 7)
Prepare LEA Levels of Determination
Additional SPP/APR support as needed
o Preschool Outcomes follow-up 

Begin working on Assessment validations

August
Validate Suspension/Expulsion Data
Validate Exiting Data 
MOE program changes for coming year identified
Preparation for Child Count collection
Provide TA on Post-School Outcomes Survey (Indicator 14)
Data collection for Part C to Part B transition (Indicator 12)
LEA Levels of Determination published
AIM Training begins
AIM UAT on June mid-year release (should be in districts by mid-month)
Validate Assessment Data for EDEN reporting
Additional SPP/APR support as needed
o Preschool Outcomes follow-up (Indicator 7)

Data Training for school districts
Begin analysis of Graduation Rates (Indicator 1)
Begin analysis of Dropout Rates (Indicator 2)
Begin analysis of Suspension and Expulsion (Indicator 4)
Begin analysis of Preschool Outcomes (Indicator 7)
OSEP Leadership Mega Conference 

September
Preliminary work done on ADC collection of special education personnel 
data
Preparation for Child Count collection (opens last Monday of September)



44

AIM Training 
AIM UAT on patches
Additional SPP/APR support as needed
Dispute Resolution table compiled
Data Training for school districts
Part C to Part B transition follow-up (Indicator 12)
Begin analysis of Assessment data (Indicator 3)
Begin analysis of Child Find-60-Day Timeline (Indicator 11)
Begin analysis of IEP Transition (Indicator 13)
School Discipline application opens
o Assign usernames and passwords

October
MOE 
o Programming should be completed and tested by the first of the month
o Mid-month, attend meeting on MOE with all divisions 
o Mid month, start MOE and special education reversion calculations

ADC collection of special education personnel data takes place
Validate Suspension/Expulsion Data (submit by 11/1)
Validate Exiting Data (submit by 11/1)
Child Count collection open (last Monday of September to third Friday of 
November)
AIM Training for school district personnel
AIM UAT on patches
Additional SPP/APR support as needed
Data Training for school districts
Private School Child Count
School discipline collection TA
Preschool Outcomes data analysis (Indicator 7)
Begin analysis of Parent Involvement Survey data (Indicator 8)
Begin analysis of Part C to Part B transition data (Indicator 12)
Post-School Outcomes Survey (Indicator 14) 
o Calculate Response Rates
o Begin analysis

November
SUBMIT Dispute Resolution EDEN file by 11/1
SUBMIT Exiting and Discipline EDEN files by 11/1
Begin development of APR
Coop Membership Reports prepared and sent out
Certified Director report (from Kathleen Wanner)
MOE 
o Finalize calculations (MOE and reversion)
o Run preliminary MOE reports and post to Web
o Notify districts that failed to maintain effort
o Review applications for MOE exceptions

ADC follow-up
Child Count 
o Follow-up (closes third Friday of November)



45

o Begin validations
AIM Training 
AIM UAT on patches
Additional SPP/APR support as needed
Data Training for school districts
School discipline collection TA
Begin analysis of Dispute Resolution data
o Complaints (Indicator 16)
o Hearings (Indicator 17)
o Resolution sessions (Indicator 18)
o Mediations (Indicator 19)

December
SUBMIT Assessment Data EDEN files 12/15
Validate Child Count Data (due first Wednesday of February)
SPP/APR support (due 2/1)
Validate Personnel Data
Coop membership report follow-up
AIM UAT on patches
School discipline collection TA
Begin analysis of Findings – (Indicator 15)
Begin analysis of Timely, Valid, Reliable Data (Indicator 20)

January
Validate Child Count Data
SPP/APR support
Validate Personnel Data
Coop membership report follow-up
AIM UAT on December release
School discipline collection TA
Finish analysis of Indicators for SPP/APR
Complete APR and revisions to SPP

February
SUBMIT Child Count EDEN file and SPP/APR
Begin work on preliminary Allocations
Begin work on Final MOE Reports
Begin looking at changes for exiting
Begin looking at changes for school discipline
Validate Personnel Data
AIM UAT on December release
School discipline collection TA
Complete Annual Application for Funds Under Part B of the IDEA
o Post completed application for public comment

March
Begin looking at changes for exiting
Begin looking at changes for school discipline
Final MOE reports are sent out and posted to the OPI Web site



46

Prepare annual report to the Board of Public Education
Calculate Disproportionate Representation (Indicators 9 and 10)
Calculate Significant Disproportionality
Begin work on preliminary Allocations
AIM UAT on patches
School discipline collection TA

April
Prepare for exiting
o Work with programmer to get necessary changes made
o Test program

Prepare for school discipline
o Work with programmer to get necessary changes made
o Test program

Prepare annual report to the Board of Public Education
Preliminary Allocations published
E-Grants file upload QA
School discipline collection TA
AIM UAT on patches
SPP/APR Opportunity for Clarification
SUBMIT Annual Application for Funds Under the IDEA

May
Exiting opens
School Discipline  application opens for submission 
School discipline application TA
AIM UAT on patches
E-Grants application opens
Test District Public Report

June
School Discipline and Exiting applications open (close 6/30)
AIM UAT on patches
School discipline application TA
Exiting application TA
District Public Report Posted to Web (6/1)
Begin work on Assessment validations
Begin Child Count Preparation
o Work with programmer to get necessary changes made
o Test program



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Montana K-12 Content Standards in English Language Arts and Literacy in 
History/Social Studies, Science and Technical Subjects and Mathematics

PRESENTER: Kris Goyins
Communication Arts Curriculum Specialist
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: The Office of Public Instruction will present to the Montana Board of Public 
Education an update on the progress toward adoption of the Common Core State 
Standards for English Language Arts and Mathematics.  This presentation 
includes the following documents: (1.) The proposed Montana K-12 Content 
Standards in English Language Arts and Literacy in History/Social Studies, 
Science and Technical Subjects and Mathematics with embedded Indian 
Education for All content; and (2.) The proposed timeline for adoption of 
Montana K-12 Content Standards in English Language Arts and Literacy in 
History/Social Studies, Science and Technical Subjects and Mathematics.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): None

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S): None



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  

2011 MONTANA K-12

CONTENT STANDARDS

FOR

ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS 

AND LITERACY IN 

HISTORY/SOCIAL STUDIES, 

SCIENCE, AND TECHNICAL 

SUBJECTS
 

 



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 1

Introduction..................................................................................................................................... 2 

Key Design Considerations............................................................................................................. 3 

Students Who are College and Career Ready in Reading, Writing, Speaking, Listening, and 
Language......................................................................................................................................... 8 

How to Read This Document.......................................................................................................... 9 

Key Features of the Standards ...................................................................................................... 10 

College and Career Readiness Anchor Standards......................................................................... 12 

Kindergarten ................................................................................................................................. 15 

Grade 1.......................................................................................................................................... 18 

Grade 2.......................................................................................................................................... 21 

Grade 3.......................................................................................................................................... 24 

Grade 4.......................................................................................................................................... 28 

Grade 5.......................................................................................................................................... 32 

Grade 6.......................................................................................................................................... 36 

Standard 10: Range, Quality, and Complexity of Student Reading K–5...................................... 40 

Grade 7.......................................................................................................................................... 41 

Grade 8.......................................................................................................................................... 45 

Grades 9-10................................................................................................................................... 49 

Grades 11-12................................................................................................................................. 53 

Standard 10: Range, Quality, and Complexity of Student Reading 6–12 .................................... 58 

Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science and Technical Subjects............................................ 59 

Grades 6-8..................................................................................................................................... 59 

Grades 9-10................................................................................................................................... 62 

Grades 11-12................................................................................................................................. 65 

 
 



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 2

Introduction 
The Common Core State Standards for English Language Arts and Literacy in History/Social Studies, 
Science, and Technical Subjects (“the Standards”) are the culmination of an extended, broad-based effort 
to fulfill the charge issued by the states to create the next generation of K–12 standards in order to help 
ensure that all students are college and career ready in literacy no later than the end of high school.

The present work, led by the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) and the National 
Governors Association (NGA), builds on the foundation laid by states in their decades-long work on 
crafting high-quality education standards. The Standards also draw on the most important international 
models as well as research and input from numerous sources, including state departments of education, 
scholars, assessment developers, professional organizations, educators from kindergarten through college, 
and parents, students, and other members of the public. In their design and content, refined through 
successive drafts and numerous rounds of feedback, the Standards represent a synthesis of the best 
elements of standards-related work to date and an important advance over that previous work.

As specified by CCSSO and NGA, the Standards are (1) research and evidence based, (2) aligned with 
college and work expectations, (3) rigorous, and (4) internationally benchmarked. A particular standard 
was included in the document only when the best available evidence indicated that its mastery was 
essential for college and career readiness in a twenty-first-century, globally competitive society. The 
Standards are intended to be a living work: as new and better evidence emerges, the Standards will be 
revised accordingly.

The Standards are an extension of a prior initiative led by CCSSO and NGA to develop College and 
Career Readiness (CCR) standards in reading, writing, speaking, listening, and language as well as in 
mathematics. The CCR Reading, Writing, and Speaking and Listening Standards, released in draft form in 
September 2009, serve, in revised form, as the backbone for the present document. Grade-specific K–12
standards in reading, writing, speaking, listening, and language translate the broad (and, for the earliest 
grades, seemingly distant) aims of the CCR standards into age- and attainment-appropriate terms.

The Standards set requirements not only for English language arts (ELA) but also for literacy in 
history/social studies, science, and technical subjects. Just as students must learn to read, write, speak, 
listen, and use language effectively in a variety of content areas, so too must the Standards specify the 
literacy skills and understandings required for college and career readiness in multiple disciplines. 
Literacy standards for grade 6 and above are predicated on teachers of ELA, history/social studies, 
science, and technical subjects using their content area expertise to help students meet the particular 
challenges of reading, writing, speaking, listening, and language in their respective fields. It is important 
to note that the 6–12 literacy standards in history/social studies, science, and technical subjects are not 
meant to replace content standards in those areas but rather to supplement them. States may incorporate 
these standards into their standards for those subjects or adopt them as content area literacy standards.

The Montana Content Standards for English language arts reflect the constitutional mandate that all 
educators must provide instruction including the distinct and unique heritage and contemporary 
contributions of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 3

As a natural outgrowth of meeting the charge to define college and career readiness, the Standards also 
lay out a vision of what it means to be a literate person in the twenty-first century. Indeed, the skills and 
understandings students are expected to demonstrate have wide applicability outside the classroom or 
workplace. Students who meet the Standards readily undertake the close, attentive reading that is at the 
heart of understanding and enjoying complex works of literature. They habitually perform the critical 
reading necessary to pick carefully through the staggering amount of information available today in print 
and digitally. They actively seek the wide, deep, and thoughtful engagement with high-quality literary and 
informational texts that builds knowledge, enlarges experience, and broadens worldviews. They 
familiarize themselves with varied literary perspectives, including those by and about American Indians, 
to gain a better understanding of themselves and their fellow citizens. They reflexively demonstrate the 
cogent reasoning and use of evidence that is essential to both private deliberation and responsible 
citizenship in a democratic republic. In short, students who meet the Standards develop the skills in 
reading, writing, speaking, and listening that are the foundation for any creative and purposeful 
expression in language.   

Key Design Considerations 

CCR and grade-specific standards

The CCR standards anchor the document and define general, cross-disciplinary literacy expectations that 
must be met for students to be prepared to enter college and workforce training programs ready to 
succeed. The K–12 grade-specific standards define end-of-year expectations and a cumulative progression 
designed to enable students to meet college and career readiness expectations no later than the end of high 
school. The CCR and high school (grades 9–12) standards work in tandem to define the college and 
career readiness line—the former providing broad standards, the latter providing additional specificity. 
Hence, both should be considered when developing college and career readiness assessments.

Students advancing through the grades are expected to meet each year’s grade-specific standards, retain 
or further develop skills and understandings mastered in preceding grades, and work steadily toward 
meeting the more general expectations described by the CCR standards.

Pursuant to Article X Sect 1(2) of the Constitution of the state of Montana and statutes §20-1-501 and §20-9-
309 2(c) MCA, the implementation of these standards must incorporate the distinct and unique cultural 
heritage of Montana American Indians.  



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 4

Grade levels for K–8; grade bands for 9–10 and 11–12
The Standards use individual grade levels in kindergarten through grade 8 to provide useful specificity; 
the Standards use two-year bands in grades 9-12 to allow schools, districts, and states flexibility in high 
school course design.

A focus on the results rather than means

By emphasizing required achievements, the Standards leave room for teachers, curriculum developers, 
and states to determine how those goals should be reached and what additional topics should be 
addressed. Thus, the Standards do not mandate such things as a particular writing process or the full range 
of metacognitive strategies that students may need to monitor and direct their thinking and learning. 
Teachers are thus free to provide students with whatever tools and knowledge their professional judgment 
and experience identify as most helpful for meeting the goals set out in the Standards. Montana teachers 
can use American Indian topics, resources, and literature to meet standards, even where Indian Education 
for All is not specifically mentioned.

An integrated model of literacy
Although the Standards are divided into Reading, Writing, Speaking and Listening, and Language strands 
for conceptual clarity, the processes of communication are closely connected, as reflected throughout this 
document. For example, Writing standard 9 requires that students be able to write about what they read. 
Likewise, Speaking and Listening standard 4 sets the expectation that students will share findings from 
their research.

Research and media skills blended into the Standards as a whole
To be ready for college, workforce training, and life in a technological society, students need the ability to 
gather, comprehend, evaluate, synthesize, and report on information and ideas, to conduct original 
research in order to answer questions or solve problems, and to analyze and create a high volume and 
extensive range of print and nonprint texts in media forms old and new.  The need to conduct research and 
to produce and consume media is embedded into every aspect of today’s curriculum.  In like fashion, 
research and media skills and understanding are embedded throughout the Standards rather than treated in 
a separate section.

Shared responsibility for students’ literacy development
The Standards insist that instruction in reading, writing, speaking, listening, and language be a shared 
responsibility within the school. The K–5 standards include expectations for reading, writing, speaking, 
listening, and language applicable to a range of subjects, including but not limited to ELA. The grades 6–
12 standards are divided into two sections, one for ELA and the other for history/social studies, science, 
and technical subjects. This division reflects the unique, time-honored place of ELA teachers in 
developing students’ literacy skills while at the same time recognizing that teachers in other areas must 
have a role in this development as well.



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 5

Part of the motivation behind the interdisciplinary approach to literacy promulgated by the Standards is 
extensive research establishing the need for college and career ready students to be proficient in reading 
complex informational text independently in a variety of content areas. Most of the required reading in 
college and workforce training programs is informational in structure and challenging in content; 
postsecondary education programs typically provide students with both a higher volume of such reading 
than is generally required in K–12 schools and comparatively little scaffolding.

The Standards are not alone in calling for a special emphasis on informational text. The 2009 reading 
framework of the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) requires a high and increasing 
proportion of informational text on its assessment as students advance through the grades.

Distribution of Literary and Informational Passages by Grade in the 2009 NAEP 
Reading Framework

GGrade Literary   Informational 

4 50% 50% 

8 45% 55% 

12 30% 70% 

 

Source: National Assessment Governing Board. (2008). Reading framework for the 2009 National Assessment of Educational 
Progress. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 

The Standards aim to align instruction with this framework so that many more students than at present 
can meet the requirements of college and career readiness. In K–5, the Standards follow NAEP’s lead in 
balancing the reading of literature with the reading of informational texts, including texts in history/social 
studies, science, and technical subjects. In accord with NAEP’s growing emphasis on informational texts 
in the higher grades, the Standards demand that a significant amount of reading of informational texts 
take place in and outside the ELA classroom. Fulfilling the Standards for 6–12 ELA requires much 
greater attention to a specific category of informational text—literary nonfiction—than has been 
traditional. Because the ELA classroom must focus on literature (stories, drama, and poetry) as well as 
literary nonfiction, a great deal of informational reading in grades 6–12 must take place in other classes if 
the NAEP assessment framework is to be matched instructionally.1

NAEP likewise outlines a distribution across the grades of the core purposes and types of student writing. 
The 2011 NAEP framework, like the Standards, cultivates the development of three mutually reinforcing 
writing capacities: writing to persuade, to explain, and to convey real or imagined experience. Evidence 

To measure students’ growth toward 
college and career readiness, assessments aligned with the Standards should adhere to the distribution of 
texts across grades cited in the NAEP framework.

1 The percentages on the table reflect the sum of student reading, not just reading in ELA settings. Teachers of senior English
classes, for example, are not required to devote 70 percent of reading to informational texts. Rather, 70 percent of student reading 
across the grade should be informational.



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 6

concerning the demands of college and career readiness gathered during development of the Standards 
concurs with NAEP’s shifting emphases: standards for grades 9–12 describe writing in all three forms, 
but, consistent with NAEP, the overwhelming focus of writing throughout high school should be on 
arguments and informative/explanatory texts.2

Distribution of Communicative Purposes by Grade
in the 2011 NAEP Writing Framework

GGrade To Persuade  
To 

Explain 
To Convey 
Experience 

4 30% 35% 35% 

8 35% 35% 30% 

12 40% 40% 20% 

Source: National Assessment Governing Board. (2007). Writing framework for the 2011 National Assessment of 
Educational Progress, pre-publication edition. Iowa City, IA: ACT, Inc.

 

It follows that writing assessments aligned with the Standards should adhere to the distribution of writing 
purposes across grades outlined by NAEP.

Focus and coherence in instruction and assessment
While the Standards delineate specific expectations in reading, writing, speaking, listening, and language, 
each standard need not be a separate focus for instruction and assessment. Often, several standards can be 
addressed by a single rich task. For example, when editing writing, students address Writing standard 5 
(“Develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new 
approach”) as well as Language standards 1–3 (which deal with conventions of standard English and 
knowledge of language). When drawing evidence from literary and informational texts per Writing 
standard 9, students are also demonstrating their comprehension skill in relation to specific standards in 
Reading. When discussing something they have read or written, students are also demonstrating their 
speaking and listening skills. The CCR anchor standards themselves provide another source of focus and 
coherence. 

The same ten CCR anchor standards for Reading apply to both literary and informational texts, including 
texts in history/social studies, science, and technical subjects. The ten CCR anchor standards for Writing 
cover numerous text types and subject areas. This means that students can develop mutually reinforcing 
skills and exhibit mastery of standards for reading and writing across a range of texts and classrooms.

2 As with reading, the percentages in the table reflect the sum of student writing, not just writing in ELA settings. 



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 7

What is not covered by the Standards
The Standards should be recognized for what they are not as well as what they are. The most important 
intentional design limitations are as follows:

1) The Standards define what all students are expected to know and be able to do, not how 
teachers should teach. For instance, the use of play with young children is not specified by the 
Standards, but it is welcome as a valuable activity in its own right and as a way to help students 
meet the expectations in this document. Furthermore, while the Standards make references to 
some particular forms of content, including mythology, foundational U.S. documents, and 
Shakespeare, they do not—indeed, cannot—enumerate all or even most of the content that 
students should learn. The Standards must therefore be complemented by a well-developed, 
content-rich curriculum consistent with the expectations laid out in this document.

2) While the Standards focus on what is most essential, they do not describe all that can or should
be taught. A great deal is left to the discretion of teachers and curriculum developers. The aim 
of the Standards is to articulate the fundamentals, not to set out an exhaustive list or a set of 
restrictions that limits what can be taught beyond what is specified herein.

3) The Standards do not define the nature of advanced work for students who meet the Standards 
prior to the end of high school. For those students, advanced work in such areas as literature, 
composition, language, and journalism should be available. This work should provide the next 
logical step up from the college and career readiness baseline established here.

4) The Standards set grade-specific standards but do not define the intervention methods or 
materials necessary to support students who are well below or well above grade-level 
expectations. No set of grade-specific standards can fully reflect the great variety in abilities, 
needs, learning rates, and achievement levels of students in any given classroom. However, the 
Standards do provide clear signposts along the way to the goal of college and career readiness 
for all students.

5) It is also beyond the scope of the Standards to define the full range of supports appropriate for 
English language learners and for students with special needs. At the same time, all students 
must have the opportunity to learn and meet the same high standards if they are to access the 
knowledge and skills necessary in their post–high school lives. 

Each grade will include students who are still acquiring English. For those students, it 
is possible to meet the standards in reading, writing, speaking, and listening without displaying 
native-like control of conventions and vocabulary.

The Standards should also be read as allowing for the widest possible range of students to 
participate fully from the outset and as permitting appropriate accommodations to ensure
maximum participation of students with special education needs. For example, for students with 
disabilities reading should allow for the use of Braille, screen-reader technology, or other 
assistive devices, while writing should include the use of a scribe, computer, or speech-to-text 
technology. In a similar vein, speaking and listening should be interpreted broadly to include 
sign language.



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 8

6) While the ELA and content area literacy components described herein are critical to college and 
career readiness, they do not define the whole of such readiness. Students require a wide-
ranging, rigorous academic preparation and, particularly in the early grades, attention to such 
matters as social, emotional, and physical development and approaches to learning. Similarly, 
the Standards define literacy expectations in history/social studies, science, and technical 
subjects, but literacy standards in other areas, such as mathematics and health education, 
modeled on those in this document are strongly encouraged to facilitate a comprehensive, 
schoolwide literacy program.

Students Who are College and Career Ready in Reading, Writing, 
Speaking, Listening, and Language 
The descriptions that follow are not standards themselves but instead offer a portrait of students who meet
the standards set out in this document. As students advance through the grades and master the standards 
in reading, writing, speaking, listening, and language, they are able to exhibit with increasing fullness and 
regularity these capacities of the literate individual.

They demonstrate independence.
Students can, without significant scaffolding, comprehend and evaluate complex texts across a range of 
types and disciplines, and they can construct effective arguments and convey intricate or multifaceted 
information. Likewise, students are able independently to discern a speaker’s key points, request 
clarification, and ask relevant questions. They build on others’ ideas, articulate their own ideas, and 
confirm they have been understood. Without prompting, they demonstrate command of standard English 
and acquire and use a wide-ranging vocabulary. More broadly, they become self-directed learners, 
effectively seeking out and using resources to assist them, including teachers, peers, and print and digital 
reference materials.

They build strong content knowledge.
Students establish a base of knowledge across a wide range of subject matter by engaging with works of 
quality and substance. They become proficient in new areas through research and study. They read 
purposefully and listen attentively to gain both general knowledge and discipline-specific expertise. They 
refine and share their knowledge through writing and speaking.

They respond to the varying demands of audience, task, purpose, and discipline.
Students adapt their communication in relation to audience, task, purpose, and discipline. They set and 
adjust purpose for reading, writing, speaking, listening, and language use as warranted by the task. They 
appreciate nuances, such as how the composition of an audience should affect tone when speaking and 
how the connotations of words affect meaning. They also know that different disciplines call for different 
types of evidence (e.g., documentary evidence in history, experimental evidence in science).



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 9

They comprehend as well as critique.
Students are engaged and open-minded—but discerning—readers and listeners. They work diligently to 
understand precisely what an author or speaker is saying, but they also question an author’s or speaker’s 
assumptions and premises and assess the veracity of claims and the soundness of reasoning.

They value evidence.
Students cite specific evidence when offering an oral or written interpretation of a text. They use relevant 
evidence when supporting their own points in writing and speaking, making their reasoning clear to the 
reader or listener, and they constructively evaluate others’ use of evidence.

They use technology and digital media strategically and capably.
Students employ technology thoughtfully to enhance their reading, writing, speaking, listening, and 
language use. They tailor their searches online to acquire useful information efficiently, and they integrate 
what they learn using technology with what they learn offline. They are familiar with the strengths and 
limitations of various technological tools and mediums and can select and use those best suited to their 
communication goals.

They come to understand other perspectives and cultures.
Students appreciate that the twenty-first-century classroom and workplace are settings in which people 
from often widely divergent cultures, and who represent diverse experiences and perspectives, must learn 
and work together. Students actively seek to understand other perspectives and cultures, including those 
of American Indians, and specifically, Montana Indians, through reading and listening, and they are able 
to communicate effectively with people of varied backgrounds. They evaluate other points of view 
critically and constructively. Through reading great classic and contemporary works of literature 
representative of a variety of periods, cultures, and worldviews, students can vicariously inhabit worlds 
and have experiences much different than their own.

How to Read This Document 
Overall Document Organization

The Standards comprise three main sections: a comprehensive K–5 section and two content area–specific 
sections for grades 6–12, one for ELA and one for history/social studies, science, and technical subjects. 
Three appendices accompany the main document.

Each section is divided into strands: K–5 and 6–12 ELA have Reading, Writing, Speaking and Listening, 
and Language strands; the 6–12 history/ social studies, science, and technical subjects section focuses on 
Reading and Writing. Each strand is headed by a strand-specific set of College and Career Readiness 
Anchor Standards that is identical across all grades and content areas.

Standards for each grade within K–8 and for grades 9–10 and 11–12 follow the CCR anchor standards in 
each strand. Each grade-specific standard (as these standards are collectively referred to) corresponds to 
the same-numbered CCR anchor standard. Put another way, each CCR anchor standard has an 



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 10

accompanying grade-specific standard translating the broader CCR statement into grade-appropriate end-
of-year expectations.

Individual CCR anchor standards can be identified by their strand, CCR status, and number (R.CCR.6, for 
example). Individual grade-specific standards can be identified by their strand, grade, and number (or 
number and letter, where applicable), so that RI.4.3, for example, stands for Reading, Informational Text, 
grade 4, standard 3 and W.5.1a stands for Writing, grade 5, standard 1a. Strand designations can be found 
in brackets alongside the full strand title.

Who is responsible for which portion of the Standards?
A single K–5 section lists standards for reading, writing, speaking, listening, and language across the 
curriculum, reflecting the fact that most or all of the instruction students in these grades receive comes 
from one teacher. Grades 6–12 are covered in two content area–specific sections, the first for the English 
language arts teacher and the second for teachers of history/social studies, science, and technical subjects. 
Each section uses the same CCR anchor standards but also includes grade-specific standards tuned to the 
literacy requirements of the particular discipline(s). Specific standards for each grade also include 
language pertaining to Indian Education for All. 

Key Features of the Standards 
Reading: Text complexity and the growth of comprehension
The Reading standards place equal emphasis on the sophistication of what students read and the skill with 
which they read. Standard 10 defines a grade-by-grade “staircase” of increasing text complexity that rises 
from beginning reading to the college and career readiness level. Whatever they are reading, students 
must also show a steadily growing ability to discern more from and make fuller use of text, including 
making an increasing number of connections among ideas and between texts, considering a wider range 
of textual evidence, and becoming more sensitive to inconsistencies, ambiguities, and poor reasoning in 
texts.

Writing: Text types, responding to reading, and research
The Standards acknowledge the fact that whereas some writing skills, such as the ability to plan, revise, 
edit, and publish, are applicable to many types of writing, other skills are more properly defined in terms 
of specific writing types: arguments, informative/explanatory texts, and narratives. Standard 9 stresses the 
importance of the writing-reading connection by requiring students to draw upon and write about 
evidence from literary and informational texts. Because of the centrality of writing to most forms of 
inquiry, research standards are prominently included in this strand, though skills important to research are 
infused throughout the document.



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 11

Speaking and Listening: Flexible communication and collaboration
Including but not limited to skills necessary for formal presentations, the Speaking and Listening 
standards require students to develop a range of broadly useful oral communication and interpersonal 
skills. Students must learn to work together, express and listen carefully to ideas, integrate information 
from oral, visual, quantitative, and media sources, evaluate what they hear, use media and visual displays 
strategically to help achieve communicative purposes, and adapt speech to context and task.

Language: Conventions, effective use, and vocabulary
The Language standards include the essential “rules” of standard written and spoken English, but they 
also approach language as a matter of craft and informed choice among alternatives. The vocabulary 
standards focus on understanding words and phrases, their relationships, and their nuances and on 
acquiring new vocabulary, particularly general academic and domain-specific words and phrases.

Appendices A, B, and C
Appendix A contains supplementary material on reading, writing, speaking and listening, and language as 
well as a glossary of key terms. Appendix B consists of text exemplars illustrating the complexity, 
quality, and range of reading appropriate for various grade levels with accompanying sample performance 
tasks. Appendix C includes annotated samples demonstrating at least adequate performance in student 
writing at various grade levels.



Anchor Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 12

College and Career Readiness Anchor Standards 

College and Career Readiness Anchor Standards for Reading

The K–12 standards on the following pages define what students should understand and be able to do by the end of 
each grade. They correspond to the College and Career Readiness (CCR) anchor standards below by number. The 
CCR and grade-specific standards are necessary complements—the former providing broad standards, the latter 
providing additional specificity—that together define the skills and understandings that all students must 
demonstrate.

Key Ideas and Details
1. Read closely to determine what the text says explicitly and to make logical inferences from it; cite specific textual 
evidence when writing or speaking to support conclusions drawn from the text.
2. Determine central ideas or themes of a text and analyze their development; summarize the key supporting details 
and ideas.
3. Analyze how and why individuals, events, and ideas develop and interact over the course of a text.
Craft and Structure
4. Interpret words and phrases as they are used in a text, including determining technical, connotative, and figurative 
meanings, and analyze how specific word choices shape meaning or tone.
5. Analyze the structure of texts, including how specific sentences, paragraphs, and larger portions of the text (e.g., a 
section, chapter, scene, or stanza) relate to each other and the whole.
6. Assess how point of view or purpose shapes the content and style of a text.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Integrate and evaluate content presented in diverse media and formats, including visually and quantitatively, as 
well as in words.*
8. Delineate and evaluate the argument and specific claims in a text, including the validity of the reasoning as well 
as the relevance and sufficiency of the evidence.
9. Analyze how two or more texts address similar themes or topics in order to build knowledge or to compare the 
approaches the authors take.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. Read and comprehend complex literary and informational texts independently and proficiently.

*Please see “Research to Build and Present Knowledge” in Writing and “Comprehension and Collaboration” in 
Speaking and Listening for additional standards relevant to gathering, assessing, and applying information from 
print and digital sources.

College and Career Readiness Anchor Standards for Writing

The K–12 standards on the following pages define what students should understand and be able to do by the end of 
each grade. They correspond to the College and Career Readiness (CCR) anchor standards below by number. The 
CCR and grade-specific standards are necessary complements—the former providing broad standards, the latter 
providing additional specificity—that together define the skills and understandings that all students must 
demonstrate.
Text Types and Purposes*
1. Write arguments to support claims in an analysis of substantive topics or texts, using valid reasoning and relevant
and sufficient evidence.

N  and content 

oof student reading 

T

a

m

f

h
c

t

s

d

p

c

w

e

h

o

f

t

t

S

w

c

c

g

o

w

s



Anchor Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 13

2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine and convey complex ideas and information clearly and accurately 
through the effective selection, organization, and analysis of content.
3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, well-chosen details, 
and well-structured event sequences.
Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to task, 
purpose, and audience.
5. Develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach.
6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce and publish writing and to interact and collaborate with others.
Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short as well as more sustained research projects based on focused questions, demonstrating 
understanding of the subject under investigation.
8. Gather relevant information from multiple print and digital sources, assess the credibility and accuracy of each 
source, and integrate the information while avoiding plagiarism.
9. Draw evidence from literary or informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research.
Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a 
single sitting or a day or two) for a range of tasks, purposes, and audiences.

*These broad types of writing include many subgenres. See Appendix A for definitions of key writing types.

College and Career Readiness Anchor Standards for Speaking and Listening

The K–12 standards on the following pages define what students should understand and be able to do by the end of 
each grade. They correspond to the College and Career Readiness (CCR) anchor standards below by number. The 
CCR and grade-specific standards are necessary complements—the former providing broad standards, the latter 
providing additional specificity—that together define the skills and understandings that all students must 
demonstrate. 

Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Prepare for and participate effectively in a range of conversations and collaborations with diverse partners, 
building on others’ ideas and expressing their own clearly and persuasively.
2. Integrate and evaluate information presented in diverse media and formats, including visually, quantitatively, and 
orally. 
3. Evaluate a speaker’s point of view, reasoning, and use of evidence and rhetoric.
Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Present information, findings, and supporting evidence such that listeners can follow the line of reasoning and the 
organization, development, and style are appropriate to task, purpose, and audience.
5. Make strategic use of digital media and visual displays of data to express information and enhance understanding 
of presentations.
6. Adapt speech to a variety of contexts and communicative tasks, demonstrating command of formal English when 
indicated or appropriate.



Anchor Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 14

College and Career Readiness Anchor Standards for Language

The K–12 standards on the following pages define what students should understand and be able to do by the end of 
each grade. They correspond to the College and Career Readiness (CCR) anchor standards below by number. The 
CCR and grade-specific standards are necessary complements—the former providing broad standards, the latter 
providing additional specificity—that together define the skills and understandings that all students must 
demonstrate.
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.
2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.
Knowledge of Language
3. Apply knowledge of language to understand how language functions in different contexts, to make effective 
choices for meaning or style, and to comprehend more fully when reading or listening. 
Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases by using context clues, 
analyzing meaningful word parts, and consulting general and specialized reference materials, as appropriate.
5. Demonstrate understanding of figurative language, word relationships and nuances in word meanings.
6. Acquire and use accurately a range of general academic and domain-specific words and phrases sufficient for 
reading, writing, speaking, and listening at the college and career readiness level; demonstrate independence in 
gathering vocabulary knowledge when encountering an unknown term important to comprehension or expression.



Kindergarten

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 15

Kindergarten 

Reading Standards for Literature
Key Ideas and Details
1. With prompting and support, ask and answer questions about key details in a text.
2. With prompting and support, retell familiar stories, including key details. Include stories by and about American 

Indians.
3. With prompting and support, identify characters, settings, and major events in a story.
Craft and Structure
4. Ask and answer questions about unknown words in a text.
5. Recognize common types of texts (e.g., storybooks, poems).
6. With prompting and support, name the author and illustrator of a story and define the role of each in telling the 

story.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. With prompting and support, describe the relationship between illustrations and the story in which they appear 

(e.g., what moment in a story an illustration depicts).
8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. With prompting and support, compare and contrast the adventures and experiences of characters in familiar 

stories including American Indian stories.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. Actively engage in group reading activities with purpose and understanding.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. With prompting and support, ask and answer questions about key details in a text. 
2. With prompting and support, identify the main topic and retell key details of a text.
3. With prompting and support, describe the connection between two individuals, events, ideas, or pieces of 

information in a text. Include texts by and about American Indians.
Craft and Structure
4. With prompting and support, ask and answer questions about unknown words in a text. Recognize words and 

phrases with cultural significance to American Indians.
5. Identify the front cover, back cover, and title page of a book.
6. Name the author and illustrator of a text and define the role of each in presenting the ideas or information in a 

text.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. With prompting and support, describe the relationship between illustrations and the text in which they appear 

(e.g., what person, place, thing, or idea in the text an illustration depicts).
8. With prompting and support, identify the reasons an author gives to support points in a text.
9. With prompting and support, identify basic similarities in and differences between two texts on the same topic 

(e.g., in illustrations, descriptions, or procedures).
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. Actively engage in group reading activities with purpose and understanding.



Kindergarten

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 16

Reading Standards: Foundational Skills
Print Concepts
1. Demonstrate understanding of the organization and basic features of print.

a. Follow words from left to right, top to bottom, and page by page.
b. Recognize that spoken words are represented in written language by specific sequences of letters.
c. Understand that words are separated by spaces in print.
d. Recognize and name all upper- and lowercase letters of the alphabet.

Phonological Awareness
2. Demonstrate understanding of spoken words, syllables, and sounds (phonemes).

a. Recognize and produce rhyming words.
b. Count, pronounce, blend, and segment syllables in spoken words.
c. Blend and segment onsets and rimes of single-syllable spoken words.
d. Isolate and pronounce the initial, medial vowel, and final sounds (phonemes) in three-phoneme (consonant-

vowel-consonant, or CVC) words.* (This does not include CVCs ending with /l/, /r/, or /x/.)
e. Add or substitute individual sounds (phonemes) in simple, one-syllable words to make new words.

Phonics and Word Recognition
3. Know and apply grade-level phonics and word analysis skills in decoding words.

a. Demonstrate basic knowledge of one-to-one letter-sound correspondences by producing the primary or many of 
the most frequent sound for each consonant.

b. Associate the long and short sounds with common spellings (graphemes) for the five major vowels.
c. Read common high-frequency words by sight (e.g., the, of, to, you, she, my, is, are, do, does).
d. Distinguish between similarly spelled words by identifying the sounds of the letters that differ.

Fluency
4. Read emergent-reader texts with purpose and understanding.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Use a combination of drawing, dictating, and writing to compose opinion pieces in which they tell a reader the 

topic or the name of the book they are writing about and state an opinion or preference about the topic or book 
(e.g., My favorite book is . . .).

2. Use a combination of drawing, dictating, and writing to compose informative/explanatory texts in which they 
name what they are writing about and supply some information about the topic.

3. Use a combination of drawing, dictating, and writing to narrate a single event or several loosely linked events, tell 
about the events in the order in which they occurred, and provide a reaction to what happened.

Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Begins in grade 3
5. With guidance and support from adults, respond to questions and suggestions from peers and add details to 

strengthen writing as needed.
6. With guidance and support from adults, explore a variety of digital tools to produce and publish writing, including 

in collaboration with peers.
Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Participate in shared research and writing projects (e.g., explore a number of books by a favorite author and 

express opinions about them). Include sources by and about American Indians.
8. With guidance and support from adults, recall information from experiences or gather information from provided 

sources to answer a question. Include sources by and about American Indians. 
9. Begins in grade 4 
10. Begins in grade 3 
  



Kindergarten

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 17

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Participate in collaborative conversations with diverse partners about kindergarten topics and texts with peers and 

adults in small and larger groups.
a. Follow agreed-upon rules for discussions (e.g., listening to others and taking turns speaking about the topics 

and texts under discussion).
b. Continue a conversation through multiple exchanges.

2. Confirm understanding of a text read aloud or information presented orally or through other media by asking and 
answering questions about key details and requesting clarification if something is not understood.

3. Ask and answer questions in order to seek help, get information, or clarify something that is not understood.
Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Describe familiar people, places, things, and events and, with prompting and support, provide additional detail.
5. Add drawings or other visual displays to descriptions as desired to provide additional detail.
6. Speak audibly and express thoughts, feelings, and ideas clearly.

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Print many upper- and lowercase letters.
b. Use frequently occurring nouns and verbs.
c. Form regular plural nouns orally by adding /s/ or /es/ (e.g., dog, dogs; wish, wishes).
d. Understand and use question words (interrogatives) (e.g., who, what, where, when, why, how).
e. Use the most frequently occurring prepositions (e.g., to, from, in, out, on, off, for, of, by, with).
f. Produce and expand complete sentences in shared language activities.

2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.
a. Capitalize the first word in a sentence and the pronoun I.
b. Recognize and name end punctuation.
c. Write a letter or letters for most consonant and short-vowel sounds (phonemes).
d. Spell simple words phonetically, drawing on knowledge of sound-letter relationships.

3. Begins in grade 2
Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on kindergarten 

reading and content.
a. Identify new meanings for familiar words and apply them accurately (e.g., knowing duck is a bird and learning 

the verb to duck).
b. Use the most frequently occurring inflections and affixes (e.g., -ed, -s, re-, un-, pre-, -ful, -less) as a clue to the 

meaning of an unknown word.
5. With guidance and support from adults, explore word relationships and nuances in word meanings.

a. Sort common objects into categories (e.g., shapes, foods) to gain a sense of the concepts the categories 
represent.

b. Demonstrate understanding of frequently occurring verbs and adjectives by relating them to their opposites 
(antonyms).

c. Identify real-life connections between words and their use (e.g., note places at school that are colorful).
d. Distinguish shades of meaning among verbs describing the same general action (e.g., walk, march, strut, 

prance) by acting out the meanings.
6. Use words and phrases acquired through conversations, reading and being read to, and responding to texts.



Grade 1

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 18

Grade 1 

Reading Standards for Literature
Key Ideas and Details
1. Ask and answer questions about key details in a text.
2. Retell stories, including key details, and demonstrate understanding of their central message or lesson. Include 

stories by and about American Indians.
3. Describe characters, settings, and major events in a story, using key details.
Craft and Structure
4. Identify words and phrases in stories or poems that suggest feelings or appeal to the senses.
5. Explain major differences between books that tell stories and books that give information, including those of 

American Indians, drawing on a wide reading of a range of text types.
6. Identify who is telling the story at various points in a text.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Use illustrations and details in a story to describe its characters, setting, or events.
8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Compare and contrast the adventures and experiences of characters in stories including American Indian stories.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. With prompting and support, read prose and poetry of appropriate complexity for grade 1.

Reading Standards for Informational Text 
Key Ideas and Details
1. Ask and answer questions about key details in a text.
2. Identify the main topic and retell key details of a text.
3. Describe the connection between two individuals, events, ideas, or pieces of information in a text. Include texts 

by and about American Indians.
Craft and Structure
4. Ask and answer questions to help determine or clarify the meaning of words and phrases in a text. Recognize 

words and phrases with cultural significance to American Indians.
5. Know and use various text features (e.g., headings, tables of contents, glossaries, electronic menus, icons) to 

locate key facts or information in a text.
6. Distinguish between information provided by pictures or other illustrations and information provided by the 

words in a text.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Use the illustrations and details in a text to describe its key ideas.
8. Identify the reasons an author gives to support points in a text.
9. Identify basic similarities in and differences between two texts on the same topic (e.g., in illustrations, 

descriptions, or procedures).
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. With prompting and support, read informational texts appropriately complex for grade 1.

Reading Standards: Foundational Skills
Print Concepts
1. Demonstrate understanding of the organization and basic features of print.

a. Recognize the distinguishing features of a sentence (e.g., first word, capitalization, ending punctuation).
Phonological Awareness
2. Demonstrate understanding of spoken words, syllables, and sounds (phonemes).

a. Distinguish long from short vowel sounds in spoken single-syllable words.
b. Orally produce single-syllable words by blending sounds (phonemes), including consonant blends.
c. Isolate and pronounce initial, medial vowel, and final sounds (phonemes) in spoken single-syllable words.



Grade 1

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 19

d. Segment spoken single-syllable words into their complete sequence of individual sounds (phonemes).
Phonics and Word Recognition
3. Know and apply grade-level phonics and word analysis skills in decoding words.

a. Know the spelling-sound correspondences for common consonant digraphs.
b. Decode regularly spelled one-syllable words.
c. Know final -e and common vowel team conventions for representing long vowel sounds.
d. Use knowledge that every syllable must have a vowel sound to determine the number of syllables in a printed 

word.
e. Decode two-syllable words following basic patterns by breaking the words into syllables.
f. Read words with inflectional endings.
g. Recognize and read grade-appropriate irregularly spelled words.

Fluency
4. Read with sufficient accuracy and fluency to support comprehension.

a. Read on-level text with purpose and understanding.
b. Read on-level text orally with accuracy, appropriate rate, and expression on successive readings.
c. Use context to confirm or self-correct word recognition and understanding, rereading as necessary.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write opinion pieces in which they introduce the topic or name the book they are writing about, state an opinion, 

supply a reason for the opinion, and provide some sense of closure.
2. Write informative/explanatory texts in which they name a topic, supply some facts about the topic, and provide 

some sense of closure.
3. Write narratives in which they recount two or more appropriately sequenced events, include some details 

regarding what happened, use temporal words to signal event order, and provide some sense of closure.
Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Begins in grade 3
5. With guidance and support from adults, focus on a topic, respond to questions and suggestions from peers, and 

add details to strengthen writing as needed.
6. With guidance and support from adults, use a variety of digital tools to produce and publish writing, including in 

collaboration with peers.
Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Participate in shared research and writing projects (e.g., explore a number of “how-to” books on a given topic and 

use them to write a sequence of instructions). Include sources by and about American Indians.
8. With guidance and support from adults, recall information from experiences or gather information from provided 

sources to answer a question. Include sources by and about American Indians.
9. Begins in grade 4
10. Begins in grade 3

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Participate in collaborative conversations with diverse partners about grade 1 topics and texts with peers and 

adults in small and larger groups.
a. Follow agreed-upon rules for discussions (e.g., listening to others with care, speaking one at a time about the 

topics and texts under discussion).
b. Build on others’ talk in conversations by responding to the comments of others through multiple exchanges. 
c. Ask questions to clear up any confusion about the topics and texts under discussion.

2. Ask and answer questions about key details in a text read aloud or information presented orally or through other 
media.

3. Ask and answer questions about what a speaker says in order to gather additional information or clarify something 
that is not understood.

Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Describe people, places, things, and events with relevant details, expressing ideas and feelings clearly.
5. Add drawings or other visual displays to descriptions when appropriate to clarify ideas, thoughts, and feelings.



Grade 1

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 20

6. Produce complete sentences when appropriate to task and situation. (See grade 1 Language standards 1 and 3 for 
specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Print all upper- and lowercase letters.
b. Use common, proper, and possessive nouns.
c. Use singular and plural nouns with matching verbs in basic sentences (e.g., He hops; We hop).
d. Use personal, possessive, and indefinite pronouns (e.g., I, me, my; they, them, their; anyone, everything).
e. Use verbs to convey a sense of past, present, and future (e.g., Yesterday I walked home; Today I walk home; 

Tomorrow I will walk home).
f. Use frequently occurring adjectives.
g. Use frequently occurring conjunctions (e.g., and, but, or, so, because).
h. Use determiners (e.g., articles, demonstratives).
i. Use frequently occurring prepositions (e.g., during, beyond, toward).
j. Produce and expand complete simple and compound declarative, interrogative, imperative, and exclamatory 

sentences in response to prompts.
2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 

writing.
a. Capitalize dates and names of people.
b. Use end punctuation for sentences.
c. Use commas in dates and to separate single words in a series.
d. Use conventional spelling for words with common spelling patterns and for frequently occurring irregular 

words.
e. Spell untaught words phonetically, drawing on phonemic awareness and spelling conventions.

3. Begins in grade 2
Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on grade 1 reading 

and content, choosing flexibly from an array of strategies.
a. Use sentence-level context as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.
b. Use frequently occurring affixes as a clue to the meaning of a word.
c. Identify frequently occurring root words (e.g., look) and their inflectional forms (e.g., looks, looked, looking).

5. With guidance and support from adults, demonstrate understanding of word relationships and nuances in word 
meanings.
a. Sort words into categories (e.g., colors, clothing) to gain a sense of the concepts the categories represent.
b. Define words by category and by one or more key attributes (e.g., a duck is a bird that swims; a tiger is a large 

cat with stripes).
c. Identify real-life connections between words and their use (e.g., note places at home that are cozy).
d. Distinguish shades of meaning among verbs differing in manner (e.g., look, peek, glance, stare, glare, scowl) 

and adjectives differing in intensity (e.g., large, gigantic) by defining or choosing them or by acting out the 
meanings.

6. Use words and phrases acquired through conversations, reading and being read to, and responding to texts, 
including using frequently occurring conjunctions to signal simple relationships (e.g., because).



Grade 2

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 21

Grade 2 

Reading Standards for Literature
Key Ideas and Details
1. Ask and answer such questions as who, what, where, when, why, and how to demonstrate understanding of key 

details in a text.
2. Recount stories, including fables and folktales from diverse cultures, including American Indian stories, and 

determine their central message, lesson, or moral.
3. Describe how characters in a story respond to major events and challenges.
Craft and Structure
4. Describe how words and phrases (e.g., regular beats, alliteration, rhymes, repeated lines) supply rhythm and 

meaning in a story, poem, or song.
5. Describe the overall structure of a story, including American Indian stories, describing how the beginning 

introduces the story and the ending concludes the action.
6. Acknowledge differences in the points of view of characters, including by speaking in a different voice for each 

character when reading dialogue aloud.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Use information gained from the illustrations and words in a print or digital text to demonstrate understanding of 

its characters, setting, or plot.
8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Compare and contrast two or more versions of the same story (e.g., Cinderella stories) by different authors or 

from different cultures including American Indian authors or cultures.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literature, including stories and poetry, in the grades 2–3 text 

complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.

Reading Standards for Informational Text 
Key Ideas and Details
1. Ask and answer such questions as who, what, where, when, why, and how to demonstrate understanding of key 

details in a text.
2. Identify the main topic of a multiparagraph text as well as the focus of specific paragraphs within the text.
3. Describe the connection between a series of historical events, scientific ideas or concepts, or steps in technical 

procedures in a text. Include texts by and about American Indians.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases in a text relevant to a grade 2 topic or subject area. Recognize 

words and phrases with cultural significance to American Indians.
5. Know and use various text features (e.g., captions, bold print, subheadings, glossaries, indexes, electronic menus, 

icons) to locate key facts or information in a text efficiently.
6. Identify the main purpose of a text, including what the author wants to answer, explain, or describe.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Explain how specific images (e.g., a diagram showing how a machine works) contribute to and clarify a text.
8. Describe how reasons support specific points the author makes in a text.
9. Compare and contrast the most important points presented by two texts on the same topic.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of year, read and comprehend informational texts, including history/social studies, science, and 

technical texts, in the grades 2–3 text complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of 
the range.



Grade 2

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 22

Reading Standards: Foundational Skills
Phonics and Word Recognition
3. Know and apply grade-level phonics and word analysis skills in decoding words.

a. Distinguish long and short vowels when reading regularly spelled one-syllable words.
b. Know spelling-sound correspondences for additional common vowel teams.
c. Decode regularly spelled two-syllable words with long vowels.
d. Decode words with common prefixes and suffixes.
e. Identify words with inconsistent but common spelling-sound correspondences.
f. Recognize and read grade-appropriate irregularly spelled words.

Fluency
4. Read with sufficient accuracy and fluency to support comprehension.

a. Read on-level text with purpose and understanding.
b. Read on-level text orally with accuracy, appropriate rate, and expression on successive readings.
c. Use context to confirm or self-correct word recognition and understanding, rereading as necessary.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write opinion pieces in which they introduce the topic or book they are writing about, state an opinion, supply 

reasons that support the opinion, use linking words (e.g., because, and, also) to connect opinion and reasons, and 
provide a concluding statement or section.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts in which they introduce a topic, use facts and definitions to develop points, 
and provide a concluding statement or section.

3. Write narratives in which they recount a well-elaborated event or short sequence of events, include details to 
describe actions, thoughts, and feelings, use temporal words to signal event order, and provide a sense of closure.

4. Begins in grade 3
Production and Distribution of Writing
5. With guidance and support from adults and peers, focus on a topic and strengthen writing as needed by revising 

and editing.
6. With guidance and support from adults, use a variety of digital tools to produce and publish writing, including in 

collaboration with peers.
Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Participate in shared research and writing projects (e.g., read a number of books on a single topic to produce a 

report; record science observations). Include sources by and about American Indians.
8. Recall information from experiences or gather information from provided sources to answer a question. Include 

sources by and about American Indians. 
9. Begins in grade 4
10. Begins in grade 3

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Participate in collaborative conversations with diverse partners about grade 2 topics and texts with peers and 

adults in small and larger groups.
a. Follow agreed-upon rules for discussions (e.g., gaining the floor in respectful ways, listening to others with 

care, speaking one at a time about the topics and texts under discussion).
b. Build on others’ talk in conversations by linking their comments to the remarks of others.
c. Ask for clarification and further explanation as needed about the topics and texts under discussion.

2. Recount or describe key ideas or details from a text read aloud or information presented orally or through other 
media.

3. Ask and answer questions about what a speaker says in order to clarify comprehension, gather additional 
information, or deepen understanding of a topic or issue.



Grade 2

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 23

Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Tell a story or recount an experience with appropriate facts and relevant, descriptive details, speaking audibly in 

coherent sentences.
5. Create audio recordings of stories or poems; add drawings or other visual displays to stories or recounts of 

experiences when appropriate to clarify ideas, thoughts, and feelings.
6. Produce complete sentences when appropriate to task and situation in order to provide requested detail or 

clarification.

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Use collective nouns (e.g., group).
b. Form and use frequently occurring irregular plural nouns (e.g., feet, children, teeth, mice, fish).
c. Use reflexive pronouns (e.g., myself, ourselves).
d. Form and use the past tense of frequently occurring irregular verbs (e.g., sat, hid, told).
e. Use adjectives and adverbs, and choose between them depending on what is to be modified.
f. Produce, expand, and rearrange complete simple and compound sentences (e.g., The boy watched the movie; 

The little boy watched the movie; The action movie was watched by the little boy).
2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 

writing.
a. Capitalize holidays, product names, and geographic names.
b. Use commas in greetings and closings of letters.
c. Use an apostrophe to form contractions and frequently occurring possessives.
d. Generalize learned spelling patterns when writing words (e.g., cage �������	��
�����
���
e. Consult reference materials, including beginning dictionaries, as needed to check and correct spellings.

Knowledge of Language
3. Use knowledge of language and its conventions when writing, speaking, reading, or listening.

a. Compare formal and informal uses of English.
Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on grade 2 reading 

and content, choosing flexibly from an array of strategies.
a. Use sentence-level context as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.
b. Determine the meaning of the new word formed when a known prefix is added to a known word (e.g., 

happy/unhappy, tell/retell).
c. Use a known root word as a clue to the meaning of an unknown word with the same root (e.g., addition, 

additional).
d. Use knowledge of the meaning of individual words to predict the meaning of compound words (e.g., birdhouse, 

lighthouse, housefly; bookshelf, notebook, bookmark).
e. Use glossaries and beginning dictionaries, both print and digital, to determine or clarify the meaning of words 

and phrases.
5. Demonstrate understanding of word relationships and nuances in word meanings.

a. Identify real-life connections between words and their use (e.g., describe foods that are spicy or juicy).
b. Distinguish shades of meaning among closely related verbs (e.g., toss, throw, hurl) and closely related 

adjectives (e.g., thin, slender, skinny, scrawny).
6. Use words and phrases acquired through conversations, reading and being read to, and responding to texts, 

including using adjectives and adverbs to describe (e.g., When other kids are happy that makes me happy).



Grade 3

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 24

Grade 3 

Reading Standards for Literature
Key Ideas and Details
1. Ask and answer questions to demonstrate understanding of a text, referring explicitly to the text as the basis for 

the answers.
2. Recount stories, including fables, folktales, and myths from diverse cultures including those by and about 

American Indians; determine the central message, lesson, or moral and explain how it is conveyed through key 
details in the text.

3. Describe characters in a story (e.g., their traits, motivations, or feelings) and explain how their actions contribute 
to the sequence of events.

Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, distinguishing literal from non-literal 

language.
5. Refer to parts of stories, dramas, and poems when writing or speaking about a text, using terms such as chapter, 

scene, and stanza; describe how each successive part builds on earlier sections.
6. Distinguish their own point of view from that of the narrator or those of the characters. Include works by and 

about American Indians. 
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Explain how specific aspects of a text’s illustrations contribute to what is conveyed by the words in a story (e.g., 

create mood, emphasize aspects of a character or setting).
8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Compare and contrast the themes, settings, and plots of stories written by the same author, including American 

Indian authors, about the same or similar characters (e.g., in books from a series).
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poetry, at the high end of 

the grades 2–3 text complexity band independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. Ask and answer questions to demonstrate understanding of a text, referring explicitly to the text as the basis for 

the answers.
2. Determine the main idea of a text; recount the key details and explain how they support the main idea.
3. Describe the relationship between a series of historical events, scientific ideas or concepts, or steps in technical 

procedures in a text, using language that pertains to time, sequence, and cause/effect. Include texts by and about 
American Indians.

Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of general academic and domain-specific words and phrases in a text relevant to a grade 3 

topic or subject area.
5. Use text features and search tools (e.g., key words, sidebars, hyperlinks) to locate information relevant to a given 

topic efficiently.
6. Distinguish their own point of view from that of the author of a text.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Use information gained from illustrations (e.g., maps, photographs) and the words in a text to demonstrate 

understanding of the text (e.g., where, when, why, and how key events occur).
8. Describe the logical connection between particular sentences and paragraphs in a text (e.g., comparison, 

cause/effect, first/second/third in a sequence).
9. Compare and contrast the most important points and key details presented in two texts on the same topic.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend informational texts, including history/social studies, science, and 

technical texts, at the high end of the grades 2–3 text complexity band independently and proficiently.



Grade 3

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 25

Reading Standards: Foundational Skills
Phonics and Word Recognition
3. Know and apply grade-level phonics and word analysis skills in decoding words.

a. Identify and know the meaning of the most common prefixes and derivational suffixes.
b. Decode words with common Latin suffixes.
c. Decode multi-syllable words.
d. Read grade-appropriate irregularly spelled words.

Fluency
4. Read with sufficient accuracy and fluency to support comprehension.

a. Read on-level text with purpose and understanding.
b. Read on-level prose and poetry orally with accuracy, appropriate rate, and expression on successive readings.
c. Use context to confirm or self-correct word recognition and understanding, rereading as necessary.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write opinion pieces on topics or texts, supporting a point of view with reasons.

a. Introduce the topic or text they are writing about, state an opinion, and create an organizational structure that 
lists reasons.

b. Provide reasons that support the opinion.
c. Use linking words and phrases (e.g., because, therefore, since, for example) to connect opinion and reasons.
d. Provide a concluding statement or section.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas and information clearly.
a. Introduce a topic and group related information together; include illustrations when useful to aiding 

comprehension.
b. Develop the topic with facts, definitions, and details.
c. Use linking words and phrases (e.g., also, another, and, more, but) to connect ideas within categories of 

information.
d. Provide a concluding statement or section.

3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, descriptive details, 
and clear event sequences.
a. Establish a situation and introduce a narrator and/or characters; organize an event sequence that unfolds 

naturally.
b. Use dialogue and descriptions of actions, thoughts, and feelings to develop experiences and events or show the 

response of characters to situations.
c. Use temporal words and phrases to signal event order.
d. Provide a sense of closure.

Production and Distribution of Writing
4. With guidance and support from adults, produce writing in which the development and organization are 

appropriate to task and purpose. (Grade-specific expectations for writing types are defined in standards 1-3
above.)

5. With guidance and support from peers and adults, develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, 
and editing.(Editing for conventions should demonstrate command of Language standards 1-3 up to and including 
grade 3.)

6. With guidance and support from adults, use technology to produce and publish writing (using keyboarding skills) 
as well as to interact and collaborate with others.

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short research projects that build knowledge about a topic. Include sources by and about American 

Indians.
8. Recall information from experiences or gather information from print and digital sources; take brief notes on 

sources and sort evidence into provided categories. Include sources by and about American Indians.
9. Begins at grade 4



Grade 3

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 26

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a 

single sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Engage effectively in a range of collaborative discussions (one-on-one, in groups, and teacher-led) with diverse 

partners on grade 3 topics and texts, building on others’ ideas and expressing their own clearly.
a. Come to discussions prepared, having read or studied required material; explicitly draw on that preparation and 

other information known about the topic to explore ideas under discussion.
b. Follow agreed-upon rules for discussions (e.g., gaining the floor in respectful ways, listening to others with 

care, speaking one at a time about the topics and texts under discussion).
c. Ask questions to check understanding of information presented, stay on topic, and link their comments to the 

remarks of others.
d. Explain their own ideas and understanding in light of the discussion.

2. Determine the main ideas and supporting details of a text read aloud or information presented in diverse media 
and formats, including visually, quantitatively, and orally.

3. Ask and answer questions about information from a speaker, offering appropriate elaboration and detail.
Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Report on a topic or text, tell a story, or recount an experience with appropriate facts and relevant, descriptive 

details, speaking clearly at an understandable pace. Include sources by and about American Indians.
5. Create engaging audio recordings of stories or poems that demonstrate fluid reading at an understandable pace; 

add visual displays when appropriate to emphasize or enhance certain facts or details.
6. Speak in complete sentences when appropriate to task and situation in order to provide requested detail or 

clarification. (See grade 3 Language standards 1 and 3 for specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Explain the function of nouns, pronouns, verbs, adjectives, and adverbs in general and their functions in 
particular sentences.

b. Form and use regular and irregular plural nouns.
c. Use abstract nouns (e.g., childhood).
d. Form and use regular and irregular verbs.
e. Form and use the simple (e.g., I walked; I walk; I will walk) verb tenses.
f. Ensure subject-verb and pronoun-antecedent agreement.*
g. Form and use comparative and superlative adjectives and adverbs, and choose between them depending on 

what is to be modified.
h. Use coordinating and subordinating conjunctions.
i. Produce simple, compound, and complex sentences.

2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.
a. Capitalize appropriate words in titles.
b. Use commas in addresses.
c. Use commas and quotation marks in dialogue.
d. Form and use possessives.
e. Use conventional spelling for high-frequency and other studied words and for adding suffixes to base words 

(e.g., sitting, smiled, cries, happiness).
f. Use spelling patterns and generalizations (e.g., word families, position-based spellings, syllable patterns, ending 

rules, meaningful word parts) in writing words.
g. Consult reference materials, including beginning dictionaries, as needed to check and correct spellings.



Grade 3

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 27

Knowledge of Language
3. Use knowledge of language and its conventions when writing, speaking, reading, or listening.

a. Choose words and phrases for effect.
b. Recognize and observe differences between the conventions of spoken and written standard English.

Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning word and phrases based on grade 3 reading 

and content, choosing flexibly from a range of strategies.
a. Use sentence-level context as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.
b. Determine the meaning of the new word formed when a known affix is added to a known word (e.g., 

agreeable/disagreeable, comfortable/uncomfortable, care/careless, heat/preheat).
c. Use a known root word as a clue to the meaning of an unknown word with the same root (e.g., company, 

companion).
d. Use glossaries or beginning dictionaries, both print and digital, to determine or clarify the precise meaning of 

key words and phrases.
5. Demonstrate understanding of word relationships and nuances in word meanings.

a. Distinguish the literal and non-literal meanings of words and phrases in context (e.g., take steps).
b. Identify real-life connections between words and their use (e.g., describe people who are friendly or helpful).
c. Distinguish shades of meaning among related words that describe states of mind or degrees of certainty (e.g., 

knew, believed, suspected, heard, wondered).
6. Acquire and use accurately grade-appropriate conversational, general academic, and domain-specific words and 

phrases, including those that signal spatial and temporal relationships (e.g., After dinner that night we went 
looking for them).



Grade 4

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 28

Grade 4 

Reading Standards for Literature
Key Ideas and Details
1. Refer to details and examples in a text when explaining what the text says explicitly and when drawing inferences 

from the text.
2. Determine a theme of a story, drama, or poem from details in the text; summarize the text. Include texts by and 

about American Indians.
3. Describe in depth a character, setting, or event in a story or drama, drawing on specific details in the text (e.g., a 

character’s thoughts, words, or actions).
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including those that allude to significant 

characters found in mythology (e.g., Herculean).
5. Explain major differences between poems, drama, and prose, and refer to the structural elements of poems (e.g., 

verse, rhythm, meter) and drama (e.g., casts of characters, settings, descriptions, dialogue, stage directions) when 
writing or speaking about a text.

6. Compare and contrast the point of view from which different stories are narrated, including the difference 
between first- and third-person narrations. Include works by and about American Indians.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Make connections between the text of a story or drama and a visual or oral presentation of the text, identifying 

where each version reflects specific descriptions and directions in the text.
8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Compare and contrast the treatment of similar themes and topics (e.g., opposition of good and evil) and patterns 

of events (e.g., the quest) in stories, myths, and traditional literature from different cultures, including those by 
and about American Indians.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poetry, in the grades 4–5

text complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. Refer to details and examples in a text when explaining what the text says explicitly and when drawing inferences 

from the text.
2. Determine the main idea of a text and explain how it is supported by key details; summarize the text.
3. Explain events, procedures, ideas, or concepts in a historical, scientific, or technical text, including what happened 

and why, based on specific information in the text. Include texts by and about American Indians.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of general academic and domain-specific words or phrases in a text relevant to a grade 4 

topic or subject area.
5. Describe the overall structure (e.g., chronology, comparison, cause/effect, problem/solution) of events, ideas, 

concepts, or information in a text or part of a text.
6. Compare and contrast a firsthand and secondhand account of the same event or topic,  including those of 

American Indians; describe the differences in focus and the information provided.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Interpret information presented visually, orally, or quantitatively (e.g., in charts, graphs, diagrams, time lines, 

animations, or interactive elements on Web pages) and explain how the information contributes to an 
understanding of the text in which it appears.

8. Explain how an author uses reasons and evidence to support particular points in a text. 
9. Integrate information from two texts on the same topic in order to write or speak about the subject 

knowledgeably.



Grade 4

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 29

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of year, read and comprehend informational texts, including history/social studies, science, and 

technical texts, in the grades 4–5 text complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of 
the range.

Reading Standards: Foundational Skills
Phonics and Word Recognition
3. Know and apply grade-level phonics and word analysis skills in decoding words.

a. Use combined knowledge of all letter-sound correspondences, syllabication patterns, and morphology (e.g., 
roots and affixes) to read accurately unfamiliar multisyllabic words in context and out of context.

Fluency
4. Read with sufficient accuracy and fluency to support comprehension.

a. Read on-level text with purpose and understanding.
b. Read on-level prose and poetry orally with accuracy, appropriate rate, and expression on successive readings.
c. Use context to confirm or self-correct word recognition and understanding, rereading as necessary.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write opinion pieces on topics or texts, supporting a point of view with reasons and information.

a. Introduce a topic or text clearly, state an opinion, and create an organizational structure in which related ideas 
are grouped to support the writer’s purpose.

b. Provide reasons that are supported by facts and details.
c. Link opinion and reasons using words and phrases (e.g., for instance, in order to, in addition).
d. Provide a concluding statement or section related to the opinion presented.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas and information clearly.
a. Introduce a topic clearly and group related information in paragraphs and sections; include formatting (e.g., 

headings), illustrations, and multimedia when useful to aiding comprehension.
b. Develop the topic with facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information and examples related 

to the topic.
c. Link ideas within categories of information using words and phrases (e.g., another, for example, also, because).
d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to inform about or explain the topic.
e. Provide a concluding statement or section related to the information or explanation presented.

3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, descriptive details, 
and clear event sequences.
a. Orient the reader by establishing a situation and introducing a narrator and/or characters; organize an event 

sequence that unfolds naturally.
b. Use dialogue and description to develop experiences and events or show the responses of characters to 

situations.
c. Use a variety of transitional words and phrases to manage the sequence of events.
d. Use concrete words and phrases and sensory details to convey experiences and events precisely.
e. Provide a conclusion that follows from the narrated experiences or events.

Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development and organization are appropriate to task, purpose, 

and audience. (Grade-specific expectations for writing types are defined in standards 1-3 above.)
5. With guidance and support from peers and adults, develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, 

and editing.(Editing for conventions should demonstrate command of Language standards 1-3 up to and including 
grade 4.)

6. With some guidance and support from adults, use technology, including the Internet, to produce and publish 
writing as well as to interact and collaborate with others; demonstrate sufficient command of keyboarding skills to 
type a minimum of one page in a single sitting.



Grade 4

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 30

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short research projects that build knowledge through investigation of different aspects of a topic. Include 

topics and/or sources by and about American Indians.
8. Recall relevant information from experiences or gather relevant information from print and digital sources; take 

notes and categorize information, and provide a list of sources.
9. Draw evidence from literary or informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research.

a. Apply grade 4 Reading standards to literature (e.g., “Describe in depth a character, setting, or event in a story 
or drama, drawing on specific details in the text [e.g., a character’s thoughts, words, or actions].”).

b. Apply grade 4 Reading standards to informational texts (e.g., “Explain how an author uses reasons and 
evidence to support particular points in a text”).

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a 

single sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Engage effectively in a range of collaborative discussions (one-on-one, in groups, and teacher-led) with diverse 

partners on grade 4 topics and texts, building on others’ ideas and expressing their own clearly.
a. Come to discussions prepared, having read or studied required material; explicitly draw on that preparation and 

other information known about the topic to explore ideas under discussion.
b. Follow agreed-upon rules for discussions and carry out assigned roles.
c. Pose and respond to specific questions to clarify or follow up on information, and make comments that 

contribute to the discussion and link to the remarks of others.
d. Review the key ideas expressed and explain their own ideas and understanding in light of the discussion.

2. Paraphrase portions of a text read aloud or information presented in diverse media and formats, including 
visually, quantitatively, and orally.

3. Identify the reasons and evidence a speaker provides to support particular points.
Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Report on a topic or text, tell a story, or recount an experience in an organized manner, using appropriate facts and 

relevant, descriptive details to support main ideas or themes; speak clearly at an understandable pace. Include 
sources by and about American Indians.

5. Add audio recordings and visual displays to presentations when appropriate to enhance the development of main 
ideas or themes.

6. Differentiate between contexts that call for formal English (e.g., presenting ideas) and situations where informal 
discourse is appropriate (e.g., small-group discussion); use formal English when appropriate to task and situation. 
(See grade 4 Language standards 1 for specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Use relative pronouns (who, whose, whom, which, that) and relative adverbs (where, when, why).
b. Form and use the progressive (e.g., I was walking; I am walking; I will be walking) verb tenses.
c. Use modal auxiliaries (e.g., can, may, must) to convey various conditions.
d. Order adjectives within sentences according to conventional patterns (e.g., a small red bag rather than a red 

small bag).
e. Form and use prepositional phrases.
f. Produce complete sentences, recognizing and correcting inappropriate fragments and run-ons.
g. Correctly use frequently confused words (e.g., to, too, two; there, their).*

2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.
a. Use correct capitalization.
b. Use commas and quotation marks to mark direct speech and quotations from a text.
c. Use a comma before a coordinating conjunction in a compound sentence.



Grade 4

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 31

d. Spell grade-appropriate words correctly, consulting references as needed.
Knowledge of Language
3. Use knowledge of language and its conventions when writing, speaking, reading, or listening.

a. Choose words and phrases to convey ideas precisely.*
b. Choose punctuation for effect.*
c. Differentiate between contexts that call for formal English (e.g., presenting ideas) and situations where informal 

discourse is appropriate (e.g., small-group discussion).
Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on grade 4 reading 

and content, choosing flexibly from a range of strategies.
a. Use context (e.g., definitions, examples, or restatements in text) as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.
b. Use common, grade-appropriate Greek and Latin affixes and roots as clues to the meaning of a word (e.g., 

telegraph, photograph, autograph).
c. Consult reference materials (e.g., dictionaries, glossaries, thesauruses), both print and digital, to find the 

pronunciation and determine or clarify the precise meaning of key words and phrases.
5. Demonstrate understanding of figurative language, word relationships, and nuances in word meanings.

a. Explain the meaning of simple similes and metaphors (e.g., as pretty as a picture) in context.
b. Recognize and explain the meaning of common idioms, adages, and proverbs. 
c. Demonstrate understanding of words by relating them to their opposites (antonyms) and to words with similar 

but not identical meanings (synonyms).
6. Acquire and use accurately grade-appropriate general academic and domain-specific words and phrases, including 

those that signal precise actions, emotions, or states of being (e.g., quizzed, whined, stammered) and that are basic 
to a particular topic (e.g., wildlife, conservation, and endangered when discussing animal preservation).



Grade 5

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 32

Grade 5 

Reading Standards for Literature
Key Ideas and Details
1. Quote accurately from a text when explaining what the text says explicitly and when drawing inferences from the 

text.
2. Determine a theme of a story, drama, or poem from details in the text, including how characters in a story or 

drama respond to challenges or how the speaker in a poem reflects upon a topic; summarize the text. Include texts 
by and about American Indians.

3. Compare and contrast two or more characters, settings, or events in a story or drama, drawing on specific details 
in the text (e.g., how characters interact).

Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative language such as 

metaphors and similes.
5. Explain how a series of chapters, scenes, or stanzas fits together to provide the overall structure of a particular 

story, drama, or poem.
6. Describe how a narrator’s or speaker’s point of view influences how events are described, including perspectives 

of American Indians.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Analyze how visual and multimedia elements contribute to the meaning, tone, or beauty of a text (e.g., graphic 

novel, multimedia presentation of fiction, folktale, myth, poem).
8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Compare and contrast stories in the same genre (e.g., mysteries and adventure stories including traditional and 

contemporary stories by and about American Indians) on their approaches to similar themes and topics.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poetry, at the high end of 

the grades 4–5 text complexity band independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. Quote accurately from a text when explaining what the text says explicitly and when drawing inferences from the 

text.
2. Determine two or more main ideas of a text and explain how they are supported by key details; summarize the 

text.
3. Explain the relationships or interactions between two or more individuals, events, ideas, or concepts in a 

historical, scientific, or technical text based on specific information in the text. Include texts by and about 
American Indians.

Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of general academic and domain-specific words and phrases in a text relevant to a grade 5 

topic or subject area.
5. Compare and contrast the overall structure (e.g., chronology, comparison, cause/effect, problem/solution) of 

events, ideas, concepts, or information in two or more texts.
6. Analyze multiple accounts of the same event or topic, including those of historical and contemporary American 

Indian events and topics, noting important similarities and differences in the point of view they represent.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Draw on information from multiple print or digital sources, demonstrating the ability to locate an answer to a 

question quickly or to solve a problem efficiently.
8. Explain how an author uses reasons and evidence to support particular points in a text, identifying which reasons 

and evidence support which point(s).



Grade 5

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 33

9. Integrate information from several texts on the same topic in order to write or speak about the subject 
knowledgeably.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend informational texts, including history/social studies, science, and 

technical texts, at the high end of the grades 4–5 text complexity band independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards: Foundational Skills
Phonics and Word Recognition
3. Know and apply grade-level phonics and word analysis skills in decoding words.

a. Use combined knowledge of all letter-sound correspondences, syllabication patterns, and morphology (e.g., 
roots and affixes) to read accurately unfamiliar multisyllabic words in context and out of context.

Fluency
4. Read with sufficient accuracy and fluency to support comprehension.

a. Read on-level text with purpose and understanding.
b. Read on-level prose and poetry orally with accuracy, appropriate rate, and expression on successive readings.
c. Use context to confirm or self-correct word recognition and understanding, rereading as necessary.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write opinion pieces on topics or texts, supporting a point of view with reasons and information.

a. Introduce a topic or text clearly, state an opinion, and create an organizational structure in which ideas are 
logically grouped to support the writer’s purpose.

b. Provide logically ordered reasons that are supported by facts and details.
c. Link opinion and reasons using words, phrases, and clauses (e.g., consequently, specifically).
d. Provide a concluding statement or section related to the opinion presented.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas and information clearly.
a. Introduce a topic clearly, provide a general observation and focus, and group related information logically; 

include formatting (e.g., headings), illustrations, and multimedia when useful to aiding comprehension.
b. Develop the topic with facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information and examples related 

to the topic.
c. Link ideas within and across categories of information using words, phrases, and clauses (e.g., in contrast,

especially).
d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to inform about or explain the topic.
e. Provide a concluding statement or section related to the information or explanation presented.

3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, descriptive details, 
and clear event sequences.
a. Orient the reader by establishing a situation and introducing a narrator and/or characters; organize an event 

sequence that unfolds naturally.
b. Use narrative techniques, such as dialogue, description, and pacing, to develop experiences and events or show 

the responses of characters to situations.
c. Use a variety of transitional words, phrases, and clauses to manage the sequence of events.
d. Use concrete words and phrases and sensory details to convey experiences and events precisely.
e. Provide a conclusion that follows from the narrated experiences or events.

Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development and organization are appropriate to task, purpose, 

and audience. (Grade-specific expectations for writing types are defined in standards 1-3 above.)
5. With guidance and support from peers and adults, develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, 

editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach. (Editing for conventions should demonstrate command of Language 
standards 1-3 up to and including grade 5.)

6. With some guidance and support from adults, use technology, including the Internet, to produce and publish 
writing as well as to interact and collaborate with others; demonstrate sufficient command of keyboarding skills to 
type a minimum of two pages in a single sitting.



Grade 5

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 34

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short research projects that use several sources to build knowledge through investigation of different 

aspects of a topic. Include sources and/or topics by and about American Indians.
8. Recall relevant information from experiences or gather relevant information from print and digital sources; 

summarize or paraphrase information in notes and finished work, and provide a list of sources.
9. Draw evidence from literary or informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research.

a. Apply grade 5 Reading standards to literature (e.g., “Compare and contrast two or more characters, settings, or 
events in a story or a drama, drawing on specific details in the text [e.g., how characters interact]”).

b. Apply grade 5 Reading standards to informational texts (e.g., “Explain how an author uses reasons and 
evidence to support particular points in a text, identifying which reasons and evidence support which point[s]”).

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a 

single sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Engage effectively in a range of collaborative discussions (one-on-one, in groups, and teacher-led) with diverse 

partners on grade 5 topics and texts, building on others’ ideas and expressing their own clearly.
a. Come to discussions prepared, having read or studied required material; explicitly draw on that preparation and 

other information known about the topic to explore ideas under discussion.
b. Follow agreed-upon rules for discussions and carry out assigned roles.
c. Pose and respond to specific questions by making comments that contribute to the discussion and elaborate on 

the remarks of others.
d. Review the key ideas expressed and draw conclusions in light of information and knowledge gained from the 

discussions. 
2. Summarize a written text read aloud or information presented in diverse media and formats, including visually, 

quantitatively, and orally.
3. Summarize the points a speaker makes and explain how each claim is supported by reasons and evidence.
Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Report on a topic or text or present an opinion, sequencing ideas logically and using appropriate facts and 

relevant, descriptive details to support main ideas or themes; speak clearly at an understandable pace. Include 
sources by and about American Indians.

5. Include multimedia components (e.g., graphics, sound) and visual displays in presentations when appropriate to 
enhance the development of main ideas or themes.

6. Adapt speech to a variety of contexts and tasks, using formal English when appropriate to task and situation. (See 
grade 5 Language standards 1 and 3 for specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Explain the function of conjunctions, prepositions, and interjections in general and their function in particular 
sentences.

b. Form and use the perfect (e.g., I had walked; I have walked; I will have walked) verb tenses. 
c. Use verb tense to convey various times, sequences, states, and conditions.
d. Recognize and correct inappropriate shifts in verb tense.*
e. Use correlative conjunctions (e.g., either/or, neither/nor).

2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.
a. Use punctuation to separate items in a series.
b. Use a comma to separate an introductory element from the rest of the sentence.
c. Use a comma to set off the words yes and no (e.g., Yes, thank you), to set off a tag question from the rest of the 

sentence (e.g., It’s true, isn’t it?), and to indicate direct address (e.g., Is that you, Steve?).
d. Use underlining, quotation marks, or italics to indicate titles of works.



Grade 5

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 35

e. Spell grade-appropriate words correctly, consulting references as needed.
Knowledge of Language
3. Use knowledge of language and its conventions when writing, speaking, reading, or listening. 

a. Expand, combine, and reduce sentences for meaning, reader/listener interest, and style.
b. Compare and contrast the varieties of English (e.g., dialects, registers) used in stories, dramas, or poems.

Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on grade 5 reading 

and content, choosing flexibly from a range of strategies.
a. Use context (e.g., cause/effect relationships and comparisons in text) as a clue to the meaning of a word or 

phrase.
b. Use common, grade-appropriate Greek and Latin affixes and roots as clues to the meaning of a word (e.g., 

photograph, photosynthesis).
c. Consult reference materials (e.g., dictionaries, glossaries, thesauruses), both print and digital, to find the 

pronunciation and determine or clarify the precise meaning of key words and phrases.
5. Demonstrate understanding of figurative language, word relationships, and nuances in word meanings.

a. Interpret figurative language, including similes and metaphors, in context.
b. Recognize and explain the meaning of common idioms, adages, and proverbs.
c. Use the relationship between particular words (e.g., synonyms, antonyms, homographs) to better understand 

each of the words.
6. Acquire and use accurately grade-appropriate general academic and domain-specific words and phrases, including 

those that signal contrast, addition, and other logical relationships (e.g., however, although, nevertheless, 
similarly, moreover, in addition).



Grade 6

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 36

Grade 6 
Reading Standards for Literature 

Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences drawn from the text.
2. Determine a theme or central idea of a text and how it is conveyed through particular details; provide a summary 

of the text distinct from personal opinions or judgments.
3. Describe how a particular story’s or drama’s plot unfolds in a series of episodes as well as how the characters 

respond or change as the plot moves toward a resolution.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative and connotative 

meanings; analyze the impact of a specific word choice on meaning and tone.
5. Analyze how a particular sentence, chapter, scene, or stanza fits into the overall structure of a text and contributes 

to the development of the theme, setting, or plot.
6. Explain how an author develops the point of view of the narrator or speaker in a text.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Compare and contrast the experience of reading a story, drama, or poem to listening to or viewing an audio, 

video, or live version of the text, including contrasting what they “see” and “hear” when reading the text to what 
they perceive when they listen or watch.

8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Compare and contrast texts in different forms or genres (e.g., stories and poems; historical novels and fantasy 

stories; traditional and contemporary stories by and about American Indians) in terms of their approaches to 
similar themes and topics.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poems, in the grades 6–8

text complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences drawn from the text.
2. Determine a central idea of a text and how it is conveyed through particular details; provide a summary of the text 

distinct from personal opinions or judgments.
3. Analyze in detail how a key individual, event, or idea is introduced, illustrated, and elaborated in a text (e.g., 

through examples or anecdotes).
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative, connotative, and 

technical meanings.
5. Analyze how a particular sentence, paragraph, chapter, or section fits into the overall structure of a text and 

contributes to the development of the ideas.
6. Determine an author’s point of view or purpose in a text and explain how it is conveyed in the text. Include texts 

by and about American Indians.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Integrate information presented in different media or formats (e.g., visually, quantitatively) as well as in words to 

develop a coherent understanding of a topic or issue.
8. Trace and evaluate the argument and specific claims in a text, distinguishing claims that are supported by reasons 

and evidence from claims that are not. Include texts by and about American Indians.
9. Compare and contrast one author’s presentation of events with that of another (e.g., a memoir written by and a 

biography on the same person). Include texts by and about American Indians.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literary nonfiction in the grades 6–8 text complexity band 

proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.



Grade 6

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 37

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write arguments to support claims with clear reasons and relevant evidence. 

a. Introduce claim(s) and organize the reasons and evidence clearly.
b. Support claim(s) with clear reasons and relevant evidence, using credible sources, including oral sources, and 

demonstrating an understanding of the topic or text.
c. Use words, phrases, and clauses to clarify the relationships among claim(s) and reasons.
d. Establish and maintain a formal style.
e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from the argument presented.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the 
selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.
a. Introduce a topic; organize ideas, concepts, and information, using strategies such as definition, classification, 

comparison/contrast, and cause/effect; include formatting (e.g., headings), graphics (e.g., charts, tables), and 
multimedia when useful to aiding comprehension.

b. Develop the topic with relevant facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information and 
examples.

c. Use appropriate transitions to clarify the relationships among ideas and concepts. 
d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to inform about or explain the topic.
e. Establish and maintain a formal style.
f. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from the information or explanation presented.

3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, relevant descriptive 
details, and well-structured event sequences.
a. Engage and orient the reader by establishing a context and introducing a narrator and/or characters; organize an 

event sequence that unfolds naturally and logically.
b. Use narrative techniques, such as dialogue, pacing, and description, to develop experiences, events, and/or 

characters.
c. Use a variety of transition words, phrases, and clauses to convey sequence and signal shifts from one time 

frame or setting to another.
d. Use precise words and phrases, relevant descriptive details, and sensory language to convey experiences and 

events.
e. Provide a conclusion that follows from the narrated experiences or events.

Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to task, 

purpose, and audience. (Grade-specific expectations for writing types are defined in standards 1-3 above.) 
5. With some guidance and support from peers and adults, develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, 

revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach. (Editing for conventions should demonstrate command of 
Language standards 1-3 up to and including grade 6.)

6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce and publish writing as well as to interact and collaborate with 
others; demonstrate sufficient command of keyboarding skills to type a minimum of three pages in a single sitting.

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short research projects to answer a question, drawing on several sources and refocusing the inquiry when 

appropriate. Include sources and/or topics by and about American Indians.
8. Gather relevant information from multiple oral, print and digital sources; assess the credibility of each source; and 

quote or paraphrase the data and conclusions of others while avoiding plagiarism and providing basic 
bibliographic information for sources.

9. Draw evidence from literary or informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research.
a. Apply grade 6 Reading standards to literature (e.g., “Compare and contrast texts in different forms or genres 

[e.g., stories and poems; historical novels and fantasy stories] in terms of their approaches to similar themes and 
topics”).

b. Apply grade 6 Reading standards to literary nonfiction (e.g., “Trace and evaluate the argument and specific 
claims in a text, distinguishing claims that are supported by reasons and evidence from claims that are not”).



Grade 6

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 38

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a

single sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Engage effectively in a range of collaborative discussions (one-on-one, in groups, and teacher-led) with diverse 

partners on grade 6 topics, texts, and issues, building on others’ ideas and expressing their own clearly.
a. Come to discussions prepared, having read or studied required material; explicitly draw on that preparation by 

referring to evidence on the topic, text, or issue to probe and reflect on ideas under discussion.
b. Follow rules for collegial discussions, set specific goals and deadlines, and define individual roles as needed.
c. Pose and respond to specific questions with elaboration and detail by making comments that contribute to the 

topic, text, or issue under discussion.
d. Review the key ideas expressed and demonstrate understanding of multiple perspectives through reflection and 

paraphrasing.
2. Interpret information presented in diverse media and formats (e.g., visually, quantitatively, orally) and explain 

how it contributes to a topic, text, or issue under study.
3. Delineate a speaker’s argument and specific claims, distinguishing claims that are supported by reasons and 

evidence from claims that are not.
Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Present claims and findings, sequencing ideas logically and using pertinent descriptions, facts, and details to 

accentuate main ideas or themes; use appropriate eye contact, adequate volume, and clear pronunciation.
5. Include multimedia components (e.g., graphics, images, music, sound) and visual displays in presentations to 

clarify information.
6. Adapt speech to a variety of contexts and tasks, demonstrating command of formal English when indicated or 

appropriate. (See grade 6 Language standards 1 and 3 for specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Ensure that pronouns are in the proper case (subjective, objective, possessive). 
b. Use intensive pronouns (e.g., myself, ourselves).
c. Recognize and correct inappropriate shifts in pronoun number and person.*
d. Recognize and correct vague pronouns (i.e., ones with unclear or ambiguous antecedents).*
e. Recognize variations from standard English in their own and others’ writing and speaking, and identify and use 

strategies to improve expression in conventional language.*
2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 

writing.
a. Use punctuation (commas, parentheses, dashes) to set off nonrestrictive/parenthetical elements.*
b. Spell correctly.

Knowledge of Language
3. Use knowledge of language and its conventions when writing, speaking, reading, or listening. 

a. Vary sentence patterns for meaning, reader/listener interest, and style.*
b. Maintain consistency in style and tone.*

Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on grade 6 reading 

and content, choosing flexibly from a range of strategies.
a. Use context (e.g., the overall meaning of a sentence or paragraph; a word’s position or function in a sentence) 

as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.
b. Use common, grade-appropriate Greek or Latin affixes and roots as clues to the meaning of a word (e.g., 

audience, auditory, audible).
c. Consult reference materials (e.g., dictionaries, glossaries, thesauruses), both print and digital, to find the 

pronunciation of a word or determine or clarify its precise meaning or its part of speech.



Grade 6

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 39

d. Verify the preliminary determination of the meaning of a word or phrase (e.g., by checking the inferred 
meaning in context or in a dictionary).

5. Demonstrate understanding of figurative language, word relationships, and nuances in word meanings.
a. Interpret figures of speech (e.g., personification) in context.
b. Use the relationship between particular words (e.g., cause/effect, part/whole, item/category) to better 

understand each of the words.
c. Distinguish among the connotations (associations) of words with similar denotations (definitions) (e.g., stingy, 

scrimping, economical, unwasteful, thrifty).
d. Recognize the influence time, culture, gender and social relationships have upon word meaning.

6. Acquire and use accurately grade-appropriate general academic and domain-specific words and phrases; gather 
vocabulary knowledge when considering a word or phrase important to comprehension or expression.



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 40

Standard 10: Range, Quality, and Complexity of Student Reading K–5 

Measuring Text Complexity: Three Factors
Qualitative evaluation of the text: Levels of meaning, structure, language 
conventionality and clarity, and knowledge demands
Quantitative evaluation of the text: Readability measures and other scores 
of text complexity
Matching reader to text and task: Reader variables (such as motivation, 
knowledge, and experiences) and task variables (such as purpose and the 
complexity generated by the task assigned and the questions posed)

Note: More detailed information on text complexity and how it is measured 
is contained in Appendix A.

Range of Text Types for K–5
Students in K–5 apply the Reading standards to the following range of text types, with texts selected from a broad 
range of cultures and periods.

Literature Informational Text

Stories Dramas Poetry Literary Nonfiction and Historical, 
Scientific, and Technical Texts

Includes children’s 
adventure stories, 
folktales, legends, 
fables, fantasy, 
realistic fiction, and 
myth

Includes staged 
dialogue and 
brief familiar 
scenes

Includes nursery rhymes 
and the subgenres of the 
narrative poem, limerick, 
and free verse poem

Includes biographies and autobiographies; 
books about history, social studies, science, 
and the arts; technical texts, including 
directions, forms, and information 
displayed in graphs, charts, or maps; and 
digital sources on a range of topics



Grade 7

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 41

Grade 7 

Reading Standards for Literature 
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite several pieces of textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences 

drawn from the text.
2. Determine a theme or central idea of a text and analyze its development over the course of the text; provide an 

objective summary of the text.
3. Analyze how particular elements of a story or drama interact (e.g., how setting shapes the characters or plot).
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative and connotative 

meanings; analyze the impact of rhymes and other repetitions of sounds (e.g., alliteration) on a specific verse or 
stanza of a poem or section of a story or drama.

5. Analyze how a drama’s or poem’s form or structure (e.g., soliloquy, sonnet) contributes to its meaning.
6. Analyze how an author develops and contrasts the points of view of different characters or narrators in a text.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Compare and contrast a written story, drama, or poem to its audio, filmed, staged, or multimedia version, 

analyzing the effects of techniques unique to each medium (e.g., lighting, sound, color, or camera focus and 
angles in a film).

8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Compare and contrast a fictional portrayal of a time, place, or character and a historical account of the same 

period as a means of understanding how authors of fiction use or alter history. Include texts that contain 
portrayals and/or accounts by and about American Indians.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poems, in the grades 6–8

text complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite several pieces of textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences 

drawn from the text.
2. Determine two or more central ideas in a text and analyze their development over the course of the text; provide 

an objective summary of the text.
3. Analyze the interactions between individuals, events, and ideas in a text (e.g., how ideas influence individuals or 

events, or how individuals influence ideas or events).
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative, connotative, and 

technical meanings; analyze the impact of a specific word choice on meaning and tone.
5. Analyze the structure an author uses to organize a text, including how the major sections contribute to the whole 

and to the development of the ideas.
6. Determine an author’s point of view or purpose in a text, including those by and about American Indians, and

analyze how the author distinguishes his or her position from that of others.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Compare and contrast a text to an audio, video, or multimedia version of the text, analyzing each medium’s 

portrayal of the subject (e.g., how the delivery of a speech affects the impact of the words).
8. Trace and evaluate the argument and specific claims in a text, assessing whether the reasoning is sound and the 

evidence is relevant and sufficient to support the claims. Include texts by and about American Indians.
9. Analyze how two or more authors writing about the same topic shape their presentations of key information by 

emphasizing different evidence or advancing different interpretations of facts. Include texts by and about 
American Indians.



Grade 7

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 42

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literary nonfiction in the grades 6–8 text complexity band 

proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write arguments to support claims with clear reasons and relevant evidence. 

a. Introduce claim(s), acknowledge alternate or opposing claims, and organize the reasons and evidence logically.
b. Support claim(s) with logical reasoning and relevant evidence, using accurate, credible sources, including oral 

sources, and demonstrating an understanding of the topic or text.
c. Use words, phrases, and clauses to create cohesion and clarify the relationships among claim(s), reasons, and 

evidence.
d. Establish and maintain a formal style.
e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the argument presented.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the 
selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.
a. Introduce a topic clearly, previewing what is to follow; organize ideas, concepts, and information, using 

strategies such as definition, classification, comparison/contrast, and cause/effect; include formatting (e.g., 
headings), graphics (e.g., charts, tables), and multimedia when useful to aiding comprehension.

b. Develop the topic with relevant facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information and 
examples.

c. Use appropriate transitions to create cohesion and clarify the relationships among ideas and concepts.
d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to inform about or explain the topic.
e. Establish and maintain a formal style.
f. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation 

presented.
3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, relevant descriptive 

details, and well-structured event sequences.
a. Engage and orient the reader by establishing a context and point of view and introducing a narrator and/or 

characters; organize an event sequence that unfolds naturally and logically.
b. Use narrative techniques, such as dialogue, pacing, and description, to develop experiences, events, and/or 

characters.
c. Use a variety of transition words, phrases, and clauses to convey sequence and signal shifts from one time 

frame or setting to another.
d. Use precise words and phrases, relevant descriptive details, and sensory language to capture the action and 

convey experiences and events.
e. Provide a conclusion that follows from and reflects on the narrated experiences or events.

Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to task, 

purpose, and audience. (Grade-specific expectations for writing types are defined in standards 1-3.)
5. With some guidance and support from peers and adults, develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, 

revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach, focusing on how well purpose and audience have been 
addressed. (Editing for conventions should demonstrate command of Language standards 1-3 up to and including 
grade 7.)

6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce and publish writing and link to and cite sources as well as to 
interact and collaborate with others, including linking to and citing sources.

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short research projects to answer a question, drawing on several sources and generating additional 

related, focused questions for further research and investigation. Include sources and/or topics by and about 
American Indians.

8. Gather relevant information from multiple print and digital sources, using search terms effectively; assess the 
credibility and accuracy of each source; and quote or paraphrase the data and conclusions of others while avoiding 
plagiarism and following a standard format for citation.



Grade 7

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 43

9. Draw evidence from literary or informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research.
a. Apply grade 7 Reading standards to literature (e.g., “Compare and contrast a fictional portrayal of a time, 

place, or character and a historical account of the same period as a means of understanding how authors of 
fiction use or alter history”).

b. Apply grade 7 Reading standards to literary nonfiction (e.g., “Trace and evaluate the argument and specific 
claims in a text, assessing whether the reasoning is sound and the evidence is relevant and sufficient to support 
the claims”).

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a 

single sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Engage effectively in a range of collaborative discussions (one-on-one, in groups, and teacher-led) with diverse 

partners on grade 7 topics, texts, and issues, building on others’ ideas and expressing their own clearly.
a. Come to discussions prepared, having read or researched material under study; explicitly draw on that 

preparation by referring to evidence on the topic, text, or issue to probe and reflect on ideas under discussion.
b. Follow rules for collegial discussions, track progress toward specific goals and deadlines, and define individual 

roles as needed.
c. Pose questions that elicit elaboration and respond to others’ questions and comments with relevant observations 

and ideas that bring the discussion back on topic as needed.
d. Acknowledge new information expressed by others and, when warranted, modify their own views.

2. Analyze the main ideas and supporting details presented in diverse media and formats (e.g., visually, 
quantitatively, orally) and explain how the ideas clarify a topic, text, or issue under study. 

3. Delineate a speaker’s argument and specific claims, evaluating the soundness of the reasoning and the relevance 
and sufficiency of the evidence.

Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Present claims and findings, emphasizing salient points in a focused, coherent manner with pertinent descriptions, 

facts, details, and examples; use appropriate eye contact, adequate volume, and clear pronunciation.
5. Include multimedia components and visual displays in presentations to clarify claims and findings and emphasize 

salient points.
6. Adapt speech to a variety of contexts and tasks, demonstrating command of formal English when indicated or 

appropriate. (See grade 7 Language standards 1 and 3 for specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Explain the function of phrases and clauses in general and their function in specific sentences.
b. Choose among simple, compound, complex, and compound-complex sentences to signal differing relationships 

among ideas.
c. Place phrases and clauses within a sentence, recognizing and correcting misplaced and dangling modifiers.*

2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.
a. Use a comma to separate coordinate adjectives (e.g., It was a fascinating, enjoyable movie but not He wore an 

old[,] green shirt).
b. Spell correctly.

Knowledge of Language
3. Use knowledge of language and its conventions when writing, speaking, reading, or listening.

a. Choose language that expresses ideas precisely and concisely, recognizing and eliminating wordiness and 
redundancy.*



Grade 7

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 44

Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on grade 7 reading 

and content, choosing flexibly from a range of strategies.
a. Use context (e.g., the overall meaning of a sentence or paragraph; a word’s position or function in a sentence) 

as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.
b. Use common, grade-appropriate Greek or Latin affixes and roots as clues to the meaning of a word (e.g., 

belligerent, bellicose, rebel).
c. Consult general and specialized reference materials (e.g., dictionaries, glossaries, thesauruses), both print and 

digital, to find the pronunciation of a word or determine or clarify its precise meaning or its part of speech.
d. Verify the preliminary determination of the meaning of a word or phrase (e.g., by checking the inferred 

meaning in context or in a dictionary).
5. Demonstrate understanding of figurative language, word relationships, and nuances in word meanings.

a. Interpret figures of speech (e.g., literary, biblical, and mythological allusions) in context. 
b. Use the relationship between particular words (e.g., synonym/antonym, analogy) to better understand each of 

the words.
c. Distinguish among the connotations (associations) of words with similar denotations (definitions) (e.g., refined, 

respectful, polite, diplomatic, condescending).
d. Recognize the influence time, culture, gender and social relationships have upon word meaning.

6. Acquire and use accurately grade-appropriate general academic and domain-specific words and phrases; gather 
vocabulary knowledge when considering a word or phrase important to comprehension or expression.



Grade 8

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 45

Grade 8 

Reading Standards for Literature 
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite the textual evidence that most strongly supports an analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as 

inferences drawn from the text.
2. Determine a theme or central idea of a text and analyze its development over the course of the text, including its 

relationship to the characters, setting, and plot; provide an objective summary of the text.
3. Analyze how particular lines of dialogue or incidents in a story or drama propel the action, reveal aspects of a 

character, or provoke a decision.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative and connotative 

meanings; analyze the impact of specific word choices on meaning and tone, including analogies or allusions to
other texts.

5. Compare and contrast the structure of two or more texts and analyze how the differing structure of each text 
contributes to its meaning and style.

6. Analyze how differences in the points of view of the characters and the audience or reader (e.g., created through 
the use of dramatic irony) create such effects as suspense or humor.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Analyze the extent to which a filmed or live production of a story or drama stays faithful to or departs from the 

text or script, evaluating the choices made by the director or actors.
8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Analyze how a modern work of fiction draws on themes, patterns of events, or character types from myths, 

traditional stories, or religious works such as the Bible, including describing how the material is rendered new.
Include texts by and about American Indians.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poems, at the high end of 

grades 6–8 text complexity band independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite the textual evidence that most strongly supports an analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as 

inferences drawn from the text.
2. Determine a central idea of a text and analyze its development over the course of the text, including its 

relationship to supporting ideas; provide an objective summary of the text.
3. Analyze how a text makes connections among and distinctions between individuals, ideas, cultures, or events 

(e.g., through comparisons, analogies, or categories).
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative, connotative, and 

technical meanings; analyze the impact of specific word choices on meaning and tone, including analogies or 
allusions to other texts.

5. Analyze in detail the structure of a specific paragraph in a text, including the role of particular sentences in 
developing and refining a key concept.

6. Determine an author’s point of view or purpose in a text including texts by and about American Indians, and 
analyze how the author acknowledges and responds to conflicting evidence or viewpoints.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Evaluate the advantages and disadvantages of using different mediums (e.g., print or digital text, video, 

multimedia) to present a particular topic or idea.



Grade 8

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 46

8. Delineate and evaluate the argument and specific claims in a text, assessing whether the reasoning is sound and 
the evidence is relevant and sufficient; recognize when irrelevant evidence is introduced. Include texts by and 
about American Indians.

9. Analyze a case in which two or more texts provide conflicting information on the same topic and identify where 
the texts disagree on matters of fact or interpretation. Include texts by and about American Indians.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of the year, read and comprehend literary nonfiction at the high end of the grades 6–8 text complexity 

band independently and proficiently.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write arguments to support claims with clear reasons and relevant evidence.

a. Introduce claim(s), acknowledge and distinguish the claim(s) from alternate or opposing claims, and organize 
the reasons and evidence logically.

b. Support claim(s) with logical reasoning and relevant evidence, using accurate, credible sources including oral 
sources, and demonstrating an understanding of the topic or text.

c. Use words, phrases, and clauses to create cohesion and clarify the relationships among claim(s), counterclaims, 
reasons, and evidence.

d. Establish and maintain a formal style.
e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the argument presented.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the 
selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.
a. Introduce a topic clearly, previewing what is to follow; organize ideas, concepts, and information into broader 

categories; include formatting (e.g., headings), graphics (e.g., charts, tables), and multimedia when useful to 
aiding comprehension.

b. Develop the topic with relevant, well-chosen facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information 
and examples.

c. Use appropriate and varied transitions to create cohesion and clarify the relationships among ideas and 
concepts.

d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to inform about or explain the topic.
e. Establish and maintain a formal style.
f. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation 

presented.
3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, relevant descriptive 

details, and well-structured event sequences.
a. Engage and orient the reader by establishing a context and point of view and introducing a narrator and/or 

characters; organize an event sequence that unfolds naturally and logically.
b. Use narrative techniques, such as dialogue, pacing, description, and reflection, to develop experiences, events, 

and/or characters.
c. Use a variety of transition words, phrases, and clauses to convey sequence, signal shifts from one time frame or 

setting to another, and show the relationships among experiences and events.
d. Use precise words and phrases, relevant descriptive details, and sensory language to capture the action and 

convey experiences and events.
e. Provide a conclusion that follows from and reflects on the narrated experiences or events.

Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to task, 

purpose, and audience. (Grade-specific expectations for writing types are defined in standards 1-3 above.)
5. With some guidance and support from peers and adults, develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, 

revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach, focusing on how well purpose and audience have been 
addressed. (Editing for conventions should demonstrate command of Language standards 1-3 up to and including 
grade 8.)

6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce and publish writing and present the relationships between 
information and ideas efficiently as well as to interact and collaborate with others.



Grade 8

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 47

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short research projects to answer a question (including a self-generated question), drawing on several 

sources and generating additional related, focused questions that allow for multiple avenues of exploration.
Include sources and/or topics by and about American Indians.

8. Gather relevant information from multiple print and digital sources, using search terms effectively; assess the 
credibility and accuracy of each source; and quote or paraphrase the data and conclusions of others while avoiding 
plagiarism and following a standard format for citation. 

9. Draw evidence from literary or informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research. 
a. Apply grade 8 Reading standards to literature (e.g., “Analyze how a modern work of fiction draws on themes, 

patterns of events, or character types from myths, traditional stories, or religious works such as the Bible, 
including describing how the material is rendered new”). 

b. Apply grade 8 Reading standards to literary nonfiction (e.g., “Delineate and evaluate the argument and specific 
claims in a text, assessing whether the reasoning is sound and the evidence is relevant and sufficient; recognize 
when irrelevant evidence is introduced”).

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a 

single sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Engage effectively in a range of collaborative discussions (one-on-one, in groups, and teacher-led) with diverse 

partners on grade 8 topics, texts, and issues, building on others’ ideas and expressing their own clearly.
a. Come to discussions prepared, having read or researched material under study; explicitly draw on that 

preparation by referring to evidence on the topic, text, or issue to probe and reflect on ideas under discussion.
b. Follow rules for collegial discussions and decision-making, track progress toward specific goals and deadlines, 

and define individual roles as needed.
c. Pose questions that connect the ideas of several speakers and respond to others’ questions and comments with 

relevant evidence, observations, and ideas.
d. Acknowledge new information expressed by others, and, when warranted, qualify or justify their own views in 

light of the evidence presented.
2. Analyze the purpose of information presented in diverse media and formats (e.g., visually, quantitatively, orally) 

and evaluate the motives (e.g., social, commercial, political) behind its presentation.
3. Delineate a speaker’s argument and specific claims, evaluating the soundness of the reasoning and relevance and 

sufficiency of the evidence and identifying when irrelevant evidence is introduced.
Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Present claims and findings, emphasizing salient points in a focused, coherent manner with relevant evidence, 

sound valid reasoning, and well-chosen details; use appropriate eye contact, adequate volume, and clear 
pronunciation.

5. Integrate multimedia and visual displays into presentations to clarify information, strengthen claims and evidence, 
and add interest.

6. Adapt speech to a variety of contexts and tasks, demonstrating command of formal English when indicated or 
appropriate. (See grade 8 Language standards 1 and 3 for specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Explain the function of verbals (gerunds, participles, infinitives) in general and their function in particular 
sentences.

b. Form and use verbs in the active and passive voice.
c. Form and use verbs in the indicative, imperative, interrogative, conditional, and subjunctive mood.
d. Recognize and correct inappropriate shifts in verb voice and mood.*

2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.



Grade 8

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 48

a. Use punctuation (comma, ellipsis, dash) to indicate a pause or break.
b. Use an ellipsis to indicate an omission.
c. Spell correctly.

Knowledge of Language
3. Use knowledge of language and its conventions when writing, speaking, reading, or listening.

a. Use verbs in the active and passive voice and in the conditional and subjunctive mood to achieve particular 
effects (e.g., emphasizing the actor or the action; expressing uncertainty or describing a state contrary to fact).

Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words or phrases based on grade 8 reading 

and content, choosing flexibly from a range of strategies.
a. Use context (e.g., the overall meaning of a sentence or paragraph; a word’s position or function in a sentence) 

as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.
b. Use common, grade-appropriate Greek or Latin affixes and roots as clues to the meaning of a word (e.g., 

precede, recede, secede).
c. Consult general and specialized reference materials (e.g., dictionaries, glossaries, thesauruses), both print and 

digital, to find the pronunciation of a word or determine or clarify its precise meaning or its part of speech.
d. Verify the preliminary determination of the meaning of a word or phrase (e.g., by checking the inferred 

meaning in context or in a dictionary).
5. Demonstrate understanding of figurative language, word relationships, and nuances in word meanings. 

a. Interpret figures of speech (e.g. verbal irony, puns) in context.
b. Use the relationship between particular words to better understand each of the words.
c. Distinguish among the connotations (associations) of words with similar denotations (definitions) (e.g., 

bullheaded, willful, firm, persistent, resolute).
d. Recognize the influence time, culture, gender and social relationships have upon word meaning.

6. Acquire and use accurately grade-appropriate general academic and domain-specific words and phrases; gather 
vocabulary knowledge when considering a word or phrase important to comprehension or expression.



Grades 9-10

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 49

Grades 9-10 
Reading Standards for Literature

Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite strong and thorough textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences 

drawn from the text, including works by and about American Indians.
2. Determine a theme or central idea of a text, including those by and about American Indians, and analyze in detail 

its development over the course of the text, including how it emerges and is shaped and refined by specific details; 
provide an objective summary of the text.

3. Analyze how complex characters (e.g., those with multiple or conflicting motivations) develop over the course of 
a text, including those of American Indians, interact with other characters, and advance the plot or develop the 
theme.

Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in the text, including figurative and connotative 

meanings; analyze the cumulative impact of specific word choices on meaning and tone (e.g., how the language 
evokes a sense of time and place; how it sets a formal or informal tone).

5. Analyze how an author’s choices concerning how to structure a text, order events within it (e.g., parallel plots),
and manipulate time (e.g., pacing, flashbacks) create such effects as mystery, tension, or surprise.

6. Analyze a particular point of view or cultural experience reflected in a work of literature from outside the United 
States, drawing on a wide reading of world literature.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Analyze the representation of a subject or a key scene in two different artistic mediums, including what is 

emphasized or absent in each treatment (e.g., Auden’s “Musée des Beaux Arts” and Breughel’s Landscape with 
the Fall of Icarus.  Painting: American Progress, by John Gast (circa 1872) with “Birthright,” a poem, by M. L. 
Smoker in Another Attempt at Rescue).

8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Analyze how an author draws on and transforms source material in a specific work (e.g., how Shakespeare treats a 

theme or topic from Ovid or the Bible or how a later author draws on a play by Shakespeare or how American 
Indian stories and oral histories appear in contemporary works, such as James Welch’s Fools Crow, the author 
retells the Pikuni traditional story, “Star Boy”).

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 9, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poems, in the grades 9–10

text complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range. By the end of grade 10, 
read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poems, at the high end of the grades 9–10 text 
complexity band independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite strong and thorough textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences 

drawn from the text.
2. Determine a central idea of a text and analyze its development over the course of the text, including how it 

emerges and is shaped and refined by specific details; provide an objective summary of the text.
3. Analyze how the author unfolds an analysis or series of ideas or events, including the order in which the points 

are made, how they are introduced and developed, and the connections that are drawn between them.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative, connotative, and 

technical meanings; analyze the cumulative impact of specific word choices on meaning and tone (e.g., how the 
language of a court opinion differs from that of a newspaper, or how American Indian treaty language differs from 
everyday speech).

5. Analyze in detail how an author’s ideas or claims are developed and refined by particular sentences, paragraphs, 
or larger portions of a text (e.g., a section or chapter).



Grades 9-10

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 50

6. Determine an author’s point of view or purpose in a text, including texts by and about Montana American Indians,
and analyze how an author uses rhetoric to advance that point of view or purpose.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Analyze various accounts of a subject told in different mediums (e.g., a person’s life story in both print and 

multimedia, paying specific attention to cultural nuances), determining which details are emphasized in each 
account.

8. Delineate and evaluate the argument and specific claims in a text, assessing whether the reasoning is valid and the 
evidence is relevant and sufficient; identify false statements and fallacious reasoning.

9. Analyze seminal U.S. documents of historical and literary significance (e.g., Washington’s Farewell Address, the 
Gettysburg Address, Roosevelt’s Four Freedoms speech, King’s “Letter from Birmingham Jail,” Onondaga Chief 
Canassatego’s address  “On Colonizing Education “), including how they address related themes and concepts.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 9, read and comprehend literary nonfiction in the grades 9–10 text complexity band 

proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.  By the end of grade 10, read and 
comprehend literary nonfiction at the high end of the grades 9–10 text complexity band independently and 
proficiently.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write arguments to support claims in an analysis of substantive topics or text, including culturally diverse topics 

or texts, using valid reasoning and relevant and sufficient evidence.
a. Introduce precise claim(s), distinguish the claim(s) from alternate or opposing claims, and create an 

organization that establishes clear relationships among claim(s), counterclaims, reasons, and evidence.
b. Develop claim(s) and counterclaims fairly, supplying evidence for each while pointing out the strengths and 

limitations of both in a manner that anticipates the audience’s knowledge level and concerns.
c. Use words, phrases, and clauses to link the major sections of the text, create cohesion, and clarify the 

relationships between claim(s) and reasons, between reasons and evidence, and between claim(s) and 
counterclaims.

d. Establish and maintain a formal style and objective tone while attending to the norms and conventions of the 
discipline in which they are writing.

e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the argument presented.
2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine and convey complex ideas, concepts, and information clearly and 

accurately through the effective selection, organization, and analysis of content.
a. Introduce a topic; organize complex ideas, concepts, and information to make important connections and 

distinctions; include formatting (e.g., headings), graphics (e.g., figures, tables), and multimedia when useful to 
aiding comprehension.

b. Develop the topic with well-chosen, relevant, and sufficient facts, extended definitions, concrete details, 
quotations, or other information and examples appropriate to the audience’s knowledge of the topic.

c. Use appropriate and varied transitions to link the major sections of the text, create cohesion, and clarify the 
relationships among complex ideas and concepts.

d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to manage the complexity of the topic.
e. Establish and maintain a formal style and objective tone while attending to the norms and conventions of the 

discipline in which they are writing.
f. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation 

presented (e.g., articulating implications or the significance of the topic).
3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, well-chosen details, 

and well-structured event sequences.
a. Engage and orient the reader by setting out a problem, situation, or observation, establishing one or multiple 

point(s) of view, and introducing a narrator and/or characters; create a smooth progression of experiences or 
events.

b. Use narrative techniques, such as dialogue, pacing, description, reflection, and multiple plot lines, to develop 
experiences, events, and/or characters.



Grades 9-10

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 51

c. Use a variety of techniques to sequence events so that they build on one another to create a coherent whole.
d. Use precise words and phrases, telling details, and sensory language to convey a vivid picture of the 

experiences, events, setting, and/or characters.
e. Provide a conclusion that follows from and reflects on what is experienced, observed, or resolved over the 

course of the narrative.
Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to task, 

purpose, and audience. (Grade-specific expectations for writing types are defined in standards 1-3 above.)
5. Develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach, 

focusing on addressing what is most significant for a specific purpose and audience. (Editing for conventions 
should demonstrate command of Language standards 1-3 up to and including grades 9-10.)

6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce, publish, and update individual or shared writing products, 
taking advantage of technology’s capacity to link to other information and to display information flexibly and 
dynamically.

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short as well as more sustained research projects to answer a question (including a self-generated 

question) or solve a problem; narrow or broaden the inquiry when appropriate; synthesize multiple sources on the 
subject, demonstrating understanding of the subject under investigation.

8. Gather relevant information from multiple authoritative print and digital sources, using advanced searches 
effectively; assess the usefulness of each source in answering the research question; integrate information into the 
text selectively to maintain the flow of ideas, avoiding plagiarism and following a standard format for citation.

9. Draw evidence from literary or informational texts, including American Indian texts to support analysis, 
reflection, and research.
a. Apply grades 9–10 Reading standards to literature (e.g., “Analyze how an author draws on and transforms 

source material in a specific work [e.g., how Shakespeare treats a theme or topic from Ovid or the Bible or how 
a later author draws on a play by Shakespeare]” and as in James Welch’s Fools Crow, the author retells the 
Pikuni traditional story, “Star Boy.” ).

b. Apply grades 9–10 Reading standards to literary nonfiction (e.g., “Delineate and evaluate the argument and 
specific claims in a text, assessing whether the reasoning is valid and the evidence is relevant and sufficient; 
identify false statements and fallacious reasoning”).

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a 

single sitting or a day or two) for a range of tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Initiate and participate effectively in a range of collaborative discussions (one-on-one, in groups, and teacher-led) 

with diverse partners on grades 9–10 topics, texts, and issues, building on others’ ideas and expressing their own 
clearly and persuasively.
a. Come to discussions prepared, having read and researched material under study; explicitly draw on that 

preparation by referring to evidence from texts and other research on the topic or issue to stimulate a thoughtful, 
well-reasoned exchange of ideas.

b. Work with peers to set rules for collegial discussions and decision-making (e.g., informal consensus, taking 
votes on key issues, presentation of alternate views), clear goals and deadlines, and individual roles as needed.

c. Propel conversations by posing and responding to questions that relate the current discussion to broader themes 
or larger ideas; actively incorporate others into the discussion; and clarify, verify, or challenge ideas and 
conclusions.

d. Respond thoughtfully to diverse perspectives, with specific attention to culture, summarize points of agreement 
and disagreement, and, when warranted, qualify or justify their own views and understanding and make new 
connections in light of the evidence and reasoning presented.

2. Integrate multiple sources of information presented in diverse media or formats (e.g., visually, quantitatively, 
orally) evaluating the credibility and accuracy of each source.



Grades 9-10

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 52

3. Evaluate a speaker’s point of view, reasoning, and use of evidence and rhetoric, including culturally diverse 
contexts, identifying any fallacious reasoning or exaggerated or distorted evidence.

Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Present information, findings, and supporting evidence clearly, concisely, and logically such that listeners can 

follow the line of reasoning and the organization, development, substance, and style are appropriate to purpose, 
audience, and task.

5. Make strategic use of digital media (e.g., textual, graphical, audio, visual, and interactive elements) in 
presentations to enhance understanding of findings, reasoning, and evidence and to add interest.

6. Adapt speech to a variety of contexts and tasks, demonstrating command of formal English when indicated or 
appropriate. (See grades 9-10 Language standards 1 and 3 for specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Use parallel structure.*
b. Use various types of phrases (noun, verb, adjectival, adverbial, participial, prepositional, absolute) and clauses 

(independent, dependent; noun, relative, adverbial) to convey specific meanings and add variety and interest to 
writing or presentations.

2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.
a. Use a semicolon (and perhaps a conjunctive adverb) to link two or more closely related independent clauses.
b. Use a colon to introduce a list or quotation.
c. Spell correctly.

Knowledge of Language
3. Apply knowledge of language to understand how language functions in different contexts, to make effective 

choices for meaning or style, and to comprehend more fully when reading or listening.
a. Write and edit work so that it conforms to the guidelines in a style manual (e.g., MLA Handbook, Turabian’s 

Manual for Writers) appropriate for the discipline and writing type.
Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on grades 9–10

reading and content, choosing flexibly from a range of strategies, recognizing the role culture plays in the 
development of language.
a. Use context (e.g., the overall meaning of a sentence, paragraph, or text; a word’s position or function in a 

sentence) as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.
b. Identify and correctly use patterns of word changes that indicate different meanings or parts of speech (e.g., 

analyze, analysis, analytical; advocate, advocacy).
c. Consult general and specialized reference materials (e.g., dictionaries, glossaries, thesauruses), both print and 

digital, to find the pronunciation of a word or determine or clarify its precise meaning, its part of speech, or its 
etymology.

d. Verify the preliminary determination of the meaning of a word or phrase (e.g., by checking the inferred 
meaning in context or in a dictionary).

5. Demonstrate understanding of figurative language, word relationships, and nuances in word meanings.
a. Interpret figures of speech (e.g., euphemism, oxymoron) in context and analyze their role in the text.
b. Analyze nuances in the meaning of words with similar denotations.

6. Acquire and use accurately general academic and domain-specific words and phrases, sufficient for reading, 
writing, speaking, and listening at the college and career readiness level; demonstrate independence in gathering 
vocabulary knowledge when considering a word or phrase important to comprehension or expression.



Grades 11-12

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 53

Grades 11-12 

Reading Standards for Literature
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite strong and thorough textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences 

drawn from the text, including determining where the text leaves matters uncertain.
2. Determine two or more themes or central ideas of a text, including those by and about American Indians, and 

analyze their development over the course of the text, including how they interact and build on one another to 
produce a complex account; provide an objective summary of the text.

3. Analyze the impact of the author’s choices regarding how to develop and relate elements of a story or drama, or 
oral or written history (e.g., where a story is set, how the action is ordered, how the characters are introduced and 
developed).

Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in the text, including figurative and connotative 

meanings; analyze the impact of specific word choices on meaning and tone, including words with multiple 
meanings or language that is particularly fresh, engaging, or beautiful. (Include Shakespeare, works by American 
Indian authors, as well as other authors.)

5. Analyze how an author’s choices concerning how to structure specific parts of a text (e.g., the choice of where to 
begin or end a story, the choice to provide a comedic or tragic resolution) contribute to its overall structure and 
meaning as well as its aesthetic impact.

6. Analyze a case in which grasping point of view requires distinguishing what is directly stated in a text from what 
is really meant (e.g., satire, sarcasm, irony, or understatement), include works by and about American Indians.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Analyze multiple interpretations of a story, drama, or poem (e.g., recorded or live production of a play or recorded 

novel or poetry), or traditional American Indian oral histories, evaluating how each version interprets the source 
text. (Include at least one play by Shakespeare and one play by an American dramatist.)

8. (Not applicable to literature)
9. Demonstrate knowledge of eighteenth-, nineteenth- and early-twentieth-century foundational works of American 

literature, including American Indian works, including how two or more texts from the same period treat similar 
themes or topics.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 11, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poems, in the grades 11–

CCR text complexity band proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.  By the end of 
grade 12, read and comprehend literature, including stories, dramas, and poems, at the high end of the grades 11–
CCR text complexity band independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards for Informational Text
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite strong and thorough textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences 

drawn from the text, including determining where the text leaves matters uncertain.
2. Determine two or more central ideas of a text and analyze their development over the course of the text, including 

how they interact and build on one another to provide a complex analysis; provide an objective summary of the 
text.

3. Analyze a complex set of ideas or sequence of events and explain how specific individuals, ideas, cultures, or 
events interact and develop over the course of the text.

Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative, connotative, and 

technical meanings; analyze how an author uses and refines the meaning of a key term or terms over the course of 
a text (e.g., how Madison defines faction in Federalist No. 10; how the use of "sovereignty" in official documents 
impacts legal and political relationship).



Grades 11-12

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 54

5. Analyze and evaluate the effectiveness of the structure an author uses in his or her exposition or argument, 
including whether the structure makes points clear, convincing, and engaging.

6. Determine an author’s point of view or purpose in a text, including texts by and about Montana American Indians,
in which the rhetoric is particularly effective, analyzing how style and content contribute to the power, 
persuasiveness, or beauty of the text.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Integrate and evaluate multiple sources of information presented in different media or formats (e.g., visually, 

quantitatively) as well as in words in order to address a question or solve a problem.
8. Delineate and evaluate the reasoning in seminal U.S. texts including those that dealt with American Indians,

including the application of constitutional principles and use of legal reasoning (e.g., in U.S. Supreme Court 
majority opinions and dissents) and the premises, purposes, and arguments in works of public advocacy (e.g., The 
Federalist, presidential addresses, American Indian policies).

9. Analyze seventeenth-, eighteenth-, and nineteenth-century foundational U.S. documents of historical and literary 
significance (including The Declaration of Independence, the Preamble to the Constitution, the Bill of Rights, 
Lincoln’s Second Inaugural Address, American Indian treaties, and Iroquois Confederacy) for their themes, 
purposes, and rhetorical features.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 11, read and comprehend literary nonfiction in the grades 11–CCR text complexity band 

proficiently, with scaffolding as needed at the high end of the range.  By the end of grade 12, read and 
comprehend literary nonfiction at the high end of the grades 11–CCR text complexity band independently and 
proficiently.

Writing Standards
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write arguments to support claims in an analysis of substantive topics or texts, including culturally diverse topics 

or texts, using valid reasoning and relevant and sufficient evidence.
a. Introduce precise, knowledgeable claim(s), establish the significance of the claim(s), distinguish the claim(s) 

from alternate or opposing claims, and create an organization that logically sequences claim(s), counterclaims, 
reasons, and evidence.

b. Develop claim(s) and counterclaims fairly and thoroughly, supplying the most relevant evidence for each while 
pointing out the strengths and limitations of both in a manner that anticipates the audience’s knowledge level, 
concerns, values, and possible biases.

c. Use words, phrases, and clauses as well as varied syntax to link the major sections of the text, create cohesion, 
and clarify the relationships between claim(s) and reasons, between reasons and evidence, and between claim(s) 
and counterclaims.

d. Establish and maintain a formal style and objective tone while attending to the norms and conventions of the 
discipline in which they are writing.

e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the argument presented.
2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine and convey complex ideas, concepts, and information clearly and 

accurately through the effective selection, organization, and analysis of content.
a. Introduce a topic; organize complex ideas, concepts, and information so that each new element builds on that 

which precedes it to create a unified whole; include formatting (e.g., headings), graphics (e.g., figures, tables), 
and multimedia when useful to aiding comprehension.

b. Develop the topic thoroughly by selecting the most significant and relevant facts, extended definitions, concrete 
details, quotations, or other information and examples appropriate to the audience’s knowledge of the topic.

c. Use appropriate and varied transitions and syntax to link the major sections of the text, create cohesion, and 
clarify the relationships among complex ideas and concepts.

d. Use precise language, domain-specific vocabulary, and techniques such as metaphor, simile, and analogy to 
manage the complexity of the topic.

e. Establish and maintain a formal style and objective tone while attending to the norms and conventions of the 
discipline in which they are writing.

f. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation 
presented (e.g., articulating implications or the significance of the topic).



Grades 11-12

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 55

3. Write narratives to develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective technique, well-chosen details, 
and well-structured event sequences.
a. Engage and orient the reader by setting out a problem, situation, or observation and its significance, establishing 

one or multiple point(s) of view, and introducing a narrator and/or characters; create a smooth progression of 
experiences or events.

b. Use narrative techniques, such as dialogue, pacing, description, reflection, and multiple plot lines, to develop 
experiences, events, and/or characters.

c. Use a variety of techniques to sequence events so that they build on one another to create a coherent whole and 
build toward a particular tone and outcome (e.g., a sense of mystery, suspense, growth, or resolution).

d. Use precise words and phrases, telling details, and sensory language to convey a vivid picture of the 
experiences, events, setting, and/or characters.

e. Provide a conclusion that follows from and reflects on what is experienced, observed, or resolved over the 
course of the narrative.

Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to task, 

purpose, and audience. (Grade-specific expectations for writing types are defined in standards 1-3 above.)
5. Develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach, 

focusing on addressing what is most significant for a specific purpose and audience. (Editing for conventions 
should demonstrate command of Language standards 1-3 up to and including grades 11-12.)

6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce, publish, and update individual or shared writing products in 
response to ongoing feedback, including new arguments or information.

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short as well as more sustained research projects to answer a question (including a self-generated 

question) or solve a problem; narrow or broaden the inquiry when appropriate; synthesize multiple sources on the 
subject, demonstrating understanding of the subject under investigation.

8. Gather relevant information from multiple authoritative print and digital sources, using advanced searches 
effectively; assess the strengths and limitations of each source in terms of the task, purpose, and audience; 
integrate information into the text selectively to maintain the flow of ideas, avoiding plagiarism and overreliance 
on any one source and following a standard format for citation.

9. Draw evidence from literary or informational texts, including those by and about American Indians, to support 
analysis, reflection, and research.
a. Apply grades 11–12 Reading standards to literature (e.g., “Demonstrate knowledge of eighteenth-, nineteenth-

and early-twentieth-century foundational works of American literature, including how two or more texts from 
the same period treat similar themes or topics”).

b. Apply grades 11–12 Reading standards to literary nonfiction (e.g., “Delineate and evaluate the reasoning in 
seminal U.S. texts, including the application of constitutional principles and use of legal reasoning [e.g., in U.S. 
Supreme Court Case majority opinions and dissents] and the premises, purposes, and arguments in works of 
public advocacy [e.g., The Federalist, presidential addresses, American Indian Policies]”).

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a 

single sitting or a day or two) for a range of tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Speaking and Listening Standards
Comprehension and Collaboration
1. Initiate and participate effectively in a range of collaborative discussions (one-on-one, in groups, and teacher-led) 

with diverse partners on grades 11–12 topics, texts, and issues, building on others’ ideas and expressing their own 
clearly and persuasively.
a. Come to discussions prepared, having read and researched material under study; explicitly draw on that 

preparation by referring to evidence from texts and other research on the topic or issue to stimulate a thoughtful, 
well-reasoned exchange of ideas.

b. Work with peers to promote civil, democratic discussions and decision-making, set clear goals and deadlines, 
and establish individual roles as needed.



Grades 11-12

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 56

c. Propel conversations by posing and responding to questions that probe reasoning and evidence; ensure a 
hearing for a full range of positions on a topic or issue; clarify, verify, or challenge ideas and conclusions; and 
promote divergent and creative perspectives.

d. Respond thoughtfully to diverse perspectives, with specific attention to culture; synthesize comments, claims, 
and evidence made on all sides of an issue; resolve contradictions when possible; and determine what additional 
information or research is required to deepen the investigation or complete the task.

2. Integrate multiple sources of information presented in diverse formats and media (e.g., visually, quantitatively, 
orally) in order to make informed decisions and solve problems, evaluating the credibility and accuracy of each 
source and noting any discrepancies among the data.

3. Evaluate a speaker’s point of view, reasoning, and use of evidence and rhetoric, including culturally diverse 
contexts, assessing the stance, premises, links among ideas, word choice, points of emphasis, and tone used.

Presentation of Knowledge and Ideas
4. Present information, findings, and supporting evidence, conveying a clear and distinct perspective, such that 

listeners can follow the line of reasoning, alternative or opposing perspectives are addressed, and the organization, 
development, substance, and style are appropriate to purpose, audience, and a range of formal and informal tasks.

5. Make strategic use of digital media (e.g., textual, graphical, audio, visual, and interactive elements) in 
presentations to enhance understanding of findings, reasoning, and evidence and to add interest.

6. Adapt speech to a variety of contexts and tasks, demonstrating a command of formal English when indicated or 
appropriate. (See grades 11-12 Language standards 1 and 3 for specific expectations.)

Language Standards
Conventions of Standard English
1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

a. Apply the understanding that usage is a matter of convention, can change over time, and is sometimes 
contested.

b. Resolve issues of complex or contested usage, consulting references (e.g., Merriam-Webster’s Dictionary of 
English Usage, Garner’s Modern American Usage) as needed.

2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when 
writing.
a. Observe hyphenation conventions.
b. Spell correctly.

Knowledge of Language
3. Apply knowledge of language to understand how language functions in different contexts, to make effective 

choices for meaning or style, and to comprehend more fully when reading or listening.
a. Vary syntax for effect, consulting references (e.g., Tufte’s Artful Sentences) for guidance as needed; apply an 

understanding of syntax to the study of complex texts when reading.
Vocabulary Acquisition and Use
4. Determine or clarify the meaning of unknown and multiple-meaning words and phrases based on grades 11–12
reading and content, choosing flexibly from a range of strategies, recognizing the role culture plays in the 
development of language.

a. Use context (e.g., the overall meaning of a sentence, paragraph, or text; a word’s position or function in a 
sentence) as a clue to the meaning of a word or phrase.

b. Identify and correctly use patterns of word changes that indicate different meanings or parts of speech (e.g., 
conceive, conception, conceivable).

c. Consult general and specialized reference materials (e.g., dictionaries, glossaries, thesauruses), both print and 
digital, to find the pronunciation of a word or determine or clarify its precise meaning, its part of speech, its 
etymology, or its standard usage.

d. Verify the preliminary determination of the meaning of a word or phrase (e.g., by checking the inferred 
meaning in context or in a dictionary).

5. Demonstrate understanding of figurative language, word relationships, and nuances in word meanings.
a. Interpret figures of speech (e.g., hyperbole, paradox) in context and analyze their role in the text.
b. Analyze nuances in the meaning of words with similar denotations.



Grades 11-12

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 57

6. Acquire and use accurately general academic and domain-specific words and phrases, sufficient for reading, 
writing, speaking, and listening at the college and career readiness level; demonstrate independence in gathering 
vocabulary knowledge when considering a word or phrase important to comprehension or expression.



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 58

Standard 10: Range, Quality, and Complexity of Student Reading 6–12 
Measuring Text Complexity: Three Factors

Qualitative evaluation of the text: Levels of meaning, structure, language 
conventionality and clarity, and knowledge demands

Quantitative evaluation of the text: Readability measures and other scores 
of text complexity

Matching reader to text and task: Reader variables (such as motivation, 
knowledge, and experiences) and task variables (such as purpose and the 
complexity generated by the task assigned and the questions posed)

Note: More detailed information on text complexity and how it is measured is 
contained in Appendix A.

Range of Text Types for 6–12

Students in grades 6–12 apply the Reading standards to the following range of text types, with texts selected from a 
broad range of cultures and periods.

Literature Informational Text

Stories Drama Poetry Literary Nonfiction 

Includes the subgenres of 
adventure stories, historical 
fiction, mysteries, myths, 
science fiction, realistic 
fiction, allegories, 
parodies, satire, and 
graphic novels

Includes one-
act and multi-
act plays, both 
in written form 
and on film

Includes the 
subgenres of 
narrative poems, 
lyrical poems, free 
verse poems, 
sonnets, odes, 
ballads, and epics

Includes the subgenres of exposition, 
argument, and functional text in the form of 
personal essays, speeches, opinion pieces, 
essays about art or literature, biographies, 
memoirs, journalism, and historical, 
scientific, technical, or economic accounts 
(including digital sources) written for a 
broad audience 



Grades 6-8

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 59

Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science and Technical Subjects 

Grades 6-8 
Reading Standards for Literacy in History/Social Studies

Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite specific textual evidence to support analysis of primary and secondary sources.
2. Determine the central ideas or information of a primary or secondary source; provide an accurate summary of 

the source distinct from prior knowledge or opinions.
3. Identify key steps in a text’s description of a process related to history/social studies (e.g., how a bill becomes 

law, how interest rates are raised or lowered).
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including vocabulary specific to 

domains related to history/social studies.
5. Describe how a text presents information (e.g., sequentially, comparatively, causally). 
6. Identify aspects of a text, including those by and about American Indians, that reveal an author’s point of view 

or purpose (e.g., loaded language, inclusion or avoidance of particular facts).
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Integrate visual information (e.g., in charts, graphs, photographs, videos, or maps) with other information in 

print and digital texts.
8. Distinguish among fact, opinion, and reasoned judgment in a text including texts by and about American 

Indians.
9. Analyze the relationship between a primary and secondary source on the same topic, including sources by and

about American Indians.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 8, read and comprehend history/social studies texts in the grades 6–8 text complexity band 

independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards for Literacy in Science and Technical Subjects

Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite specific textual evidence to support analysis of science and technical texts.
2. Determine the central ideas or conclusions of a text; provide an accurate summary of the text distinct from prior 

knowledge or opinions.
3. Follow precisely a multistep procedure when carrying out experiments, taking measurements, or performing 

technical tasks.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of symbols, key terms, and other domain-specific words and phrases as they are used in 

a specific scientific or technical context relevant to grades 6–8 texts and topics.
5. Analyze the structure an author uses to organize a text, including how the major sections contribute to the whole 

and to an understanding of the topic.
6. Analyze the author’s purpose in providing an explanation, describing a procedure, or discussing an experiment 

in a text.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Integrate quantitative or technical information expressed in words in a text with a version of that information 

expressed visually (e.g., in a flowchart, diagram, model, graph, or table).
8. Distinguish among facts, reasoned judgment based on research findings, and speculation in a text. Include texts 

by and about American Indians.



Grades 6-8

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 60

9. Compare and contrast the information gained from experiments, simulations, video, or multimedia sources with 
that gained from reading a text on the same topic.

Range of Reading Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 8, read and comprehend science/technical texts in the grades 6–8 text complexity band 

independently and proficiently.

Writing Standards for Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science, and Technical Subjects

Text Types and Purposes
1. Write arguments focused on discipline-specific content.

a. Introduce claim(s) about a topic or issue, acknowledge and distinguish the claim(s) from alternate or 
opposing claims, and organize the reasons and evidence logically.

b. Support claim(s) with logical reasoning and relevant, accurate data and evidence that demonstrate an 
understanding of the topic or text, using credible sources.

c. Use words, phrases, and clauses to create cohesion and clarify the relationships among claim(s), 
counterclaims, reasons, and evidence.

d. Establish and maintain a formal style.
e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the argument presented.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts, including the narration of historical events, scientific procedures/ 
experiments, or technical processes.

a. Introduce a topic clearly, previewing what is to follow; organize ideas, concepts, and information into 
broader categories as appropriate to achieving purpose; include formatting (e.g., headings), graphics (e.g., 
charts, tables), and multimedia when useful to aiding comprehension.

b. Develop the topic with relevant, well-chosen facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other 
information and examples.

c. Use appropriate and varied transitions to create cohesion and clarify the relationships among ideas and 
concepts.

d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to inform about or explain the topic.
e. Establish and maintain a formal style and objective tone.
f. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation 

presented.
3. (See note; not applicable as a separate requirement)
Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to task,

purpose, and audience.
5. With some guidance and support from peers and adults, develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning,

revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach, focusing on how well purpose and audience have been 
addressed.

6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce and publish writing and present the relationships between
information and ideas clearly and efficiently.

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short research projects to answer a question (including a self-generated question), drawing on several

sources and generating additional related, focused questions that allow for multiple avenues of exploration.
8. Gather relevant information from multiple oral, print and digital sources, using search terms effectively; assess

the credibility and accuracy of each source; and quote or paraphrase the data and conclusions of others while
avoiding plagiarism and following a standard format for citation.

9. Draw evidence from informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research. Include texts by and
about American Indians.



Grades 6-8

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 61

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for reflection and revision) and shorter time frames (a single

sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.
Note: Students’ narrative skills continue to grow in these grades. The Standards require that students be able to 
incorporate narrative elements effectively into arguments and informative/explanatory texts. In history/social 
studies, students must be able to incorporate narrative accounts into their analyses of individuals or events of 
historical import. In science and technical subjects, students must be able to write precise enough descriptions of the 
step-by-step procedures they use in their investigations or technical work that others can replicate them and 
(possibly) reach the same results.



Grades 9-10

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 62

Grades 9-10 

Reading Standards for Literacy in History/Social Studies 
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite specific textual evidence to support analysis of primary and secondary sources, attending to such features 

as the date and origin of the information.
2. Determine the central ideas or information of a primary or secondary source; provide an accurate summary of 

how key events or ideas develop over the course of the text.
3. Analyze in detail a series of events described in a text; determine whether earlier events caused later ones or 

simply preceded them.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including vocabulary describing 

political, social, cultural, or economic aspects of history/social studies.
5. Analyze how a text uses structure to emphasize key points or advance an explanation or analysis.
6. Compare the point of view of two or more authors, incorporating American Indian authors, for how they treat 

the same or similar topics, including which details they include and emphasize in their respective accounts.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Integrate quantitative or technical analysis (e.g., charts, research data) with qualitative analysis in print or digital 

text.
8. Assess the extent to which the reasoning and evidence in a text support the author’s claims. Include texts by and 

about American Indians.
9. Compare and contrast treatments of the same topic in several primary and secondary sources including 

American Indian sources.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 10, read and comprehend history/social studies texts in the grades 9–10 text complexity 

band independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards for Literacy in Science and Technical Subjects
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite specific textual evidence to support analysis of science and technical texts, attending to the precise details 

of explanations or descriptions.
2. Determine the central ideas or conclusions of a text; trace the text’s explanation or depiction of a complex 

process, phenomenon, or concept; provide an accurate summary of the text.
3. Follow precisely a complex multistep procedure when carrying out experiments, taking measurements, or 

performing technical tasks, attending to special cases or exceptions defined in the text.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of symbols, key terms, and other domain-specific words and phrases as they are used in 

a specific scientific or technical context relevant to grades 9–10 texts and topics.
5. Analyze the structure of the relationships among concepts in a text, including relationships among key terms 

(e.g., force, friction, reaction force, energy).
6. Analyze the author’s purpose in providing an explanation, describing a procedure, or discussing an experiment 

in a text, defining the question the author seeks to address.
Integration of Knowledge
7. Translate quantitative or technical information expressed in words in a text into visual form (e.g., a table or 

chart) and translate information expressed visually or mathematically (e.g., in an equation) into words.
8. Assess the extent to which the reasoning and evidence in a text support the author’s claim or a recommendation 

for solving a scientific or technical problem.
9. Compare and contrast findings presented in a text to those from other sources (including their own experiments, 

and knowledge derived from American Indian cultures), noting when the findings support or contradict 
previous explanations or accounts.



Grades 9-10

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 63

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 10, read and comprehend science/technical texts in the grades 9–10 text complexity band 

independently and proficiently.

Writing Standards for Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science, and Technical Subjects

Text Types and Purposes
1. Write arguments focused on discipline-specific content.

a. Introduce precise claim(s), distinguish the claim(s) from alternate or opposing claims, and create 
an organization that establishes clear relationships among the claim(s), counterclaims, reasons, and 
evidence.

b. Develop claim(s) and counterclaims fairly, supplying data and evidence for each while pointing 
out the strengths and limitations of both claim(s) and counterclaims in a discipline-appropriate 
form and in a manner that anticipates the audience’s knowledge level and concerns.

c. Use words, phrases, and clauses to link the major sections of the text, create cohesion, and clarify 
the relationships between claim(s) and reasons, between reasons and evidence, and between 
claim(s) and counterclaims.

d. Establish and maintain a formal style and objective tone while attending to the norms and 
conventions of the discipline in which they are writing.

e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from or supports the argument presented.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts, including the narration of historical events, scientific procedures/ 
experiments, or technical processes.

a. Introduce a topic and organize ideas, concepts, and information to make important connections and 
distinctions; include formatting (e.g., headings), graphics (e.g., figures, tables), and multimedia when 
useful to aiding comprehension.

b. Develop the topic with well-chosen, relevant, and sufficient facts, extended definitions, concrete 
details, quotations, or other information and examples appropriate to the audience’s knowledge of the 
topic.

c. Use varied transitions and sentence structures to link the major sections of the text, create cohesion, and 
clarify the relationships among ideas and concepts.

d. Use precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to manage the complexity of the topic and 
convey a style appropriate to the discipline and context as well as to the expertise of likely readers.

e. Establish and maintain a formal style and objective tone while attending to the norms and conventions 
of the discipline in which they are writing.

f.     Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or
explanation presented (e.g., articulating implications or the significance of the topic).

3. (See note; not applicable as a separate requirement)
Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to task, 

purpose, and audience.
5. Develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach, 

focusing on addressing what is most significant for a specific purpose and audience.
6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce, publish, and update individual or shared writing products, 

taking advantage of technology’s capacity to link to other information and to display information flexibly and 
dynamically.



Grades 9-10

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 64

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short as well as more sustained research projects to answer a question (including a self-generated 

question) or solve a problem; narrow or broaden the inquiry when appropriate; synthesize multiple sources on 
the subject, demonstrating understanding of the subject under investigation.

8. Gather relevant information from multiple authoritative oral, print and digital sources, using advanced searches 
effectively; assess the usefulness of each source in answering the research question; integrate information into 
the text selectively to maintain the flow of ideas, avoiding plagiarism and following a standard format for 
citation.

9. Draw evidence from informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research.  Include texts by and 
about American Indians.

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for reflection and revision) and shorter time frames (a single 

sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Note: Students’ narrative skills continue to grow in these grades. The Standards require that students be able to 
incorporate narrative elements effectively into arguments and informative/explanatory texts. In history/social 
studies, students must be able to incorporate narrative accounts into their analyses of individuals or events of 
historical import. In science and technical subjects, students must be able to write precise enough descriptions of the 
step-by-step procedures they use in their investigations or technical work that others can replicate them and 
(possibly) reach the same results.



Grades 11-12

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 65

Grades 11-12 

Reading Standards for Literacy in History/Social Studies 
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite specific textual evidence to support analysis of primary and secondary sources, connecting insights gained 

from specific details to an understanding of the text as a whole.
2. Determine the central ideas or information of a primary or secondary source; provide an accurate summary that 

makes clear the relationships among the key details and ideas.
3. Evaluate various explanations for actions or events and determine which explanation best accords with textual 

evidence, acknowledging where the text leaves matters uncertain.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including analyzing how an author uses 

and refines the meaning of a key term over the course of a text (e.g., how Madison defines faction in Federalist
No. 10; how the use of "sovereignty" in official documents impacts political and legal relationships).

5. Analyze in detail how a complex primary source is structured, including how key sentences, paragraphs, and 
larger portions of the text contribute to the whole.  

6. Evaluate authors’, incorporating American Indian authors, differing points of view on the same historical event 
or issue by assessing the authors’ claims, reasoning, and evidence.

7. Integrate and evaluate multiple sources of information presented in diverse formats and media (e.g., visually, 
quantitatively, as well as in words) in order to address a question or solve a problem.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
8. Evaluate an author’s premises, claims, and evidence by corroborating or challenging them with other 

information. Include texts by and about American Indians.
9. Integrate information from diverse sources, including American Indian sources, both primary and secondary, 

into a coherent understanding of an idea or event, noting discrepancies among sources.
Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 12, read and comprehend history/social studies texts in the grades 11-CCR text complexity 

band independently and proficiently.

Reading Standards for Literacy in Science and Technical Subjects
Key Ideas and Details
1. Cite specific textual evidence to support analysis of science and technical texts, attending to important 

distinctions the author makes and to any gaps or inconsistencies in the account.
2. Determine the central ideas or conclusions of a text; summarize complex concepts, processes, or information 

presented in a text by paraphrasing them in simpler but still accurate terms.
3. Follow precisely a complex multistep procedure when carrying out experiments, taking measurements, or 

performing technical tasks; analyze the specific results based on explanations in the text.
Craft and Structure
4. Determine the meaning of symbols, key terms, and other domain-specific words and phrases as they are used 

in a specific scientific or technical context relevant to grades 11–12 texts and topics.
5. Analyze how the text structures information or ideas into categories or hierarchies, demonstrating 

understanding of the information or ideas.
6. Analyze the author’s purpose in providing an explanation, describing a procedure, or discussing an experiment 

in a text, identifying important issues that remain unresolved.
Integration of Knowledge and Ideas
7. Integrate and evaluate multiple sources of information presented in diverse formats and media (e.g., 

quantitative data, video, multimedia, Montana tribal resources) in order to address a question or solve a 
problem.



Grades 11-12

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 66

8. Evaluate the hypotheses, data, analysis, and conclusions in a science or technical text, verifying the data when 
possible and corroborating or challenging conclusions with other sources of information, including those from 
American Indians.

9. Synthesize information from a range of sources (e.g., texts, experiments, simulations, and knowledge derived 
from American Indian cultures) into a coherent understanding of a process, phenomenon, or concept, resolving 
conflicting information when possible.

Range of Reading and Level of Text Complexity
10. By the end of grade 12, read and comprehend science/technical texts in the grades 11-CCR text complexity 

band independently and proficiently.

Writing Standards for Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science, and Technical Subjects
Text Types and Purposes
1. Write arguments focused on discipline-specific content.

a. Introduce precise, knowledgeable claim(s), establish the significance of the claim(s), distinguish the 
claim(s) from alternate or opposing claims, and create an organization that logically sequences the claim(s), 
counterclaims, reasons, and evidence.

b. Develop claim(s) and counterclaims fairly and thoroughly, supplying the most relevant data and evidence 
for each while pointing out the strengths and limitations of both claim(s) and counterclaims in a discipline-
appropriate form that anticipates the audience’s knowledge level, concerns, values, and possible biases.

c. Use words, phrases, and clauses as well as varied syntax to link the major sections of the text, create 
cohesion, and clarify the relationships between claim(s) and reasons, between reasons and evidence, and 
between claim(s) and counterclaims. 

d. Establish and maintain a formal style and objective tone while attending to the norms and conventions of 
the discipline in which they are writing.

e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from or supports the argument presented.

2. Write informative/explanatory texts, including the narration of historical events, scientific procedures/ 
experiments, or technical processes.
a. Introduce a topic and organize complex ideas, concepts, and information so that each new element builds 

on that which precedes it to create a unified whole; include formatting (e.g., headings), graphics (e.g., 
figures, tables), and multimedia when useful to aiding comprehension.

b. Develop the topic thoroughly by selecting the most significant and relevant facts, extended definitions, 
concrete details, quotations, or other information and examples appropriate to the audience’s knowledge of 
the topic.

c. Use varied transitions and sentence structures to link the major sections of the text, create cohesion, and 
clarify the relationships among complex ideas and concepts.

d. Use precise language, domain-specific vocabulary and techniques such as metaphor, simile, and analogy to 
manage the complexity of the topic; convey a knowledgeable stance in a style that responds to the 
discipline and context as well as to the expertise of likely readers.

e. Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation 
provided (e.g., articulating implications or the significance of the topic).

3. (See note; not applicable as a separate requirement)
Production and Distribution of Writing
4. Produce clear and coherent writing in which the development, organization, and style are appropriate to 
task, purpose, and audience.
5. Develop and strengthen writing as needed by planning, revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new 
approach, focusing on addressing what is most significant for a specific purpose and audience.
6. Use technology, including the Internet, to produce, publish, and update individual or shared writing 
products in response to ongoing feedback, including new arguments or information.



Grades 11-12

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 67

Research to Build and Present Knowledge
7. Conduct short as well as more sustained research projects to answer a question (including a self-generated 
question) or solve a problem; narrow or broaden the inquiry when appropriate; synthesize multiple sources on the 
subject, demonstrating understanding of the subject under investigation.
8. Gather relevant information from multiple authoritative oral, print and digital sources, using advanced 
searches effectively; assess the strengths and limitations of each source in terms of the specific task, purpose, and 
audience; integrate information into the text selectively to maintain the flow of ideas, avoiding plagiarism and 
overreliance on any one source and following a standard format for citation.
9. Draw evidence from informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research. Include texts by and 
about American Indians.

Range of Writing
10. Write routinely over extended time frames (time for reflection and revision) and shorter time frames (a 
single sitting or a day or two) for a range of discipline-specific tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Note: Students’ narrative skills continue to grow in these grades. The Standards require that students be able to 
incorporate narrative elements effectively into arguments and informative/explanatory texts. In history/social 
studies, students must be able to incorporate narrative accounts into their analyses of individuals or events of 
historical import. In science and technical subjects, students must be able to write precise enough descriptions of the 
step-by-step procedures they use in their investigations or technical work that others can replicate them and 
(possibly) reach the same results.



TIMELINE - PROPOSED 
Montana K-12 Content Standards for English Language Arts and Literacy

in History/Social Studies, Science, and Technical Subjects
June 17, 2011

Recommendation to the BPE ........................................ May 2011 meeting

Present proposed Montana K-12 Content Standards for English 
Language Arts and Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science, and 
Technical Subjects to the BPE .......................................July 2011 meeting

Notice of Public Hearing approval by BPE...........September 2011 meeting

Proposed notice to SOS for notice in MAR................. September 12, 2011

MAR publication out ................................................... September 22, 2011

Hearing date....................................................... week of October 24, 2011

Final Public Input deadline .................................................. date of hearing

Draft Adoption Notice to BPE ...............................November 2011 meeting

Final rule changes to SOS for notice in MAR............... November 14, 2011

MAR publication out .................................................... November 23, 2011

Effective Date of Rules.................................................. (to be determined)
Effective date dependant upon Cost Analysis through a Legislative Fiscal Analysis



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Montana K-12 Content Standards in Mathematics

PRESENTER: Kris Goyins
Communication Arts Curriculum Specialist
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: The Office of Public Instruction will present to the Montana Board of Public 
Education an update on the progress toward adoption of the Common Core State 
Standards in Mathematics.  This presentation includes the following documents:
(1) The proposed Montana K-12 Content Standards in Mathematics with 
embedded Indian Education for All content; and (2.) The proposed timeline for
adoption of Montana K-12 Content Standards in Mathematics.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): None

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S): Information/Discussion



DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  

2011 MONTANA K-12

CONTENT STANDARDS

FOR

MATHEMATICS



Montana Mathematics K-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 1

Introduction............................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Understanding mathematics.................................................................................................................................... 3 

How to read the grade level standards .................................................................................................................... 4 

Montana Mathematics Standards for Mathematical Practice ................................................................................. 5 

Montana Mathematics Kindergarten Content Standards ........................................................................................ 8 

Montana Mathematics Grade 1 Content Standards .............................................................................................. 11 

Montana Mathematics Grade 2 Content Standards .............................................................................................. 14 

Montana Mathematics Grade 3 Content Standards .............................................................................................. 17 

Montana Mathematics Grade 4 Content Standards .............................................................................................. 21 

Montana Mathematics Grade 5 Content Standards .............................................................................................. 25 

Montana Mathematics Grade 6 Content Standards .............................................................................................. 29 

Montana Mathematics Grade 7 Content Standards .............................................................................................. 34 

Montana Mathematics Grade 8 Content Standards .............................................................................................. 38 

Montana Mathematics Grade 9-12 Content Standards ......................................................................................... 42 

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Number and Quantity Content Standards.................................................... 42 

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Algebra Content Standards.......................................................................... 45 

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Functions Content Standards....................................................................... 49 

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Modeling Content Standards ....................................................................... 52 

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Geometry Content Standards....................................................................... 53 

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Statistics and Probability Content Standards............................................... 57 

Notes on Courses and Transitions......................................................................................................................... 60 

Glossary ................................................................................................................................................................ 61 

Learning Progressions by Domain........................................................................................................................ 64 

   
 



Montana Mathematics K-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 2

Introduction 
Toward greater focus and coherence

Mathematics experiences in early childhood settings should concentrate on (1) number (which includes whole number, 
operations, and relations) and (2) geometry, spatial relations, and measurement, with more mathematics learning time devoted to 
number than to other topics. Mathematical process goals should be integrated in these content areas. 

—Mathematics Learning in Early Childhood, National Research Council, 2009

The composite standards [of Hong Kong, Korea and Singapore] have a number of features that can inform an international 
benchmarking process for the development of K–6 mathematics standards in the U.S. First, the composite standards concentrate 
the early learning of mathematics on the number, measurement, and geometry strands with less emphasis on data analysis and 
little exposure to algebra. The Hong Kong standards for grades 1–3 devote approximately half the targeted time to numbers and 
almost all the time remaining to geometry and measurement. 

— Ginsburg, Leinwand and Decker, 2009

Because the mathematics concepts in [U.S.] textbooks are often weak, the presentation becomes more mechanical than is ideal. 
We looked at both traditional and non-traditional textbooks used in the US and found this conceptual weakness in both.

— Ginsburg et al., 2005

There are many ways to organize curricula. The challenge, now rarely met, is to avoid those that distort mathematics and turn off 
students.

— Steen, 2007
For over a decade, research studies of mathematics education in high-performing countries have pointed to the conclusion that the 
mathematics curriculum in the United States must become substantially more focused and coherent in order to improve mathematics 
achievement in this country. To deliver on the promise of common standards, the standards must address the problem of a curriculum 
that is “a mile wide and an inch deep.” These Standards are a substantial answer to that challenge.

It is important to recognize that “fewer standards” are no substitute for focused standards. Achieving “fewer standards” would be easy 
to do by resorting to broad, general statements. Instead, these Standards aim for clarity and specificity.

Assessing the coherence of a set of standards is more difficult than assessing their focus. William Schmidt and Richard Houang (2002) 
have said that content standards and curricula are coherent if they are:

articulated over time as a sequence of topics and performances that are logical and reflect, where appropriate, the sequential or 
hierarchical nature of the disciplinary content from which the subject matter derives. That is, what and how students are taught 
should reflect not only the topics that fall within a certain academic discipline, but also the key ideas that determine how 
knowledge is organized and generated within that discipline. This implies that “to be coherent,” a set of content standards must 
evolve from particulars (e.g., the meaning and operations of whole numbers, including simple math facts and routine 
computational procedures associated with whole numbers and fractions) to deeper structures inherent in the discipline. These 
deeper structures then serve as a means for connecting the particulars (such as an understanding of the rational number system
and its properties). (emphasis added)

These Standards endeavor to follow such a design, not only by stressing conceptual understanding of key ideas, but also by 
continually returning to organizing principles such as place value or the laws of arithmetic to structure those ideas.

In addition, the “sequence of topics and performances” that is outlined in a body of mathematics standards must also respect what is 
known about how students learn. As Confrey (2007) points out, developing “sequenced obstacles and challenges for students…absent 
the insights about meaning that derive from careful study of learning, would be unfortunate and unwise.” In recognition of this, the 
development of these Standards began with research-based learning progressions detailing what is known today about how students’ 
mathematical knowledge, skill, and understanding develop over time.



Montana Mathematics K-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 3

Understanding mathematics 

These Standards define what students should understand and be able to do in their study of mathematics. Asking a student to 
understand something means asking a teacher to assess whether the student has understood it. But what does mathematical 
understanding look like? One hallmark of mathematical understanding is the ability to justify, in a way appropriate to the student’s 
mathematical maturity, why a particular mathematical statement is true or where a mathematical rule comes from. There is a world of 
difference between a student who can summon a mnemonic device to expand a product such as (a + b)(x + y) and a student who can 
explain where the mnemonic comes from. The student who can explain the rule understands the mathematics, and may have a better 
chance to succeed at a less familiar task such as expanding (a + b + c)(x + y). Mathematical understanding and procedural skill are 
equally important, and both are assessable using mathematical tasks of sufficient richness.

The Standards set grade-specific standards but do not define the intervention methods or materials necessary to support students who 
are well below or well above grade-level expectations. It is also beyond the scope of the Standards to define the full range of supports 
appropriate for English language learners and for students with special needs. At the same time, all students must have the opportunity 
to learn and meet the same high standards if they are to access the knowledge and skills necessary in their post-school lives. The 
Standards should be read as allowing for the widest possible range of students to participate fully from the outset, along with 
appropriate accommodations to ensure maximum participation of students with special education needs. For example, for students 
with disabilities reading should allow for use of Braille, screen reader technology, or other assistive devices, while writing should 
include the use of a scribe, computer, or speech-to-text technology. In a similar vein, speaking and listening should be interpreted 
broadly to include sign language. No set of grade-specific standards can fully reflect the great variety in abilities, needs, learning rates, 
and achievement levels of students in any given classroom. However, the Standards do provide clear signposts along the way to the 
goal of college and career readiness for all students.

The Standards begin with eight Standards for Mathematical Practice.



Montana Mathematics K-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 4

How to read the grade level standards 

Standards define what students should understand and be able to do.
Clusters summarize groups of related standards. Note that standards from different clusters may sometimes be closely related, 
because mathematics is a connected subject.
Domains are larger groups of related standards. Standards from different domains may sometimes be closely related.

These Standards do not dictate curriculum or teaching methods. For example, just because topic A appears before topic B in the
standards for a given grade, it does not necessarily mean that topic A must be taught before topic B. A teacher might prefer to teach 
topic B before topic A, or might choose to highlight connections by teaching topic A and topic B at the same time. Or, a teacher might 
prefer to teach a topic of his or her own choosing that leads, as a byproduct, to students reaching the standards for topics A and B.

What students can learn at any particular grade level depends upon what they have learned before. Ideally then, each standard in this 
document might have been phrased in the form, “Students who already know A should next come to learn B.” But at present this 
approach is unrealistic—not least because existing education research cannot specify all such learning pathways. Of necessity 
therefore, grade placements for specific topics have been made on the basis of state and international comparisons and the collective 
experience and collective professional judgment of educators, researchers and mathematicians. One promise of common state 
standards is that over time they will allow research on learning progressions to inform and improve the design of standards to a much 
greater extent than is possible today. Learning opportunities will continue to vary across schools and school systems, and educators 
should make every effort to meet the needs of individual students based on their current understanding.

These Standards are not intended to be new names for old ways of doing business. They are a call to take the next step. It is time for 
states to work together to build on lessons learned from two decades of standards based reforms. It is time to recognize that these 
standards are not just promises to our children, but promises we intend to keep.



Montana Mathematics Standards for Mathematical Practice

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 5

Montana Mathematics Standards for Mathematical Practice 

The Standards for Mathematical Practice describe varieties of expertise that mathematics educators at all levels should seek to develop 
in their students. These practices rest on important “processes and proficiencies” with long-standing importance in mathematics 
education. The first of these are the NCTM process standards of problem solving, reasoning and proof, communication, 
representation, and connections. The second are the strands of mathematical proficiency specified in the National Research Council’s 
report Adding It Up: adaptive reasoning, strategic competence, conceptual understanding (comprehension of mathematical concepts, 
operations and relations), procedural fluency (skill in carrying out procedures flexibly, accurately, efficiently and appropriately), and 
productive disposition (habitual inclination to see mathematics as sensible, useful, and worthwhile, coupled with a belief in diligence 
and one’s own efficacy).

1. Make sense of problems and persevere in solving them.
Mathematically proficient students start by explaining to themselves the meaning of a problem and looking for entry points to its 
solution. They analyze givens, constraints, relationships, and goals. They make conjectures about the form and meaning of the 
solution and plan a solution pathway rather than simply jumping into a solution attempt. They consider analogous problems, and try 
special cases and simpler forms of the original problem in order to gain insight into its solution. They monitor and evaluate their 
progress and change course if necessary. Older students might, depending on the context of the problem, transform algebraic 
expressions or change the viewing window on their graphing calculator to get the information they need. Mathematically proficient 
students can explain correspondences between equations, verbal descriptions, tables, and graphs or draw diagrams of important
features and relationships, graph data, and search for regularity or trends. Younger students might rely on using concrete objects or 
pictures to help conceptualize and solve a problem. Mathematically proficient students check their answers to problems using a
different method, and they continually ask themselves, “Does this make sense?” They can understand the approaches of others to 
solving complex problems and identify correspondences between different approaches. Building on the inherent problem-solving 
abilities of people over time, students can understand that mathematics is relevant when studied in a cultural context that applies to 
real-world situations and environments.

2. Reason abstractly and quantitatively.
Mathematically proficient students make sense of quantities and their relationships in problem situations. They bring two 
complementary abilities to bear on problems involving quantitative relationships: the ability to decontextualize—to abstract a given 
situation and represent it symbolically and manipulate the representing symbols as if they have a life of their own, without necessarily 
attending to their referents—and the ability to contextualize, to pause as needed during the manipulation process in order to probe into 
the referents for the symbols involved. Quantitative reasoning entails habits of creating a coherent representation of the problem at 
hand; considering the units involved; attending to the meaning of quantities, not just how to compute them; and knowing and flexibly 
using different properties of operations and objects.

3. Construct viable arguments and critique the reasoning of others.
Mathematically proficient students understand and use stated assumptions, definitions, and previously established results in 
constructing arguments. They make conjectures and build a logical progression of statements to explore the truth of their conjectures. 
They are able to analyze situations by breaking them into cases, and can recognize and use counterexamples. They justify their 
conclusions, communicate them to others, and respond to the arguments of others. They reason inductively about data, making 
plausible arguments that take into account the context from which the data arose. Mathematically proficient students are also able to 
compare the effectiveness of two plausible arguments, distinguish correct logic or reasoning from that which is flawed, and—if there 
is a flaw in an argument—explain what it is. Elementary students can construct arguments using concrete referents such as objects, 
drawings, diagrams, and actions within a cultural context, including those of Montana American Indians. Such arguments can make 
sense and be correct, even though they are not generalized or made formal until later grades. Later, students learn to determine 
domains to which an argument applies. Students at all grades can listen or read the arguments of others, decide whether they make 
sense, and ask useful questions to clarify or improve the arguments.



Montana Mathematics Standards for Mathematical Practice

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 6

4. Model with mathematics.
Mathematically proficient students can apply the mathematics they know to solve problems arising in everyday life, society, and the 
workplace. This includes solving problems within a cultural context, including those of Montana American Indians. In early grades, 
this might be as simple as writing an addition equation to describe a situation. In middle grades, a student might apply proportional 
reasoning to plan a school event or analyze a problem in the community. By high school, a student might use geometry to solve a 
design problem or use a function to describe how one quantity of interest depends on another. Mathematically proficient students who 
can apply what they know are comfortable making assumptions and approximations to simplify a complicated situation, realizing that 
these may need revision later. They are able to identify important quantities in a practical situation and map their relationships using 
such tools as diagrams, two-way tables, graphs, flowcharts and formulas. They can analyze those relationships mathematically to draw 
conclusions. They routinely interpret their mathematical results in the context of the situation and reflect on whether the results make 
sense, possibly improving the model if it has not served its purpose.

5. Use appropriate tools strategically.
Mathematically proficient students consider the available tools when solving a mathematical problem. These tools might include
pencil and paper, concrete models, a ruler, a protractor, a calculator, a spreadsheet, a computer algebra system, a statistical package, or 
dynamic geometry software. Proficient students are sufficiently familiar with tools appropriate for their grade or course to make sound 
decisions about when each of these tools might be helpful, recognizing both the insight to be gained and their limitations. For 
example, mathematically proficient high school students analyze graphs of functions and solutions generated using a graphing 
calculator. They detect possible errors by strategically using estimation and other mathematical knowledge. When making 
mathematical models, they know that technology can enable them to visualize the results of varying assumptions, explore 
consequences, and compare predictions with data. Mathematically proficient students at various grade levels are able to identify 
relevant external mathematical resources, such as digital content located on a website, and use them to pose or solve problems. They 
are able to use technological tools to explore and deepen their understanding of concepts.

6. Attend to precision.
Mathematically proficient students try to communicate precisely to others. They try to use clear definitions in discussion with others 
and in their own reasoning. They state the meaning of the symbols they choose, including using the equal sign consistently and 
appropriately. They are careful about specifying units of measure, and labeling axes to clarify the correspondence with quantities in a 
problem. They calculate accurately and efficiently, express numerical answers with a degree of precision appropriate for the problem 
context. In the elementary grades, students give carefully formulated explanations to each other. By the time they reach high school 
they have learned to examine claims and make explicit use of definitions. 

7. Look for and make use of structure.
Mathematically proficient students look closely to discern a pattern or structure. Young students, for example, might notice that three 
and seven more is the same amount as seven and three more, or they may sort a collection of shapes according to how many sides the 
shapes have. Later, students will see 7 × 8 equals the well remembered 7 × 5 + 7 × 3, in preparation for learning about the distributive 
property. In the expression x2 + 9x + 14, older students can see the 14 as 2 × 7 and the 9 as 2 + 7. They recognize the significance of 
an existing line in a geometric figure and can use the strategy of drawing an auxiliary line for solving problems. They also can step 
back for an overview and shift perspective. They can see complicated things, such as some algebraic expressions, as single objects or 
as being composed of several objects. For example, they can see 5 – 3(x – y)2 as 5 minus a positive number times a square and use that 
to realize that its value cannot be more than 5 for any real numbers x and y.

8. Look for and express regularity in repeated reasoning.
Mathematically proficient students notice if calculations are repeated, and look both for general methods and for shortcuts. Upper 
elementary students might notice when dividing 25 by 11 that they are repeating the same calculations over and over again, and
conclude they have a repeating decimal. By paying attention to the calculation of slope as they repeatedly check whether points are on 
the line through (1, 2) with slope 3, middle school students might abstract the equation (y – 2)/(x – 1) = 3. Noticing the regularity in 
the way terms cancel when expanding (x – 1)(x + 1), (x – 1)(x2 + x + 1), and (x – 1)(x3 + x2 + x + 1) might lead them to the general 
formula for the sum of a geometric series. As they work to solve a problem, mathematically proficient students maintain oversight of 
the process, while attending to the details. They continually evaluate the reasonableness of their intermediate results.



Montana Mathematics Standards for Mathematical Practice

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 7

Connecting the Standards for Mathematical Practice to the Standards for Mathematical Content

The Standards for Mathematical Practice describe ways in which developing student practitioners of the discipline of mathematics 
increasingly ought to engage with the subject matter as they grow in mathematical maturity and expertise throughout the elementary, 
middle and high school years. Designers of curricula, assessments, and professional development should all attend to the need to 
connect the mathematical practices to mathematical content in mathematics instruction.

The Standards for Mathematical Content are a balanced combination of procedure and understanding. Expectations that begin with the 
word “understand” are often especially good opportunities to connect the practices to the content. Students who lack understanding of 
a topic may rely on procedures too heavily. Without a flexible base from which to work, they may be less likely to consider analogous 
problems, represent problems coherently, justify conclusions, apply the mathematics to practical situations, use technology mindfully 
to work with the mathematics, explain the mathematics accurately to other students, step back for an overview, or deviate from a 
known procedure to find a shortcut. In short, a lack of understanding effectively prevents a student from engaging in the mathematical 
practices.

In this respect, those content standards which set an expectation of understanding are potential “points of intersection” between the 
Standards for Mathematical Content and the Standards for Mathematical Practice. These points of intersection are intended to be 
weighted toward central and generative concepts in the school mathematics curriculum that most merit the time, resources, innovative 
energies, and focus necessary to qualitatively improve the curriculum, instruction, assessment, professional development, and student 
achievement in mathematics.

Mathematics is a human endeavor with scientific, social, and cultural relevance. Relevant context creates an opportunity for student 
ownership of the study of mathematics. In Montana, the Constitution pursuant to Article X Sect 1(2) and statutes §20-1-501 and §20-
9-309 2(c) MCA, calls for mathematics instruction that incorporates the distinct and unique cultural heritage of Montana American 
Indians. Cultural context and the Standards for Mathematical Practices together provide opportunities to engage students in culturally 
relevant learning of mathematics and create criteria to increase accuracy and authenticity of resources. Both mathematics and culture 
are found everywhere, therefore, the incorporation of contextually relevant mathematics allows for the application of mathematical 
skills and understandings that makes sense for all students. 

Pursuant to Article X Sect 1(2) of the Constitution of the state of Montana and statutes §20-1-501 and §20-9-
309 2(c) MCA, the implementation of these standards must incorporate the distinct and unique cultural 
heritage of Montana American Indians.  



Montana Mathematics Kindergarten Content Standards 

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 8

Montana Mathematics Kindergarten Content Standards   

In Kindergarten, instructional time should focus on two critical areas: (1) representing and comparing whole numbers, initially with 
sets of objects; (2) describing shapes and space. More learning time in Kindergarten should be devoted to number than to other topics.

1. Students use numbers, including written numerals, to represent quantities and to solve quantitative problems, such as counting 
objects in a set; counting out a given number of objects; comparing sets or numerals; and modeling simple joining and separating 
situations with sets of objects, or eventually with equations such as 5 + 2 = 7 and 7 – 2 = 5. (Kindergarten students should see addition 
and subtraction equations, and student writing of equations in kindergarten is encouraged, but it is not required.) Students choose, 
combine, and apply effective strategies for answering quantitative questions, including quickly recognizing the cardinalities of small 
sets of objects, counting and producing sets of given sizes, counting the number of objects in combined sets, or counting the number 
of objects that remain in a set after some are taken away. 

2. Students describe their physical world using geometric ideas (e.g., shape, orientation, spatial relations) and vocabulary. They 
identify, name, and describe basic two-dimensional shapes, such as squares, triangles, circles, rectangles, and hexagons, presented in a 
variety of ways (e.g., with different sizes and orientations), as well as three-dimensional shapes such as cubes, cones, cylinders, and 
spheres. They use basic shapes and spatial reasoning to model objects in their environment and to construct more complex shapes. 

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Grade K Overview

Counting and Cardinality
• Know number names and the 

count sequence.
• Count to tell the number of 

objects.
• Compare numbers.

Operations and Algebraic 
Thinking
• Understand addition as putting 

together and adding to, and 
understand subtraction as taking 
apart and taking from.

Number and Operations in Base 
Ten
• Work with numbers 11–19 to 

gain foundations for place value.

Measurement and Data
• Describe and compare measurable 

attributes.
• Classify objects and count the 

number of objects in categories.

Geometry
• Identify and describe shapes.
• Analyze, compare, create, and 

compose shapes.



Montana Mathematics Kindergarten Content Standards 

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 9

Counting and Cardinality K.CC

Know number names and the count sequence.
1. Count to 100 by ones and by tens. 
2. Count forward beginning from a given number within the known sequence (instead of having to begin at 1). 
3. Write numbers from 0 to 20. Represent a number of objects with a written numeral 0-20 (with 0 representing a count of no objects). 

Count to tell the number of objects.
4. Understand the relationship between numbers and quantities; connect counting to cardinality. 

a. When counting objects, say the number names in the standard order, pairing each object with one and only one number name 
and each number name with one and only one object from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana 
American Indians.

b. Understand that the last number name said tells the number of objects counted. The number of objects is the same regardless 
of their arrangement or the order in which they were counted. 

c. Understand that each successive number name refers to a quantity that is one larger. 
5. Count to answer “how many?” questions about as many as 20 things arranged in a line, a rectangular array, or a circle, or as many 

as 10 things in a scattered configuration; given a number from 1–20, count out that many objects from a variety of cultural 
contexts, including those of Montana American Indians.

Compare numbers.
6. Identify whether the number of objects in one group is greater than, less than, or equal to the number of objects in another group, 

e.g., by using matching and counting strategies.1
7. Compare two numbers between 1 and 10 presented as written numerals. 

Operations and Algebraic Thinking K.OA

Understand addition as putting together and adding to, and understand subtraction as taking apart and taking from.
1. Represent addition and subtraction with objects, fingers, mental images, drawings2, sounds (e.g., claps), acting out situations, verbal 

explanations, expressions, or equations. 
2. Solve addition and subtraction word problems from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians,

and add and subtract within 10, e.g., by using objects or drawings to represent the problem. 
3. Decompose numbers less than or equal to 10 into pairs in more than one way, e.g., by using objects or drawings, and record each 

decomposition by a drawing or equation (e.g., 5 = 2 + 3 and 5 = 4 + 1). 
4. For any number from 1 to 9, find the number that makes 10 when added to the given number, e.g., by using objects or drawings, 

and record the answer with a drawing or equation. 
5. Fluently add and subtract within 5. 



Montana Mathematics Kindergarten Content Standards 

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 10

Number and Operations in Base Ten K.NBT

Work with numbers 11-19 to gain foundations for place value.
1. Compose and decompose numbers from 11 to 19 into ten ones and some further ones, e.g., by using objects or drawings, and record 

each composition or decomposition by a drawing or equation (such as 18 = 10 + 8); understand that these numbers are composed 
of ten ones and one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, or nine ones. 

Measurement and Data K.MD

Describe and compare measurable attributes.
1. Describe measurable attributes of objects, such as length or weight. Describe several measurable attributes of a single object. 
2. Directly compare two objects with a measurable attribute in common, to see which object has “more of”/“less of” the attribute, and 

describe the difference. For example, directly compare the heights of two children and describe one child as taller/shorter.

Classify objects and count the number of objects in each category.
3. Classify objects from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, into given categories; count the 

numbers of objects in each category and sort the categories by count.3

Geometry K.G

Identify and describe shapes (squares, circles, triangles, rectangles, hexagons, cubes, cones, cylinders, and spheres).
1. Describe objects, including those of Montana American Indians, in the environment using names of shapes, and describe the 

relative positions of these objects using terms such as above, below, beside, in front of, behind, and next to.
2. Correctly name shapes regardless of their orientations or overall size. 
3. Identify shapes as two-dimensional (lying in a plane, “flat”) or three-dimensional (“solid”). 

Analyze, compare, create, and compose shapes.
4. Analyze and compare two- and three-dimensional shapes, in different sizes and orientations, using informal language to describe 

their similarities, differences, parts (e.g., number of sides and vertices/“corners”) and other attributes (e.g., having sides of equal 
length). 

5. Model shapes in the world from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, by building shapes 
from components (e.g., sticks and clay balls) and drawing shapes. 

6. Compose simple shapes to form larger shapes. For example, “Can you join these two triangles with full sides touching to make a 
rectangle?”

_________________
1 Include groups with up to ten objects.
2 Drawings need not show details, but should show the mathematics in the problem. (This applies wherever drawings are mentioned in 
the Standards.)
3 Limit category counts to be less than or equal to 10.



Montana Mathematics Grade 1 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 11

Montana Mathematics Grade 1 Content Standards  

In Grade 1, instructional time should focus on four critical areas: (1) developing understanding of addition, subtraction, and strategies 
for addition and subtraction within 20; (2) developing understanding of whole number relationships and place value, including
grouping in tens and ones; (3) developing understanding of linear measurement and measuring lengths as iterating length units; and 
(4) reasoning about attributes of, and composing and decomposing geometric shapes.

1. Students develop strategies for adding and subtracting whole numbers based on their prior work with small numbers. They use a 
variety of models, including discrete objects and length-based models (e.g., cubes connected to form lengths), to model add-to, 
take-from, put-together, take-apart, and compare situations to develop meaning for the operations of addition and subtraction, and 
to develop strategies to solve arithmetic problems with these operations. Students understand connections between counting and 
addition and subtraction (e.g., adding two is the same as counting on two). They use properties of addition to add whole numbers 
and to create and use increasingly sophisticated strategies based on these properties (e.g., “making tens”) to solve addition and 
subtraction problems within 20. By comparing a variety of solution strategies, children build their understanding of the relationship 
between addition and subtraction. 

2. Students develop, discuss, and use efficient, accurate, and generalizable methods to add within 100 and subtract multiples of 10. 
They compare whole numbers (at least to 100) to develop understanding of and solve problems involving their relative sizes. They 
think of whole numbers between 10 and 100 in terms of tens and ones (especially recognizing the numbers 11 to 19 as composed 
of a ten and some ones). Through activities that build number sense, they understand the order of the counting numbers and their 
relative magnitudes. 

3. Students develop an understanding of the meaning and processes of measurement, including underlying concepts such as iterating 
(the mental activity of building up the length of an object with equal-sized units) and the transitivity principle for indirect 
measurement.1

4. Students compose and decompose plane or solid figures (e.g., put two triangles together to make a quadrilateral) and build
understanding of part-whole relationships as well as the properties of the original and composite shapes. As they combine shapes, 
they recognize them from different perspectives and orientations, describe their geometric attributes, and determine how they are 
alike and different, to develop the background for measurement and for initial understandings of properties such as congruence and 
symmetry. 

.

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity in 

repeated reasoning.

Grade 1 Overview
Operations and Algebraic 
Thinking
• Represent and solve problems 

involving addition and 
subtraction.

• Understand and apply properties 
of operations and the 
relationship between addition 
and subtraction.

• Add and subtract within 20.
• Work with addition and 

subtraction equations.

Number and Operations in 
Base Ten
• Extend the counting sequence.
• Understand place value.
• Use place value understanding 
and properties of operations to 
add and subtract.
Measurement and Data
• Measure lengths indirectly and 

by iterating length units.
• Tell and write time.
• Represent and interpret data.
Geometry
• Reason with shapes and their 

attributes.



Montana Mathematics Grade 1 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 12

Operations and Algebraic Thinking 1.OA

Represent and solve problems involving addition and subtraction.
1. Use addition and subtraction within 20 to solve word problems within a cultural context, including those of Montana American 

Indians, involving situations of adding to, taking from, putting together, taking apart, and comparing, with unknowns in all 
positions, e.g., by using objects, drawings, and equations with a symbol for the unknown number to represent the problem.2

2. Solve word problems within a cultural context, including those of Montana American Indians, that call for addition of three whole 
numbers whose sum is less than or equal to 20, e.g., by using objects, drawings, and equations with a symbol for the unknown 
number to represent the problem. 

Understand and apply properties of operations and the relationship between addition and subtraction.
3. Apply properties of operations as strategies to add and subtract.3 Examples: If 8 + 3 = 11 is known, then 3 + 8 = 11 is also known. 

(Commutative property of addition.) To add 2 + 6 + 4, the second two numbers can be added to make a ten, so 2 + 6 + 4 = 2 + 10 
= 12. (Associative property of addition.) 

4. Understand subtraction as an unknown-addend problem. For example, subtract 10 – 8 by finding the number that makes 10 when 
added to 8. 

Add and subtract within 20.
5. Relate counting to addition and subtraction (e.g., by counting on 2 to add 2). 
6. Add and subtract within 20, demonstrating fluency for addition and subtraction within 10. Use strategies such as counting on; 

making ten (e.g., 8 + 6 = 8 + 2 + 4 = 10 + 4 = 14); decomposing a number leading to a ten (e.g., 13 – 4 = 13 – 3 – 1 = 10 – 1 = 9); 
using the relationship between addition and subtraction (e.g., knowing that 8 + 4 = 12, one knows 12 – 8 = 4); and creating 
equivalent but easier or known sums (e.g., adding 6 + 7 by creating the known equivalent 6 + 6 + 1 = 12 + 1 = 13). 

Work with addition and subtraction equations.
7. Understand the meaning of the equal sign, and determine if equations involving addition and subtraction are true or false. For 

example, which of the following equations are true and which are false? 6 = 6, 7 = 8 – 1, 5 + 2 = 2 + 5, 4 + 1 = 5 + 2. 
8. Determine the unknown whole number in an addition or subtraction equation relating to three whole numbers. For example, 

determine the unknown number that makes the equation true in each of the equations 8 + ? = 11, 5 = _ – 3, 6 + 6 = _.

Number and Operations in Base Ten 1.NBT

Extend the counting sequence.
1. Count to 120, starting at any number less than 120. In this range, read and write numerals and represent a number of objects with a 

written numeral. 

Understand place value.
2. Understand that the two digits of a two-digit number represent amounts of tens and ones. Understand the following as special cases: 

a. 10 can be thought of as a bundle of ten ones — called a “ten.” 
b. The numbers from 11 to 19 are composed of a ten and one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, or nine ones. 
c. The numbers 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90 refer to one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, or nine tens (and 0 ones). 

3. Compare two two-digit numbers based on meanings of the tens and ones digits, recording the results of comparisons with the 
symbols >, =, and <.

Use place value understanding and properties of operations to add and subtract.
4. Add within 100, including adding a two-digit number and a one-digit number, and adding a two-digit number and a multiple of 10, 

using concrete models or drawings and strategies based on place value, properties of operations, and/or the relationship between 
addition and subtraction; relate the strategy to a written method and explain the reasoning used. Understand that in adding two-
digit numbers, one adds tens and tens, ones and ones; and sometimes it is necessary to compose a ten. 

5. Given a two-digit number, mentally find 10 more or 10 less than the number, without having to count; explain the reasoning used. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 1 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 13

6. Subtract multiples of 10 in the range 10-90 from multiples of 10 in the range 10-90 (positive or zero differences), using concrete 
models or drawings and strategies based on place value, properties of operations, and/or the relationship between addition and
subtraction; relate the strategy to a written method and explain the reasoning used. 

Measurement and Data 1.MD

Measure lengths indirectly and by iterating length units.
1. Order three objects from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, by length; compare the 

lengths of two objects indirectly by using a third object. 
2. Express the length of an object as a whole number of length units, by laying multiple copies of a shorter object (the length unit) end 

to end; understand that the length measurement of an object is the number of same-size length units that span it with no gaps or 
overlaps. Limit to contexts where the object being measured is spanned by a whole number of length units with no gaps or 
overlaps.

Tell and write time.
3. Tell and write time in hours and half-hours using analog and digital clocks. 

Represent and interpret data.
4. Organize, represent, and interpret data with up to three categories; ask and answer questions about the total number of data points, 

how many in each category, and how many more or less are in one category than in another. 

Geometry 1.G

Reason with shapes and their attributes.
1. Distinguish between defining attributes (e.g., triangles are closed and three-sided) versus non-defining attributes (e.g., color, 

orientation, overall size); build and draw shapes to possess defining attributes. 
2. Compose two-dimensional shapes (rectangles, squares, trapezoids, triangles, half-circles, and quarter-circles) or three-dimensional 

shapes (cubes, right rectangular prisms, right circular cones, and right circular cylinders) to create a composite shape, and compose 
new shapes from the composite shape.4

3. Partition circles and rectangles into two and four equal shares, describe the shares using the words halves, fourths, and quarters, and 
use the phrases half of, fourth of, and quarter of. Describe the whole as two of, or four of the shares. Understand for these examples 
that decomposing into more equal shares creates smaller shares. 

_________________
1 Students should apply the principle of transitivity of measurement to make indirect comparisons, but they need not use this technical 
term
2 See Glossary, Table 1.
3 Students need not use formal terms for these properties.
4 Students do not need to learn formal names such as “right rectangular prism.”



Montana Mathematics Grade 2 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 14

Montana Mathematics Grade 2 Content Standards 

In Grade 2, instructional time should focus on four critical areas: (1) extending understanding of base-ten notation; (2) building 
fluency with addition and subtraction; (3) using standard units of measure; and (4) describing and analyzing shapes.

1. Students extend their understanding of the base-ten system. This includes ideas of counting in fives, tens, and multiples of 
hundreds, tens, and ones, as well as number relationships involving these units, including comparing. Students understand multi-
digit numbers (up to 1000) written in base-ten notation, recognizing that the digits in each place represent amounts of thousands, 
hundreds, tens, or ones (e.g., 853 is 8 hundreds + 5 tens + 3 ones). 

2. Students use their understanding of addition to develop fluency with addition and subtraction within 100. They solve problems 
within 1000 by applying their understanding of models for addition and subtraction, and they develop, discuss, and use efficient, 
accurate, and generalizable methods to compute sums and differences of whole numbers in base-ten notation, using their 
understanding of place value and the properties of operations. They select and accurately apply methods that are appropriate for the 
context and the numbers involved to mentally calculate sums and differences for numbers with only tens or only hundreds. 

3. Students recognize the need for standard units of measure (centimeter and inch) and they use rulers and other measurement tools 
with the understanding that linear measure involves an iteration of units. They recognize that the smaller the unit, the more 
iterations they need to cover a given length. 

4. Students describe and analyze shapes by examining their sides and angles. Students investigate, describe, and reason about
decomposing and combining shapes to make other shapes. Through building, drawing, and analyzing two- and three-dimensional 
shapes, students develop a foundation for understanding area, volume, congruence, similarity, and symmetry in later grades. 

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity in 

repeated reasoning.

Grade 2 Overview

Operations and Algebraic Thinking
• Represent and solve problems 

involving addition and subtraction.
• Add and subtract within 20.
• Work with equal groups of objects to 

gain foundations for multiplication.

Number and Operations in Base Ten
• Understand place value.
• Use place value understanding and 

properties of operations to add and 
subtract.

Measurement and Data
• Measure and estimate lengths in 

standard units.
• Relate addition and subtraction to 

length.
• Work with time and money.
• Represent and interpret data.

Geometry
• Reason with shapes and their 

attributes.



Montana Mathematics Grade 2 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 15

Operations and Algebraic Thinking 2.OA

Represent and solve problems involving addition and subtraction.
1. Use addition and subtraction within 100 to solve one- and two-step word problems involving situations within a cultural context,

including those of Montana American Indians, of adding to, taking from, putting together, taking apart, and comparing, with 
unknowns in all positions, e.g., by using drawings and equations with a symbol for the unknown number to represent the problem.1

Add and subtract within 20.
2. Fluently add and subtract within 20 using mental strategies.2 By end of Grade 2, know from memory all sums of two one-digit 

numbers. 

Work with equal groups of objects to gain foundations for multiplication.
3. Determine whether a group of objects (up to 20) has an odd or even number of members, e.g., by pairing objects or counting them 

by 2s; write an equation to express an even number as a sum of two equal addends. 
4. Use addition to find the total number of objects arranged in rectangular arrays with up to 5 rows and up to 5 columns; write an 

equation to express the total as a sum of equal addends. 

Number and Operations in Base Ten 2.NBT

Understand place value.
1. Understand that the three digits of a three-digit number represent amounts of hundreds, tens, and ones; e.g., 706 equals 7 hundreds, 

0 tens, and 6 ones. Understand the following as special cases: 
a. 100 can be thought of as a bundle of ten tens — called a “hundred.” 
b. The numbers 100, 200, 300, 400, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900 refer to one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, or nine 

hundreds (and 0 tens and 0 ones). 
2. Count within 1000; skip-count by 5s, 10s, and 100s. 
3. Read and write numbers to 1000 using base-ten numerals, number names, and expanded form. 
4. Compare two three-digit numbers based on meanings of the hundreds, tens, and ones digits, using >, =, and < symbols to record the 

results of comparisons. 

Use place value understanding and properties of operations to add and subtract.
5. Fluently add and subtract within 100 using strategies based on place value, properties of operations, and/or the relationship between 

addition and subtraction. 
6. Add up to four two-digit numbers using strategies based on place value and properties of operations. 
7. Add and subtract within 1000, using concrete models or drawings and strategies based on place value, properties of operations, 

and/or the relationship between addition and subtraction; relate the strategy to a written method. Understand that in adding or 
subtracting three-digit numbers, one adds or subtracts hundreds and hundreds, tens and tens, ones and ones; and sometimes it is 
necessary to compose or decompose tens or hundreds. 

8. Mentally add 10 or 100 to a given number 100–900, and mentally subtract 10 or 100 from a given number 100–900. 
9. Explain why addition and subtraction strategies work, using place value and the properties of operations.3

Measurement and Data 2.MD

Measure and estimate lengths in standard units.
1. Measure the length of an object by selecting and using appropriate tools such as rulers, yardsticks, meter sticks, and measuring 

tapes. 
2. Measure the length of an object twice, using length units of different lengths for the two measurements; describe how the two 

measurements relate to the size of the unit chosen. 
3. Estimate lengths using units of inches, feet, centimeters, and meters. 
4. Measure to determine how much longer one object is than another, expressing the length difference in terms of a standard length 

unit. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 2 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 16

Relate addition and subtraction to length.
5. Use addition and subtraction within 100 to solve word problems within a cultural context, including those of Montana American 

Indians, involving lengths that are given in the same units, e.g., by using drawings (such as drawings of rulers) and equations with 
a symbol for the unknown number to represent the problem. 

6. Represent whole numbers as lengths from 0 on a number line diagram with equally spaced points corresponding to the numbers 0, 
1, 2, ..., and represent whole-number sums and differences within 100 on a number line diagram. 

Work with time and money.
7. Tell and write time from analog and digital clocks to the nearest five minutes, using a.m. and p.m. 
8. Solve word problems involving dollar bills, quarters, dimes, nickels, and pennies, using $ and ¢ symbols appropriately. Example: If 

you have 2 dimes and 3 pennies, how many cents do you have? 

Represent and interpret data.
9. Generate measurement data by measuring lengths of several objects to the nearest whole unit, or by making repeated measurements 

of the same object. Show the measurements by making a line plot, where the horizontal scale is marked off in whole-number units. 
10. Draw a picture graph and a bar graph (with single-unit scale) to represent a data set from a variety of cultural contexts, including 

those of Montana American Indians, with up to four categories. Solve simple put-together, take-apart, and compare problems4

using information presented in a bar graph. 
.

Geometry 2.G

Reason with shapes and their attributes.
1. Recognize and draw shapes having specified attributes, such as a given number of angles or a given number of equal faces.4

Identify triangles, quadrilaterals, pentagons, hexagons, and cubes. 
2. Partition a rectangle into rows and columns of same-size squares and count to find the total number of them. 
3. Partition circles and rectangles into two, three, or four equal shares, describe the shares using the words halves, thirds, half of, a 

third of, etc., and describe the whole as two halves, three thirds, four fourths. Recognize that equal shares of identical wholes need 
not have the same shape. 5

________________
1 See Glossary, Table 1.
2See standard 1.OA.6 for a list of mental strategies.
3 Explanations may be supported by drawings or objects
4 See Glossary, Table 1
5 Sizes are compared directly or visually, not compared by measuring.



Montana Mathematics Grade 3 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 17

Montana Mathematics Grade 3 Content Standards  

In Grade 3, instructional time should focus on four critical areas: (1) developing understanding of multiplication and division and 
strategies for multiplication and division within 100; (2) developing understanding of fractions, especially unit fractions (fractions 
with numerator 1); (3) developing understanding of the structure of rectangular arrays and of area; and (4) describing and analyzing 
two-dimensional shapes.
1. Students develop an understanding of the meanings of multiplication and division of whole numbers through activities and 

problems involving equal-sized groups, arrays, and area models; multiplication is finding an unknown product, and division is 
finding an unknown factor in these situations. For equal-sized group situations, division can require finding the unknown number 
of groups or the unknown group size. Students use properties of operations to calculate products of whole numbers, using 
increasingly sophisticated strategies based on these properties to solve multiplication and division problems involving single-digit 
factors. By comparing a variety of solution strategies, students learn the relationship between multiplication and division. 

2. Students develop an understanding of fractions, beginning with unit fractions. Students view fractions in general as being built out 
of unit fractions, and they use fractions along with visual fraction models to represent parts of a whole. Students understand that 
the size of a fractional part is relative to the size of the whole. For example, 1/2 of the paint in a small bucket could be less paint 
than 1/3 of the paint in a larger bucket, but 1/3 of a ribbon is longer than 1/5 of the same ribbon because when the ribbon is divided 
into 3 equal parts, the parts are longer than when the ribbon is divided into 5 equal parts. Students are able to use fractions to 
represent numbers equal to, less than, and greater than one. They solve problems that involve comparing fractions by using visual 
fraction models and strategies based on noticing equal numerators or denominators. 

3. Students recognize area as an attribute of two-dimensional regions. They measure the area of a shape by finding the total number of 
same-size units of area required to cover the shape without gaps or overlaps, a square with sides of unit length being the standard
unit for measuring area. Students understand that rectangular arrays can be decomposed into identical rows or into identical 
columns. By decomposing rectangles into rectangular arrays of squares, students connect area to multiplication, and justify using 
multiplication to determine the area of a rectangle. 

4. Students describe, analyze, and compare properties of two-dimensional shapes. They compare and classify shapes by their sides and 
angles, and connect these with definitions of shapes. Students also relate their fraction work to geometry by expressing the area of 
part of a shape as a unit fraction of the whole. 

Grade 3 Overview

Operations and Algebraic Thinking
• Represent and solve problems involving 

multiplication and division.
• Understand properties of multiplication 

and the relationship between 
multiplication and division.

• Multiply and divide within 100.
• Solve problems involving the four 

operations, and identify and explain 
patterns in arithmetic.

Number and Operations in Base Ten
• Use place value understanding and 

properties of operations to perform 
multi-digit arithmetic.

Geometry
• Reason with shapes and their attributes.

Number and Operations—Fractions
• Develop understanding of fractions as 
numbers.

Measurement and Data
• Solve problems involving measurement 

and estimation of intervals of time, 
liquid volumes, and masses of objects.

• Represent and interpret data.
• Geometric measurement: understand 

concepts of area and relate area to 
multiplication and to addition.

• Geometric measurement: recognize 
perimeter as an attribute of plane figures 
and distinguish between linear and area 
measures.

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.



Montana Mathematics Grade 3 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 18

Operations and Algebraic Thinking 3.OA

Represent and solve problems involving multiplication and division.
1. Interpret products of whole numbers, e.g., interpret 5 × 7 as the total number of objects in 5 groups of 7 objects each. For example, 

describe a context in which a total number of objects can be expressed as 5 × 7.
2. Interpret whole-number quotients of whole numbers, e.g., interpret 56 ÷ 8 as the number of objects in each share when 56 objects 

are partitioned equally into 8 shares, or as a number of shares when 56 objects are partitioned into equal shares of 8 objects each. 
For example, describe a context in which a number of shares or a number of groups can be expressed as 56 ÷ 8.

3. Use multiplication and division within 100 to solve word problems in situations involving equal groups, arrays, and measurement 
quantities, e.g., by using drawings and equations with a symbol for the unknown number to represent the problem.1

4. Determine the unknown whole number in a multiplication or division equation relating three whole numbers. For example, 
determine the unknown number that makes the equation true in each of the equations 8 × ? = 48, 5 = _ ÷ 3, 6 × 6 = ?

Understand properties of multiplication and the relationship between multiplication and division.
5. Apply properties of operations as strategies to multiply and divide.2 Examples: If 6 × 4 = 24 is known, then 4 × 6 = 24 is also 

known. (Commutative property of multiplication.) 3 × 5 × 2 can be found by 3 × 5 = 15, then 15 × 2 = 30, or by 5 × 2 = 10, then 
3 × 10 = 30. (Associative property of multiplication.) Knowing that 8 × 5 = 40 and 8 × 2 = 16, one can find 8 × 7 as 8 × (5 + 2) 
= (8 × 5) + (8 × 2) = 40 + 16 = 56. (Distributive property.)

6. Understand division as an unknown-factor problem. For example, find 32 ÷ 8 by finding the number that makes 32 when multiplied 
by 8.

Multiply and divide within 100.
7. Fluently multiply and divide within 100, using strategies such as the relationship between multiplication and division (e.g., knowing 

that 8 × 5 = 40, one knows 40 ÷ 5 = 8) or properties of operations. By the end of Grade 3, know from memory all products of two 
one-digit numbers. 

Solve problems involving the four operations, and identify and explain patterns in arithmetic.
8. Solve two-step word problems using the four operations within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians.

Represent these problems using equations with a letter standing for the unknown quantity. Assess the reasonableness of answers
using mental computation and estimation strategies including rounding.3

9. Identify arithmetic patterns (including patterns in the addition table or multiplication table), and explain them using properties of 
operations. For example, observe that 4 times a number is always even, and explain why 4 times a number can be decomposed into 
two equal addends.

Number and Operations in Base Ten 3.NBT

Use place value understanding and properties of operations to perform multi-digit arithmetic.4
1. Use place value understanding to round whole numbers to the nearest 10 or 100. 
2. Fluently add and subtract within 1000 using strategies and algorithms based on place value, properties of operations, and/or the 

relationship between addition and subtraction. 
3. Multiply one-digit whole numbers by multiples of 10 in the range 10–90 (e.g., 9 × 80, 5 × 60) using strategies based on place value 

and properties of operations. 

Number and Operations—Fractions5 3.NF

Develop understanding of fractions as numbers.
1. Understand a fraction 1/b as the quantity formed by 1 part when a whole is partitioned into b equal parts; understand a fraction a/b

as the quantity formed by a parts of size 1/b.



Montana Mathematics Grade 3 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 19

2. Understand a fraction as a number on the number line; represent fractions on a number line diagram. 
a. Represent a fraction 1/b on a number line diagram by defining the interval from 0 to 1 as the whole and partitioning it into b

equal parts. Recognize that each part has size 1/b and that the endpoint of the part based at 0 locates the number 1/b on the 
number line. 

b. Represent a fraction a/b on a number line diagram by marking off a lengths 1/b from 0. Recognize that the resulting interval 
has size a/b and that its endpoint locates the number a/b on the number line. 

3. Explain equivalence of fractions in special cases, and compare fractions by reasoning about their size. 
a. Understand two fractions as equivalent (equal) if they are the same size, or the same point on a number line. 
b. Recognize and generate simple equivalent fractions, e.g., 1/2 = 2/4, 4/6 = 2/3. Explain why the fractions are equivalent, e.g., 

by using a visual fraction model. 
c. Express whole numbers as fractions, and recognize fractions that are equivalent to whole numbers. Examples: Express 3 in 

the form 3 = 3/1; recognize that 6/1 = 6; locate 4/4 and 1 at the same point of a number line diagram.
d. Compare two fractions with the same numerator or the same denominator by reasoning about their size. Recognize that 

comparisons are valid only when the two fractions refer to the same whole. Record the results of comparisons with the 
symbols >, =, or <, and justify the conclusions, e.g., by using a visual fraction model. 

Measurement and Data 3.MD

Solve problems involving measurement and estimation of intervals of time, liquid volumes, and masses of objects.
1. Tell and write time to the nearest minute and measure time intervals in minutes. Solve word problems involving addition and

subtraction of time intervals in minutes, e.g., by representing the problem on a number line diagram. 
2. Measure and estimate liquid volumes and masses of objects using standard units of grams (g), kilograms (kg), and liters (l).6 Add, 

subtract, multiply, or divide to solve one-step word problems involving masses or volumes that are given in the same units, e.g., by 
using drawings (such as a beaker with a measurement scale) to represent the problem.7

Represent and interpret data.
3. Draw a scaled picture graph and a scaled bar graph to represent a data set with several categories, within cultural contexts, including 

those of Montana American Indians. Solve one- and two-step “how many more” and “how many less” problems using information 
presented in scaled bar graphs. For example, draw a bar graph in which each square in the bar graph might represent 5 pets.

4. Generate measurement data by measuring lengths using rulers marked with halves and fourths of an inch. Show the data by making 
a line plot, where the horizontal scale is marked off in appropriate units— whole numbers, halves, or quarters. 

Geometric measurement: understand concepts of area and relate area to multiplication and to addition.
5. Recognize area as an attribute of plane figures and understand concepts of area measurement. 

a. A square with side length 1 unit, called “a unit square,” is said to have “one square unit” of area, and can be used to measure 
area. 

b. A plane figure which can be covered without gaps or overlaps by n unit squares is said to have an area of n square units. 
6. Measure areas by counting unit squares (square cm, square m, square in, square ft, and improvised units). 
7. Relate area to the operations of multiplication and addition. 

a. Find the area of a rectangle with whole-number side lengths by tiling it, and show that the area is the same as would be found 
by multiplying the side lengths. 

b. Multiply side lengths to find areas of rectangles with whole-number side lengths in the context of solving real world and 
mathematical problems, and represent whole-number products as rectangular areas in mathematical reasoning. 

c. Use tiling to show in a concrete case that the area of a rectangle with whole-number side lengths a and b + c is the sum of a ×
b and a × c. Use area models to represent the distributive property in mathematical reasoning. 

d. Recognize area as additive. Find areas of rectilinear figures by decomposing them into non-overlapping rectangles and 
adding the areas of the non-overlapping parts, applying this technique to solve real world problems, including those of 
Montana American Indians.



Montana Mathematics Grade 3 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 20

Geometric measurement: recognize perimeter as an attribute of plane figures and distinguish between linear and area 
measures.
8. Solve real world and mathematical problems involving perimeters of polygons, including finding the perimeter given the side

lengths, finding an unknown side length, and exhibiting rectangles with the same perimeter and different areas or with the same 
area and different perimeters. 

Geometry 3.G

Reason with shapes and their attributes.
1. Understand that shapes in different categories (e.g., rhombuses, rectangles, and others) may share attributes (e.g., having four sides), 

and that the shared attributes can define a larger category (e.g., quadrilaterals). Recognize rhombuses, rectangles, and squares as 
examples of quadrilaterals, and draw examples of quadrilaterals that do not belong to any of these subcategories. 

2. Partition shapes into parts with equal areas. Express the area of each part as a unit fraction of the whole. For example, partition a 
shape into 4 parts with equal area, and describe the area of each part as 1/4 of the area of the shape.

_______________
1 See Glossary, Table 2.
2 Students need not use formal terms for these properties.
3 This standard is limited to problems posed with whole numbers and having whole-number answers; students should know how to 

perform operations in the conventional order when there are no parentheses to specify a particular order. 
4 A range of algorithms may be used.
5 Grade 3 expectations in this domain are limited to fractions with denominators 2, 3, 4, 6, 8.
6 Excludes compound units such as cm3 and finding the geometric volume of a container.
7 Excludes multiplicative comparison problems (problems involving notions of “times as much”; see Glossary, Table 2).



Montana Mathematics Grade 4 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 21

Montana Mathematics Grade 4 Content Standards  

In Grade 4, instructional time should focus on three critical areas: (1) developing understanding and fluency with multi-digit 
multiplication, and developing understanding of dividing to find quotients involving multi-digit dividends; (2) developing an 
understanding of fraction equivalence, addition and subtraction of fractions with like denominators, and multiplication of fractions by 
whole numbers; and (3) understanding that geometric figures can be analyzed and classified based on their properties, such as having 
parallel sides, perpendicular sides, particular angle measures, and symmetry.

1. Students generalize their understanding of place value to 1,000,000, understanding the relative sizes of numbers in each place. They 
apply their understanding of models for multiplication (equal-sized groups, arrays, area models), place value, and properties of 
operations, in particular the distributive property, as they develop, discuss, and use efficient, accurate, and generalizable methods 
to compute products of multi-digit whole numbers. Depending on the numbers and the context, they select and accurately apply 
appropriate methods to estimate or mentally calculate products. They develop fluency with efficient procedures for multiplying
whole numbers; understand and explain why the procedures work based on place value and properties of operations; and use them 
to solve problems. Students apply their understanding of models for division, place value, properties of operations, and the 
relationship of division to multiplication as they develop, discuss, and use efficient, accurate, and generalizable procedures to find 
quotients involving multi-digit dividends. They select and accurately apply appropriate methods to estimate and mentally calculate 
quotients, and interpret remainders based upon the context. 

2. Students develop understanding of fraction equivalence and operations with fractions. They recognize that two different fractions 
can be equal (e.g., 15/9 = 5/3), and they develop methods for generating and recognizing equivalent fractions. Students extend
previous understandings about how fractions are built from unit fractions, composing fractions from unit fractions, decomposing 
fractions into unit fractions, and using the meaning of fractions and the meaning of multiplication to multiply a fraction by a whole 
number. 

3. Students describe, analyze, compare, and classify two-dimensional shapes. Through building, drawing, and analyzing two-
dimensional shapes, students deepen their understanding of properties of two-dimensional objects and the use of them to solve 
problems involving symmetry. 

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Grade 4 Overview

Operations and Algebraic Thinking
• Use the four operations with whole 

numbers to solve problems.
• Gain familiarity with factors and 

multiples.
• Generate and analyze patterns.

Number and Operations in Base Ten
• Generalize place value understanding 

for multidigit whole numbers.
• Use place value understanding and 

properties of operations to perform 
multi-digit arithmetic.

Geometry
• Draw and identify lines and angles, and 

classify shapes by properties of their 
lines and angles.

Number and Operations—Fractions
• Extend understanding of fraction 

equivalence and ordering.
• Build fractions from unit fractions by 

applying and extending previous 
understandings of operations on whole 
numbers.

• Understand decimal notation for 
fractions, and compare decimal fractions.

Measurement and Data
• Solve problems involving measurement 

and conversion of measurements from a 
larger unit to a smaller unit.

• Represent and interpret data.
• Geometric measurement: understand 

concepts of angle and measure angles.



Montana Mathematics Grade 4 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 22

Operations and Algebraic Thinking 4.OA

Use the four operations with whole numbers to solve problems.
1. Interpret a multiplication equation as a comparison, e.g., interpret 35 = 5 × 7 as a statement that 35 is 5 times as many as 7 and 7 

times as many as 5. Represent verbal statements of multiplicative comparisons as multiplication equations. 
2. Multiply or divide to solve word problems involving multiplicative comparison, e.g., by using drawings and equations with a

symbol for the unknown number to represent the problem, distinguishing multiplicative comparison from additive comparison.1
3. Solve multistep word problems within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, with whole numbers and 

having whole-number answers using the four operations, including problems in which remainders must be interpreted. Represent 
these problems using equations with a letter standing for the unknown quantity. Assess the reasonableness of answers using mental 
computation and estimation strategies including rounding. 

Gain familiarity with factors and multiples.
4. Find all factor pairs for a whole number in the range 1–100. Recognize that a whole number is a multiple of each of its factors. 

Determine whether a given whole number in the range 1–100 is a multiple of a given one-digit number. Determine whether a given 
whole number in the range 1–100 is prime or composite. 

Generate and analyze patterns.
5. Generate a number or shape pattern that follows a given rule. Identify apparent features of the pattern that were not explicit in the 

rule itself. For example, given the rule “Add 3” and the starting number 1, generate terms in the resulting sequence and observe 
that the terms appear to alternate between odd and even numbers. Explain informally why the numbers will continue to alternate 
in this way.

Number and Operations in Base Ten2 4.NBT

Generalize place value understanding for multi-digit whole numbers.
1. Recognize that in a multi-digit whole number, a digit in one place represents ten times what it represents in the place to its right.

For example, recognize that 700 ÷ 70 = 10 by applying concepts of place value and division.
2. Read and write multi-digit whole numbers using base-ten numerals, number names, and expanded form. Compare two multi-digit 

numbers based on meanings of the digits in each place, using >, =, and < symbols to record the results of comparisons. 
3. Use place value understanding to round multi-digit whole numbers to any place. 

Use place value understanding and properties of operations to perform multi-digit arithmetic.
4. Fluently add and subtract multi-digit whole numbers using the standard algorithm. 
5. Multiply a whole number of up to four digits by a one-digit whole number, and multiply two two-digit numbers, using strategies 

based on place value and the properties of operations. Illustrate and explain the calculation by using equations, rectangular arrays, 
and/or area models. 

6. Find whole-number quotients and remainders with up to four-digit dividends and one-digit divisors, using strategies based on place 
value, the properties of operations, and/or the relationship between multiplication and division. Illustrate and explain the 
calculation by using equations, rectangular arrays, and/or area models. 

Number and Operations—Fractions3 4.NF

Extend understanding of fraction equivalence and ordering.
1. Explain why a fraction a/b is equivalent to a fraction (n × a)/(n × b) by using visual fraction models, with attention to how the 

number and size of the parts differ even though the two fractions themselves are the same size. Use this principle to recognize and 
generate equivalent fractions. 

2. Compare two fractions with different numerators and different denominators, e.g., by creating common denominators or 
numerators, or by comparing to a benchmark fraction such as 1/2. Recognize that comparisons are valid only when the two 
fractions refer to the same whole. Record the results of comparisons with symbols >, =, or <, and justify the conclusions, e.g., by 
using a visual fraction model. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 4 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 23

Build fractions from unit fractions by applying and extending previous understandings of operations on whole numbers.
3. Understand a fraction a/b with a > 1 as a sum of fractions 1/b.

a. Understand addition and subtraction of fractions as joining and separating parts referring to the same whole. 
b. Decompose a fraction into a sum of fractions with the same denominator in more than one way, recording each 

decomposition by an equation. Justify decompositions, e.g., by using a visual fraction model. Examples: 3/8 = 1/8 + 1/8 + 
1/8 ; 3/8 = 1/8 + 2/8 ; 2 1/8 = 1 + 1 + 1/8 = 8/8 + 8/8 + 1/8.

c. Add and subtract mixed numbers with like denominators, e.g., by replacing each mixed number with an equivalent fraction, 
and/or by using properties of operations and the relationship between addition and subtraction. 

d. Solve word problems within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, involving addition and 
subtraction of fractions referring to the same whole and having like denominators, e.g., by using visual fraction models and 
equations to represent the problem. 

4. Apply and extend previous understandings of multiplication to multiply a fraction by a whole number. 
a. Understand a fraction a/b as a multiple of 1/b. For example, use a visual fraction model to represent 5/4 as the product 5 × 

(1/4), recording the conclusion by the equation 5/4 = 5 × (1/4).
b. Understand a multiple of a/b as a multiple of 1/b, and use this understanding to multiply a fraction by a whole number. For 

example, use a visual fraction model to express 3 × (2/5) as 6 × (1/5), recognizing this product as 6/5. (In general, n × (a/b) 
= (n × a)/b.) 

c. Solve word problems within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, involving multiplication of a 
fraction by a whole number, e.g., by using visual fraction models and equations to represent the problem. For example, if 
each person at a party will eat 3/8 of a pound of roast beef, and there will be 5 people at the party, how many pounds of roast 
beef will be needed? Between what two whole numbers does your answer lie? As a contemporary American Indian example, 
for family/cultural gatherings the Canadian and Montana Cree bake bannock made from flour, salt, grease, and baking soda, 
in addition to ¾ cup water per pan. When making four pans, how much water will be needed?

Understand decimal notation for fractions, and compare decimal fractions.
5. Express a fraction with denominator 10 as an equivalent fraction with denominator 100, and use this technique to add two fractions 

with respective denominators 10 and 100.4 For example, express 3/10 as 30/100, and add 3/10 + 4/100 = 34/100. 
6. Use decimal notation for fractions with denominators 10 or 100. For example, rewrite 0.62 as 62/100; describe a length as 0.62 

meters; locate 0.62 on a number line diagram.
7. Compare two decimals to hundredths by reasoning about their size. Recognize that comparisons are valid only when the two 

decimals refer to the same whole. Record the results of comparisons with the symbols >, =, or <, and justify the conclusions, e.g., 
by using a visual model. 

Measurement and Data 4.MD

Solve problems involving measurement and conversion of measurements from a larger unit to a smaller unit.
1. Know relative sizes of measurement units within one system of units including km, m, cm; kg, g; lb, oz.; l, ml; hr, min, sec. Within 

a single system of measurement, express measurements in a larger unit in terms of a smaller unit. Record measurement equivalents 
in a two-column table. For example, know that 1 ft is 12 times as long as 1 in. Express the length of a 4 ft snake as 48 in. Generate 
a conversion table for feet and inches listing the number pairs (1, 12), (2, 24), (3, 36)...

2. Use the four operations to solve word problems within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, involving 
distances, intervals of time, liquid volumes, masses of objects, and money, including problems involving simple fractions or 
decimals, and problems that require expressing measurements given in a larger unit in terms of a smaller unit. Represent 
measurement quantities using diagrams such as number line diagrams that feature a measurement scale. 

3. Apply the area and perimeter formulas for rectangles in real world and mathematical problems. For example, find the width of a 
rectangular room given the area of the flooring and the length, by viewing the area formula as a multiplication equation with an
unknown factor.

Represent and interpret data.
4. Make a line plot to display a data set of measurements in fractions of a unit (1/2, 1/4, 1/8). Solve problems involving addition and 

subtraction of fractions by using information presented in line plots. For example, from a line plot find and interpret the difference 
in length between the longest and shortest specimens in an insect or arrow/spearhead collection.



Montana Mathematics Grade 4 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 24

Geometric measurement: understand concepts of angle and measure angles.
5. Recognize angles as geometric shapes that are formed wherever two rays share a common endpoint, and understand concepts of 

angle measurement: 
a. An angle is measured with reference to a circle with its center at the common endpoint of the rays, by considering the fraction 

of the circular arc between the points where the two rays intersect the circle. An angle that turns through 1/360 of a circle is 
called a “one-degree angle,” and can be used to measure angles. 

b. An angle that turns through n one-degree angles is said to have an angle measure of n degrees. 
6. Measure angles in whole-number degrees using a protractor. Sketch angles of specified measure. 
7. Recognize angle measure as additive. When an angle is decomposed into non-overlapping parts, the angle measure of the whole is 

the sum of the angle measures of the parts. Solve addition and subtraction problems to find unknown angles on a diagram in real 
world and mathematical problems. e.g., by using an equation with a symbol for the unknown angle measure. 

Geometry 4.G

Draw and identify lines and angles, and classify shapes by properties of their lines and angles.
1. Draw points, lines, line segments, rays, angles (right, acute, obtuse), and perpendicular and parallel lines. Identify these in two-

dimensional figures. 
2. Classify two-dimensional figures based on the presence or absence of parallel or perpendicular lines, or the presence or absence of 

angles of a specified size. Recognize right triangles as a category, and identify right triangles. 
3. Recognize a line of symmetry for a two-dimensional figure, including those found in Montana American Indian designs, as a line 

across the figure such that the figure can be folded along the line into matching parts. Identify line-symmetric figures and draw 
lines of symmetry.

________________
1 See Glossary, Table 2.
2Grade 4 expectations in this domain are limited to whole numbers less than or equal to 1,000,000
3 Grade 4 expectations in this domain are limited to fractions with denominators 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12, 100.
4 Students who can generate equivalent fractions can develop strategies for adding fractions with unlike denominators in general. But 

addition and subtraction with unlike denominators in general is not a requirement at this grade.



Montana Mathematics Grade 5 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 25

Montana Mathematics Grade 5 Content Standards  

In Grade 5, instructional time should focus on three critical areas: (1) developing fluency with addition and subtraction of fractions, 
and developing understanding of the multiplication of fractions and of division of fractions in limited cases (unit fractions divided by 
whole numbers and whole numbers divided by unit fractions); (2) extending division to 2-digit divisors, integrating decimal fractions 
into the place value system and developing understanding of operations with decimals to hundredths, and developing fluency with 
whole number and decimal operations; and (3) developing understanding of volume.

1. Students apply their understanding of fractions and fraction models to represent the addition and subtraction of fractions with unlike 
denominators as equivalent calculations with like denominators. They develop fluency in calculating sums and differences of 
fractions, and make reasonable estimates of them. Students also use the meaning of fractions, of multiplication and division, and 
the relationship between multiplication and division to understand and explain why the procedures for multiplying and dividing
fractions make sense. (Note: this is limited to the case of dividing unit fractions by whole numbers and whole numbers by unit 
fractions.) 

2. Students develop understanding of why division procedures work based on the meaning of base-ten numerals and properties of 
operations. They finalize fluency with multi-digit addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division. They apply their 
understandings of models for decimals, decimal notation, and properties of operations to add and subtract decimals to hundredths. 
They develop fluency in these computations, and make reasonable estimates of their results. Students use the relationship between 
decimals and fractions, as well as the relationship between finite decimals and whole numbers (i.e., a finite decimal multiplied by 
an appropriate power of 10 is a whole number), to understand and explain why the procedures for multiplying and dividing finite 
decimals make sense. They compute products and quotients of decimals to hundredths efficiently and accurately. 

3. Students recognize volume as an attribute of three-dimensional space. They understand that volume can be measured by finding the 
total number of same-size units of volume required to fill the space without gaps or overlaps. They understand that a 1-unit by 1-
unit by 1-unit cube is the standard unit for measuring volume. They select appropriate units, strategies, and tools for solving 
problems that involve estimating and measuring volume. They decompose three-dimensional shapes and find volumes of right 
rectangular prisms by viewing them as decomposed into layers of arrays of cubes. They measure necessary attributes of shapes in 
order to determine volumes to solve real world and mathematical problems. 

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Grade 5 Overview

Operations and Algebraic Thinking
• Write and interpret numerical 

expressions.
• Analyze patterns and relationships.

Number and Operations in Base Ten
• Understand the place value system.
• Perform operations with multi-digit 

whole numbers and with decimals to 
hundredths.

Number and Operations—Fractions
• Use equivalent fractions as a strategy 
to add and subtract fractions.

• Apply and extend previous 
understandings of multiplication and 
division to multiply and divide 
fractions.

Measurement and Data
• Convert like measurement units within 

a given measurement system.
• Represent and interpret data.
• Geometric measurement: understand 

concepts of volume and relate volume 
to multiplication and to addition.

Geometry
• Graph points on the coordinate plane 

to solve real-world and mathematical 
problems.

• Classify two-dimensional figures into 
categories based on their properties.



Montana Mathematics Grade 5 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 26

Operations and Algebraic Thinking 5.OA

Write and interpret numerical expressions.
1. Use parentheses, brackets, or braces in numerical expressions, and evaluate expressions with these symbols. 
2. Write simple expressions that record calculations with numbers, and interpret numerical expressions without evaluating them. For 

example, express the calculation “add 8 and 7, then multiply by 2” as 2 × (8 + 7). Recognize that 3 × (18932 + 921) is three times 
as large as 18932 + 921, without having to calculate the indicated sum or product.

Analyze patterns and relationships.
3. Generate two numerical patterns using two given rules. Identify apparent relationships between corresponding terms. Form ordered 

pairs consisting of corresponding terms from the two patterns, and graph the ordered pairs on a coordinate plane. For example, 
given the rule “Add 3” and the starting number 0, and given the rule “Add 6” and the starting number 0, generate terms in the
resulting sequences, and observe that the terms in one sequence are twice the corresponding terms in the other sequence. Explain 
informally why this is so.

Number and Operations in Base Ten 5.NBT

Understand the place value system.
1. Recognize that in a multi-digit number, a digit in one place represents 10 times as much as it represents in the place to its right and 

1/10 of what it represents in the place to its left. 
2. Explain patterns in the number of zeros of the product when multiplying a number by powers of 10, and explain patterns in the 

placement of the decimal point when a decimal is multiplied or divided by a power of 10. Use whole-number exponents to denote 
powers of 10. 

3. Read, write, and compare decimals to thousandths. 
a. Read and write decimals to thousandths using base-ten numerals, number names, and expanded form, e.g., 347.392 = 3 × 100 

+ 4 × 10 + 7 × 1 + 3 × (1/10) + 9 × (1/100) + 2 × (1/1000). 
b. Compare two decimals to thousandths based on meanings of the digits in each place, using >, =, and < symbols to record the 

results of comparisons. 
4. Use place value understanding to round decimals to any place. 

Perform operations with multi-digit whole numbers and with decimals to hundredths.
5. Fluently multiply multi-digit whole numbers using the standard algorithm. 
6. Find whole-number quotients of whole numbers with up to four-digit dividends and two-digit divisors, using strategies based on 

place value, the properties of operations, and/or the relationship between multiplication and division. Illustrate and explain the 
calculation by using equations, rectangular arrays, and/or area models. 

7. Add, subtract, multiply, and divide decimals to hundredths, using concrete models or drawings within cultural contexts, including 
those of Montana American Indians, and strategies based on place value, properties of operations, and/or the relationship between 
addition and subtraction; relate the strategy to a written method and explain the reasoning used. 

Number and Operations—Fractions 5.NF

Use equivalent fractions as a strategy to add and subtract fractions.
1. Add and subtract fractions with unlike denominators (including mixed numbers) by replacing given fractions with equivalent

fractions in such a way as to produce an equivalent sum or difference of fractions with like denominators. For example, 2/3 + 5/4 = 
8/12 + 15/12 = 23/12. (In general, a/b + c/d = (ad + bc)/bd.)

2. Solve word problems involving addition and subtraction of fractions referring to the same whole, including cases of unlike
denominators, e.g., by using visual fraction models or equations to represent the problem. Use benchmark fractions and number
sense of fractions to estimate mentally and assess the reasonableness of answers. For example, recognize an incorrect result 2/5 + 
1/2 = 3/7, by observing that 3/7 < 1/2.



Montana Mathematics Grade 5 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 27

Apply and extend previous understandings of multiplication and division to multiply and divide fractions.
3. Interpret a fraction as division of the numerator by the denominator (a/b = a ÷ b). Solve word problems involving division of whole 

numbers leading to answers in the form of fractions or mixed numbers, e.g., by using visual fraction models or equations to 
represent the problem. For example, interpret 3/4 as the result of dividing 3 by 4, noting that 3/4 multiplied by 4 equals 3, and that 
when 3 wholes are shared equally among 4 people each person has a share of size 3/4. If 9 people want to share a 50-pound sack of 
rice equally by weight, how many pounds of rice should each person get? Between what two whole numbers does your answer lie?

4. Apply and extend previous understandings of multiplication to multiply a fraction or whole number by a fraction. 
a. Interpret the product (a/b) × q as a parts of a partition of q into b equal parts; equivalently, as the result of a sequence of 

operations a × q ÷ b. For example, use a visual fraction model to show (2/3) × 4 = 8/3, and create a story context for this 
equation within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians. Do the same with (2/3) × (4/5) = 8/15. (In 
general, (a/b) × (c/d) = ac/bd.) 

b. Find the area of a rectangle with fractional side lengths by tiling it with unit squares of the appropriate unit fraction side
lengths, and show that the area is the same as would be found by multiplying the side lengths. Multiply fractional side lengths 
to find areas of rectangles, and represent fraction products as rectangular areas. 

5. Interpret multiplication as scaling (resizing), by: 
a. Comparing the size of a product to the size of one factor on the basis of the size of the other factor, without performing the 

indicated multiplication. 
b. Explaining why multiplying a given number by a fraction greater than 1 results in a product greater than the given number 

(recognizing multiplication by whole numbers greater than 1 as a familiar case); explaining why multiplying a given number 
by a fraction less than 1 results in a product smaller than the given number; and relating the principle of fraction equivalence 
a/b = (n × a)/(n × b) to the effect of multiplying a/b by 1. 

6. Solve real world problems involving multiplication of fractions and mixed numbers, e.g., by using visual fraction models or 
equations to represent the problem within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians. 

7. Apply and extend previous understandings of division to divide unit fractions by whole numbers and whole numbers by unit 
fractions.1
a. Interpret division of a unit fraction by a non-zero whole number, and compute such quotients. For example, create a story 

context within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, for (1/3) ÷ 4, and use a visual fraction model 
to show the quotient. Use the relationship between multiplication and division to explain that (1/3) ÷ 4 = 1/12 because (1/12)
× 4 = 1/3.

b. Interpret division of a whole number by a unit fraction, and compute such quotients. For example, create a story context
within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, for 4 ÷ (1/5), and use a visual fraction model to show 
the quotient. Use the relationship between multiplication and division to explain that 4 ÷ (1/5) = 20 because 20 × (1/5) = 4.

c. Solve real world problems involving division of unit fractions by non-zero whole numbers and division of whole numbers by 
unit fractions, e.g., by using visual fraction models and equations to represent the problem. For example, how much chocolate 
will each person get if 3 people share 1/2 lb of chocolate equally? How many 1/3-cup servings are in 2 cups of raisins?

Measurement and Data 5.MD

Convert like measurement units within a given measurement system.
1. Convert among different-sized standard measurement units within a given measurement system (e.g., convert 5 cm to 0.05 m), and 

use these conversions in solving multi-step, real world problems within a cultural context, including those of Montana American 
Indians.

Represent and interpret data.
2. Make a line plot to display a data set of measurements in fractions of a unit (1/2, 1/4, 1/8). Use operations on fractions for this grade 

to solve problems involving information presented in line plots. For example, given different measurements of liquid in identical 
beakers, find the amount of liquid each beaker would contain if the total amount in all the beakers were redistributed equally.

Geometric measurement: understand concepts of volume and relate volume to multiplication and to addition.
3. Recognize volume as an attribute of solid figures and understand concepts of volume measurement. 

a. A cube with side length 1 unit, called a “unit cube,” is said to have “one cubic unit” of volume, and can be used to measure 
volume. 

b. A solid figure which can be packed without gaps or overlaps using n unit cubes is said to have a volume of n cubic units. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 5 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 28

4. Measure volumes by counting unit cubes, using cubic cm, cubic in, cubic ft, and improvised units. 
5. Relate volume to the operations of multiplication and addition and solve real world and mathematical problems involving volume

within cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians.
a. Find the volume of a right rectangular prism with whole-number side lengths by packing it with unit cubes, and show that the 

volume is the same as would be found by multiplying the edge lengths, equivalently by multiplying the height by the area of 
the base. Represent threefold whole-number products as volumes, e.g., to represent the associative property of multiplication. 

b. Apply the formulas V = l × w × h and V = b × h for rectangular prisms to find volumes of right rectangular prisms with 
whole-number edge lengths in the context of solving real world and mathematical problems. 

c. Recognize volume as additive. Find volumes of solid figures composed of two non-overlapping right rectangular prisms by 
adding the volumes of the non-overlapping parts, applying this technique to solve real world problems. 

Geometry 5.G

Graph points on the coordinate plane to solve real-world and mathematical problems.
1. Use a pair of perpendicular number lines, called axes, to define a coordinate system, with the intersection of the lines (the origin) 

arranged to coincide with the 0 on each line and a given point in the plane located by using an ordered pair of numbers, called its 
coordinates. Understand that the first number indicates how far to travel from the origin in the direction of one axis, and the second 
number indicates how far to travel in the direction of the second axis, with the convention that the names of the two axes and the 
coordinates correspond (e.g., x-axis and x-coordinate, y-axis and y-coordinate). 

2. Represent real world and mathematical problems by graphing points in the first quadrant of the coordinate plane, and interpret 
coordinate values of points in the context of the situation including those found in Montana American Indian designs.

Classify two-dimensional figures into categories based on their properties.
3. Understand that attributes belonging to a category of two-dimensional figures also belong to all subcategories of that category. For 

example, all rectangles have four right angles and squares are rectangles, so all squares have four right angles. 
4. Classify two-dimensional figures in a hierarchy based on properties. 

_________________
1 Students able to multiply fractions in general can develop strategies to divide fractions in general, by reasoning about the relationship 

between multiplication and division. But division of a fraction by a fraction is not a requirement at this grade.



Montana Mathematics Grade 6 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 29

Montana Mathematics Grade 6 Content Standards 

In Grade 6, instructional time should focus on four critical areas: (1) connecting ratio and rate to whole number multiplication and 
division and using concepts of ratio and rate to solve problems; (2) completing understanding of division of fractions and extending 
the notion of number to the system of rational numbers, which includes negative numbers; (3) writing, interpreting, and using
expressions and equations; and (4) developing understanding of statistical thinking.

1. Students use reasoning about multiplication and division to solve ratio and rate problems about quantities. By viewing equivalent 
ratios and rates as deriving from, and extending, pairs of rows (or columns) in the multiplication table, and by analyzing simple 
drawings that indicate the relative size of quantities, students connect their understanding of multiplication and division with ratios 
and rates. Thus students expand the scope of problems for which they can use multiplication and division to solve problems, and 
they connect ratios and fractions. Students solve a wide variety of problems involving ratios and rates. 

2. Students use the meaning of fractions, the meanings of multiplication and division, and the relationship between multiplication and 
division to understand and explain why the procedures for dividing fractions make sense. Students use these operations to solve 
problems. Students extend their previous understandings of number and the ordering of numbers to the full system of rational 
numbers, which includes negative rational numbers, and in particular negative integers. They reason about the order and absolute 
value of rational numbers and about the location of points in all four quadrants of the coordinate plane. 

3. Students understand the use of variables in mathematical expressions. They write expressions and equations that correspond to 
given situations, evaluate expressions, and use expressions and formulas to solve problems. Students understand that expressions in 
different forms can be equivalent, and they use the properties of operations to rewrite expressions in equivalent forms. Students 
know that the solutions of an equation are the values of the variables that make the equation true. Students use properties of 
operations and the idea of maintaining the equality of both sides of an equation to solve simple one-step equations. Students 
construct and analyze tables, such as tables of quantities that are in equivalent ratios, and they use equations (such as 3x = y) to 
describe relationships between quantities. 

4. Building on and reinforcing their understanding of number, students begin to develop their ability to think statistically. Students 
recognize that a data distribution may not have a definite center and that different ways to measure center yield different values. The 
median measures center in the sense that it is roughly the middle value. The mean measures center in the sense that it is the value 
that each data point would take on if the total of the data values were redistributed equally, and also in the sense that it is a balance 
point. Students recognize that a measure of variability (interquartile range or mean absolute deviation) can also be useful for 
summarizing data because two very different sets of data can have the same mean and median yet be distinguished by their 
variability. Students learn to describe and summarize numerical data sets, identifying clusters, peaks, gaps, and symmetry, 
considering the context in which the data were collected. 

Students in Grade 6 also build on their work with area in elementary school by reasoning about relationships among shapes to 
determine area, surface area, and volume. They find areas of right triangles, other triangles, and special quadrilaterals by decomposing 
these shapes, rearranging or removing pieces, and relating the shapes to rectangles. Using these methods, students discuss, develop, 
and justify formulas for areas of triangles and parallelograms. Students find areas of polygons and surface areas of prisms and 
pyramids by decomposing them into pieces whose area they can determine. They reason about right rectangular prisms with fractional 
side lengths to extend formulas for the volume of a right rectangular prism to fractional side lengths. They prepare for work on scale 
drawings and constructions in Grade 7 by drawing polygons in the coordinate plane. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 6 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 30

Ratios and Proportional Relationships 6.RP

Understand ratio concepts and use ratio reasoning to solve problems.
1. Understand the concept of a ratio and use ratio language to describe a ratio relationship between two quantities. For example, “The 

ratio of wings to beaks in the bird house at the zoo was 2:1, because for every 2 wings there was 1 beak.” “For every vote 
candidate A received, candidate C received nearly three votes.” 

2. Understand the concept of a unit rate a/b associated with a ratio a:b with b ���, and use rate language in the context of a ratio 
relationship. For example, “This recipe has a ratio of 3 cups of flour to 4 cups of sugar, so there is 3/4 cup of flour for each cup of 
sugar.” “We paid $75 for 15 hamburgers, which is a rate of $5 per hamburger.”1

3. Use ratio and rate reasoning to solve real-world and mathematical problems from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of 
Montana American Indians, e.g., by reasoning about tables of equivalent ratios, tape diagrams, double number line diagrams, or 
equations. 
a. Make tables of equivalent ratios relating quantities with whole-number measurements, find missing values in the tables, and 

plot the pairs of values on the coordinate plane. Use tables to compare ratios. 
b. Solve unit rate problems including those involving unit pricing and constant speed. For example, if it took 7 hours to mow 4 

lawns, then at that rate, how many lawns could be mowed in 35 hours? At what rate were lawns being mowed? As a 
contemporary American Indian example, it takes at least 16 hours to bead a Crow floral design on moccasins for two 
children. How many pairs of moccasins can be completed in 72 hours?   

c. Find a percent of a quantity as a rate per 100 (e.g., 30% of a quantity means 30/100 times the quantity); solve problems 
involving finding the whole, given a part and the percent. 

d. Use ratio reasoning to convert measurement units; manipulate and transform units appropriately when multiplying or 
dividing quantities.

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Grade 6 Overview

Ratios and Proportional Relationships
• Understand ratio concepts and use ratio 

reasoning to solve problems.

The Number System
• Apply and extend previous 

understandings of multiplication and 
division to divide fractions by 
fractions.

• Compute fluently with multi-digit 
numbers and find common factors and 
multiples.

• Apply and extend previous 
understandings of numbers to the 
system of rational numbers.

Expressions and Equations
• Apply and extend previous 

understandings of arithmetic to 
algebraic expressions.• Reason about 
and solve one-variable equations and 
inequalities.

• Represent and analyze quantitative 
relationships between dependent and 
independent variables.

Geometry
• Solve real-world and mathematical 

problems involving area, surface area, 
and volume.

Statistics and Probability
• Develop understanding of statistical 

variability.
• Summarize and describe distributions.



Montana Mathematics Grade 6 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 31

The Number System 6.NS

Apply and extend previous understandings of multiplication and division to divide fractions by fractions.
1. Interpret and compute quotients of fractions, and solve word problems involving division of fractions by fractions, e.g., by using 

visual fraction models and equations to represent the problem. For example, create a story context for (2/3) ÷ (3/4) and use a 
visual fraction model to show the quotient; use the relationship between multiplication and division to explain that (2/3) ÷ (3/4) = 
8/9 because 3/4 of 8/9 is 2/3. (In general, (a/b) ÷ (c/d) = ad/bc.) How much chocolate will each person get if 3 people share 1/2 lb 
of chocolate equally? How many 3/4-cup servings are in 2/3 of a cup of yogurt? How wide is a rectangular strip of land with 
length 3/4 mi and area 1/2 square mi? 

Compute fluently with multi-digit numbers and find common factors and multiples.
2. Fluently divide multi-digit numbers using the standard algorithm. 
3. Fluently add, subtract, multiply, and divide multi-digit decimals using the standard algorithm for each operation. 
4. Find the greatest common factor of two whole numbers less than or equal to 100 and the least common multiple of two whole 

numbers less than or equal to 12. Use the distributive property to express a sum of two whole numbers 1–100 with a common 
factor as a multiple of a sum of two whole numbers with no common factor. For example, express 36 + 8 as 4 (9 + 2). 

Apply and extend previous understandings of numbers to the system of rational numbers.
5. Understand that positive and negative numbers are used together to describe quantities having opposite directions or values (e.g., 

temperature above/below zero, elevation above/below sea level, credits/debits, positive/negative electric charge); use positive and 
negative numbers to represent quantities in real-world contexts, explaining the meaning of 0 in each situation. 

6. Understand a rational number as a point on the number line. Extend number line diagrams and coordinate axes familiar from 
previous grades to represent points on the line and in the plane with negative number coordinates. 
a. Recognize opposite signs of numbers as indicating locations on opposite sides of 0 on the number line; recognize that the 

opposite of the opposite of a number is the number itself, e.g., –(–3) = 3, and that 0 is its own opposite. 
b. Understand signs of numbers in ordered pairs as indicating locations in quadrants of the coordinate plane; recognize that 

when two ordered pairs differ only by signs, the locations of the points are related by reflections across one or both axes. 
c. Find and position integers and other rational numbers on a horizontal or vertical number line diagram; find and position pairs

of integers and other rational numbers on a coordinate plane. 
7. Understand ordering and absolute value of rational numbers. 

a. Interpret statements of inequality as statements about the relative position of two numbers on a number line diagram. For 
example, interpret –3 > –7 as a statement that –3 is located to the right of –7 on a number line oriented from left to right.

b. Write, interpret, and explain statements of order for rational numbers in real-world contexts. For example, write –3 oC > –7
oC to express the fact that –3 oC is warmer than –7 oC. 

c. Understand the absolute value of a rational number as its distance from 0 on the number line; interpret absolute value as 
magnitude for a positive or negative quantity in a real-world situation. For example, for an account balance of –30 dollars, 
write |–30| = 30 to describe the size of the debt in dollars.

d. Distinguish comparisons of absolute value from statements about order. For example, recognize that an account balance less 
than –30 dollars represents a debt greater than 30 dollars.

8. Solve real-world and mathematical problems from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians, by 
graphing points in all four quadrants of the coordinate plane. Include use of coordinates and absolute value to find distances 
between points with the same first coordinate or the same second coordinate. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 6 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 32

Expressions and Equations 6.EE

Apply and extend previous understandings of arithmetic to algebraic expressions.
1. Write and evaluate numerical expressions involving whole-number exponents. 
2. Write, read, and evaluate expressions in which letters stand for numbers. 

a. Write expressions that record operations with numbers and with letters standing for numbers. For example, express the 
calculation “Subtract y from 5” as 5 – y.

b. Identify parts of an expression using mathematical terms (sum, term, product, factor, quotient, coefficient); view one or more
parts of an expression as a single entity. For example, describe the expression 2 (8 + 7) as a product of two factors; view (8 
+ 7) as both a single entity and a sum of two terms.

c. Evaluate expressions at specific values of their variables. Include expressions that arise from formulas used in real-world 
problems. Perform arithmetic operations, including those involving whole-number exponents, in the conventional order when 
there are no parentheses to specify a particular order (Order of Operations). For example, use the formulas V = s3 and A = 6 
s2 to find the volume and surface area of a cube with sides of length s = 1/2.

3. Apply the properties of operations to generate equivalent expressions. For example, apply the distributive property to the 
expression 3 (2 + x) to produce the equivalent expression 6 + 3x; apply the distributive property to the expression 24x + 18y to 
produce the equivalent expression 6 (4x + 3y); apply properties of operations to y + y + y to produce the equivalent expression 3y.

4. Identify when two expressions are equivalent (i.e., when the two expressions name the same number regardless of which value is 
substituted into them). For example, the expressions y + y + y and 3y are equivalent because they name the same number 
regardless of which number y stands for. 

Reason about and solve one-variable equations and inequalities.
5. Understand solving an equation or inequality as a process of answering a question: which values from a specified set, if any, make 

the equation or inequality true? Use substitution to determine whether a given number in a specified set makes an equation or 
inequality true. 

6. Use variables to represent numbers and write expressions when solving a real-world or mathematical problem; understand that a 
variable can represent an unknown number, or, depending on the purpose at hand, any number in a specified set. 

7. Solve real-world and mathematical problems by writing and solving equations of the form x + p = q and px = q for cases in which p,
q and x are all nonnegative rational numbers. 

8. Write an inequality of the form x > c or x < c to represent a constraint or condition in a real-world or mathematical problem. 
Recognize that inequalities of the form x > c or x < c have infinitely many solutions; represent solutions of such inequalities on 
number line diagrams. 

Represent and analyze quantitative relationships between dependent and independent variables.
9. Use variables to represent two quantities in a real-world problem from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana 

American Indians, that change in relationship to one another; write an equation to express one quantity, thought of as the 
dependent variable, in terms of the other quantity, thought of as the independent variable. Analyze the relationship between the 
dependent and independent variables using graphs and tables, and relate these to the equation. For example, in a problem involving 
motion at constant speed, list and graph ordered pairs of distances and times, and write the equation d = 65t to represent the
relationship between distance and time. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 6 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 33

Geometry 6.G

Solve real-world and mathematical problems involving area, surface area, and volume.
1. Find the area of right triangles, other triangles, special quadrilaterals, and polygons by composing into rectangles or decomposing 

into triangles and other shapes; apply these techniques in the context of solving real-world and mathematical problems within 
cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians. For example, use  Montana American Indian designs to 
decompose shapes and find the area.

2. Find the volume of a right rectangular prism with fractional edge lengths by packing it with unit cubes of the appropriate unit 
fraction edge lengths, and show that the volume is the same as would be found by multiplying the edge lengths of the prism. Apply 
the formulas V = l w h and V = b h to find volumes of right rectangular prisms with fractional edge lengths in the context of 
solving real-world and mathematical problems. 

3. Draw polygons in the coordinate plane given coordinates for the vertices; use coordinates to find the length of a side joining points 
with the same first coordinate or the same second coordinate. Apply these techniques in the context of solving real-world and 
mathematical problems. 

4. Represent three-dimensional figures using nets made up of rectangles and triangles, and use the nets to find the surface area of these 
figures. Apply these techniques in the context of solving real-world and mathematical problems within cultural contexts, including 
those of Montana American Indians.

Statistics and Probability 6.SP

Develop understanding of statistical variability.
1. Recognize a statistical question as one that anticipates variability in the data related to the question and accounts for it in the 

answers. For example, “How old am I?” is not a statistical question, but “How old are the students in my school?” is a statistical 
question because one anticipates variability in students’ ages.

2. Understand that a set of data collected (including Montana American Indian demographic data) to answer a statistical question has a 
distribution which can be described by its center, spread, and overall shape. 

3. Recognize that a measure of center for a numerical data set summarizes all of its values with a single number, while a measure of 
variation describes how its values vary with a single number. 

Summarize and describe distributions.
4. Display numerical data in plots on a number line, including dot plots, histograms, and box plots. 
5. Summarize numerical data sets in relation to their context, such as by: 

a. Reporting the number of observations. 
b. Describing the nature of the attribute under investigation, including how it was measured and its units of measurement. 
c. Giving quantitative measures of center (median and/or mean) and variability (interquartile range and/or mean absolute 

deviation), as well as describing any overall pattern and any striking deviations from the overall pattern with reference to the 
context in which the data were gathered. 

d. Relating the choice of measures of center and variability to the shape of the data distribution and the context in which the 
data were gathered. 

_________________
1 Expectations for unit rates in this grade are limited to non-complex fractions.



Montana Mathematics Grade 7 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 34

Montana Mathematics Grade 7 Content Standards 

In Grade 7, instructional time should focus on four critical areas: (1) developing understanding of and applying proportional
relationships; (2) developing understanding of operations with rational numbers and working with expressions and linear equations; 
(3) solving problems involving scale drawings and informal geometric constructions, and working with two- and three-dimensional 
shapes to solve problems involving area, surface area, and volume; and (4) drawing inferences about populations based on samples.

1. Students extend their understanding of ratios and develop understanding of proportionality to solve single- and multi-step problems. 
Students use their understanding of ratios and proportionality to solve a wide variety of percent problems, including those 
involving discounts, interest, taxes, tips, and percent increase or decrease. Students solve problems about scale drawings by
relating corresponding lengths between the objects or by using the fact that relationships of lengths within an object are preserved 
in similar objects. Students graph proportional relationships and understand the unit rate informally as a measure of the steepness 
of the related line, called the slope. They distinguish proportional relationships from other relationships. 

2. Students develop a unified understanding of number, recognizing fractions, decimals (that have a finite or a repeating decimal 
representation), and percents as different representations of rational numbers. Students extend addition, subtraction, multiplication, 
and division to all rational numbers, maintaining the properties of operations and the relationships between addition and 
subtraction, and multiplication and division. By applying these properties, and by viewing negative numbers in terms of everyday 
contexts (e.g., amounts owed or temperatures below zero), students explain and interpret the rules for adding, subtracting, 
multiplying, and dividing with negative numbers. They use the arithmetic of rational numbers as they formulate expressions and 
equations in one variable and use these equations to solve problems. 

3. Students continue their work with area from Grade 6, solving problems involving the area and circumference of a circle and surface 
area of three-dimensional objects. In preparation for work on congruence and similarity in Grade 8 they reason about relationships 
among two-dimensional figures using scale drawings and informal geometric constructions, and they gain familiarity with the 
relationships between angles formed by intersecting lines. Students work with three-dimensional figures, relating them to two-
dimensional figures by examining cross-sections. They solve real-world and mathematical problems involving area, surface area, 
and volume of two- and three-dimensional objects composed of triangles, quadrilaterals, polygons, cubes and right prisms. 

4. Students build on their previous work with single data distributions to compare two data distributions and address questions about 
differences between populations. They begin informal work with random sampling to generate data sets and learn about the 
importance of representative samples for drawing inferences. 

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Grade 7 Overview

Ratios and Proportional Relationships
• Analyze proportional relationships and 

use them to solve real-world and 
mathematical problems.

The Number System
• Apply and extend previous 

understandings of operations with 
fractions to add, subtract, multiply, and 
divide rational numbers.

Expressions and Equations
• Use properties of operations to generate 
equivalent expressions.

• Solve real-life and mathematical 
problems using numerical and algebraic 
expressions and equations.

Geometry
• Draw, construct and describe 

geometrical figures and describe the 
relationships between them.

• Solve real-life and mathematical 
problems involving angle measure, 
area, surface area, and volume.

Statistics and Probability
• Use random sampling to draw 

inferences about a population.
• Draw informal comparative inferences 

about two populations.
• Investigate chance processes and 

develop, use, and evaluate probability 
models.



Montana Mathematics Grade 7 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 35

Ratios and Proportional Relationships 7.RP
Analyze proportional relationships and use them to solve real-world and mathematical problems.
1. Compute unit rates associated with ratios of fractions, including ratios of lengths, areas and other quantities measured in like or 

different units. For example, if a person walks 1/2 mile in each 1/4 hour, compute the unit rate as the complex fraction 1/2/1/4 miles 
per hour, equivalently 2 miles per hour.

2. Recognize and represent proportional relationships between quantities including those represented in Montana American Indian 
cultural contexts.
a. Decide whether two quantities are in a proportional relationship, e.g., by testing for equivalent ratios in a table or graphing on 

a coordinate plane and observing whether the graph is a straight line through the origin. 
b. Identify the constant of proportionality (unit rate) in tables, graphs, equations, diagrams, and verbal descriptions of 

proportional relationships. 
c. Represent proportional relationships by equations. For example, if total cost t is proportional to the number n of items 

purchased at a constant price p, the relationship between the total cost and the number of items can be expressed as t = pn. A 
contemporary American Indian example, analyze cost of beading materials; cost of cooking ingredients for family 
gatherings, community celebrations, etc.

d. Explain what a point (x, y) on the graph of a proportional relationship means in terms of the situation, with special attention 
to the points (0, 0) and (1, r) where r is the unit rate. 

3. Use proportional relationships to solve multistep ratio and percent problems within cultural contexts, including those of Montana 
American Indians (e.g., percent of increase and decrease of tribal land). Examples: simple interest, tax, markups and markdowns, 
gratuities and commissions, fees, percent increase and decrease, percent error.

The Number System 7.NS
Apply and extend previous understandings of operations with fractions to add, subtract, multiply, and divide rational 
numbers.
1. Apply and extend previous understandings of addition and subtraction to add and subtract rational numbers; represent addition and 

subtraction on a horizontal or vertical number line diagram. 
a. Describe situations in which opposite quantities combine to make 0. For example, a hydrogen atom has 0 charge because its 

two constituents are oppositely charged.
b. Understand p + q as the number located a distance |q| from p, in the positive or negative direction depending on whether q is 

positive or negative. Show that a number and its opposite have a sum of 0 (are additive inverses). Interpret sums of rational
numbers by describing real-world contexts. 

c. Understand subtraction of rational numbers as adding the additive inverse, p – q = p + (–q). Show that the distance between 
two rational numbers on the number line is the absolute value of their difference, and apply this principle in real-world 
contexts. 

d. Apply properties of operations as strategies to add and subtract rational numbers.
2. Apply and extend previous understandings of multiplication and division and of fractions to multiply and divide rational numbers. 

a. Understand that multiplication is extended from fractions to rational numbers by requiring that operations continue to satisfy 
the properties of operations, particularly the distributive property, leading to products such as (–1)(–1) = 1 and the rules for 
multiplying signed numbers. Interpret products of rational numbers by describing real-world contexts. 

b. Understand that integers can be divided, provided that the divisor is not zero, and every quotient of integers (with non-zero 
divisor) is a rational number. If p and q are integers, then –(p/q) = (–p)/q = p/(–q). Interpret quotients of rational numbers by 
describing real-world contexts. 

c. Apply properties of operations as strategies to multiply and divide rational numbers. 
d. Convert a rational number to a decimal using long division; know that the decimal form of a rational number terminates in 0s 

or eventually repeats. 
3. Solve real-world and mathematical problems from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians,

involving the four operations with rational numbers.1
.



Montana Mathematics Grade 7 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 36

Expressions and Equations 7.EE

Use properties of operations to generate equivalent expressions.
1. Apply properties of operations as strategies to add, subtract, factor, and expand linear expressions with rational coefficients. 
2. Understand that rewriting an expression in different forms in a problem context can shed light on the problem and how the 

quantities in it are related. For example, a + 0.05a = 1.05a means that “increase by 5%” is the same as “multiply by 1.05.”

Solve real-life and mathematical problems using numerical and algebraic expressions and equations.
3. Solve multi-step real-life and mathematical problems posed with positive and negative rational numbers in any form (whole 

numbers, fractions, and decimals), using tools strategically. Apply properties of operations to calculate with numbers in any form; 
convert between forms as appropriate; and assess the reasonableness of answers using mental computation and estimation 
strategies. For example: If a woman making $25 an hour gets a 10% raise, she will make an additional 1/10 of her salary an hour, 
or $2.50, for a new salary of $27.50. If you want to place a towel bar 9 3/4 inches long in the center of a door that is 27 1/2 inches 
wide, you will need to place the bar about 9 inches from each edge; this estimate can be used as a check on the exact computation. 

4. Use variables to represent quantities in a real-world or mathematical problem, including those represented in Montana American 
Indian cultural contexts, and construct simple equations and inequalities to solve problems by reasoning about the quantities. 
a. Solve word problems leading to equations of the form px + q = r and p(x + q) = r, where p, q, and r are specific rational 

numbers. Solve equations of these forms fluently. Compare an algebraic solution to an arithmetic solution, identifying the
sequence of the operations used in each approach. For example, the perimeter of a rectangle is 54 cm. Its length is 6 cm. 
What is its width? 

b. Solve word problems leading to inequalities of the form px + q > r or px + q < r, where p, q, and r are specific rational 
numbers. Graph the solution set of the inequality and interpret it in the context of the problem. For example: As a 
salesperson, you are paid $50 per week plus $3 per sale. This week you want your pay to be at least $100. Write an 
inequality for the number of sales you need to make, and describe the solutions.

Geometry 7.G

Draw construct, and describe geometrical figures and describe the relationships between them.
1. Solve problems involving scale drawings of geometric figures, including computing actual lengths and areas from a scale drawing 

and reproducing a scale drawing at a different scale. 
2. Draw (freehand, with ruler and protractor, and with technology) geometric shapes with given conditions. Focus on constructing 

triangles from three measures of angles or sides, noticing when the conditions determine a unique triangle, more than one triangle, 
or no triangle. 

3. Describe the two-dimensional figures that result from slicing three-dimensional figures, as in plane sections of right rectangular 
prisms and right rectangular pyramids. 

Solve real-life and mathematical problems involving angle measure, area, surface area, and volume.
4. Know the formulas for the area and circumference of a circle and use them to solve problems from a variety of cultural contexts, 

including those of Montana American Indians; give an informal derivation of the relationship between the circumference and area 
of a circle. 

5. Use facts about supplementary, complementary, vertical, and adjacent angles in a multi-step problem to write and solve simple 
equations for an unknown angle in a figure. 

6. Solve real-world and mathematical problems from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana American Indians,
involving area, volume and surface area of two- and three-dimensional objects composed of triangles, quadrilaterals, polygons, 
cubes, and right prisms. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 7 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 37

Statistics and Probability 7.SP

Use random sampling to draw inferences about a population.
1. Understand that statistics can be used to gain information about a population by examining a sample of the population; 

generalizations about a population from a sample are valid only if the sample is representative of that population. Understand that 
random sampling tends to produce representative samples and support valid inferences. 

2. Use data, including Montana American Indian demographic data, from a random sample to draw inferences about a population with 
an unknown characteristic of interest. Generate multiple samples (or simulated samples) of the same size to gauge the variation in 
estimates or predictions. For example, estimate the mean word length in a book by randomly sampling words from the book; 
predict the winner of a school election based on randomly sampled survey data, predict how many text messages your classmates 
receive in a day. Gauge how far off the estimate or prediction might be.

Draw informal comparative inferences about two populations.
3. Informally assess the degree of visual overlap of two numerical data distributions with similar variabilities, measuring the 

difference between the centers by expressing it as a multiple of a measure of variability. For example, the mean height of players 
on the basketball team is 10 cm greater than the mean height of players on the soccer team, about twice the variability (mean
absolute deviation) on either team; on a dot plot, the separation between the two distributions of heights is noticeable.

4. Use measures of center and measures of variability for numerical data from random samples to draw informal comparative 
inferences about two populations. For example, decide whether the words in a chapter of a seventh-grade science book are 
generally longer than the words in a chapter of a fourth-grade science book.

Investigate chance processes and develop, use, and evaluate probability models.
5. Understand that the probability of a chance event is a number between 0 and 1 that expresses the likelihood of the event occurring. 

Larger numbers indicate greater likelihood. A probability near 0 indicates an unlikely event, a probability around 1/2 indicates an 
event that is neither unlikely nor likely, and a probability near 1 indicates a likely event. 

6. Approximate the probability of a chance event by collecting data on the chance process that produces it and observing its long-run 
relative frequency, and predict the approximate relative frequency given the probability. For example, when rolling a number cube 
600 times, predict that a 3 or 6 would be rolled roughly 200 times, but probably not exactly 200 times. For example, when playing 
Montana American Indian Hand/Stick games, you can predict the approximate number of accurate guesses.

7. Develop a probability model and use it to find probabilities of events. Compare probabilities from a model to observed frequencies; 
if the agreement is not good, explain possible sources of the discrepancy. 
a. Develop a uniform probability model by assigning equal probability to all outcomes, and use the model to determine 

probabilities of events. For example, if a student is selected at random from a class, find the probability that Jane will be 
selected and the probability that a girl will be selected. 

b. Develop a probability model (which may not be uniform) by observing frequencies in data generated from a chance process. 
For example, find the approximate probability that a spinning penny will land heads up or that a tossed paper cup will land 
open-end down. Do the outcomes for the spinning penny appear to be equally likely based on the observed frequencies?

8. Find probabilities of compound events using organized lists, tables, tree diagrams, and simulation. 
a. Understand that, just as with simple events, the probability of a compound event is the fraction of outcomes in the sample 

space for which the compound event occurs. 
b. Represent sample spaces for compound events using methods such as organized lists, tables and tree diagrams. For an event 

described in everyday language (e.g., “rolling double sixes”), identify the outcomes in the sample space which compose the 
event. 

c. Design and use a simulation to generate frequencies for compound events. For example, use random digits as a simulation 
tool to approximate the answer to the question: If 40% of donors have type A blood, what is the probability that it will take at 
least 4 donors to find one with type A blood?

_________________
1 Computations with rational numbers extend the rules for manipulating fractions to complex fractions



Montana Mathematics Grade 8 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 38

Montana Mathematics Grade 8 Content Standards  

In Grade 8, instructional time should focus on three critical areas: (1) formulating and reasoning about expressions and equations, 
including modeling an association in bivariate data with a linear equation, and solving linear equations and systems of linear 
equations; (2) grasping the concept of a function and using functions to describe quantitative relationships; and (3) analyzing two- and 
three-dimensional space and figures using distance, angle, similarity, and congruence, and understanding and applying the 
Pythagorean Theorem.

1. Students use linear equations and systems of linear equations to represent, analyze, and solve a variety of problems. Students 
recognize equations for proportions (y/x = m or y = mx) as special linear equations (y = mx + b), understanding that the constant of 
proportionality (m) is the slope, and the graphs are lines through the origin. They understand that the slope (m) of a line is a 
constant rate of change, so that if the input or x-coordinate changes by an amount A, the output or y-coordinate changes by the 
amount m·A. Students also use a linear equation to describe the association between two quantities in bivariate data (such as arm 
span vs. height for students in a classroom). At this grade, fitting the model, and assessing its fit to the data are done informally. 
Interpreting the model in the context of the data requires students to express a relationship between the two quantities in question 
and to interpret components of the relationship (such as slope and y-intercept) in terms of the situation. 

Students strategically choose and efficiently implement procedures to solve linear equations in one variable, understanding that 
when they use the properties of equality and the concept of logical equivalence, they maintain the solutions of the original 
equation. Students solve systems of two linear equations in two variables and relate the systems to pairs of lines in the plane; these 
intersect, are parallel, or are the same line. Students use linear equations, systems of linear equations, linear functions, and their 
understanding of slope of a line to analyze situations and solve problems. 

2. Students grasp the concept of a function as a rule that assigns to each input exactly one output. They understand that functions 
describe situations where one quantity determines another. They can translate among representations and partial representations of
functions (noting that tabular and graphical representations may be partial representations), and they describe how aspects of the
function are reflected in the different representations. 

3. Students use ideas about distance and angles, how they behave under translations, rotations, reflections, and dilations, and ideas 
about congruence and similarity to describe and analyze two-dimensional figures and to solve problems. Students show that the 
sum of the angles in a triangle is the angle formed by a straight line, and that various configurations of lines give rise to similar 
triangles because of the angles created when a transversal cuts parallel lines. Students understand the statement of the Pythagorean 
Theorem and its converse, and can explain why the Pythagorean Theorem holds, for example, by decomposing a square in two 
different ways. They apply the Pythagorean Theorem to find distances between points on the coordinate plane, to find lengths, and 
to analyze polygons. Students complete their work on volume by solving problems involving cones, cylinders, and spheres. 

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Grade 8 Overview

The Number System
• Know that there are numbers that 

are not rational, and approximate 
them by rational numbers.

Expressions and Equations
• Work with radicals and integer 

exponents.
• Understand the connections 

between proportional relationships, 
lines, and linear equations.

• Analyze and solve linear equations 
and pairs of simultaneous linear 
equations.

Statistics and Probability
• Investigate patterns of association 

in bivariate data.

Geometry
• Understand congruence and 

similarity using physical models, 
transparencies, or geometry 
software.

• Understand and apply the 
Pythagorean
Theorem.

• Solve real-world and mathematical 
problems involving volume of 
cylinders, cones and spheres.

Functions
• Define, evaluate, and compare 

functions.
• Use functions to model relationships 
between quantities.



Montana Mathematics Grade 8 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 39

The Number System 8.NS

Know that there are numbers that are not rational, and approximate them by rational numbers.
1. Understand informally that every number has a decimal expansion; for rational numbers show that the decimal expansion repeats 

eventually, and convert a decimal expansion which repeats eventually into a rational number.
2. Use rational approximations of irrational numbers to compare the size of irrational numbers, locate them approximately on a

�������	
����
�������������
�����������	�������������
�����������2). For example, by truncating the decimal expansion of ����
show that ����	�
��������������������
��������������������������������������������������������
�������������������	��

Expressions and Equations 8.EE

Work with radicals and integer exponents.
1. Know and apply the properties of integer exponents to generate equivalent numerical expressions. For example, 32 × 3–5 = 3–3 = 1/33

= 1/27. 
2. Use square root and cube root symbols to represent solutions to equations of the form x2 = p and x3 = p, where p is a positive 

rational number. Evaluate square roots of small perfect squares and cube roots of small perfect cubes. Know that ���
��
����
 onal. 
3. Use numbers expressed in the form of a single digit times a whole-number power of 10 to estimate very large or very small 

quantities, and to express how many times as much one is than the other. For example, estimate the population of the United States 
as 3 times 108 and the population of the world as 7 times 109, and determine that the world population is more than 20 times 
larger.

4. Perform operations with numbers expressed in scientific notation, including problems where both decimal and scientific notation 
are used. Use scientific notation and choose units of appropriate size for measurements of very large or very small quantities (e.g., 
use millimeters per year for seafloor spreading). Interpret scientific notation that has been generated by technology. 

Understand the connections between proportional relationships, lines, and linear equations.
5. Graph proportional relationships, interpreting the unit rate as the slope of the graph. Compare two different proportional 

relationships represented in different ways. For example, compare a distance-time graph to a distance-time equation to determine 
which of two moving objects has greater speed. 

6. Use similar triangles to explain why the slope m is the same between any two distinct points on a non-vertical line in the coordinate 
plane; derive the equation y = mx for a line through the origin and the equation y = mx + b for a line intercepting the vertical axis at 
b.

Analyze and solve linear equations and pairs of simultaneous linear equations.
7. Solve linear equations in one variable. 

a. Give examples of linear equations in one variable with one solution, infinitely many solutions, or no solutions. Show which 
of these possibilities is the case by successively transforming the given equation into simpler forms, until an equivalent 
equation of the form x = a, a = a, or a = b results (where a and b are different numbers). 

b. Solve linear equations with rational number coefficients, including equations whose solutions require expanding expressions 
using the distributive property and collecting like terms. 

8. Analyze and solve pairs of simultaneous linear equations. 
a. Understand that solutions to a system of two linear equations in two variables correspond to points of intersection of their 

graphs, because points of intersection satisfy both equations simultaneously. 
b. Solve systems of two linear equations in two variables algebraically, and estimate solutions by graphing the equations. Solve

simple cases by inspection. For example, 3x + 2y = 5 and 3x + 2y = 6 have no solution because 3x + 2y cannot 
simultaneously be 5 and 6.

c. Solve real-world and mathematical problems from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of Montana American 
Indians, leading to two linear equations in two variables. For example, given coordinates for two pairs of points, determine 
whether the line through the first pair of points intersects the line through the second pair.

Functions 8.F

Define, evaluate, and compare functions.
1. Understand that a function is a rule that assigns to each input exactly one output. The graph of a function is the set of ordered pairs 

consisting of an input and the corresponding output.1
2. Compare properties of two functions each represented in a different way (algebraically, graphically, numerically in tables, or by 

verbal descriptions). For example, given a linear function represented by a table of values and a linear function represented by an 
algebraic expression, determine which function has the greater rate of change.



Montana Mathematics Grade 8 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 40

3. Interpret the equation y = mx + b as defining a linear function, whose graph is a straight line; give examples of functions that are 
not linear. For example, the function A = s2 giving the area of a square as a function of its side length is not linear because its 
graph contains the points (1,1), (2,4) and (3,9), which are not on a straight line. 

Use functions to model relationships between quantities.
4. Construct a function to model a linear relationship between two quantities. Determine the rate of change and initial value of the 

function from a description of a relationship or from two (x, y) values, including reading these from a table or from a graph. 
Interpret the rate of change and initial value of a linear function in terms of the situation it models, and in terms of its graph or a 
table of values. 

5. Describe qualitatively the functional relationship between two quantities by analyzing a graph (e.g., where the function is increasing 
or decreasing, linear or nonlinear). Sketch a graph that exhibits the qualitative features of a function that has been described 
verbally. 

Geometry 8.G

Understand congruence and similarity using physical models, transparencies, or geometry software.
1. Verify experimentally the properties of rotations, reflections, and translations from a variety of cultural contexts, including those of 

Montana American Indians:
a. Lines are taken to lines, and line segments to line segments of the same length. 
b. Angles are taken to angles of the same measure. 
c. Parallel lines are taken to parallel lines. 

2. Understand that a two-dimensional figure is congruent to another if the second can be obtained from the first by a sequence of 
rotations, reflections, and translations; given two congruent figures, describe a sequence that exhibits the congruence between
them. 

3. Describe the effect of dilations, translations, rotations, and reflections on two-dimensional figures from a variety of cultural 
contexts, including those of Montana American Indians: using coordinates. 

4. Understand that a two-dimensional figure is similar to another if the second can be obtained from the first by a sequence of 
rotations, reflections, translations, and dilations; given two similar two-dimensional figures, describe a sequence that exhibits the 
similarity between them. 

5. Use informal arguments to establish facts about the angle sum and exterior angle of triangles, about the angles created when parallel 
lines are cut by a transversal, and the angle-angle criterion for similarity of triangles. For example, arrange three copies of the 
same triangle so that the sum of the three angles appears to form a line, and give an argument in terms of transversals why this is 
so.

Understand and apply the Pythagorean Theorem.
6. Explain a proof of the Pythagorean Theorem and its converse. 
7. Apply the Pythagorean Theorem to determine unknown side lengths in right triangles in real-world and mathematical problems in 

two and three dimensions. For example, determine the unknown height of a Plains Indian tipi when given the side length and 
radius.

8. Apply the Pythagorean Theorem to find the distance between two points in a coordinate system. 

Solve real-world and mathematical problems involving volume of cylinders, cones, and spheres.
9. Know the formulas for the volumes of cones, cylinders, and spheres and use them to solve real-world and mathematical problems. 



Montana Mathematics Grade 8 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 41

Statistics and Probability 8.SP

Investigate patterns of association in bivariate data.
1. Construct and interpret scatter plots for bivariate measurement data to investigate patterns of association between two quantities. 

Describe patterns such as clustering, outliers, positive or negative association, linear association, and nonlinear association. 
2. Know that straight lines are widely used to model relationships between two quantitative variables. For scatter plots that suggest a 

linear association, informally fit a straight line, and informally assess the model fit by judging the closeness of the data points to 
the line. 

3. Use the equation of a linear model to solve problems in the context of bivariate measurement data, interpreting the slope and 
intercept. For example, in a linear model for a biology experiment, interpret a slope of 1.5 cm/hr as meaning that an additional 
hour of sunlight each day is associated with an additional 1.5 cm in mature plant height.

4. Understand that patterns of association can also be seen in bivariate categorical data by displaying frequencies and relative 
frequencies in a two-way table. Construct and interpret a two-way table summarizing data including data from Montana American 
Indian sources on two categorical variables collected from the same subjects. Use relative frequencies calculated for rows or 
columns to describe possible association between the two variables. For example, collect data from students in your class on 
whether or not they have a curfew on school nights and whether or not they have assigned chores at home. Is there evidence that 
those who have a curfew also tend to have chores?

_________________
1Function notation is not required in Grade 8.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 42

Montana Mathematics Grade 9-12 Content Standards 

The high school standards specify the mathematics that all students should study in order to be college and career 
ready. Additional mathematics that students should learn in order to take advanced courses such as calculus, advanced 
statistics, or discrete mathematics is indicated by (+), as in this example:

(+) Represent complex numbers on the complex plane in rectangular and polar form (including real and 
imaginary numbers).

All standards without a (+) symbol should be in the common mathematics curriculum for all college and career ready 
students. Standards with a (+) symbol may also appear in courses intended for all students.

The high school standards are listed in conceptual categories:

N u mb e r  a n d  Q u a n t i t y
A l g e b r a
F u n c t i o n s
M o d e l i n g
G e o m e t r y
Sta t i s t ics and Probab il i ty

Conceptual categories portray a coherent view of high school mathematics; a student’s work with functions, for 
example, crosses a number of traditional course boundaries, potentially up through and including calculus.

Modeling is best interpreted not as a collection of isolated topics but in relation to other standards. Making mathematical 
models is a Standard for Mathematical Practice, and specific modeling standards appear throughout the high school 
standards indicated by a star symbol (*). The star symbol sometimes appears on the heading for a group of standards; in that 
case, it should be understood to apply to all standards in that group.

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Number and Quantity Content Standards

Numbers and Number Systems
During the years from kindergarten to eighth grade, students must repeatedly extend their conception of number. At first, “number” 
means “counting number”: 1, 2, 3, … Soon after that, 0 is used to represent “none” and the whole numbers are formed by the counting 
numbers together with zero. The next extension is fractions. At first, fractions are barely numbers and tied strongly to pictorial 
representations. Yet by the time students understand division of fractions, they have a strong concept of fractions as numbers and have 
connected them, via their decimal representations, with the base-ten system used to represent the whole numbers. During middle 
school, fractions are augmented by negative fractions to form the rational numbers. In Grade 8, students extend this system once more, 
augmenting the rational numbers with the irrational numbers to form the real numbers. In high school, students will be exposed to yet 
another extension of number, when the real numbers are augmented by the imaginary numbers to form the complex numbers.

With each extension of number, the meanings of addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division are extended. In each new number 
system—integers, rational numbers, real numbers, and complex numbers—the four operations stay the same in two important ways: 
They have the commutative, associative, and distributive properties and their new meanings are consistent with their previous
meanings.

Extending the properties of whole-number exponents leads to new and productive notation. For example, properties of whole-number 
exponents suggest that (51/3)3 should be 5(1/3)3 = 51 = 5 and that 51/3 should be the cube root of 5.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 43

Calculators, spreadsheets, and computer algebra systems can provide ways for students to become better acquainted with these new 
number systems and their notation. They can be used to generate data for numerical experiments, to help understand the workings of 
matrix, vector, and complex number algebra, and to experiment with non-integer exponents.

Quantities
In real world problems, the answers are usually not numbers but quantities: numbers with units, which involves measurement. In their 
work in measurement up through Grade 8, students primarily measure commonly used attributes such as length, area, and volume. In 
high school, students encounter a wider variety of units in modeling, e.g. acceleration, currency conversions, derived quantities such 
as person-hours and heating degree days, social science rates such as per-capita income, and rates in everyday life such as points 
scored per game or batting averages. They also encounter novel situations in which they themselves must conceive the attributes of 
interest. For example, to find a good measure of overall highway safety, they might propose measures such as fatalities per year, 
fatalities per year per driver, or fatalities per vehicle-mile traveled. Such a conceptual process might be called quantification. 
Quantification is important for science, as when surface area suddenly “stands out” as an important variable in evaporation. 
Quantification is also important for companies, which must conceptualize relevant attributes and create or choose suitable measures 
for them. 

The Real Number System N-RN

Extend the properties of exponents to rational exponents.
1. Explain how the definition of the meaning of rational exponents follows from extending the properties of integer exponents to those 

values, allowing for a notation for radicals in terms of rational exponents. For example, we define 51/3 to be the cube root of 5 
because we want (51/3)3 = 5(1/3)3 to hold, so (51/3)3 must equal 5.

2. Rewrite expressions involving radicals and rational exponents using the properties of exponents. 

Use properties of rational and irrational numbers.
3. Explain why the sum or product of two rational numbers is rational; that the sum of a rational number and an irrational number is 

irrational; and that the product of a nonzero rational number and an irrational number is irrational. 

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Number and Quantity Overview

The Real Number System
• Extend the properties of exponents 

to rational exponents
• Use properties of rational and 

irrational numbers.

Quantities
• Reason quantitatively and use units 

to solve problems

The Complex Number System
• Perform arithmetic operations with 

complex numbers
• Represent complex numbers and 

their operations on the complex 
plane

• Use complex numbers in 
polynomial identities and equations

Vector and Matrix Quantities
• Represent and model with vector 

quantities.
• Perform operations on vectors.
• Perform operations on matrices and 

use matrices in applications.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 44

Quantities N-Q

Reason quantitatively and use units to solve problems.
1. Use units as a way to understand problems from a variety of contexts (e.g., science, history, and culture), including those of  

Montana American Indians, and to guide the solution of multi-step problems; choose and interpret units consistently in formulas; 
choose and interpret the scale and the origin in graphs and data displays. 

2. Define appropriate quantities for the purpose of descriptive modeling. 
3. Choose a level of accuracy appropriate to limitations on measurement when reporting quantities. 

The Complex Number System N-CN

Perform arithmetic operations with complex numbers.
1. Know there is a complex number i such that i2 = –1, and every complex number has the form a + bi with a and b real. 
2. Use the relation i2 = –1 and the commutative, associative, and distributive properties to add, subtract, and multiply complex 

numbers. 
3. (+) Find the conjugate of a complex number; use conjugates to find moduli and quotients of complex numbers. 

Represent complex numbers and their operations on the complex plane.
4. (+) Represent complex numbers on the complex plane in rectangular and polar form (including real and imaginary numbers), and 

explain why the rectangular and polar forms of a given complex number represent the same number. 
5. (+) Represent addition, subtraction, multiplication, and conjugation of complex numbers geometrically on the complex plane; use 

properties of this representation for computation. For example, (-1 + ���� 3 = 8 because (-1 + ���� ���	�������	����������������
120°.

6. (+) Calculate the distance between numbers in the complex plane as the modulus of the difference, and the midpoint of a segment as 
the average of the numbers at its endpoints. 

Use complex numbers in polynomial identities and equations.
7. Solve quadratic equations with real coefficients that have complex solutions. 
8. (+) Extend polynomial identities to the complex numbers. For example, rewrite x2 + 4 as (x + 2i)(x – 2i).
9. (+) Know the Fundamental Theorem of Algebra; show that it is true for quadratic polynomials. 

Vector and Matrix Quantities N-VM

Represent and model with vector quantities.
1. (+) Recognize vector quantities as having both magnitude and direction. Represent vector quantities by directed line segments, and 

use appropriate symbols for vectors and their magnitudes (e.g., v, |v|, ||v||, v). 
2. (+) Find the components of a vector by subtracting the coordinates of an initial point from the coordinates of a terminal point. 
3. (+) Solve problems from a variety of contexts (e.g., science, history, and culture), including those of Montana American Indians,

involving velocity and other quantities that can be represented by vectors. 

Perform operations on vectors.
4. (+) Add and subtract vectors. 

a. Add vectors end-to-end, component-wise, and by the parallelogram rule. Understand that the magnitude of a sum of two 
vectors is typically not the sum of the magnitudes. 

b. Given two vectors in magnitude and direction form, determine the magnitude and direction of their sum. 
c. Understand vector subtraction v – w as v + (–w), where –w is the additive inverse of w, with the same magnitude as w and 

pointing in the opposite direction. Represent vector subtraction graphically by connecting the tips in the appropriate order,
and perform vector subtraction component-wise. 



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 45

5. (+) Multiply a vector by a scalar. 
a. Represent scalar multiplication graphically by scaling vectors and possibly reversing their direction; perform scalar 

multiplication component-wise, e.g., as c(vx, vy) = (cvx, cvy). 
b. Compute the magnitude of a scalar multiple cv using ||cv|| = |c|v. Compute the direction of cv knowing that when |c|v ���������

direction of cv is either along v (for c > 0) or against v (for c < 0). 

Perform operations on matrices and use matrices in applications.
6. (+) Use matrices to represent and manipulate data, e.g., to represent payoffs or incidence relationships in a network. 
7. (+) Multiply matrices by scalars to produce new matrices, e.g., as when all of the payoffs in a game are doubled. 
8. (+) Add, subtract, and multiply matrices of appropriate dimensions. 
9. (+) Understand that, unlike multiplication of numbers, matrix multiplication for square matrices is not a commutative operation, but 

still satisfies the associative and distributive properties. 
10. (+) Understand that the zero and identity matrices play a role in matrix addition and multiplication similar to the role of 0 and 1 in 

the real numbers. The determinant of a square matrix is nonzero if and only if the matrix has a multiplicative inverse.
11. (+) Multiply a vector (regarded as a matrix with one column) by a matrix of suitable dimensions to produce another vector. Work 

with matrices as transformations of vectors. 
12. (+) Work with 2 × 2 matrices as a transformation of the plane, and interpret the absolute value of the determinant in terms of area. 

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Algebra Content Standards  

Expressions
An expression is a record of a computation with numbers, symbols that represent numbers, arithmetic operations, exponentiation, and, 
at more advanced levels, the operation of evaluating a function. Conventions about the use of parentheses and the order of operations 
assure that each expression is unambiguous. Creating an expression that describes a computation involving a general quantity requires 
the ability to express the computation in general terms, abstracting from specific instances.

Reading an expression with comprehension involves analysis of its underlying structure. This may suggest a different but equivalent 
way of writing the expression that exhibits some different aspect of its meaning. For example, p + 0.05p can be interpreted as the 
addition of a 5% tax to a price p. Rewriting p + 0.05p as 1.05p shows that adding a tax is the same as multiplying the price by a 
constant factor.

Algebraic manipulations are governed by the properties of operations and exponents, and the conventions of algebraic notation. At 
times, an expression is the result of applying operations to simpler expressions. For example, p + 0.05p is the sum of the simpler 
expressions p and 0.05p. Viewing an expression as the result of operation on simpler expressions can sometimes clarify its underlying 
structure.

A spreadsheet or a computer algebra system (CAS) can be used to experiment with algebraic expressions, perform complicated 
algebraic manipulations, and understand how algebraic manipulations behave.

Equations and inequalities
An equation is a statement of equality between two expressions, often viewed as a question asking for which values of the variables 
the expressions on either side are in fact equal. These values are the solutions to the equation. An identity, in contrast, is true for all 
values of the variables; identities are often developed by rewriting an expression in an equivalent form.

The solutions of an equation in one variable form a set of numbers; the solutions of an equation in two variables form a set of ordered 
pairs of numbers, which can be plotted in the coordinate plane. Two or more equations and/or inequalities form a system. A solution 
for such a system must satisfy every equation and inequality in the system.

An equation can often be solved by successively deducing from it one or more simpler equations. For example, one can add the same 
constant to both sides without changing the solutions, but squaring both sides might lead to extraneous solutions. Strategic competence 
in solving includes looking ahead for productive manipulations and anticipating the nature and number of solutions.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 46

Some equations have no solutions in a given number system, but have a solution in a larger system. For example, the solution of x + 1 
= 0 is an integer, not a whole number; the solution of 2x + 1 = 0 is a rational number, not an integer; the solutions of x2 – 2 = 0 are real 
numbers, not rational numbers; and the solutions of x2 + 2 = 0 are complex numbers, not real numbers.

The same solution techniques used to solve equations can be used to rearrange formulas. For example, the formula for the area of a 
trapezoid, A = ((b1+b2)/2)h, can be solved for h using the same deductive process. 

Inequalities can be solved by reasoning about the properties of inequality. Many, but not all, of the properties of equality continue to 
hold for inequalities and can be useful in solving them.

Connections to Functions and Modeling
Expressions can define functions, and equivalent expressions define the same function. Asking when two functions have the same
value for the same input leads to an equation; graphing the two functions allows for finding approximate solutions of the equation. 
Converting a verbal description to an equation, inequality, or system of these is an essential skill in modeling.

Seeing Structure in Expressions A-SSE

Interpret the structure of expressions.
1. Interpret expressions that represent a quantity in terms of its context.

a. Interpret parts of an expression, such as terms, factors, and coefficients. 
b. Interpret complicated expressions by viewing one or more of their parts as a single entity. For example, interpret P(1+r)n as 

the product of P and a factor not depending on P.
2. Use the structure of an expression to identify ways to rewrite it. For example, see x4 – y4 as (x2)2 – (y2)2, thus recognizing it as a 

difference of squares that can be factored as (x2 – y2)(x2 + y2).

Write expressions in equivalent forms to solve problems.
3. Choose and produce an equivalent form of an expression to reveal and explain properties of the quantity represented by the

expression.
a. Factor a quadratic expression to reveal the zeros of the function it defines. 
b. Complete the square in a quadratic expression to reveal the maximum or minimum value of the function it defines. 
c. Use the properties of exponents to transform expressions for exponential functions. For example the expression 1.15t can be 

rewritten as (1.151/12)12t !������12t to reveal the approximate equivalent monthly interest rate if the annual rate is 15%.
4. Derive the formula for the sum of a finite geometric series (when the common ratio is not 1), and use the formula to solve problems. 

For example, calculate mortgage payments.

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Algebra Overview

Seeing Structure in Expressions
• Interpret the structure of expressions
• Write expressions in equivalent forms 

to solve problems

Arithmetic with Polynomials and 
Rational Functions
• Perform arithmetic operations on 

polynomials
• Understand the relationship between 

zeros and factors of polynomials
• Use polynomial identities to solve 

problems
• Rewrite rational expressions

Creating Equations
• Create equations that describe numbers 

or relationships

Reasoning with Equations and 
Inequalities
• Understand solving equations as a 

process of reasoning and explain the 
reasoning

• Solve equations and inequalities in one 
variable

• Solve systems of equations
• Represent and solve equations and 

inequalities graphically



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 47

Arithmetic with Polynomials and Rational Expressions A-APR

Perform arithmetic operations on polynomials.
1. Understand that polynomials form a system analogous to the integers, namely, they are closed under the operations of addition, 

subtraction, and multiplication; add, subtract, and multiply polynomials. 

Understand the relationship between zeros and factors of polynomials.
2. Know and apply the Remainder Theorem: For a polynomial p(x) and a number a, the remainder on division by x – a is p(a), so p(a)

= 0 if and only if (x – a) is a factor of p(x). 
3. Identify zeros of polynomials when suitable factorizations are available, and use the zeros to construct a rough graph of the 

function defined by the polynomial. 

Use polynomial identities to solve problems.
4. Prove polynomial identities and use them to describe numerical relationships. For example, the polynomial identity (x2 + y2)2 = (x2

– y2)2 + (2xy)2 can be used to generate Pythagorean triples.
5. (+) Know and apply the Binomial Theorem for the expansion of (x + y)n in powers of x and y for a positive integer n, where x and y

are any numbers, with coefficients determined for example by Pascal’s Triangle.1

Rewrite rational expressions.
6. Rewrite simple rational expressions in different forms; write a(x)/b(x) in the form q(x) + r(x)/b(x), where a(x), b(x), q(x), and r(x) are 

polynomials with the degree of r(x) less than the degree of b(x), using inspection, long division, or, for the more complicated 
examples, a computer algebra system. 

7. (+) Understand that rational expressions form a system analogous to the rational numbers, closed under addition, subtraction, 
multiplication, and division by a nonzero rational expression; add, subtract, multiply, and divide rational expressions. 

Creating Equations A-CED

Create equations that describe numbers or relationships.
1. Create equations and inequalities in one variable and use them to solve problems from a variety of contexts (e.g., science, history, 

and culture), including those of Montana American Indians. Include equations arising from linear and quadratic functions, and 
simple rational and exponential functions. 

2. Create equations in two or more variables to represent relationships between quantities; graph equations on coordinate axes with 
labels and scales. 

3. Represent constraints by equations or inequalities, and by systems of equations and/or inequalities, and interpret solutions as viable 
or nonviable options in a modeling context. For example, represent inequalities describing nutritional and cost constraints on 
combinations of different foods.

4. Rearrange formulas to highlight a quantity of interest, using the same reasoning as in solving equations. For example, rearrange 
Ohm’s law V = IR to highlight resistance R.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 48

Reasoning with Equations and Inequalities A-REI

Understand solving equations as a process of reasoning and explain the reasoning.
1. Explain each step in solving a simple equation as following from the equality of numbers asserted at the previous step, starting from 

the assumption that the original equation has a solution. Construct a viable argument to justify a solution method. 
2. Solve simple rational and radical equations in one variable, and give examples showing how extraneous solutions may arise. 

Solve equations and inequalities in one variable.
3. Solve linear equations and inequalities in one variable, including equations with coefficients represented by letters. 
4. Solve quadratic equations in one variable.

a. Use the method of completing the square to transform any quadratic equation in x into an equation of the form (x – p)2 = q
that has the same solutions. Derive the quadratic formula from this form. 

b. Solve quadratic equations by inspection (e.g., for x2 = 49), taking square roots, completing the square, the quadratic formula 
and factoring, as appropriate to the initial form of the equation. Recognize when the quadratic formula gives complex 
solutions and write them as a ± bi for real numbers a and b.

Solve systems of equations.
5. Prove that, given a system of two equations in two variables, replacing one equation by the sum of that equation and a multiple of 

the other produces a system with the same solutions. 
6. Solve systems of linear equations exactly and approximately (e.g., with graphs), focusing on pairs of linear equations in two 

variables. 
7. Solve a simple system consisting of a linear equation and a quadratic equation in two variables algebraically and graphically. For 

example, find the points of intersection between the line y = –3x and the circle x2 + y2 = 3. 
8. (+) Represent a system of linear equations as a single matrix equation in a vector variable. 
9. (+) Find the inverse of a matrix if it exists and use it to solve systems of linear equations (using technology for matrices of 

dimension 3 × 3 or greater). 

Represent and solve equations and inequalities graphically.
10. Understand that the graph of an equation in two variables is the set of all its solutions plotted in the coordinate plane, often 

forming a curve (which could be a line). 
11. Explain why the x-coordinates of the points where the graphs of the equations y = f(x) and y = g(x) intersect are the solutions of the 

equation f(x) = g(x); find the solutions approximately, e.g., using technology to graph the functions, make tables of values, or find 
successive approximations. Include cases where f(x) and/or g(x) are linear, polynomial, rational, absolute value, exponential, and 
logarithmic functions.

12. Graph the solutions to a linear inequality in two variables as a half-plane (excluding the boundary in the case of a strict inequality), 
and graph the solution set to a system of linear inequalities in two variables as the intersection of the corresponding half-planes. 

_________________
1The Binomial Theorem can be proved by mathematical induction or by a combinatorial argument.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 49

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Functions Content Standards  

Functions describe situations where one quantity determines another. For example, the return on $10,000 invested at an annualized 
percentage rate of 4.25% is a function of the length of time the money is invested. Because we continually make theories about
dependencies between quantities in nature and society, functions are important tools in the construction of mathematical models.

In school mathematics, functions usually have numerical inputs and outputs and are often defined by an algebraic expression. For 
example, the time in hours it takes for a car to drive 100 miles is a function of the car’s speed in miles per hour, v; the rule T(v) = 
100/v expresses this relationship algebraically and defines a function whose name is T.

The set of inputs to a function is called its domain. We often infer the domain to be all inputs for which the expression defining a 
function has a value, or for which the function makes sense in a given context.

A function can be described in various ways, such as by a graph (e.g., the trace of a seismograph); by a verbal rule, as in, “I’ll give 
you a state, you give me the capital city;” by an algebraic expression like f(x) = a + bx; or by a recursive rule. The graph of a function 
is often a useful way of visualizing the relationship of the function models, and manipulating a mathematical expression for a function 
can throw light on the function’s properties.

Functions presented as expressions can model many important phenomena. Two important families of functions characterized by laws 
of growth are linear functions, which grow at a constant rate, and exponential functions, which grow at a constant percent rate. Linear 
functions with a constant term of zero describe proportional relationships.

A graphing utility or a computer algebra system can be used to experiment with properties of these functions and their graphs and to 
build computational models of functions, including recursively defined functions.

Connections to Expressions, Equations, Modeling, and Coordinates
Determining an output value for a particular input involves evaluating an expression; finding inputs that yield a given output involves 
solving an equation. Questions about when two functions have the same value for the same input lead to equations, whose solutions 
can be visualized from the intersection of their graphs. Because functions describe relationships between quantities, they are 
frequently used in modeling. Sometimes functions are defined by a recursive process, which can be displayed effectively using a
spreadsheet or other technology.

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.

Functions Overview

Interpreting Functions
• Understand the concept of a 

function and use function 
notation

• Interpret functions that arise in 
applications in terms of the 
context

• Analyze functions using 
different representations

Building Functions
• Build a function that models a 

relationship between two 
quantities

• Build new functions from 
existing functions

Linear, Quadratic, and 
Exponential Models
• Construct and compare linear, 

quadratic, and exponential 
models and solve problems

• Interpret expressions for 
functions in terms of the 
situation they model

Trigonometric Functions
• Extend the domain of 

trigonometric functions using 
the unit circle

• Model periodic phenomena with 
trigonometric functions

• Prove and apply trigonometric 
identities



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 50

Interpreting Functions F-IF

Understand the concept of a function and use function notation.
1. Understand that a function from one set (called the domain) to another set (called the range) assigns to each element of the domain 

exactly one element of the range. If f is a function and x is an element of its domain, then f(x) denotes the output of f corresponding 
to the input x. The graph of f is the graph of the equation y = f(x). 

2. Use function notation, evaluate functions for inputs in their domains, and interpret statements that use function notation in terms of 
a context. 

3. Recognize that sequences are functions, sometimes defined recursively, whose domain is a subset of the integers. For example, the 
Fibonacci sequence is defined recursively by f(0) = f(1) = 1, f(n+1) = f(n) + f(n-1) for n "���

Interpret functions that arise in applications in terms of the context.
4. For a function that models a relationship between two quantities, interpret key features of graphs and tables in terms of the 

quantities, and sketch graphs showing key features given a verbal description of the relationship. Key features include: intercepts; 
intervals where the function is increasing, decreasing, positive, or negative; relative maximums and minimums; symmetries; end
behavior; and periodicity.

5. Relate the domain of a function to its graph and, where applicable, to the quantitative relationship it describes. For example, if the 
function h(n) gives the number of person-hours it takes to assemble n engines in a factory, then the positive integers would be an 
appropriate domain for the function.

6. Calculate and interpret the average rate of change of a function (presented symbolically or as a table) over a specified interval. 
Estimate the rate of change from a graph.

Analyze functions using different representations.
7. Graph functions expressed symbolically and show key features of the graph, by hand in simple cases and using technology for more 

complicated cases.
a. Graph linear and quadratic functions and show intercepts, maxima, and minima.
b. Graph square root, cube root, and piecewise-defined functions, including step functions and absolute value functions. 
c. Graph polynomial functions, identifying zeros when suitable factorizations are available, and showing end behavior. 
d. (+) Graph rational functions, identifying zeros and asymptotes when suitable factorizations are available, and showing end 

behavior. 
e. Graph exponential and logarithmic functions, showing intercepts and end behavior, and trigonometric functions, showing 

period, midline, and amplitude. 
8. Write a function defined by an expression in different but equivalent forms to reveal and explain different properties of the function. 

a. Use the process of factoring and completing the square in a quadratic function to show zeros, extreme values, and symmetry 
of the graph, and interpret these in terms of a context. 

b. Use the properties of exponents to interpret expressions for exponential functions. For example, identify percent rate of 
change in functions such as y = (1.02)t, y = (0.97)t, y = (1.01)12t, y = (1.2)t/10, and classify them as representing exponential 
growth or decay. 

9. Compare properties of two functions each represented in a different way (algebraically, graphically, numerically in tables, or by 
verbal descriptions). For example, given a graph of one quadratic function and an algebraic expression for another, say which has 
the larger maximum.

Building Functions F-BF

Build a function that models a relationship between two quantities.
1. Write a function that describes a relationship between two quantities.

a. Determine an explicit expression, a recursive process, or steps for calculation from a context. 
b. Combine standard function types using arithmetic operations. For example, build a function that models the temperature of a 

cooling body by adding a constant function to a decaying exponential, and relate these functions to the model.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 51

c. (+) Compose functions. For example, if T(y) is the temperature in the atmosphere as a function of height, and h(t) is the 
height of a weather balloon as a function of time, then T(h(t)) is the temperature at the location of the weather balloon as a 
function of time. 

2. Write arithmetic and geometric sequences both recursively and with an explicit formula, use them to model situations from a variety 
of contexts (e.g., science, history, and culture, including those of the Montana American Indian), and translate between the two 
forms.

Build new functions from existing functions.
3. Identify the effect on the graph of replacing f(x) by f(x) + k, k f(x), f(kx), and f(x + k) for specific values of k (both positive and 

negative); find the value of k given the graphs. Experiment with cases and illustrate an explanation of the effects on the graph using 
technology. Include recognizing even and odd functions from their graphs and algebraic expressions for them. 

4. Find inverse functions. 
a. Solve an equation of the form f(x) = c for a simple function f that has an inverse and write an expression for the inverse. For 

example, f(x) =2 x3 or f(x) = (x+1)/(x–1) for x ����
b. (+) Verify by composition that one function is the inverse of another. 
c. (+) Read values of an inverse function from a graph or a table, given that the function has an inverse. 
d. (+) Produce an invertible function from a non-invertible function by restricting the domain. 

5. (+) Understand the inverse relationship between exponents and logarithms and use this relationship to solve problems involving 
logarithms and exponents. 

Linear, Quadratic, and Exponential Models F-LE

Construct and compare linear, quadratic, and exponential models and solve problems.
1. Distinguish between situations that can be modeled with linear functions and with exponential functions. 

a. Prove that linear functions grow by equal differences over equal intervals, and that exponential functions grow by equal 
factors over equal intervals. 

b. Recognize situations in which one quantity changes at a constant rate per unit interval relative to another. 
c. Recognize situations in which a quantity grows or decays by a constant percent rate per unit interval relative to another. 

2. Construct linear and exponential functions, including arithmetic and geometric sequences, given a graph, a description of a
relationship, or two input-output pairs (include reading these from a table). 

3. Observe using graphs and tables that a quantity increasing exponentially eventually exceeds a quantity increasing linearly,
quadratically, or (more generally) as a polynomial function. 

4. For exponential models, express as a logarithm the solution to abct = d where a, c, and d are numbers and the base b is 2, 10, or e;
evaluate the logarithm using technology. 

Interpret expressions for functions in terms of the situation they model.
5. Interpret the parameters in a linear or exponential function in terms of a context. 

Trigonometric Functions F-TF

Extend the domain of trigonometric functions using the unit circle.
1. Understand radian measure of an angle as the length of the arc on the unit circle subtended by the angle. 
2. Explain how the unit circle in the coordinate plane enables the extension of trigonometric functions to all real numbers, interpreted 

as radian measures of angles traversed counterclockwise around the unit circle. 
3. (+) Use special triangles to determ
���������
��		��������	��������
�������
���������������� !��� "������ #����������������
���
��	�����

express the values of sine, cosines, and tangent for x����$�x���������– x in terms of their values for x, where x is any real number. 
4. (+) Use the unit circle to explain symmetry (odd and even) and periodicity of trigonometric functions. 

Model periodic phenomena with trigonometric functions.
5. Choose trigonometric functions to model periodic phenomena from a variety of contexts (e.g. science, history, and culture, 

including those of the Montana American Indian) with specified amplitude, frequency, and midline.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 52

6. (+) Understand that restricting a trigonometric function to a domain on which it is always increasing or always decreasing allows its 
inverse to be constructed. 

7. (+) Use inverse functions to solve trigonometric equations that arise in modeling contexts; evaluate the solutions using technology, 
and interpret them in terms of the context.

Prove and apply trigonometric identities.
8. Prove the Pythagorean identity sin2�%&�$����2�%&�'�(���������
�����calculate trigonometric ratios.
9. (+) Prove the addition and subtraction formulas for sine, cosine, and tangent and use them to solve problems. 

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Modeling Content Standards   

Modeling links classroom mathematics and statistics to everyday life, work, and decision-making. Modeling is the process of choosing 
and using appropriate mathematics and statistics to analyze empirical situations, to understand them better, and to improve decisions. 
Quantities and their relationships in physical, economic, public policy, social, and everyday situations can be modeled using 
mathematical and statistical methods. When making mathematical models, technology is valuable for varying assumptions, exploring 
consequences, and comparing predictions with data.

A model can be very simple, such as writing total cost as a product of unit price and number bought, or using a geometric shape to 
describe a physical object like a coin. Even such simple models involve making choices. It is up to us whether to model a coin as a 
three-dimensional cylinder, or whether a two-dimensional disk works well enough for our purposes. Other situations—modeling a 
delivery route, a production schedule, or a comparison of loan amortizations—need more elaborate models that use other tools from 
the mathematical sciences. Real-world situations are not organized and labeled for analysis; formulating tractable models, representing 
such models, and analyzing them is appropriately a creative process. Like every such process, this depends on acquired expertise as 
well as creativity.

Some examples of such situations might include:
Estimating how much water and food is needed for emergency relief in a devastated city of 3 million people, and how it 
might be distributed. 
Model the construction of a Montana American Indian tipi by considering the size of the tipi ring, number of lodge poles, and 
the angle between the pole and the ground.
Planning a table tennis tournament for 7 players at a club with 4 tables, where each player plays against each other player. 
Designing the layout of the stalls in a school fair so as to raise as much money as possible. 
Analyzing stopping distance for a car. 
Modeling savings account balance, bacterial colony growth, or investment growth. 
Engaging in critical path analysis, e.g., applied to turnaround of an aircraft at an airport. 
Analyzing risk in situations such as extreme sports, pandemics, and terrorism. 
Relating population statistics to individual predictions. 

In situations like these, the models devised depend on a number of factors: How precise an answer do we want or need? What aspects 
of the situation do we most need to understand, control, or optimize? What resources of time and tools do we have? The range of 
models that we can create and analyze is also constrained by the limitations of our mathematical, statistical, and technical skills, and 
our ability to recognize significant variables and relationships among them. Diagrams of various kinds, spreadsheets and other
technology, and algebra are powerful tools for understanding and solving problems drawn from different types of real-world 
situations.

One of the insights provided by mathematical modeling is that essentially the same mathematical or statistical structure can sometimes 
model seemingly different situations. Models can also shed light on the mathematical structures themselves, for example, as when a 
model of bacterial growth makes more vivid the explosive growth of the exponential function.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 53

The basic modeling cycle is summarized in the diagram. It involves (1) identifying variables in the situation and selecting those that 
represent essential features, (2) formulating a model by creating and selecting geometric, graphical, tabular, algebraic, or statistical 
representations that describe relationships between the variables, (3) analyzing and performing operations on these relationships to
draw conclusions, (4) interpreting the results of the mathematics in terms of the original situation, (5) validating the conclusions by 
comparing them with the situation, and then either improving the model or, if it is acceptable, (6) reporting on the conclusions and the 
reasoning behind them. Choices, assumptions, and approximations are present throughout this cycle.

In descriptive modeling, a model simply describes the phenomena or summarizes them in a compact form. Graphs of observations are 
a familiar descriptive model—for example, graphs of global temperature and atmospheric CO2 over time. 

Analytic modeling seeks to explain data on the basis of deeper theoretical ideas, albeit with parameters that are empirically based; for 
example, exponential growth of bacterial colonies (until cut-off mechanisms such as pollution or starvation intervene) follows from a 
constant reproduction rate. Functions are an important tool for analyzing such problems.

Graphing utilities, spreadsheets, computer algebra systems, and dynamic geometry software are powerful tools that can be used to 
model purely mathematical phenomena (e.g., the behavior of polynomials) as well as physical phenomena.

Modeling Standards
Modeling is best interpreted not as a collection of isolated topics but rather in relation to other standards. Making mathematical 
models is a Standard for Mathematical Practice, and specific modeling standards appear throughout the high school standards 
indicated by a star symbol ( ).

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Geometry Content Standards   

An understanding of the attributes and relationships of geometric objects can be applied in diverse contexts—interpreting a schematic 
drawing, estimating the amount of wood needed to frame a sloping roof, rendering computer graphics, or designing a sewing pattern 
for the most efficient use of material. Various cultural contexts such as American Indian designs in beadwork, star quilts, and tipis 
provide rich opportunities to apply concepts and skills of geometry.

Although there are many types of geometry, school mathematics is devoted primarily to plane Euclidean geometry, studied both 
synthetically (without coordinates) and analytically (with coordinates). Euclidean geometry is characterized most importantly by the 
Parallel Postulate, that through a point not on a given line there is exactly one parallel line. (Spherical geometry, in contrast, has no 
parallel lines.)

During high school, students begin to formalize their geometry experiences from elementary and middle school, using more precise 
definitions and developing careful proofs. Later in college some students develop Euclidean and other geometries carefully from a 
small set of axioms.

The concepts of congruence, similarity, and symmetry can be understood from the perspective of geometric transformation. 
Fundamental are the rigid motions: translations, rotations, reflections, and combinations of these, all of which are here assumed to 
preserve distance and angles (and therefore shapes generally). Reflections and rotations each explain a particular type of symmetry, 
and the symmetries of an object offer insight into its attributes—as when the reflective symmetry of an isosceles triangle assures that 
its base angles are congruent.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 54

In the approach taken here, two geometric figures are defined to be congruent if there is a sequence of rigid motions that carries one 
onto the other. This is the principle of superposition. For triangles, congruence means the equality of all corresponding pairs of sides 
and all corresponding pairs of angles. During the middle grades, through experiences drawing triangles from given conditions,
students notice ways to specify enough measures in a triangle to ensure that all triangles drawn with those measures are congruent. 
Once these triangle congruence criteria (ASA, SAS, and SSS) are established using rigid motions, they can be used to prove theorems 
about triangles, quadrilaterals, and other geometric figures.

Similarity transformations (rigid motions followed by dilations) define similarity in the same way that rigid motions define 
congruence, thereby formalizing the similarity ideas of "same shape" and "scale factor" developed in the middle grades. These 
transformations lead to the criterion for triangle similarity that two pairs of corresponding angles are congruent.

The definitions of sine, cosine, and tangent for acute angles are founded on right triangles and similarity, and, with the Pythagorean 
Theorem, are fundamental in many real-world and theoretical situations. The Pythagorean Theorem is generalized to non-right 
triangles by the Law of Cosines. Together, the Laws of Sines and Cosines embody the triangle congruence criteria for the cases where 
three pieces of information suffice to completely solve a triangle. Furthermore, these laws yield two possible solutions in the 
ambiguous case, illustrating that Side-Side-Angle is not a congruence criterion.

Analytic geometry connects algebra and geometry, resulting in powerful methods of analysis and problem solving. Just as the number
line associates numbers with locations in one dimension, a pair of perpendicular axes associates pairs of numbers with locations in two 
dimensions. This correspondence between numerical coordinates and geometric points allows methods from algebra to be applied to 
geometry and vice versa. The solution set of an equation becomes a geometric curve, making visualization a tool for doing and 
understanding algebra. Geometric shapes can be described by equations, making algebraic manipulation into a tool for geometric
understanding, modeling, and proof. Geometric transformations of the graphs of equations correspond to algebraic changes in their 
equations.

Dynamic geometry environments provide students with experimental and modeling tools that allow them to investigate geometric 
phenomena in much the same way as computer algebra systems allow them to experiment with algebraic phenomena.

Connections to Equations
The correspondence between numerical coordinates and geometric points allows methods from algebra to be applied to geometry and 
vice versa. The solution set of an equation becomes a geometric curve, making visualization a tool for doing and understanding
algebra. Geometric shapes can be described by equations, making algebraic manipulation into a tool for geometric understanding, 
modeling, and proof.

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments 
and critique the reasoning of 
others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express 

regularity in repeated 
reasoning.

Geometry Overview
Congruence
• Experiment with transformations in the 

plane
• Understand congruence in terms of rigid

motions
• Prove geometric theorems
• Make geometric constructions
Similarity, Right Triangles, and 
Trigonometry
• Understand similarity in terms of 

similarity transformations
• Prove theorems involving similarity
• Define trigonometric ratios and solve 

problems involving right triangles
• Apply trigonometry to general triangles
Modeling with Geometry
• Apply geometric concepts in modeling
situations

Expressing Geometric Properties with 
Equations
• Translate between the geometric 

description and the equation for a conic 
section

• Use coordinates to prove simple 
geometric theorems algebraically

Geometric Measurement and Dimension
• Explain volume formulas and use them to 

solve problems
• Visualize relationships between two

dimensional and three-dimensional 
objects

Circles
• Understand and apply theorems about 

circles
• Find arc lengths and areas of sectors of 

circles



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 55

Congruence G-CO

Experiment with transformations in the plane
1. Know precise definitions of angle, circle, perpendicular line, parallel line, and line segment, based on the undefined notions of 

point, line, distance along a line, and distance around a circular arc. 
2. Represent transformations in the plane using, e.g., transparencies and geometry software; describe transformations as functions that 

take points in the plane as inputs and give other points as outputs. Compare transformations that preserve distance and angle to 
those that do not (e.g., translation versus horizontal stretch). 

3. Given a rectangle, parallelogram, trapezoid, or regular polygon, describe the rotations and reflections that carry it onto itself. 
4. Develop definitions of rotations, reflections, and translations in terms of angles, circles, perpendicular lines, parallel lines, and line 

segments. 
5. Given a geometric figure and a rotation, reflection, or translation, draw the transformed figure using, e.g., graph paper, tracing 

paper, or geometry software. Specify a sequence of transformations that will carry a given figure onto another. 

Understand congruence in terms of rigid motions
6. Use geometric descriptions of rigid motions to transform figures and to predict the effect of a given rigid motion on a given figure; 

given two figures, use the definition of congruence in terms of rigid motions to decide if they are congruent. 
7. Use the definition of congruence in terms of rigid motions to show that two triangles are congruent if and only if corresponding 

pairs of sides and corresponding pairs of angles are congruent. 
8. Explain how the criteria for triangle congruence (ASA, SAS, and SSS) follow from the definition of congruence in terms of rigid 

motions. 

Prove geometric theorems
9. Prove theorems about lines and angles. Theorems include: vertical angles are congruent; when a transversal crosses parallel lines, 

alternate interior angles are congruent and corresponding angles are congruent; points on a perpendicular bisector of a line 
segment are exactly those equidistant from the segment’s endpoints.

10. Prove theorems about triangles. Theorems include: measures of interior angles of a triangle sum to 180°; base angles of isosceles 
triangles are congruent; the segment joining midpoints of two sides of a triangle is parallel to the third side and half the length; 
the medians of a triangle meet at a point.

11. Prove theorems about parallelograms. Theorems include: opposite sides are congruent, opposite angles are congruent, the 
diagonals of a parallelogram bisect each other, and conversely, rectangles are parallelograms with congruent diagonals.

Make geometric constructions
12. Make formal geometric constructions, including those representing Montana American Indians, with a variety of tools and 

methods (compass and straightedge, string, reflective devices, paper folding, dynamic geometric software, etc.). Copying a 
segment; copying an angle; bisecting a segment; bisecting an angle; constructing perpendicular lines, including the 
perpendicular bisector of a line segment; and constructing a line parallel to a given line through a point not on the line.

13. Construct an equilateral triangle, a square, and a regular hexagon inscribed in a circle. 

Similarity, Right Triangles, and Trigonometry G-SRT

Understand similarity in terms of similarity transformations
1. Verify experimentally the properties of dilations given by a center and a scale factor:

a. A dilation takes a line not passing through the center of the dilation to a parallel line, and leaves a line passing through the 
center unchanged. 

b. The dilation of a line segment is longer or shorter in the ratio given by the scale factor. 
2. Given two figures, use the definition of similarity in terms of similarity transformations to decide if they are similar; explain using 

similarity transformations the meaning of similarity for triangles as the equality of all corresponding pairs of angles and the 
proportionality of all corresponding pairs of sides. 

3. Use the properties of similarity transformations to establish the AA criterion for two triangles to be similar. 



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 56

Prove theorems involving similarity
4. Prove theorems about triangles. Theorems include: a line parallel to one side of a triangle divides the other two proportionally, and 

conversely; the Pythagorean Theorem proved using triangle similarity.
5. Use congruence and similarity criteria for triangles to solve problems and to prove relationships in geometric figures. 

Define trigonometric ratios and solve problems involving right triangles
6. Understand that by similarity, side ratios in right triangles are properties of the angles in the triangle, leading to definitions of 

trigonometric ratios for acute angles. 
7. Explain and use the relationship between the sine and cosine of complementary angles. 
8. Use trigonometric ratios and the Pythagorean Theorem to solve right triangles in applied problems. 

Apply trigonometry to general triangles
9. (+) Derive the formula A = 1/2 ab sin(C) for the area of a triangle by drawing an auxiliary line from a vertex perpendicular to the 

opposite side. 
10. (+) Prove the Laws of Sines and Cosines and use them to solve problems. 
11. (+) Understand and apply the Law of Sines and the Law of Cosines to find unknown measurements in right and non-right triangles 

(e.g., surveying problems, resultant forces). 

Circles G-C

Understand and apply theorems about circles
1. Prove that all circles are similar. 
2. Identify and describe relationships among inscribed angles, radii, and chords. Include the relationship between central, inscribed, 

and circumscribed angles; inscribed angles on a diameter are right angles; the radius of a circle is perpendicular to the tangent 
where the radius intersects the circle.

3. Construct the inscribed and circumscribed circles of a triangle, and prove properties of angles for a quadrilateral inscribed in a 
circle. 

4. (+) Construct a tangent line from a point outside a given circle to the circle. 

Find arc lengths and areas of sectors of circles
5. Derive using similarity the fact that the length of the arc intercepted by an angle is proportional to the radius, and define the radian 

measure of the angle as the constant of proportionality; derive the formula for the area of a sector. 

Expressing Geometric Properties with Equations G-GPE

Translate between the geometric description and the equation for a conic section
1. Derive the equation of a circle of given center and radius using the Pythagorean Theorem; complete the square to find the center 

and radius of a circle given by an equation. 
2. Derive the equation of a parabola given a focus and directrix. 
3. (+) Derive the equations of ellipses and hyperbolas given the foci and directrices.

Use coordinates to prove simple geometric theorems algebraically
4. Use coordinates to prove simple geometric theorems algebraically. For example, prove or disprove that a figure defined by four 

given points in the coordinate plane is a rectangle; prove or disprove that the point (1, �� ����	���������������������������the origin 
and containing the point (0, 2).

5. Prove the slope criteria for parallel and perpendicular lines and use them to solve geometric problems (e.g., find the equation of a 
line parallel or perpendicular to a given line that passes through a given point). 

6. Find the point on a directed line segment between two given points that partitions the segment in a given ratio. 
7. Use coordinates to compute perimeters of polygons and areas of triangles and rectangles, e.g., using the distance formula.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 57

Geometric Measurement and Dimension G-GMD

Explain volume formulas and use them to solve problems
1. Give an informal argument for the formulas for the circumference of a circle, area of a circle, volume of a cylinder, pyramid, and 

cone. Use dissection arguments, Cavalieri’s principle, and informal limit arguments.
2. (+) Give an informal argument using Cavalieri’s principle for the formulas for the volume of a sphere and other solid figures. 
3. Use volume formulas for cylinders, pyramids, cones, and spheres to solve problems.

Visualize relationships between two-dimensional and three-dimensional objects
4. Identify the shapes of two-dimensional cross-sections of three-dimensional objects, and identify three-dimensional objects 

generated by rotations of two-dimensional objects. 

Modeling with Geometry G-MG

Apply geometric concepts in modeling situations
1. Use geometric shapes, their measures, and their properties to describe objects (e.g., modeling a tree trunk or a human torso as a 

cylinder; modeling a Montana American Indian tipi as a cone).
2. Apply concepts of density based on area and volume in modeling situations (e.g., persons per square mile, BTUs per cubic foot).
3. Apply geometric methods to solve design problems (e.g., designing an object or structure to satisfy physical constraints or minimize 

cost; working with typographic grid systems based on ratios).

Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Statistics and Probability Content Standards   

Decisions or predictions are often based on data—numbers in context. These decisions or predictions would be easy if the data always 
sent a clear message, but the message is often obscured by variability. Statistics provides tools for describing variability in data and for 
making informed decisions that take it into account.

Data are gathered, displayed, summarized, examined, and interpreted to discover patterns and deviations from patterns. Quantitative 
data can be described in terms of key characteristics: measures of shape, center, and spread. The shape of a data distribution might be 
described as symmetric, skewed, flat, or bell shaped, and it might be summarized by a statistic measuring center (such as mean or 
median) and a statistic measuring spread (such as standard deviation or interquartile range). Different distributions can be compared 
numerically using these statistics or compared visually using plots. Knowledge of center and spread are not enough to describe a 
distribution. Which statistics to compare, which plots to use, and what the results of a comparison might mean, depend on the question 
to be investigated and the real-life actions to be taken.

Randomization has two important uses in drawing statistical conclusions. First, collecting data from a random sample of a population 
makes it possible to draw valid conclusions about the whole population, taking variability into account. Second, randomly assigning 
individuals to different treatments allows a fair comparison of the effectiveness of those treatments. A statistically significant outcome 
is one that is unlikely to be due to chance alone, and this can be evaluated only under the condition of randomness. The conditions 
under which data are collected are important in drawing conclusions from the data; in critically reviewing uses of statistics in public 
media and other reports, it is important to consider the study design, how the data were gathered, and the analyses employed as well as 
the data summaries and the conclusions drawn.

Random processes can be described mathematically by using a probability model: a list or description of the possible outcomes (the 
sample space), each of which is assigned a probability. In situations such as flipping a coin, rolling a number cube, or drawing a card, 
it might be reasonable to assume various outcomes are equally likely. In a probability model, sample points represent outcomes and 
combine to make up events; probabilities of events can be computed by applying the Addition and Multiplication Rules. Interpreting 
these probabilities relies on an understanding of independence and conditional probability, which can be approached through the 
analysis of two-way tables.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 58

Technology plays an important role in statistics and probability by making it possible to generate plots, regression functions, and 
correlation coefficients, and to simulate many possible outcomes in a short amount of time.

Connections to Functions and Modeling
Functions may be used to describe data; if the data suggest a linear relationship, the relationship can be modeled with a regression line, 
and its strength and direction can be expressed through a correlation coefficient.

Interpreting Categorical and Quantitative Data S-ID

Summarize, represent, and interpret data on a single count or measurement variable
1. Represent data with plots on the real number line (dot plots, histograms, and box plots). 
2. Use statistics appropriate to the shape of the data distribution to compare center (median, mean) and spread (interquartile range, 

standard deviation) of two or more different data sets. 
3. Interpret differences in shape, center, and spread in the context of the data sets, accounting for possible effects of extreme data 

points (outliers). 
4. Use the mean and standard deviation of a data set to fit it to a normal distribution and to estimate population percentages. Recognize 

that there are data sets for which such a procedure is not appropriate. Use calculators, spreadsheets, and tables, and Montana 
American Indian data sources to estimate areas under the normal curve.

Summarize, represent, and interpret data on two categorical and quantitative variables
5. Summarize categorical data for two categories in two-way frequency tables. Interpret relative frequencies in the context of the data 

(including joint, marginal, and conditional relative frequencies). Recognize possible associations and trends in the data. 
6. Represent data on two quantitative variables on a scatter plot, and describe how the variables are related. 

a. Fit a function to the data; use functions fitted to data to solve problems in the context of the data. Use given functions or 
choose a function suggested by the context. Emphasize linear, quadratic, and exponential models. 

b. Informally assess the fit of a function by plotting and analyzing residuals.
c. Fit a linear function for a scatter plot that suggests a linear association. 

Statistics and Probability Overview

Interpreting Categorical and 
Quantitative Data
• Summarize, represent, and interpret 

data on a single count or measurement 
variable

• Summarize, represent, and interpret 
data on two categorical and 
quantitative variables

• Interpret linear models

Making Inferences and Justifying 
Conclusions
• Understand and evaluate random 

processes underlying statistical 
experiments

• Make inferences and justify 
conclusions from sample surveys,
experiments and observational studies

Conditional Probability and the Rules 
of Probability
• Understand independence and 

conditional probability and use them 
to interpret data

• Use the rules of probability to compute
probabilities of compound events in a 
uniform probability model

Using Probability to Make Decisions
• Calculate expected values and use 

them to solve problems
• Use probability to evaluate outcomes 

of decisions

Mathematical Practices

1. Make sense of problems and 
persevere in solving them. 

2. Reason abstractly and 
quantitatively. 

3. Construct viable arguments and 
critique the reasoning of others.

4. Model with mathematics. 
5. Use appropriate tools 

strategically. 
6. Attend to precision. 
7. Look for and make use of 

structure. 
8. Look for and express regularity 

in repeated reasoning.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 59

Interpret linear models
7. Interpret the slope (rate of change) and the intercept (constant term) of a linear model in the context of the data. 
8. Compute (using technology) and interpret the correlation coefficient of a linear fit. 
9. Distinguish between correlation and causation.

Making Inferences and Justifying Conclusions S-IC

Understand and evaluate random processes underlying statistical experiments
1. Understand statistics as a process for making inferences about population parameters based on a random sample from that 

population. 
2. Decide if a specified model is consistent with results from a given data-generating process, e.g., using simulation. For example, a 

model says a spinning coin falls heads up with probability 0.5. Would a result of 5 tails in a row cause you to question the model?

Make inferences and justify conclusions from sample surveys, experiments, and observational studies
3. Recognize the purposes of and differences among sample surveys, experiments, and observational studies; explain how 

randomization relates to each. 
4. Use data from a sample survey to estimate a population mean or proportion; develop a margin of error through the use of simulation 

models for random sampling. 
5. Use data from a randomized experiment to compare two treatments; use simulations to decide if differences between parameters are 

significant. 
6. Evaluate reports based on data. 

Conditional Probability and the Rules of Probability S-CP

Understand independence and conditional probability and use them to interpret data
1. Describe events as subsets of a sample space (the set of outcomes) using characteristics (or categories) of the outcomes, or as 

unions, intersections, or complements of other events (“or,” “and,” “not”). 
2. Understand that two events A and B are independent if the probability of A and B occurring together is the product of their 

probabilities, and use this characterization to determine if they are independent. 
3. Understand the conditional probability of A given B as P(A and B)/P(B), and interpret independence of A and B as saying that the 

conditional probability of A given B is the same as the probability of A, and the conditional probability of B given A is the same as 
the probability of B.

4. Construct and interpret two-way frequency tables of data including information from Montana American Indian data sources when 
two categories are associated with each object being classified. Use the two-way table as a sample space to decide if events are 
independent and to approximate conditional probabilities. For example, collect data from a random sample of students in your 
school on their favorite subject among math, science, and English. Estimate the probability that a randomly selected student from 
your school will favor science given that the student is in tenth grade. Do the same for other subjects and compare the results.

5. Recognize and explain the concepts of conditional probability and independence in everyday language and everyday situations. For 
example, compare the chance of having lung cancer if you are a smoker with the chance of being a smoker if you have lung cancer.

Use the rules of probability to compute probabilities of compound events in a uniform probability model
6. Find the conditional probability of A given B as the fraction of B’s outcomes that also belong to A, and interpret the answer in terms 

of the model. 
7. Apply the Addition Rule, P(A or B) = P(A) + P(B) – P(A and B), and interpret the answer in terms of the model. 
8. (+) Apply the general Multiplication Rule in a uniform probability model, P(A and B) = P(A)P(B|A) = P(B)P(A|B), and interpret 

the answer in terms of the model. 
9. (+) Use permutations and combinations to compute probabilities of compound events and solve problems.



Montana Mathematics Grades 9-12 Content Standards

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 60

Using Probability to Make Decisions S-MD

Calculate expected values and use them to solve problems
1. (+) Define a random variable for a quantity of interest by assigning a numerical value to each event in a sample space; graph the 

corresponding probability distribution using the same graphical displays as for data distributions. 
2. (+) Calculate the expected value of a random variable; interpret it as the mean of the probability distribution. 
3. (+) Develop a probability distribution for a random variable defined for a sample space in which theoretical probabilities can be 

calculated; find the expected value. For example, find the theoretical probability distribution for the number of correct answers 
obtained by guessing on all five questions of a multiple-choice test where each question has four choices, and find the expected 
grade under various grading schemes.

4. (+) Develop a probability distribution for a random variable defined for a sample space in which probabilities are assigned 
empirically; find the expected value. For example, find a current data distribution on the number of TV sets per household in the 
United States, and calculate the expected number of sets per household. How many TV sets would you expect to find in 100 
randomly selected households?

Use probability to evaluate outcomes of decisions
5. (+) Weigh the possible outcomes of a decision by assigning probabilities to payoff values and finding expected values. 

a. Find the expected payoff for a game of chance. For example, find the expected winnings from a state lottery ticket or a game 
at a fast-food restaurant.

b. Evaluate and compare strategies on the basis of expected values. For example, compare a high-deductible versus a low-
deductible automobile insurance policy using various, but reasonable, chances of having a minor or a major accident.

6. (+) Use probabilities to make fair decisions (e.g., drawing by lots, using a random number generator). 
7. (+) Analyze decisions and strategies using probability concepts (e.g., product testing, medical testing, pulling a hockey goalie at the 

end of a game). 

Notes on Courses and Transitions 

The high school portion of the Standards for Mathematical Content specifies the mathematics all students should study for college and 
career readiness. These standards do not mandate the sequence of high school courses. However, the organization of high school
courses is a critical component to implementation of the standards. To that end, sample high school pathways for mathematics – in 
both a traditional course sequence (Algebra I, Geometry, and Algebra II) as well as an integrated course sequence (Mathematics 1, 
Mathematics 2, Mathematics 3) – will be made available shortly after the release of the final Common Core State Standards. It is 
expected that additional model pathways based on these standards will become available as well.

The standards themselves do not dictate curriculum, pedagogy, or delivery of content. In particular, states may handle the transition to 
high school in different ways. For example, many students in the United States today take Algebra I in the 8th grade, and in some 
states this is a requirement. The K-7 standards contain the prerequisites to prepare students for Algebra I by 8th grade, and the 
standards are designed to permit states to continue existing policies concerning Algebra I in 8th grade.

A second major transition is the transition from high school to post-secondary education for college and careers. The evidence 
concerning college and career readiness shows clearly that the knowledge, skills, and practices important for readiness include a great 
deal of mathematics prior to the boundary defined by (+) symbols in these standards. Indeed, some of the highest priority content for 
college and career readiness comes from Grades 6-8. This body of material includes powerfully useful proficiencies such as applying 
ratio reasoning in real-world and mathematical problems, computing fluently with positive and negative fractions and decimals, and 
solving real-world and mathematical problems involving angle measure, area, surface area, and volume. Because important standards 
for college and career readiness are distributed across grades and courses, systems for evaluating college and career readiness should 
reach as far back in the standards as Grades 6-8. It is important to note as well that cut scores or other information generated by 
assessment systems for college and career readiness should be developed in collaboration with representatives from higher education 
and workforce development programs, and should be validated by subsequent performance of students in college and the workforce.



Montana Mathematics Content Standards Glossary

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 61

Glossary 

Table 1. Common addition and subtraction situations.1

Result Unknown Change Unknown Start Unknown

Add to

Two bunnies sat on the grass. 
Three more bunnies hopped 
there. How many bunnies are 
on the grass now?
2 + 3 = ?

Two bunnies were sitting on 
the grass. Some more 
bunnies hopped there. Then 
there were five bunnies. How 
many bunnies hopped over to 
the first two?
2 + ? = 5

Some bunnies were sitting on 
the grass. Three more bunnies 
hopped there. Then there 
were five bunnies. How many 
bunnies were on the grass 
before?
? + 3 = 5

Take from

Five apples were on the table. 
I ate two apples. How many 
apples are on the table now?
5 – 2 = ?

Five apples were on the table. 
I ate some apples. Then there 
were three apples. How many 
apples did I eat?
5 – ? = 3

Some apples were on the 
table. I ate two apples. Then 
there were three apples. How 
many apples were on the 
table before?
? – 2 = 3

Total Unknown Addend Unknown Both Addends Unknown2

Put Together/
Take Apart1

Three red apples and two 
green apples are on the table. 
How many apples are on the 
table?
3 + 2 = ?

Five apples are on the table. 
Three are red and the rest are 
green. How many apples are 
green?
3 + ? = 5, 5 – 3 = ?

Grandma has five flowers. 
How many can she put in her 
red vase and how many in her 
blue vase?
5 = 0 + 5, 5 = 5 + 0
5 = 1 + 4, 5 = 4 + 1
5 = 2 + 3, 5 = 3 + 2

Difference Unknown Bigger Unknown Smaller Unknown

Compare2

(“How many more?” version):
Lucy has two apples. Julie has 
five apples. How many more 
apples does Julie have than 
Lucy?

(“How many fewer?” version):
Lucy has two apples. Julie has 
five apples. How many fewer 
apples does Lucy have than 
Julie?
2 + ? = 5, 5 – 2 = ?

(Version with “more”):
Julie has three more apples 
than Lucy. Lucy has two 
apples. How many apples 
does Julie have?

(Version with “fewer”):
Lucy has 3 fewer apples than 
Julie. Lucy has two apples. 
How many apples does Julie 
have?
2 + 3 = ?, 3 + 2 = ?

(Version with “more”):
Julie has three more apples 
than Lucy. Julie has five 
apples. How many apples 
does Lucy have?

(Version with “fewer”):
Lucy has 3 fewer apples than 
Julie. Julie has five apples. 
How many apples does Lucy 
have?
5 – 3 = ?, ? + 3 = 5

1These take apart situations can be used to show all the decompositions of a given number. The associated equations, which have the 
total on the left of the equal sign, help children understand that the = sign does not always mean makes or results in but always does 
mean is the same number as.
2Either addend can be unknown, so there are three variations of these problem situations. Both Addends Unknown is a productive
extension of this basic situation, especially for small numbers less than or equal to 10.
3For the Bigger Unknown or Smaller Unknown situations, one version directs the correct operation (the version using more for the 
bigger unknown and using less for the smaller unknown). The other versions are more difficult.
_________________
1Adapted from Box 2-4 of Mathematics Learning in Early Childhood, National Research Council (2009, pp. 32, 33).



Montana Mathematics Content Standards Glossary

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 62

Table 2. Common multiplication and division situations.1

Unknown Product Group Size Unknown
(“How many in each 

group?”
Division)

Number of Groups 
Unknown

(“How many groups?” 
Division)

3 × 6 = ? 3 × ? = 18, and 18 ÷ 3 = ? ? × 6 = 18, and 18 ÷ 6 = ?

Equal
Groups

There are 3 bags with 6 plums 
in each bag. How many plums 
are there in all? 

Measurement example. You 
need 3 lengths of string, each 
6 inches long. How much 
string will you need 
altogether?

If 18 plums are shared 
equally into 3 bags, then how 
many plums will be in each 
bag?

Measurement example. You 
have 18 inches of string, 
which you will cut into 3 
equal pieces. How long will 
each piece of string be?

If 18 plums are to be packed 
6 to a bag, then how many 
bags are needed?

Measurement example. You 
have 18 inches of string, 
which you will cut into pieces 
that are 6 inches long. How 
many pieces of string will 
you have?

Arrays,4
Area5

There are 3 rows of apples
with 6 apples in each row. 
How many apples are there?

Area example. What is the 
area of a 3 cm by 6 cm 
rectangle?

If 18 apples are arranged into 
3 equal rows, how many 
apples will be in each row?

Area example. A rectangle 
has area 18 square 
centimeters. If one side is 3 
cm long, how long is a side 
next to it?

If 18 apples are arranged into
equal rows of 6 apples, how
many rows will there be?

Area example. A rectangle 
has area 18 square 
centimeters. If one side is 6 
cm long, how long is a side 
next to it?

Compare

A blue hat costs $6. A red hat
costs 3 times as much as the
blue hat. How much does the
red hat cost?

Measurement example. A
rubber band is 6 cm long. How
long will the rubber band be
when it is stretched to be 3
times as long?

A red hat costs $18 and that 
is 3 times as much as a blue 
hat costs. How much does a 
blue hat cost?

Measurement example. A 
rubber band is stretched to be 
18 cm long and that is 3 
times as long as it was at 
first. How long was the 
rubber band at first?

A red hat costs $18 and a 
blue hat costs $6. How many 
times as much does the red 
hat cost as the blue hat?

Measurement example. A 
rubber band was 6 cm long at 
first. Now it is stretched to be 
18 cm long. How many times 
as long is the rubber band 
now as it was at first?

General a × b = ? a × ? = p, and p ÷ a = ? ? × b = p, and p ÷ b = ?

4The language in the array examples shows the easiest form of array problems. A harder form is to use the terms rows and columns: 
The apples in the grocery window are in 3 rows and 6 columns. How many apples are in there? Both forms are valuable.
5Area involves arrays of squares that have been pushed together so that there are no gaps or overlaps, so array problems include these 
especially important measurement situations.

_________________
1The first examples in each cell are examples of discrete things. These are easier for students and should be given before the
measurement examples.



Montana Mathematics Content Standards Glossary

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 63

Table 3. The properties of operations. Here a, b and c stand for arbitrary numbers in a given number system. The 
properties of operations apply to the rational number system, the real number system, and the complex number system.

Associative property of addition (a + b) + c = a + (b + c)
Commutative property of addition a + b = b + a

Additive identity property of 0 a + 0 = 0 + a = a
Existence of additive inverses For every a there exists –a so that a + (–a) = (–a) + a = 0

Associative property of multiplication (a × b) × c = a × (b × c)
Commutative property of multiplication a × b = b × a

Multiplicative identity property of 1 a × 1 = 1 × a = a
Existence of multiplicative inverses For every a ������������
����( a so that a × 1/a = 1/a × a = 1

Distributive property of multiplication over addition a × (b + c) = a × b + a × c

Table 4. The properties of equality. Here a, b and c stand for arbitrary numbers in the rational, real, or complex 
number systems.

Reflexive property of equality a = a
Symmetric property of equality If a = b, then b = a
Transitive property of equality If a = b and b = c, then a = c

Addition property of equality If a = b, then a + c = b + c
Subtraction property of equality If a = b, then a – c = b – c

Multiplication property of equality If a = b, then a × c = b × c
Division property of equality If a = b and c ����������a ÷ c = b ÷ c

Substitution property of equality If a = b, then b may be substituted for a
in any expression containing a.

Table 5. The properties of inequality. Here a, b and c stand for arbitrary numbers in the rational or real number
systems.

Exactly one of the following is true: a < b, a = b, a > b.
If a > b and b > c then a > c.

If a > b, then b < a.
If a > b, then –a < –b.

If a > b, then a ± c > b ± c.
If a > b and c > 0, then a × c > b × c.
If a > b and c < 0, then a × c < b × c.
If a > b and c > 0, then a ÷ c > b ÷ c.
If a > b and c < 0, then a ÷ c < b ÷ c.

 



Montana Mathematics Content Standards Learning Progressions

DRAFT 2011 Montana K-12 Content Standards for ELA and Mathematics  Page 64

Learning Progressions by Domain 

Mathematics Learning Progressions by Domain 
 

K 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 HS
Counting and 
Cardinality

Number and 
Quantity

Number and Operations in Base Ten Ratios and Proportional 
Relationship

Number and 
Operations –
Fractions

The Number System

Operations and Algebraic Thinking Expressions and 
Equations

Algebra 

Functions

Geometry

Measurement and Data Statistics and Probability



TIMELINE - PROPOSED 
Montana K-12 Content Standards in Mathematics

June 17, 2011

Recommendation to the Board of Public Education....... May 2011 meeting

Present proposed Montana K-12 Content Standards in Mathematics to the 
BPE................................................................................July 2011 meeting

Notice of Public Hearing approval by BPE ..........September 2011 meeting

Proposed notice to SOS for notice in MAR................. September 12, 2011

MAR publication out ................................................... September 22, 2011

Hearing date....................................................... week of October 24, 2011

Final Public Input deadline .................................................. date of hearing

Draft Adoption Notice to BPE ...............................November 2011 meeting

Final rule changes to SOS for notice in MAR............... November 14, 2011

MAR publication out .................................................... November 23, 2011

Effective Date of Rules...................................................(to be determined)
Effective date dependant upon Cost Analysis through a Legislative Fiscal Analysis



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Chapter 55 Joint Task Force Progress Update

PRESENTER: Patty Myers, Chairperson
Board of Public Education

Dennis Parman, Deputy Superintendent
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: The Chapter 55 Joint Task Force of the Board of Public Education (BPE) and the Office of 
Public Instruction (OPI) met June 23-24, 2011, at the Red Lion Hotel in Helena. The OPI 
provides to the BPE an update from the June work session of the Task Force: agenda, 
expected outcomes and accomplishments, and the task force goals and timeline. The Chapter 
55 Web link is, Reports and Recommendations:
http://www.opi.mt.gov/Programs/Accred/#gpm1_3

The next work session date for the Chapter 55 Joint Task Force is July 26 - 27, 2011, 
at the Great Northern Hotel, Helena.  

REQUESTED DECISION(S): None

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S): Information and Discussion 



   

1 

Board of Public Education and Office of Public Instruction
Chapter 55 Joint Task Force 

June 23-24, 2011
Red Lion Colonial Inn Hotel, Helena

Agenda 

Thursday, June 23

9:30 – 11:30 Framework for the Evaluation of School Leaders Legislative Room
and Teachers

11:30 – 1:00 Lunch on your own

1:00 – 1:30 Welcome Executive Room
Check-in 
Review Agenda and Expected Outcomes  

1:30 – 2:00 Update - Framework for the Evaluation of School Executive Room
Leaders and Teachers Subcommittee 

2:00 – 3:00 Review and Refine Chapter 55 Draft Legislative Room
Recommendations

3:00 – 3:15 Break Executive Room

3:15 – 5:00 Review and Refine Chapter 55 Draft Legislative Room
Recommendations

5:00 – 5:15 Public Comment Legislative Room

5:30 Adjourn for the day Legislative Room
Dinner on Your Own

Celebrate the 60th Anniversary of the Archie Bray
Opening Reception for all Bray Exhibits - Civic Center, 5:00 - 7:00 p.m.

Downtown Ceramic Stroll - Last Chance Gulch, 7:00 - 10:00 p.m.



   

2 

Friday, June 24

8:00 – 8:30 Coffee and Conversation Executive Room

8:30 – 8:35 Work Session Begins Executive Room

8:35 – 10:15 Review and Refine Draft Recommendations Legislative Room

10:15 – 10:30 Break Executive Room

10:30 – 11:45 “Taking Stock” Executive Room

11:45 – Noon Public Comment Executive Room

Noon – 12:45 Lunch Natatorium

12:45 – 3:00 Montana’s Performance Based Executive Room
Accreditation Model

3:00 – 3:15 Public Comment Executive Room

3:15 – 3:30 Complete Evaluations Executive Room

3:30 – 3:45 Checkout Executive Room

Next Work Session – July 26-27, 2011 Great Northern Hotel



  

Board of Public Education and Office of Public Instruction
Chapter 55 Joint Task Force

Expected Outcomes – June 23-24, 2011 Work Session

Purpose
To review and revise the Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 10.55 Standards of 
Accreditation to align the standards with current innovative practice providing 
flexibility and ensuring quality education and accountability.

Charge
The Chapter 55 Joint Task Force shall provide to the state Superintendent and the BPE
recommendations for amendments to ARM 10.55. Recommended amendments to ARM 
will comply with MAPA rules for public hearing. 

By Friday afternoon, June 24, the Chapter 55 Joint Task Force will:

1. Complete Phase I of Chapter 55 draft rule language recommendations for
consideration;

2. Refine the key components and related data elements, appropriate to Montana, of 
a “blended” Performance Based Accreditation (PBA) model, (innovative practice 
to encourage flexibility while ensuring education quality and accountability); and

3. Establish meeting dates for September and October



1

Chapter 55 Joint Task Force Goals, Milestones, and Timeline
Denise Juneau, Superintendent, Office of Public Instruction, www.opi.mt.gov June 2011

Board of Public Education and Office of Public Instruction
Chapter 55 Joint Task Force

Goals, Milestones, and Timeline
June 2011

Goals Milestones Timeline
Assemble Task Force April 16, 2010 Task Force 

Meeting
11/2009 – 4/2010

Create Professional Learning 
Community for Chapter 55 Joint 
Task Force 

Establish common 
understanding and working 
knowledge with Administrative 
Rules of Montana Chapter 55 
Standards of Accreditation 

4/2010 – 7/2010

Establish an Inclusive and 
Transparent Process

Establish public presence of 
Chapter 55 on OPI Web page

4/2010 – Ongoing 

Develop Communication Plan Review and finalize 
Communication Plan 

7/26-27

Complete recommendations for 
consideration by August
October 2011

Finalize recommended 
amendments in preparation for 
presentation to BPE

1/1/2011 – 8/2011 10/2011

Implement Task Force Public 
Outreach

Implement Communication Plan 
Dissemination of a systematic 
and coordinated message 
delivered statewide using every 
available network: OPI Web 
site, Official Email, Regional 
Service Areas/Comprehensive 
System of Personnel 
Development (RSA/CSPD), and 
other professional associations 
and organizations.

8/2011 – 12/2011

Present to BPE Recommended 
Amendments of Chapter 55

Complete draft of the Chapter 
55 recommended amendments 
Prepare Fiscal Note 
Approval by BPE to prepare 
Notice of Public Hearing

1/2012

Task Force Public Outreach Implement Communication Plan 
including outreach through 
RSA/CSPD network,

12/2011 – 2/2012



2

Chapter 55 Joint Task Force Goals, Milestones, and Timeline
Denise Juneau, Superintendent, Office of Public Instruction, www.opi.mt.gov June 2011

Goals Milestones Timeline
Articles for professional 
newsletters, Articles for local 
and  statewide newspapers,
Presentations at professional 
organizations conferences and 
meetings

Present to the BPE the Notice of 
Public Hearing 

Prepare Notice of Public 
Hearing document

3/2012

Task Force Public Outreach Systematic and coordinated 
outreach plan using the 
RSA/CSPD network
Articles for professional  
newsletters and local and  
statewide newspapers
Presentations at professional 
organizations conferences and 
meetings

3/2012 – 5/2012

Public Hearings Use outreach plan to encourage 
participation in public hearings

4/2012

Present to the BPE the Notice of 
Adoption

Prepare Notice of Adoption
Final Action by BPE 

5/2012

Establish Chapter 55 Standards 
of Accreditation Implementation 
and Professional Development 
Plan 

Develop implementation and 
professional development plan
systematically deliver 
professional development 
through RSA/CSPD network
Establish systematic process to 
evaluate and modify 
implementation plan

5/2012 – 6/2013

Effective Date Legislative process requires a 
fiscal note and delay in effective 
date if there is a significant cost 
to implementing the new rule

7/2013

Establish Systematic 
Professional Development

Statewide regional professional 
development delivery to support 
implementation of Chapter 55

7/2013 – Ongoing 



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Superintendent and Principal Internship Report

PRESENTER: Linda Vrooman Peterson, Administrator
Accreditation Division
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: The Office of Public Instruction provides to the Board of Public Education a 
report on the superintendent and principal internship program.  The presentation 
includes the following: 1) review of the Administrative Rules of Montana relating 
to superintendent and principal internships (ARM 10.55.702 (1)(b) & (2) and 
ARM 10.55.703); 2) general description of the internship program; and 3) other 
topics relating to the internship program.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): None

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S): Information/Discussion 



BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION
CHAPTER 55

STANDARDS OF ACCREDITATION
Subchapter 1

General Provisions

10.55.702 LICENSURE AND DUTIES OF DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR - DISTRICT 
SUPERINTENDENT 
(a) licensed in accordance with state statutes and Board of Public Education rules;

(1) The district superintendent shall be: 

(b) considered appropriately assigned if the superintendent is enrolled in a Board of Public 

Education approved administrator/district superintendent internship program as defined 

below:

(i) the intern must be enrolled in an approved administrator/district superintendent training 

program with the state of Montana; 

(ii) the intern must have completed the principal endorsement requirements or be 

simultaneously enrolled in an administrator/principal internship program; 

(iii) the intern must file an application with the Board of Public Education prior to placement 

within the local school districts in the state of Montana; and 

(iv) at each assigned school district, the intern must annually receive an on-site visit by an 

appointed faculty member of the approved internship program. 

(2) In cases where the intern is the only administrator hired by the district, the district shall 

contract with a properly licensed and endorsed administrator for annual and periodic 

supervision of the practice of the intern throughout the school year. Such supervision shall 

include participation in, review of, and written concurrence in all performance evaluations of 

licensed staff completed by the intern. 

(3) The district superintendent shall perform administrative duties in accordance with 20-4-

402, MCA. (History: 20-2-114, MCA; IMP, 20-2-121, MCA; NEW, 1989 MAR p. 342, Eff. 

7/1/89; AMD, 2000 MAR p. 3340, Eff. 12/8/00; AMD

10-778 6/30/07 ADMINISTRATIVE RULES OF MONTANA ACCREDITATION 10.55.703 

, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02.) 



(1) The school principal shall: 

10.55.703 LICENSURE AND DUTIES OF SCHOOL PRINCIPAL 

(a) be licensed in accordance with state statutes and Board of Public Education rules; 

(b) be considered appropriately assigned if the principal is enrolled in a Board of Public 

Education approved administrator/principal internship program as defined below: 

(i) the intern must be enrolled in an approved administrator/principal training program within 

the state of Montana; 

(ii) the intern must file an application with the Board of Public Education prior to placement 

within a school district in the state of Montana; 

(iii) at each assigned school, the intern must annually receive an on-site visit by an 

appointed faculty member of the approved internship program; 

(iv) at each assigned school, the intern shall receive an appropriate level of supervision by a 

properly licensed and endorsed administrator hired by the district. Such supervision shall 

include participation in, review of, and written concurrence in all performance evaluations of 

licensed staff completed by the intern. In cases where the intern is the only administrator 

hired by the district, the district shall contract with a properly licensed and endorsed 

administrator for annual and periodic supervision of the practice of the intern throughout the 

school year. 

(c) have a license endorsed at the level assigned as a principal, except where one 

individual serves as the single administrator for the entire district under ARM 

10.55.705(1)(a) or (b), where the superintendent may hold either a high school or 

elementary principal endorsement. No individual may be assigned a total of more than 

100% full-time equivalent (FTE); 

(d) consider ways to:

(i) provide instructional leadership; 

(ii) exercise vision in defining and accomplishing the school's mission; 

(iii) encourage teachers to have high expectations for student achievement; 

(iv) stress the importance of parents' and students' roles in academic success; 

(e) involve staff and others in decision making and in setting, accomplishing, and assessing 

educational goals; 

(f) carry out the district's policies and procedures; 

(g) be responsible for the effective day-to-day operation of the school, including the 

management of finances, materials, and human resources. (History: 20-2-114, MCA; IMP,



20-2-121, MCA; NEW, 1989 MAR p. 342, Eff. 7/1/89; AMD, 1992 MAR p. 1137, Eff. 

5/29/92; AMD, 2000 MAR p. 3340, Eff. 12/8/00; AMD, 2002 MAR p. 3309, Eff. 11/28/02.)



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Assessment Update

PRESENTER: Judy Snow, Assessment Director
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: 1. Montana is a member of a 30-state assessment consortium which is funded by a 
Race to the Top award specifically for state consortia.  This report will provide 
information on the Smarter Balanced Assessment Consortium (SBAC).   

2. During the 2009-10 school year, Montana writing teachers piloted four online 
writing programs to determine their usefulness in formative assessment and 
professional development.  At the end of the pilot, the participating teachers 
agreed on the attributes they considered important for an online writing program 
and determined that MyAccess by Vantage Learning most closely met those 
attributes.  During the 2010-11 school year, Montana writing teachers engaged in 
Phase 2 of the pilot with MyAccess.  Phase 2 of the pilot was evaluated by an 
external source.  This report will present the results of the evaluation. 

REQUESTED DECISION(S): Information

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S):



BPE PRESENTATION 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
DATE: JULY 2011 

 
 
PRESENTATION: Montana English Language Proficiency Standards  
 
PRESENTER: Judy Snow, Assessment Director 
 Office of Public Instruction 
 
OVERVIEW: Montana English Language Proficiency (ELP) Standards and Timeline for 

Adoption:  Information on the tentative action plan for adoption of ELP standards 
was presented at the December 2010 Board of Public Education meeting.  The 
report at the May 2011 Board of Public Education meeting  provided current 
information on proposed ELP standards and included a timeline and review of the 
standards with the goals being an action item in July to adopt notice of a proposed 
rule change and public hearing and ultimately a vote on adopting at the September 
2011 meeting. 

  
      
REQUESTED DECISION(S): Information  
 
OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S): Action for notice of a proposed rule change and public hearing  
 
  
 



 
 
 

 
MAR Notice No. 10-54-254 

-1- 

 BEFORE THE BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION 
 OF THE STATE OF MONTANA 
 
In the matter of the adoption of New 
Rules I through XI pertaining to 
English language proficiency (ELP) 
standards and performance 
descriptors 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON 
PROPOSED ADOPTION 

 
TO:  All Concerned Persons 

 
 1.  On __________ at 10:00 a.m. the Board of Public Education will hold a 
public hearing in the conference room at________________, Helena Montana, to 
consider the proposed adoption of the above-stated rules. 

 
2.  The Board of Public Education will make reasonable accommodations for 

persons with disabilities who wish to participate in this rulemaking process or need 
an alternative accessible format of this notice.  If you require an accommodation, 
contact the board no later than 5:00 p.m. on __________, 2011, to advise us of the 
nature of the accommodation that you need.  Please contact Steve Meloy, Executive 
Secretary, 46 North Last Chance Gulch, P.O. Box 200601, Helena, Montana,  
59620-0601; telephone (406) 444-0302; fax (406) 444-0847; or e-mail 
SMeloy@mt.gov. 

 
3.  The rules as proposed to be adopted provide as follows: 
 
NEW RULE I  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY CONTENT 

STANDARD 1  (1)  To satisfy the requirements of English language proficiency 
content standard 1, English language learners must communicate for social and 
instructional purposes within the school setting. 

 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 

NEW RULE II  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY CONTENT 
STANDARD 2  (1)  To satisfy the requirements of English language proficiency 
content standard 2, English language learners must communicate information, 
ideas, and concepts necessary for academic success in the content area of 
language arts. 

 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 

NEW RULE III  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY CONTENT 
STANDARD 3  (1)  To satisfy the requirements of English language proficiency 
content standard 3, English language learners must communicate information, 



 
 
 

 
MAR Notice No. 10-54-254 

-2- 

ideas, and concepts necessary for academic success in the content area of 
mathematics. 

 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 

NEW RULE IV  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY CONTENT 
STANDARD 4  (1)  To satisfy the requirements of English language proficiency 
content standard 4, English language learners must communicate information, 
ideas, and concepts necessary for academic success in the content area of science. 

 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 

NEW RULE V  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY CONTENT 
STANDARD 5  (1)  To satisfy the requirements of English language proficiency 
content standard 5, English language learners must communicate information, 
ideas, and concepts necessary for academic success in the content area of social 
studies. 

 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 
 NEW RULE VI  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY PERFORMANCE 
DESCRIPTORS AT THE ENTERING LEVEL  (1)  At the entering level of English 
language proficiency, English language learners will process, understand, produce 
or use: 
 (a)  pictorial or graphic representation of the language of the content areas; 
 (b)  words, phrases or chunks of language when presented with one-step 
commands, directions, WH-, choice or yes/no questions, or statements with sensory, 
graphic, or interactive support; and 
 (c)  oral language with phonological, syntactic, or semantic errors that often 
impede meaning when presented with basic oral commands, direct questions, or 
simple statements with sensory, graphic or interactive support. 
 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 
 NEW RULE VII  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY PERFORMANCE 
DESCRIPTORS AT THE EMERGING LEVEL  (1)  At the emerging level of English 
language proficiency, English language learners will process, understand, produce 
or use: 
 (a)  general language related to the content areas; 
 (b)  phrases or short sentences; and 
 (c)  oral or written language with phonological, syntactic, or semantic errors 
that often impede the meaning of the communication when presented with one to 



 
 
 

 
MAR Notice No. 10-54-254 

-3- 

multiple-step commands, directions, questions, or a series of statements with 
sensory, graphic or interactive support. 
 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 
 NEW RULE VIII  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY PERFORMANCE 
DESCRIPTORS AT THE DEVELOPING LEVEL  (1)  At the developing level of 
English language proficiency, English language learners will process, understand, 
produce or use: 
 (a)  general and some specific language of the content areas; 
 (b)  expanded sentences in oral interaction or written paragraphs; and 
 (c)  oral or written language with phonological, syntactic or semantic errors 
that may impede the communication, but retain much of its meaning, when 
presented with oral or written, narrative or expository descriptions with sensory, 
graphic or interactive support. 
 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 
 NEW RULE IX  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY PERFORMANCE 
DESCRIPTORS AT THE EXPANDING LEVEL  (1)  At the expanding level of English 
language proficiency, English language learners will process, understand, produce 
or use: 
 (a)  specific and some technical language of the content areas; 
 (b)  a variety of sentence lengths of varying linguistic complexity in oral 
discourse or multiple, related sentences or paragraphs; and 
 (c)  oral or written language with minimal phonological, syntactic or semantic 
errors that do not impede the overall meaning of the communication when presented 
with oral or written connected discourse with sensory, graphic, or interactive support. 
 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 
 NEW RULE X  ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY PERFORMANCE 
DESCRIPTORS AT THE BRIDGING LEVEL  (1)  At the bridging level of English 
language proficiency, English language learners will process, understand, produce 
or use: 
 (a)  specialized or technical language of the content areas; 
 (b)  a variety of sentence lengths of varying linguistic complexity in extended 
oral or written discourse, including stories, essays or reports; and 
 (c)  oral or written language approaching comparability to that of proficient 
English peers when presented with grade level material. 
 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 



 
 
 

 
MAR Notice No. 10-54-254 

-4- 

 NEW RULE XI ENGLISH LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY PERFORMANCE 
DESCRIPTORS AT THE REACHING LEVEL  (1)  At the reaching level of English 
language proficiency, English language learners will process, understand, produce 
or use: 
 (a)  specialized or technical language reflective of the content areas at grade 
level; 
 (b)  a variety of sentence lengths of varying linguistic complexity in extended 
oral or written discourse as required by the specified grade level; and 
 (c)  oral or written communication in English comparable to proficient English 
peers. 
 
AUTH:  20-2-114, MCA 
IMP:  20-2-121, MCA 
 
 4.  REASON:  The Board of Public Education has determined that it is 
reasonable and necessary to adopt rules to provide content standards and 
performance descriptors for English language proficiency.  The English language 
proficiency standards that are being recommended for adoption are specific to 
English language proficiency with links to academic content standards and address 
the need for students to become fully proficient in both social and academic English.  
They meet the federal requirement under Title III, section 3113(b)(2) for specific 
English language proficiency standards.  In addition their links to academic language 
have been aligned to the national Common Core State Standards.   
 

5.  Concerned persons may submit their data, views, or arguments either 
orally or in writing at the hearing.  Written data, views, or arguments may also be 
submitted to: Steve Meloy, Executive Secretary, 46 North Last Chance Gulch, P.O. 
Box 200601, Helena, Montana,  59620-0601; telephone (406) 444-0302; fax (406) 
444-0847; or e-mail SMeloy@mt.gov. and must be received no later than 5:00 p.m., 
__________,  2011  

 
6.  Steve Meloy, Executive Secretary for the Board of Public Education has 

been designated to preside over and conduct this hearing. 
 
7.  The Board of Public Education maintains a list of interested persons who 

wish to receive notices of rulemaking actions proposed by this board. Persons who 
wish to have their name added to the list shall make a written request that includes 
the name, e-mail, and mailing address of the person to receive notices and specifies 
for which program the person wishes to receive notices.  Notices will be sent by e-
mail unless a mailing preference is noted in the request.  Such written request may 
be mailed or delivered to the contact person in 5 above or may be made by 
completing a request form at any rules hearing held by the board. 

 
8.  An electronic copy of this proposal notice is available through the 

Secretary of State's web site at http://sos.mt.gov/ARM/Register.  The Secretary of 
State strives to make the electronic copy of the notice conform to the official version 
of the notice, as printed in the Montana Administrative Register, but advises all 

mailto:SMeloy@mt.gov�


 
 
 

 
MAR Notice No. 10-54-254 

-5- 

concerned persons that in the event of a discrepancy between the official printed 
text of the notice and the electronic version of the notice, only the official printed text 
will be considered.  In addition, although the Secretary of State works to keep its 
web site accessible at all times, concerned persons should be aware that the web 
site may be unavailable during some periods, due to system maintenance or 
technical problems. 

 
9.  The bill sponsor contact requirements of 2-4-302, MCA, do not apply. 

 
 
___________________________ ________________________________ 
Steve Meloy     Patty Myers, Chair 
Rule Reviewer    Board of Public Education 
         

Certified to the Secretary of State [Month Day, 20##]. 
 

 



 

TIMELINE - PROPOSED  
Montana English Language Proficiency Standards 

July 2011 
 
 
 
• Present proposed Montana English Language Proficiency Standards to 

the BPE ......................................................................... May 2011 meeting 
 
• Recommendation to the Board of Public Education ........ July 2011 meeting 
 
• Notice of Public Hearing approval by BPE  ..................... July 2011 meeting 
 
• Proposed notice to SOS for notice in MAR ............................ July 18, 2011 
 
• MAR publication out .................................................................... July 2011 
 
• Hearing date ......................................................... week of August 22, 2011 
 
• Final Public Input deadline .................................................. date of hearing 
 
• Draft Adoption Notice to BPE ....................................... September meeting 
 
• Final rule changes to SOS for notice in MAR.............. September 12, 2011 
 
• MAR publication out ................................................... September 22, 2011 
 

• Effective Date of Rules ............................................... September 23, 2011 
 Effective date dependent upon Cost Analysis through a Legislative Fiscal Analysis 

 



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Montana English Language Proficiency Standards

PRESENTER: Judy Snow, Assessment Director
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: Montana English Language Proficiency (ELP) Standards and Timeline for 
Adoption: MAR Notice No. 10-54-254:   Adopt notice of a proposed rule change 
and public hearing.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): Action:  Adopt notice of a proposed rule change and public hearing (MAR Notice 
No. 10-54-254).

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S): Adopt notice of a proposed rule change and public hearing (MAR Notice No. 10-
54-254).

.



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Alternative to Standards Requests

PRESENTER: Kelly Glass
Accreditation Unit Manager
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: This presentation provides to the Board of Public Education the report of 
disapproval of Alternative to Standards requests. The state superintendent 
recommends approval of the report as presented. The report is attached.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): Action

OUTLYING ISSUE(S):

RECOMMENDATION(S): Approve the recommendations of state Superintendent Denise Juneau of the 
Report of Initial Alternative to Standards requests



Alternative Standard Requests – Recommendations

July 15, 2011

The following 1 initial and 3 renewal alternative standard requests representing 4 districts and 7 schools have been 
received and evaluated in accordance with Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 10.55.604.

Approvals

Glacier County

East Glacier Elementary School — Renewal 

East Glacier School K-8 Current Enrollment: 40
Library Staffing:  0.0 Licensed FTE Required:  0.16 (fewer than 125 students)
Staffing:   4.153 Licensed FTE

Standard:  10.55.709.3—Library Media Services

The district will be using the MSSA model for these alternative standards.  The necessary letters of agreement with 
MSSA were provided.  This model provides for measurable objectives and corresponding formative assessments.  The 
district has also provided the necessary mission statements, description of the alternative and summative measures to be 
used.

1. Mission of library is focused on reading teachers do a tremendous job in encouraging and fostering a love of 
reading.

2. Evidence of information literacy-library media curriculum
a. Assessed in classrooms
b. Checklists help teachers to use standards for information literacy

3. Good access to technology
4. Recommended collection of usage and program data as well as provided information about professional 

development for TL in July.
5. Contract letters and schedule for library visits were forwarded on June 8, 2011 by Kar Sheppard and are on file 

with the application.

A great small-school implementation of the alternative to standard process.

The proposed alternatives meet or exceed current standards.
Recommend approval of the alternative standard requests.

Lake County

St Ignatius K-12 Schools—Initial

St Ignatius K-12 Schools K-12 Current Enrollment:  488
Library Staffing:  1.01 Licensed FTE Required:  1.43
Staffing:  47.020 Licensed FTE

Standards:  10.55.709—Library Media Services 



1. School implements a program of teacher-librarian collaboration in regards to the Information Literacy Library 
Media Standard 10.55.1801, Information Technology Instruction, Reading Advocacy, and Information 
Management.

2. District's ongoing self-study has resulted in implementation of management tools designed to maintain a high 
standard of program success:  review and submittal for state approval a Library Media Collection Development 
Policy, updated and submitted for board approval the district's Literacy and Library Media Curriculum, and 
approved a Professional Growth and Assessment Process which includes a library media specialist's strand.

3. Multiple measures of formative and summative assessments were presented.

The proposed alternative meets or exceeds the standard.
Recommend approval of the alternative standard request.

Disapprovals

Flathead County

Bigfork Schools—Renewal

Bigfork School and 7-8 K-8 Current Enrollment:  469
Library Staffing:  1.0 Licensed FTE Required:  1.42
Staffing:  39.192 Licensed FTE

Standards:  10.55.709—Library Media Services 

6. Mission of library is focused on access to resources and demonstration of proficiency. This does not meet or 
exceed the standard for the program.

7. Evidence of information literacy-library media curriculum implementation not provided. This does not meet or 
exceed the standard for the program.

8. Collaboration with classroom teachers to support instruction and implementation of the curriculum is not 
evident.

9. In general, the application does not match current practice or indicate how the plan will be implemented for the 
2011-2012 school year.  In particular, a change in personnel for the 2011-2012 school year was not indicated in 
plan.

10. Proposed FTE is not adequate to meet or exceed the program requirements of the K-6 or 7-8 students. 
Technology FTE cannot be considered for delivery of the library program.

The proposed alternative does not meet or exceed the standard.
Recommend disapproval of the alternative standard request.

Richland County

Sidney Middle School—Renewal

Sidney Middle School 7-8 Current Enrollment:  261
Library Staffing:  .595 Licensed FTE Required:  1.0 FTE
Staffing:  22.162 Licensed FTE

Standards:  10.55.709—Library Media Services 



1. The application does not describe an alternative that meets or exceeds the results under the current standards 
(ARM 10.55.709 and 10.55.1801).  The FTE requirements expressed in ARM 10.55.709 are MINIMUM 
standards.

2. FTE Assignment in 2010-11 ADC doesn't match proposed FTE in application.
3. 2011-12 Schedule provided indicates less professional FTE with addition of Media course to teacher's 

assignments.
4. Mission statement indicated for school library program refers to hours of operation and does not describe what 

the program is/does for the school. 
5. Objectives in application do not provide sufficient detail to show that the proposed alternative FTE meets or 

exceeds the program standards (10.55.709 and 10.55.1801).
6. Application states that the objective will "continue to be reviewed by Administrative staff on an annual basis" 

but does not provide detail about how that will be done and what the results of annual surveys of "certified 
staff" indicate.

7. The application refers to "meeting student library needs" without specifying what those needs are and how they 
will be determined.

8. No evidence provided of information literacy-library media curriculum implementation.
9. No evidence provided of information skills assessment through library program or in classrooms.
10. On-site visit in Fall 2011 will be necessary to observe program delivery and development of curriculum.
11. It was understood through the May 26, 2011 call that the teacher-librarian and aide are doing the best they can 

with the circumstances and that students are developing a love of reading.

The proposed alternative does not meet or exceed the standard.
Recommend disapproval of the alternative standard request.



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Alternative to Standards Requests

PRESENTER: Kelly Glass
Accreditation Unit Manager
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: This presentation provides to the Board of Public Education the report of approval 
of Alternative to Standards requests. The state superintendent recommends 
approval of the report as presented. The report is attached.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): Action

OUTLYING ISSUE(S):

RECOMMENDATION(S): Approve the recommendations of state Superintendent Denise Juneau of the 
Report of Initial Alternative to Standards requests



Alternative Standard Requests – Recommendations

July 15, 2011

The following 1 initial and 3 renewal alternative standard requests representing 4 districts and 7 schools have been 
received and evaluated in accordance with Administrative Rules of Montana (ARM) 10.55.604.

Approvals

Glacier County

East Glacier Elementary School — Renewal 

East Glacier School K-8 Current Enrollment: 40
Library Staffing:  0.0 Licensed FTE Required:  0.16 (fewer than 125 students)
Staffing:   4.153 Licensed FTE

Standard:  10.55.709.3—Library Media Services

The district will be using the MSSA model for these alternative standards.  The necessary letters of agreement with 
MSSA were provided.  This model provides for measurable objectives and corresponding formative assessments.  The 
district has also provided the necessary mission statements, description of the alternative and summative measures to be 
used.

1. Mission of library is focused on reading teachers do a tremendous job in encouraging and fostering a love of 
reading.

2. Evidence of information literacy-library media curriculum
a. Assessed in classrooms
b. Checklists help teachers to use standards for information literacy

3. Good access to technology
4. Recommended collection of usage and program data as well as provided information about professional 

development for TL in July.
5. Contract letters and schedule for library visits were forwarded on June 8, 2011 by Kar Sheppard and are on file 

with the application.

A great small-school implementation of the alternative to standard process.

The proposed alternatives meet or exceed current standards.
Recommend approval of the alternative standard requests.

Lake County

St Ignatius K-12 Schools—Initial

St Ignatius K-12 Schools K-12 Current Enrollment:  488
Library Staffing:  1.01 Licensed FTE Required:  1.43
Staffing:  47.020 Licensed FTE

Standards:  10.55.709—Library Media Services 



1. School implements a program of teacher-librarian collaboration in regards to the Information Literacy Library 
Media Standard 10.55.1801, Information Technology Instruction, Reading Advocacy, and Information 
Management.

2. District's ongoing self-study has resulted in implementation of management tools designed to maintain a high 
standard of program success:  review and submittal for state approval a Library Media Collection Development 
Policy, updated and submitted for board approval the district's Literacy and Library Media Curriculum, and 
approved a Professional Growth and Assessment Process which includes a library media specialist's strand.

3. Multiple measures of formative and summative assessments were presented.

The proposed alternative meets or exceeds the standard.
Recommend approval of the alternative standard request.

Disapprovals

Flathead County

Bigfork Schools—Renewal

Bigfork School and 7-8 K-8 Current Enrollment:  469
Library Staffing:  1.0 Licensed FTE Required:  1.42
Staffing:  39.192 Licensed FTE

Standards:  10.55.709—Library Media Services 

6. Mission of library is focused on access to resources and demonstration of proficiency. This does not meet or 
exceed the standard for the program.

7. Evidence of information literacy-library media curriculum implementation not provided. This does not meet or 
exceed the standard for the program.

8. Collaboration with classroom teachers to support instruction and implementation of the curriculum is not 
evident.

9. In general, the application does not match current practice or indicate how the plan will be implemented for the 
2011-2012 school year.  In particular, a change in personnel for the 2011-2012 school year was not indicated in 
plan.

10. Proposed FTE is not adequate to meet or exceed the program requirements of the K-6 or 7-8 students. 
Technology FTE cannot be considered for delivery of the library program.

The proposed alternative does not meet or exceed the standard.
Recommend disapproval of the alternative standard request.

Richland County

Sidney Middle School—Renewal

Sidney Middle School 7-8 Current Enrollment:  261
Library Staffing:  .595 Licensed FTE Required:  1.0 FTE
Staffing:  22.162 Licensed FTE

Standards:  10.55.709—Library Media Services 



1. The application does not describe an alternative that meets or exceeds the results under the current standards 
(ARM 10.55.709 and 10.55.1801).  The FTE requirements expressed in ARM 10.55.709 are MINIMUM 
standards.

2. FTE Assignment in 2010-11 ADC doesn't match proposed FTE in application.
3. 2011-12 Schedule provided indicates less professional FTE with addition of Media course to teacher's 

assignments.
4. Mission statement indicated for school library program refers to hours of operation and does not describe what 

the program is/does for the school. 
5. Objectives in application do not provide sufficient detail to show that the proposed alternative FTE meets or 

exceeds the program standards (10.55.709 and 10.55.1801).
6. Application states that the objective will "continue to be reviewed by Administrative staff on an annual basis" 

but does not provide detail about how that will be done and what the results of annual surveys of "certified 
staff" indicate.

7. The application refers to "meeting student library needs" without specifying what those needs are and how they 
will be determined.

8. No evidence provided of information literacy-library media curriculum implementation.
9. No evidence provided of information skills assessment through library program or in classrooms.
10. On-site visit in Fall 2011 will be necessary to observe program delivery and development of curriculum.
11. It was understood through the May 26, 2011 call that the teacher-librarian and aide are doing the best they can 

with the circumstances and that students are developing a love of reading.

The proposed alternative does not meet or exceed the standard.
Recommend disapproval of the alternative standard request.



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Progress Report and Recommendations for Schools in an Intensive Assistance 
Cycle Due to Continuing or Serious Deviations

PRESENTER: Kelly Glass
Accreditation Unit Manager
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: This presentation provides to the Board of Public Education (BPE) a progress 
report and recommendations regarding schools that have been in an intensive 
assistance cycle either in 2008-2009 or 2009-2010 due to continuing or serious 
deviations.  The schools have all developed improvement plans approved by the 
BPE to address the deviations.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): Approve state superintendent's recommendations.

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): The state superintendent of public instruction provides annual recommendations 
to the BPE for accreditation status determinations for all Montana accredited 
schools. Over the past two years the state superintendent and the Office of Public 
Instruction accreditation staff have worked with the BPE to develop and 
implement a process that will address these serious and continuing deviations 
fairly, consistently and with intention toward continuous education improvement.
See the attached, "Accreditation Response Options for Continuing or Serious 
Deviations." 

RECOMMENDATION(S): Action



MEMORANDUM
To: Denise Juneau, State Superintendent

From: Kelly Glass, Accreditation Unit Manager

CC: Linda Peterson, Administrator

Date: July 15, 2011

Re: Intensive Assistance Report

BILLINGS PUBLIC SCHOOLS: An improvement plan was received by the Office of Public Instruction 
(OPI) for the cited deviations in library media, counseling, and class size overage.  The district has committed 
to hiring a librarian and counselor each year for the next three years.  They have also addressed part of the 
class size overloads by hiring 11 new teachers this year.  Recommend approval of plan.

BUTTE PUBLIC SCHOOLS: The district was cited for class overages in four elementary schools and a 
mis-assigned Media-Library Specialist.  All classrooms in question were provided the required amount of 
additional paraprofessional support for the remainder of the 2010-2011 school year.  The individual who was 
mis-assigned is currently enrolled in an endorsement program that will lead to the required Media-Library 
Specialist certification.
Recommend approval of plan.

FAIRVIEW PUBLIC SCHOOLS: One teacher was not certified for teaching 6-12 Social Studies.  This 
teacher has completed the licensure requirements and is endorsed to teach Social Studies for the 2011-2012
school year.  All proper documentation has been received by the OPI.
Recommend approval of plan.

HELENA PUBLIC SCHOOLS: The Helena School District has not provided a corrective plan for the 
violations cited in the areas of class overages and failure to submit required reporting.  Several deadlines have 
been missed. In conversations with the new interim superintendent, a corrective plan will be developed with 
the OPI and the cited deviations corrected.

INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT: Independent School District was cited for a class overage in one 
grade and insufficient administrative FTE.  The overage situation will be solved when the current class 
moves up one grade and the maximum class size is larger.  The administrator commits to hiring a part-time 
superintendent to meet the requirement of 10.55.704 and 10.55.705.
Recommend approval of plan.



NORTHERN CHEYENNE TRIBAL SCHOOL: Northern Cheyenne was cited because four educators did 
not have the endorsement needed for their assignment, two in Special Education and one in Social Studies 
and one School Counselor.  The school was also cited for failure to submit the required reporting.  Staff 
members in question have either been released from employment with the school or have been re-assigned to 
an area for which they are endorsed.  Educators with the proper endorsements have been hired to fill 
vacancies.  The Northern Cheyenne Tribal School is in the process of hiring two new building administrators 
and a school counselor.  Lastly, all reporting requirements for the 2010-2011 school year have been met. 
Recommend approval of plan.

SCOBEY PUBLIC SCHOOLS: One teacher did not have the necessary Specialist endorsement for the area 
to which she was assigned (Special Education).  This teacher was non-renewed and an endorsed teacher was 
reassigned to that position. 
Recommend approval of plan.

WHITEFISH PUBLIC SCHOOLS: The district was cited for insufficient FTE in administrative FTE at L. 
A. Muldown Elementary and insufficient librarian FTE at Whitefish Middle School.  FTE in both areas has
been increased to meet state standards.
Recommend approval of plan.

The OPI will continue to monitor the progress of the schools.



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Recommendation of the Superintendent of Public Instruction to prepare the Notice
of Public Hearing relating to Montana K-12 Content Standards in English 
Language Arts and Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science and Technical 
Subjects

PRESENTER: Kris Goyins
Communication Arts Curriculum Specialist
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: The Board of Public Education is asked to approve the superintendent of public 
instruction's recommendation to prepare the Notice of Public Hearing and 
adoption timeline relating to Montana K-12 Content Standards in English 
Language Arts and Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science and Technical 
Subjects.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): Recommend Adoption

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S): Action



BPE PRESENTATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
DATE: JULY 2011

PRESENTATION: Recommendation of the Superintendent of Public Instruction to prepare the Notice
of Public Hearing relating to Montana K-12 Content Standards in Mathematics

PRESENTER: Kris Goyins
Communication Arts Curriculum Specialist
Office of Public Instruction

OVERVIEW: The Board of Public Education is asked to approve the superintendent of public 
instruction's recommendation to prepare the Notice of Public Hearing and 
adoption timeline relating to Montana K-12 Content Standards in Mathematics.

REQUESTED DECISION(S): Recommend Adoption

OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None

RECOMMENDATION(S): Action



 
 

 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
      Patty Myers (Items 23-26) 

 
 

ITEM 23 
 
 

MONTANA DIGITAL ACADEMY BOARD 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
 

Robert Currie 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Item 24 
 
 

MSDB SUPERINTENDENT PERFORMANCE 
EVALUATION & CONTRACT EXTENSION 

(CLOSED) 
 
 

Patty Myers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 



ITEM 25 
 
 

BPE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY 
PERFORMANCE EVALUATION & 

CONTRACT EXTENSION (CLOSED) 
 
 

Patty Myers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

ITEM 26 
 
 

ESTABLISH EXECUTIVE STAFF SALARIES 
(CLOSED) 

 
 

Patty Myers 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Montana School for the Deaf and the Blind 
Board of Public Education Committee Agenda 

July 16, 2010 Meeting  
 
 
Item        Presenter   Time 
 
1. MSDB Annual Report    Gettel                  30 min 
                 
2.  MSDB Foundation     Informational  

- Update of activities 
 

3. Conferences, Meetings and Contacts   Informational  
 

4. School Calendar of Events     Informational 
 
5.  Student News      Informational     

- Summer Programs 
 
6.  Public Comment for Non-Agenda Items  
 



 
 

PRELIMINARY AGENDA ITEMS 
September 8-9, 2011 

TBD, MT 
 
• Set Annual Agenda Calendar 
• Election of Board Officers 
• Committee Appointments 
• BPE Goal Review 
• MACIE Update 
• Superintendent Goals 
• Assessment Update 
• Federal Update 
• Youth Risk Behavior Survey Update (Odd Years) 
• Accreditation Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

BPE PRESENTATION 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
DATE: JULY  2011 

 
PRESENTATION: Federal Update 
 
PRESENTER: Nancy Coopersmith 
 Assistant Superintendent 
 Office of Public Instruction 
 
OVERVIEW: The update concerning federal issues will include a discussion of the Adequate 

Yearly Progress, as required by the Elementary and Secondary Education Act 
(ESEA), process with Montana schools and districts.  Reauthorization of the 
ESEA will be explored, as well as the progress toward reauthorization of the 
Elementary and Secondary Education Act.  The congressional federal budget 
process information will include allocations for Montana for Federal Fiscal Year 
2011, as well as the President's request for Federal Fiscal Year 2012.  

 
REQUESTED DECISION(S): None 
 
OUTLYING ISSUE(S): None 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S): None 



2010 2011 2012 Change Fiscal Year 2011 to 2012
Actual Estimate Estimate             Amount               Percent

College- and Career Ready Students 45,249,262 44,539,303 44,757,306 218,003 0.5%
Title I Rewards 0 0 927,520 927,520          ---
School Turnaround Grants 1,682,039 1,641,652 1,850,219 208,567 12.7%
Striving Readers Formula Grants 150,000 0 0 0          ---
Even Start 305,688 0 0 0          ---
State Agency Program--Migrant Student Education 1,045,858 1,043,712 1,045,858 2,146 0.2%
State Agency Program--Neglected and Delinquent Children and Youth Education 104,422 120,618 120,860 242 0.2%

                                        Subtotal, Accelerating Achievement & Ensuring Equity 48,537,269 47,345,285 48,701,763 1,356,478 2.9%

Impact Aid Basic Support Payments 41,140,777 42,573,048 42,623,274 50,226 0.1%
Impact Aid Payments for Children with Disabilities 1,171,520 1,345,054 1,347,749 2,695 0.2%
Impact Aid Construction 648,617 730,018 0 -730,018 -100.0%
                    Subtotal, Impact Aid 42,960,914 44,648,120 43,971,023 -677,097 -1.5%

Effective Teachers and Leaders State Grants 0 0 10,406,322 10,406,322          ---
Improving Teacher Quality State Grants 14,023,601 11,562,580 0 -11,562,580 -100.0%
Mathematics and Science Partnerships 897,878 871,257 0 -871,257 -100.0%
Educational Technology State Grants 483,875 0 0 0          ---
21st Century Community Learning Centers 5,714,213 5,653,883 0 -5,653,883 -100.0%
Assessing Achievement 3,699,787 3,649,089 3,699,787 50,698 1.4%
Rural and Low-income Schools Program 386,716 385,943 404,455 18,512 4.8%
Small, Rural School Achievement Program 4,981,496 4,971,533 4,807,510 -164,023 -3.3%
Indian Student Education--Grants to Local Educational Agencies 3,174,384 3,168,035 3,174,384 6,349 0.2%
English Learner Education 551,467 556,727 506,508 -50,219 -9.0%
Homeless Children and Youth Education 199,226 197,928 198,337 409 0.2%

     Subtotal, All of the Above Programs, which were or are proposed to be
                      authorized by the Elementary and Secondary Education Act 125,610,826 123,010,380 115,870,089 -7,140,291 -5.8%

Special Education--Grants to States 36,945,746 36,868,521 37,645,974 777,453 2.1%
Special Education--Preschool Grants 1,162,982 1,160,520 1,162,613 2,093 0.2%
Grants for Infants and Families 2,152,956 2,150,355 2,379,404 229,049 10.7%
                    Subtotal, Special Education 40,261,684 40,179,396 41,187,991 1,008,595 2.5%

Career and Technical Education State Grants 5,397,848 5,225,728 4,784,949 -440,779 -8.4%
Tech Prep Education State Grants 428,023 0 0 0          ---
          Subtotal, Vocational and Adult Education 5,825,871 5,225,728 4,784,949 -440,779 -10.3%

Education Jobs Fund 30,737,469 0 0 0          ---

  Subtotal, All Elementary/Secondary Level Programs 202,435,850 168,415,504 161,843,029 -6,572,475 -3.9%

U.S.  Department of Education Funding
Montana

Funds for State Formula-Allocated and Selected Student Aid Programs



2010 2011 2012 Change Fiscal Year 2011 to 2012
Actual Estimate Estimate             Amount               Percent

Federal Pell Grants 96,300,000 94,400,000 95,200,000 800,000 0.8%
Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants 1,672,174 1,624,763 1,672,174 47,411 2.9%
Federal Work-Study 3,190,808 3,184,427 3,190,808 6,382 0.2%
Leveraging Educational Assistance Partnership 220,472 0 0 0          ---
Byrd Honors Scholarships 124,500 0 0 0          ---
College Access Challenge Grant 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 0 0.0%

  Subtotal, All Postsecondary Education Programs 103,007,955 100,709,190 101,562,982 853,793 0.8%

Vocational Rehabilitation State Grants 12,087,792 11,429,102 11,867,276 438,174 3.8%
Client Assistance State Grants 124,688 124,439 124,688 249 0.2%
Protection and Advocacy of Individual Rights 175,984 175,632 175,984 352 0.2%
Supported Employment State Grants 300,000 300,000 0 -300,000 -100.0%
Independent Living State Grants 0 0 1,172,054 1,172,054          ---
Grants for Independent Living 312,984 312,358 0 -312,358 -100.0%
Centers for Independent Living 859,070 859,070 0 -859,070 -100.0%
Services for Older Blind Individuals 225,000 225,000 225,000 0 0.0%
Assistive Technology State Grant Program 434,750 434,161 434,818 657 0.2%
Protection and Advocacy for Assistive Technology 50,000 50,000 50,000 0 0.0%
Adult Basic and Literacy Education State Grants 1,255,888 1,284,020 1,257,111 -26,909 -2.1%
English Literacy and Civics Education State Grants 60,000 60,000 60,000 0 0.0%
State Grants for Workplace and Community Transition Training for Incarcerated Individuals 0 0 0 0          ---

  Subtotal, All Other 15,886,156 15,253,782 15,366,931 113,149 0.7%

Total 321,329,961 284,378,476 278,772,943 -5,605,533 -2.0%

New Student Loan Volume:
  Federal Direct Student Loans 197,832,077 266,778,636 283,741,580 16,962,945 6.4%
  Federal Family Education Loans 45,412,070 0 0 0          ---

    Total, New Student Loan Volume 243,244,146 266,778,636 283,741,580 16,962,945 6.4%

Grand Total 564,574,107 551,157,111 562,514,523 11,357,412 2.1%

NOTES: 
State allocations for fiscal years 2011 and 2012 are preliminary estimates based on currently available data.  Allocations based on new data may result in significant changes from these preliminary estimates.

Amounts distributed from the fiscal years above are based on the Pell Grant program's estimated cost as of January 2011.  All estimates include new appropriations plus the use of all or a portion of an
accumulated surplus of unobligated balances.

The FY 2010 appropriation for Adult Basic and Literacy Education programs includes $45,906 thousand to fund States that were underpaid during the FY 2003-FY 2008 period and hold harmless those 
States overpaid during the same timeframe.

The totals for Adult Basic and Literacy Education programs exclude amounts for the English Literacy and Civics Education State Grants program, which is displayed in a separate table.

The FY 2012 estimates for the VR State Grants program reflect the Administration's proposal to consolidate a number of smaller programs into the VR State Grants program.  State estimates are illustrative
and are subject to change.

The FY 2012 estimates for the Grants for Independent Living program reflect the Administration's proposal to consolidate the Independent Living State Grants program and the Centers for Independent 
Living program into the proposed Grants for Independent Living program.  State estimates are illustrative and are subject to change. 

For Pell Grants, funding levels in FY 2011 reflect the enactment of H.R. 1473 (Public Law 112-10).

Compiled for posting on the WEB by the Budget Service on June 9, 2011.

Montana

Funds for State Formula-Allocated and Selected Student Aid Programs
U.S.  Department of Education Funding


	BPE July 2011 Agenda Packet
	BPE Agenda
	Consent Agenda
	Correspondence
	Minutes
	May 12-13, 2011
	May 18, 2011
	June 8, 2011

	Financials

	BPC/CSPAC Joint Meeting
	Item 1
	Item 2
	Item 3
	NASDTEC Agenda
	2011 Montana Educator Forum
	Ethical Framework

	Item 4
	Item 5

	Item 1
	Item 2
	Item 3
	Item 4
	Item 5
	Item 6
	Item 7
	Executive Summary
	Statistical Worksheet

	Item 8
	Executive Summary
	MT Statewide Dropout and Graduate Report 2009-2010 School Year

	Item 9
	Executive Summary
	Special Education Report to the BPE

	Item 10
	Executive Summary
	2011 MT K-12 Content Standards for English Language Arts and Literacy in History/Social Studies, Science, and Technical Subjects
	Timeline Proposed

	Item 11
	Executive summary
	2011 MT K-12 Content Standards for Mathematics
	Timeline-Proposed

	Item 12
	Executive Summary
	Chapter 55 Agenda
	Expected Outcomes
	Goals, Milestones, and Timeline

	Item 13
	Executive Summary
	10.55.702 and 10.55.703

	Item 14
	Executive Summary
	US Dept of Education Funding Montana

	Item 15
	Executive Summary

	Item 16
	Executive Summary
	Notice of Public Hearing on Proposed Adoption
	Timeline-Proposed

	Item 17
	Executive Summary

	Item 18
	Executive Summary
	Alternative Standard Requests-Recommendations

	Item 19
	Executive Summary
	Alternative Standard Requests-Recommendations

	Item 20
	Executive Summary
	Intensive Assistance Report

	Item 21
	Executive Summary

	Item 22
	Executive Summary

	Item 23
	Item 24
	Item 25
	Item 26
	Item 27
	MSDB Committee Agenda

	Preliminary Agenda Items




